The ageing hypothalamus: Impact on neuronal and glial cells that control energy homeostasis

Estela Pérez Santamarina



Thesis submitted for the degree of Doctor in Philosophy School of Biological Sciences University of East Anglia Norwich Research Park Norwich, Norfolk NR4 7TJ December 2020

© This copy of this thesis has been supplied on the condition that anyone who consults it is understood to recognise that its copyright rests with the author and that no quotation from this thesis, not any information derived therefrom, may be published without the author's prior written consent

Abstract

The hypothalamus regulates key endocrine, homeostatic and adaptive functions, ranging from energy uptake and expenditure to circadian rhythm and reproductive functions through the coordinated activity of neuronal and glial cells. There are complex but integrated interconnections between the hypothalamic nuclei that maintain energy homeostasis through regulation of food intake and energy expenditure. Critically, the Arcuate nucleus (Arc) and the circumventricular termed the median eminence (ME) lay at the core of the energy regulation. Assumedly, age-related changes in the hypothalamic circuitry could underlie the decline in metabolism and energy homeostasis observed during ageing. Therefore, the present study is focused on elucidating the effects of ageing in the Arc-ME.

First, age-related changes in the hypothalamic neurons controlling energy balance, POMC and AgRP/NPY, were examined using immunohistochemistry and reporter mice. A reduction in the number of anorexigenic POMC neurons, but not orexigenic NPY, was associated with age. Cell death studies confirmed that programmed cell death events are not responsible for POMC decline. Second, RNA-seq analysis identified four biological processes affected in the ageing hypothalamus, including upregulation of neuroinflammation and myelin-related genes; and downregulation of genes involved in the neuronal cytoskeleton, intracellular transport and axonal growth. Third, age-related changes in the microglia (lba1+) and astrocytes (GFAP+) suggested that reactive gliosis involving both populations develop gradually in the hypothalamus with age. Also, aged hypothalamic microglia adopt a neurotoxic/pro-inflammatory (M1) activated phenotype. Fourth, in vivo adult neurogenesis in the hypothalamus was assessed by cumulative BrdU labelling. The majority of proliferating cells in the ME belonged to the oligodendrocyte and microglia lineage, but a numeric decline is observed with age. Fifth, characterisation of the hypothalamic myelin pattern using immunohistochemistry revealed that myelin microstructure in the Arc-ME is impaired with age. The number and differentiation program of the oligodendrocytes was then investigated using lineagespecific markers, and an increase in number but not differences in oligodendrocyte maturation was observed. However, western blot results supported that inhibition of the intracellular trafficking of myelin components, rather than oligodendrocyte dysfunction, could underlie the defective myelin pattern observed with age.

Access Condition and Agreement

Each deposit in UEA Digital Repository is protected by copyright and other intellectual property rights, and duplication or sale of all or part of any of the Data Collections is not permitted, except that material may be duplicated by you for your research use or for educational purposes in electronic or print form. You must obtain permission from the copyright holder, usually the author, for any other use. Exceptions only apply where a deposit may be explicitly provided under a stated licence, such as a Creative Commons licence or Open Government licence.

Electronic or print copies may not be offered, whether for sale or otherwise to anyone, unless explicitly stated under a Creative Commons or Open Government license. Unauthorised reproduction, editing or reformatting for resale purposes is explicitly prohibited (except where approved by the copyright holder themselves) and UEA reserves the right to take immediate 'take down' action on behalf of the copyright and/or rights holder if this Access condition of the UEA Digital Repository is breached. Any material in this database has been supplied on the understanding that it is copyright material and that no quotation from the material may be published without proper acknowledgement.

Table of contents

ABSTRACT	2
TABLE OF CONTENTS	3
LIST OF FIGURES	9
LIST OF TABLES	12
ABBREVIATIONS	13
ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	18
1. GENERAL INTRODUCTION	20
1.1 The brain and ageing	21
1.1.1 Age-related neuronal changes in the CNS	21
1.1.2 Age-related changes in glial populations in the CNS	23
1.1.2.1 Astrocytes	23
1.1.2.2 Microglia	25
1.1.2.3 Oligodendrocytes and Myelin	27
1.1.3 Possible molecular causes of brain ageing	29
1.1.3.1 Telomere shortening	29
1.1.3.2 Oxidative stress and mitochondrial dysfunction	29
1.1.3.3 Chronic inflammation and brain ageing	30
1.1.3.4 Defective autophagy	31
1.1.3.5 Evolutionarily conserved pathways involved in the determination of lifesp	an 32
1.2 The hypothalamus	33
1.2.1 The anatomy of the hypothalamus	34
1.2.2 Hypothalamic regulation of energy homeostasis	36
1.2.2.1 The Arcuate nucleus: the orexigenic and anorexigenic neurons	38
1.2.3 The Arc-ME system	40
1.2.4 The hypothalamic stem cell niche	42
1.3 Hypothesis and objectives	46

<u>2. MATE</u>	RIAL AND METHODS	48
2.1. Tra	nsgenic animals	49
2.1.1.	Npy-hrGFP	49
2.1.2.	Pomc-EGFP	50
2.1.3.	Fgf10-LacZ	50
2.1.4.	Breeding and genotyping	51
2.2. Ani	mal experiments in vivo – BrdU labelling	53
2.3. Tis	sue Processing	53
2.4. Vib	ratome tissue sectioning	53
2.5. Imr	nunolabelling	54
2.5.1.	Antigen retrieval	54
2.5.1.	1. Citrate pre-treatment	54
2.5.1.	2. HCl pre-treatment	54
2.5.2.	TUNEL assay	54
2.5.3.	Immunolabelling of vibratome sections	54
2.6. We	stern Blotting and Protein Analysis	56
2.6.1.	Protein extraction from hypothalamic tissue	56
2.6.2.	SDS polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis and transference	56
2.6.3.	Membrane blocking, protein detection and visualisation	57
2.7. Mic	proscopy	57
2.8. Ima	age analysis and quantifications	58
2.8.1.	Pomc and Npy quantifications	58
2.8.2.	GFAP and IBA1 quantifications	58
2.8.3.	BrdU quantifications	59
2.8.4.	Olig2 and CC1 quantifications	59
2.9. RN	A-sequencing	59
2.10. Sta	tistics	60

3. CHARACTERISATION OF ANOREXIGENIC (POMC) AND OREXIGENIC (NPY) NEURONAL POPULATIONS IN THE ARC NUCLEUS AND THEIR DYNAMICS DURING AGEING 64

3.1.	Introduction	65
3.2.	Aims	67
3.3.	Results	67
3.3.7	1. Anorexigenic and orexigenic neuronal dynamics with age	67

3.3.2 Arc n	. Th Iucleu	e anorexigenic population (POMC) suffer a significant decline in number in swith age	n the 67
3.3.3		Hypothalamic POMC protein levels remain stable during ageing	74
3.3.4 in the	e Arc	The orexigenic population (NPY) showed no significant age-related differe nucleus	ences 75
3.3.5		The Npy: Pomc ratio is affected by age	80
3.3.6		Programmed cell death is absent in the ageing hypothalamus	82
3.3	3.6.1.	The Decline of Pomc-expressing neurons is not due to apoptosis	82
3.3	3.6.2.	The age-related decline in Pomc-expressing neurons is not due to necrop 83	otosis
3.4.	Disc	ussion	86
3.4.1		Populations dynamics: Pomc and Npy	86
3.4	4.1.1.	Technical considerations	86
3.∠ ph	4.1.2. ysiolc	Decline of a selected subpopulation of POMC neurons and may c ogical changes associated with ageing	ause 87
3.4	4.1.3.	Npy neuronal population in the Arc showed subtle changes with ageing	89
3.∠ affe	4.1.4. ecting	Npy to Pomc ratio change with age may produce an uneven balance p g the control of energy balance	ower 90
3.4.2 of the	e ano	The decline of POMC population is not due specific apoptosis or necrop rexigenic population	otosis 90
<u>4. RN</u>	NA-SE	EQ ANALYSIS OF THE YOUNG AND AGED HYPOTHALAMUS	93
4.1.	Intro	duction	94
4.2.	Aims		96
4.3.	Resu	lts	96
4.3.1		Upregulated genes in the aged hypothalamus	97
4.3	3.1.1.	Upregulated expression of immune response genes in the aged hypothala 97	amus
4.3	3.1.2.	Upregulated expression of myelin-related genes in the aged hypothalam	us 98
4.3.2		Downregulated genes in the aged hypothalamus	102
4.3	3.2.1.	Neuronal structural genes are downregulated in the aged hypothalamus	102
4.3	3.2.2.	Intracellular transport genes are downregulated in the aged hypothalamus	s103
4.3.3		Genes with no differential expression	106
4.3.4	•	Transcriptomic conclusions	106
4.4.	Disc	ussion	107
4.4.1	ation	Upregulated genes are associated with immune response and m	nyelin

5

4. in [:]	4.2. tracellula	Downregulated genes are associated with the neuronal cytoskel ar transport and axonal growth	eton, 110
4.	4.3.	General conclusions	112
<u>5.</u>	AGE-R	ELATED INFLAMMATION IN THE HYPOTHALAMUS	114
5.1.	Intro	duction	115
5.2.	Aims	6	117
5.3.	Resi	ults	117
5.	3.1.	Hypothalamic microglia	117
	5.3.1.1 hypotha	. Microglia morphology, but not distribution, is altered in the medio alamus during ageing	basal 117
	5.3.1.2 hypotha	. Microglia number and size is not affected by ageing in the medio alamus	basal 118
	5.3.1.3 CD86 is	. Expression of pro-inflammatory cytokine TNFa and the M1 microglia m s increased with age in the hypothalamus	narker 121
5.	3.2.	Hypothalamic astrocytes	123
	5.3.2.1 hypotha	. Age-related effect on astrocytes distribution and morphology in the medio alamus	basal 123
	5.3.2.2 hypotha	. Astrocytes number and size is increased during ageing in the medio alamus but GFAP total hypothalamic levels remain stable	basal 124
5.4.	Disc	ussion	127
5. di	4.1. stributio	Age-related changes in microglia and astrocytes morphology, number n in the hypothalamus	r and 127
	5.4.1.1	. Age-related changes in hypothalamic microglia	127
	5.4.1.2	. Age-related changes in hypothalamic astrocytes	128
5.	4.2.	Pro-inflammatory markers	129
5.	4.3.	Activators of hypothalamic age-related inflammation	130
<u>6.</u>	PROLIF	ERATION STUDIES IN THE AGEING HYPOTHALAMUS	133
6.1.	Intro	duction	134
6.2.	Aims	5	136
6.3.	Resi	ults	140
6.	3.1.	Characterisation of proliferating cells in the hypothalamus	140
6.	3.2.	Characterisation of the hypothalamic proliferative cells	143
6. pr	3.3. oliferativ	Age-related effects in number and rostro-caudal distribution of hypotha ve cells	lamic 148
6. hy	3.4. /pothala	Age-related effects in the identity of the new-born cells derived mic proliferative cells	from 148

6.4. Discussion 151
6.4.1. BrdU incorporation assays label new-born cells in the hypothalamus 151
6.4.2.The spatial distribution of the proliferative cells suggested that the adult neuralstem cell/progenitor niche resides within the hypothalamic parenchyma152
6.4.3. The co-localisation studies suggested that the identity and fate of the parenchymal proliferating is predominantly glia (oligodendrocytes and microglia) 155
6.4.4. The proliferation in the hypothalamus declines with increasing age 158
6.4.5. The age-related decline in the number of proliferative cells affects the Olig2+ and Iba1+ populations equally 159
7. MYELIN DYNAMICS IN THE AGEING HYPOTHALAMUS 162
7.1. Introduction 163
7.2. Aims 166
7.3. Results 166
7.3.1. Myelination pattern in the hypothalamus is maintained with age, although differences in the myelin microstructure are observed with advancing age 166
7.3.2. MBP and OLIG2 co-labelling indicates ectopic expression in the oligodendrocytes perikaryon of aged animals 170
7.3.3. Myelin-axon relationship in the Arc-ME is affected with age 172
7.3.4. Expression of proteins involved in axonal stability in the aged hypothalamus 175
7.3.5. The expression of motor proteins involved in the transport of Mbp is decreased in the aged hypothalamus177
7.3.6. Oligodendrocyte number increases with age in the ME region 179
7.3.7. Mature oligodendrocyte markers are normally expressed in the hypothalamus during ageing, suggesting the oligodendrocyte differentiation process is not impaired 184
7.4.Discussion188
7.4.1. Age-related defects in the myelin microstructure in the mediobasal hypothalamus are associated to ectopic expression of MBP and inhibition of intracellular transport in oligodendrocytes 188
7.4.2. Oligodendrocyte number, but not the differentiation along the oligodendrocyte lineage, seems to be altered in the aged hypothalamus 190
8. GENERAL DISCUSSION 194
8.1. Age-mediated inflammation mediated by astrocyte and microglia activation may damage the brain circuits that regulate energy balance 194
8.2. Age-dependent changes in hypothalamic POMC neurons may contribute to the altered energy balance observed with age 197

8.3.	Ageing	exacerbates	myelin	disruption	and	axon	injury	in	the	mediobasal
hypoth	alamus									198
8.4.	Conclue	ding remarks								199
<u>BIBLIO</u>	GRAPH	Y								202
ANNEX	(234

List of figures

Figure 1.1. Ageing of astrocytes in the mammalian brain	25
Figure 1.2. Oligodendrocyte and myelin dynamics in the mammalian cortex throughout	ilife 29
Figure 1.3. The relationship between the hypothalamus and the pituitary	35
Figure 1.4. Anatomy and organisation of the hypothalamic regions in the mouse brain	35
Figure 1.5. Schematic representation of the different hypothalamic nuclei related to appetite regulation and energy homeostasis control	the 36
Figure 1.6. Melanocortin peptides ACTH and MSHs (alpha, beta and gamma) derive fr post-translational processing of POMC precursor	rom 39
Figure 1.7. Schematic coronal representation of the Arc-ME region	40
Figure 1.8. Schematic representation of the cell types of the hypothalamic neurogenic ni lining the 3V	che 44
Figure 2.1. Life stages in mice in comparison to humans	49
Figure 2.2. Schematic representations of transgenic mouse alleles utilised	50
Figure 3.1. Representative distribution and density of Pomc+ cells in the hypothalamus	69
Figure 3.2. Pomc-GFP+ cells co-express the mature neuronal marker NeuN, confirming t neuronal identity	heir 70
Figure 3.3. Pomc-expressing neurons show a differential distribution throughout the nucleus and suffer a significative decline with age, that is more pronounced in rostral region	Arc the 71
Figure 3.4. Distribution of Pomc-expressing cells within the rostro-caudal extent of the nucleus	Arc 72
Figure 3.5. The protein levels of POMC in the hypothalamus remain constant during age	ing 74
Figure 3.6. Representative distribution and density of Npy+ cells in the hypothalamus	76
Figure 3.7. Npy-GFP+ cells co-express the neuronal marker NeuN, confirming their neuronal identity	onal 77
Figure 3.8. Npy-expressing neuron number in the Arc nucleus remain stable during age	eing 78
Figure 3.9. Distribution Npy-expressing cells in the Arc nucleus during ageing	79
Figure 3.10. The orexigenic (Npy+) and anorexigenic (Pomc) neuronal populations chan in number with age affecting the Npy/Pomc ratio, important for the control of the energy balance	nge ≱rgy 80
Figure 3.11. Pomc-and Npy-expressing cells show a differential distribution within the and, as the age progresses, Npy-expressing cells outnumbers Pomc and become	Arc the

majoritarian population thorough the Arc

81

Figure 3.12. Analysis of CC3 immunostaining and TUNEL assays revealed rare apoptotic events in the hypothalamus 84
Figure 3.13. The necroptosis marker MLKL showed co-localization with microglia (lba1+)and suggest association to blood vessels in the Arc nucleus85
Figure 4.1. GO term enrichment for upregulated genes in the aged hypothalamus 99
Figure 4.2. GO term enrichment for downregulated genes in the aged hypothalamus 104
Figure 5.1. Iba1+ cells show an age-related switch from resting to activated phentoype in the MBH, featuring ameboid morphology and short and thickened processes 119
Figure 5.2. Iba1+ cells show an age-related switch from resting to reactive microglia morphology in the ME 120
Figure 5.3. The number of Iba1+ microglia and size remain stable during ageing in the MBH 120
Figure 5.4. The protein levels of TNFa, CD86 and GFAP in the hypothalamus 122
Figure 5.5. GFAP expression in the MBH increases with age and GFAP+ astrocytes displayreactive morphology features125
Figure 5.6. The number and size of hypothalamic GFAP+ astrocytes increase with age 126
Figure 6.1. Representative distribution and density of BrdU+ cells in the hypothalamus 141
Figure 6.2. Proliferative cells within the hypothalamus were mainly observed in the Arc-ME in young, middle-aged and old animals 142
Figure 6.3. BrdU+ cells co-localise with the oligodendrocyte marker Olig2 in the Arc-ME.
Figure 6.4. BrdU+ cells co-localise with the microglia marker lba1 in the Arc-ME 145
Figure 6.5. BrdU+ cells co-localise with S100 β +/Olig2+ cells but not S100 β +/Olig2- cells 146
Figure 6.6. GFAP+ astrocytes that co-localise with BrdU+ cells are rare and only detected in aged animals 147
Figure 6.7. BrdU+ cells decline in the hypothalamus with age, affecting the two main proliferative populations (Olig2+ and Iba1+) equally150
Figure 7.1. MBP expression pattern in the hypothalamus during ageing168
Figure 7.2. Age-related morphological changes in MBP expression in the ME and the ventral part of the Arc 169
Figure 7.3. MBP expression is detected in the perinuclear region of Olig2+ oligodendrocytes in old animals 171
Figure 7.4. Co-immunostaining for MBP and NF in the Arc nucleus and the ME 173
Figure 7.5. Axonal tracts immunolabeled for MBP and NF in the ME revealed age-related defects 174
Figure 7.6. Expression of the neuronal cytoskeleton markers TUBB3 and NF in the ageing hypothalamus 176
Figure 7.7. Age-related changes in the levels of KIF1B and DYNC1H1 in the hypothalamus 178

Figure 7.8. Immunostaining for the oligodendrocyte markers Olig2 and CC1 hypothalamus	in the 180
Figure 7.9. Oligodendrocytes showed a scattered pattern in the hypothalamus parer with a higher density in the ME	nchyma 181
Figure 7.10. Mature oligodendrocytes showed higher density in the ME	182
Figure 7.11. Age-related increase of Olig2+ and CC1+ cells in the ME	183
Figure 7.12. Markers of oligodendrocyte lineage differentiation and maturation	184
Figure 7.13. Age-related changes in the levels of different oligodendrocyte different markers	ntiation 187

List of tables

Table 1.1. Age-related changes in myelin components expression across distinct CNS	3
regions in adult mammals	28
Table 2.1. Primers for genotyping	51
Table 2.2. PCR programmes for genotyping	52
Table 2.3. Primary antibodies used for immunohistochemistry	61
Table 2.4. Secondary antibodies used for immunohistochemistry	61
Table 2.5. Primary antibodies used for western blot	62
Table 2.6. Secondary antibodies used for western blot	63
Table 3.1. Significance testing for Figure 3.4, using two-way ANOVA followed by Tuke post-hoc test	у 73
Table 4.1. Information samples used for RNA-seq analysis	96
Table 4.2. Complement system genes upregulated in the aged hypothalamus	100
Table 4.3. MHC genes upregulated in the aged hypothalamus	100
Table 4.4. Cytokines upregulated in the aged hypothalamus	100
Table 4.5. Upregulated microglial and astrocytes markers in the aged hypothalamus	101
Table 4.6. Upregulated myelin-related genes in the aged hypothalamus	101
Table 4.7. Neuronal cytoskeleton genes downregulated in the aged hypothalamus	105
Table 4.8. Axon guidance-related genes downregulated in the aged hypothalamus	105
Table 4.9. Intracellular transport genes downregulated in the aged hypothalamus	105
Table 4.10. Hypothalamic neuropeptide genes with no differential expression with age	9 106
Table 6.1. Studies reporting neurogenesis in postnatal and adult hypothalamus of rod using the mitotic marker BrdU	ents 137
Table 6.2. Studies reporting neurogenesis in postnatal and adult hypothalamus of rod using lineage tracing models	ents 139

Abbreviations

Third ventricle
Arabinofuranosyl cytosine
Adrenocorticotrophic hormone
Alzheimer's disease
Agouti-related peptide
Arcuate nucleus
Arginase I
Anterior hypothalamus
Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis
10-formyltetrahydrofolate dehydrogenase
Ammonium Persulfate
Autophagy protein 5
Autophagy protein 7
Brain-blood barrier
Bicinchoninic acid
Brain-derived neurotrophic factor
β-galactosidase
B lymphoma moloney murine leukaemia virus integration site 1
5-Bromo-2'-deoxyuridine
Brainstem
Cocaine-amphetamine-regulated transcript
Anti-adenomatous polyposis coli clone CC1
Cleaved caspase 3
Cluster of differentiation 86
Chitinase-like 3
Corticotropin-like intermediate lobe peptide
Charcot-Marie-Tooth
2',3'-cyclic nucleotide phosphodiesterase
Central nervous system
Carbon dioxide
Complement receptor 3
Cerebrospinal fluid

CTNF	Ciliary neurotrophic factor				
CXCL5	Chemokine (C-X-C motif) ligand 5				
d	day				
D206	Cluster of differentiation 206				
DCX	Doublecortin				
DMH	Dorsomedial nucleus				
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid				
DVC	Dorsal vagal complex				
DW	Drinking water				
DYNC1H1	Dynein cytoplasmic 1 heavy chain 1				
EDTA	Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid				
EGFP	Enhanced green fluorescent protein				
EtBr	Ethidium bromide				
FGF	Fibroblast growth factor				
Fgf10	Fibroblast Growing factor 10				
FSH	Follicle-stimulating hormone				
GABA	γ-aminobutyric acid release				
Gb	Gerbil				
GFAP	Glial fibrillary acidic protein				
GHRH	Growth hormone-releasing hormone				
GLAST	Glutamate aspartate transporter				
GLT-1	Glutamate transporter 1				
GnRH	Gonadotropin-releasing hormone				
GO	Gene ontology				
GS	Glutamine synthetase				
HCI	Hydrochloric acid				
HD	Huntington's disease				
HFD	High fat diet				
hrGFP	Humanised renilla GFP				
HRP	Horseradish peroxidase				
Hu	Human				
lba1	lonised calcium-binding adaptor protein-1				
ICV	Intracerebroventricular				
IGF-1	Insulin-like growth factor-1				
IHC	Immunohistochemistry				

ΙΚΚβ	Inhibitor of nuclear factor kappa-B kinase subunit β				
IL-1β	Interleukin 1β				
IL-6	Interleukin 6				
InsR	Insulin receptor				
IP	Intraperitoneal				
IRS2	Insulin receptor substrate 2				
Ki67	Marker of proliferation Ki67				
KIF1B	Kinesin family member 1 B				
KNDy	Kisspeptin/neurokinin B/dynorphin neurons				
LepR	Leptin receptor				
LH	Lateral hypothalamus				
LV	Lateral ventricles				
m	Month				
MAG	Myelin-associated glycoprotein				
MAP	Microtubule-associated proteins				
MB	Mammillary body				
MBH	Mediobasal hypothalamus				
MBP	Myelin basic protein				
MC3R	Melanocortin 3 receptors				
MC4R	Melanocortin 4 receptors				
MCH	Melanin-concentrating hormone				
ME	Median eminence				
MHC	Major histocompatibility complex				
MLKL	Mixed lineage kinase domain-like				
MOG	Myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein				
MOBP	Myelin-associated oligodendrocyte basic protein				
mRNA	Messenger ribonucleic acid				
MS	Multiple sclerosis				
Ms	Mouse				
a-MSH	a-melanocyte-stimulating hormone				
Msh1	Musashi RNA binding protein 1				
mtDNA	Mitochondrial DNA				
mTOR	Mammalian target of rapamycin				
MW	Molecular weight				
MYRF	Myelin regulatory factor				

NaCl	Sodium chloride
NeuN	Neuronal nuclear protein
NF	Neurofilaments
NF-ĸB	Nuclear factor kappa-light-chain-enhancer of activated B cells
NG2	Nerve-glia antigen 2
NGS	Normal goat serum
nLacZ	Nuclear-targeted lacZ
NP-40	Nonyl phenoxypolyethoxylethanol
NPY	Neuropeptide Y
NSC	Neural stem cells
NSPCs	Neural stem progenitor cells
OL	Oligodendrocyte
Olig2	Oligodendrocyte transcription factor 2
OPC	Oligodendrocyte progenitor cells
OXT	Oxytocin
PAG	Periaqueductal gray
PBS	Phosphate buffered saline
PCNA	Proliferating cell nuclear antigen
PCR	Polymerase chain reaction
PD	Parkinson's disease
PFA	Paraformaldehyde
PFC	Prefrontal cortex
PH	Posterior hypothalamus
PLP	Myelin proteolipid protein
POMC	Proopiomelanocortin
Pre-OL	Pre-myelinating oligodendrocyte
Prss56	Serine protease 56
PVN	Paraventricular nucleus
RIA	Radioimmunoassay
RIN	RNA integrity
RNA-seq	RNA-sequencing
ROI	Region of interest
ROS	Reactive oxygen species
Rt	Rat
RT	Room temperature

- S100 β S100 calcium-binding protein β
- SCN Suprachiasmatic nucleus
- SDS Sodium dodecyl sulphate
- SEM Standard error of the mean
- SF1 Steroidogenic factor 1
- SGZ Subgranular zone
- SON Supraoptic nucleus
- Sox2 SRY-Box Transcription Factor 2
- SVZ Subventricular zone
- TBST Tris buffered saline with Tween 20
- TE buffer Tris-EDTA buffer
- TEMED Tetramethylethylenediamine
- TGF β Transforming growth factor β
- TLR Toll-like receptors
- TNFa Tumor necrosis factor a
- TRH Thyrotropin-releasing hormone
- TSH Thyroid-stimulating hormone
- TUBB3 βll-tubulin
- Tuj1 Neuron-specific class III β-Tubulin
- TUNEL Terminal deoxynucleotidyl transferase dUTP nick end labelling
- UV Ultraviolet
- VMN Ventromedial nucleus
- vs versus
- VSP Vasopressin
- VTA Ventral tegmental area
- v/v Volume/volume
- WB Western blot
- WHO World health organisation
- w/v Weight/volume
- yr Year

Acknowledgments

First and foremost, I would like to thank my supervisor, Dr Samuel Fountain, for providing support and guidance during my thesis. My secondary supervisor Dr Simon Moxon has also provided valuable support and suggestions towards the success of my project. Of course, without the BBSRC none of this would have been possible, I am very grateful for the funding that has provided me with this opportunity.

I would like to specially thank Dr Rebeca Mejias, my personal scientific (and life) advisor, your support and guidance and has been of invaluable help, and I will always be grateful. On the topic of microscopes, Dr Paul Thomas has provided invaluable technical guidance and support; without him, the Apotome will always be 'out of service' and so will be my thesis.

Also, I would like to thank Irene, Stuart, Ben, Erika and Shaun. I couldn't have asked for better lab mates who were always full of brilliant ideas and solutions, and always ready to go for a walk to refresh our minds.

Special thanks go to Maria, Anna, Sonia, Michelle, Jess and Mary, for being my support and life bubble. Their friendship inside and outside of the BMRC made my days brighter, even in the middle of a pandemic.

Y no me olvido de mi grupo expats 'lo que es la vida' Roger, Pablo, Juanca, Juande, Vanessa, Pilar, Javi, Alba, Miguel, Abraham, Lola, Isa y Nef, por ser la familia en el extranjero que tanto se necesita. También agradecer a mis hermanas científicas Anapi, Sara and Diana, por vuestra amistad incondicional a pesar de la distancia, por llorar y reír conmigo y por estar siempre dispuestas a discutir mis dudas experimentales y personales.

Finalment, vuic dedicar aquesta tesi a la meua família, als meus pares Alfonso i Amparo i a la meua germana Aurora, per tot el suport incondicional i per creure en mi, a pesar de estar separats per exactament 1257 milles (2023 km). 1. General introduction

1.1. The brain and ageing

Ageing is defined as the progressive loss of physiological functions and deterioration in the maintenance of homeostatic processes over time, leading to the end of the life. Several brain functions, including cognition, circadian rhythm, regulation of energy expenditure and autonomic function, decline with age and cause significant impairment in quality of life. Ageing is also the major risk factor for most neurodegenerative diseases, including Alzheimer's disease (AD), Parkinson's disease (PD) and Stroke (Hou et al. 2019; Reeve, Simcox, and Turnbull 2014). Interestingly, in mice, brain-specific genetic modifications produce a significant improvement in several physiological functions, increasing the lifespan (Kappeler et al. 2008; Satoh et al. 2013; Taguchi, Wartschow, and White 2007; Tang, Purkayastha, and Cai 2015; Zhang et al. 2013).

Different neuro-anatomical, cellular and molecular alterations in the central nervous system (CNS) are associated with ageing. Early weight studies reported an overall reduction in brain volume (Dekaban and Sadowsky 1978; Ho et al. 1980). Later studies using non-invasive imaging found that brain volume declines from about 0.1 - 0.2%/year between 30 - 50 years to 0.3 - 0.5%/year over the age of 70 years (Coffey et al. 1992; Jernigan, Press, and Hesselink 1990; Pfefferbaum et al. 1994). Moreover, the volume decline was homogeneous throughout the white matter, while the grey matter showed regional differences (Resnick et al. 2003; Scahill et al. 2003). As a consequence of brain shrinkage, the ventricular system expanded to fill the space vacated. In addition to anatomical changes, the brain also suffers changes at cellular and molecular levels that are described below.

1.1.1. Age-related neuronal changes in the CNS

At a cellular level, the main controversy has been over the presence and magnitude of the neuronal loss. Early studies in the 50s identified between 10 - 60% of neuronal loss, with some neuronal populations more affected than others (Esiri 2007). However, when the stereological-based sampling was developed in the 80s, new results concluded that age-related neuronal loss was practically undetectable (Burke and Barnes 2006; West 1993). The stereological principles allowed to get estimates from three-dimensional tissue, eliminating many of the confounding factors of the previous

studies. Findings were replicated in humans, non-human primates and rodents (Hof and Morrison 2004; Madeira et al. 1995; Merrill, Chiba, and Tuszynski 2001; West et al. 1994) concluding that cell death is not characteristic of the normal ageing process. Interestingly, an exception has been reported in non-human primates, where the area 8A of the prefrontal cortex (PFC) showed a decrease in the neuronal number of neurons, correlating with impaired performance in working memory tasks in aged monkeys (Smith et al. 2004).

Similarly to early investigations in neuronal decline with ageing, early studies identified an age-related dramatic deterioration in neuronal dendritic branching (Scheibel et al. 1975, 1976). Likewise, more recent studies using more accurate methodology reported that age-related alterations in dendritic extent are region-specific (Flood 1993). These regional differences are illustrated by studies performed in different brain areas, as an example, the dentate gyrus (a hippocampal region) showed an increased dendritic branching with age (Flood, Buell, et al. 1987). In a different subregion of the hippocampus, the areas CA1 and CA3 (Flood, Guarnaccia, and Coleman 1987; Hanks and Flood 1991) showed no changes with age. Contrarily, reduction in dendritic arborisation was observed in the PFC (Uylings 1998), suggesting the cortex is a more sensitive area to the effects of ageing.

Additionally, studies of dendritic branching in animal models confirmed human studies, and no dendritic regression was observed with age. In rats, no deterioration in dendritic extent was found in different areas across the hippocampus with age (Pyapali and Turner 1996; Turner and Deupree 1991). Conversely, the pyramidal neurons in superficial cortical layers experience an age-associated decline in dendritic arborisation (Grill and Riddle 2002). The reduction in synapse number is also characteristic of aged brains, as an example, anatomical studies in rats found a decline in synapse number in the hippocampus with age (Curcio and Hinds 1983). Electrophysiological studies and spatial memory deficits in aged rats confirmed the anatomical results (Barnes 1979; Geinisman et al. 1992).

1.1.2. Age-related changes in glial populations in the CNS

The major types of glial cells in the CNS are astrocytes, microglia, and oligodendrocytes. Traditionally, these non-neuronal cells have been considered 'brain glue'; however, glial cells undertake multifaceted roles and are essential for the correct functioning of the brain. Interestingly, an increasing body of evidence suggests that glial function plays a critical role in brain ageing and neurodegeneration (Nagelhus et al. 2013). Main age-related changes in astrocytes, microglia and oligodendrocytes are summarised in the following sections.

1.1.2.1. Astrocytes

The astrocytes are the most abundant cell population in the CNS, outnumbering neurons (Sofroniew and Vinters 2010). Astrocytes are morphologically diverse; these cells share a star-shaped morphology with radial processes (Oberheim *et al.*, 2009). In line with their morphological complexity, astrocytes undertake a plethora of different functions to maintain CNS homeostasis. Some of the multifaceted roles of astrocytes include neuronal support, synapse regulation, neurotransmitter homeostasis, glycogen storage, ion homeostasis, cholesterol synthesis and the brain-blood barrier (BBB) maintenance (Lundgaard et al. 2014; Nedergaard, Ransom, and Goldman 2003). Also, astrocytes, together with microglia, provide a defence to the CNS through a process called reactive astrogliosis (Pekny and Pekna 2014; Sofroniew 2009).

Astrocytes undertake a phenotypic switch with age: from slender and long processes in young, to thickened and short in aged animals (Castiglioni et al. 1991; Cerbai et al. 2012; Jyothi et al. 2015). Age-related morphological changes have a been reported in aged rodents (Amenta et al. 1998; Castiglioni et al. 1991) and primates (Kanaan, Kordower, and Collier 2010; Robillard et al. 2016). Also, increase in astrocytes number has been described across multiple brain areas with age, including in the hippocampus, the cortex (Amenta et al. 1998; Sabbatini et al. 1999) and the hypothalamus (Wang et al. 2006).

The glial fibrillary acidic protein (GFAP), a classic astrocytic marker, has been widely used to visualise astrocytes; however, GFAP expression is not detected in all astrocytes (Sofroniew and Vinters, 2010). Interestingly, ageing studies have reported upregulation

of GFAP expression (Clarke et al. 2018; Kohama et al. 1995; Rozovsky, Finch, and Morgan 1998; Wu, Zhang, and Yew 2005), a feature of activated/reactive astrocytes (Liddelow and Barres 2017; Sofroniew and Vinters 2010; Zamanian et al. 2012). Additional molecular markers identified include glutamine synthetase (Norenberg and Martinez-Hernandez, 1979), S100 calcium-binding protein β (S100 β) (Hachem *et al.*, 2005; Gonçalves, Concli Leite and Nardin, 2008), 10-formyltetrahydrofolate dehydrogenase (Aldh1L1) (Barres, 2008), glutamate aspartate transporter 1 (GLAST) (Shibata *et al.*, 1997) and glutamate transporter 1 (GLT-1) (Perego et al. 2000). Although these markers are enriched in astrocytes, some of them are not specific to this glial lineage and are found to be expressed in neurons and other glial types.

Recently, transcriptomic studies provided a comprehensive database of aged astrocyte gene expression. Pathway analysis identified the upregulation of genes involved in immune pathways (Boisvert et al. 2018; Pekny and Pekna 2014). The study of individual markers in ageing astrocytes revealed upregulation of complement system genes, such as C1q, C3 and C4B; major histocompatibility complex I (MHC I) and inflammatory cytokines with chemotactic effects such as CXCL5 (Boisvert et al. 2018). The increased expression of pro-inflammatory genes pointed out that astrocytes could contribute to the low-level inflammatory state observed during ageing (Sanada et al. 2018).

In addition to changes in the reactive state of astrocytes, dysregulation genes involved in vital functions such as cholesterol synthesis, ion homeostasis, trophic factor production and BBB structure occur with age (Boisvert et al. 2018). Since the CNS cannot uptake the molecule from the bloodstream due to the BBB, astrocytes hold a significant role in the local cholesterol production. Dysregulation of the normal functioning of astrocytes may cause metabolic defects in neuronal and glial cells that depend on astrocyte cholesterol production. Moreover, aged astrocytes show a decline in the production of metabolic and trophic factors, essential for neuronal function, survival and neurogenesis (Palmer and Ousman 2018). Lastly, astrocytes are integral parts of the BBB structure, and they participate in its development, maintenance and regulation (Abbott and Friedman 2012). Disturbances in astrocytes are associated with age-related neurodegenerative disorders (Kirk et al. 2003; Zlokovic 2008). **Figure 1.1** summarises the main differences observed in astrocytes function with age.



Figure 1.1. Ageing of astrocytes in the mammalian brain. (A) In the adult brain, astrocytes are part of the blood–brain barrier (BBB), maintain ion homeostasis, support and regulate neuronal transmission, are responsible of cholesterol synthesis and are involved in immune response of the brain. (B) Ageing induces molecular and functional changes in the astrocyte function. BBB permeability increases, there is a decline in the production of neurotrophic factor and cholesterol and neurotransmitter homeostasis is affected. Also, aged astrocytes display an inflammatory profile indicated by increased GFAP and complement levels.

1.1.2.2. Microglia

Microglial cells share a myeloid origin with macrophages and constitute the resident immune population of the CNS. In their immune role, microglia are responsible for the inflammatory or immune-mediated responses in the brain and can influence astrocyte activation and recruitment through their secretory profile (Liddelow *et al.*, 2017). Microglia also hold multiple non-immune functions involved on the maintenance of the brain homeostasis, including synaptic organisation, control of neuronal excitability (Tay, Carrier, and Tremblay 2019), phagocytic debris removal (Janda, Boi, and Carta 2018), and contribute to myelogenesis in adult life (Grabert et al. 2016; Hagemeyer et al. 2017).

Microglial cells adopt different morphology depending on their activation state. In resting (or inactive) state, microglia exert a small cell soma and several fine, branched processes. However, during resting state, these cells are not static and continuously extend-retract their projections to explore the local parenchyma. Detection of abnormalities in the parenchyma triggers their activation, with cells adopting an amoeboid morphology with an enlarged cytoplasm and shortened processes (Davis, Foster, and Thomas 1994; Tay et al. 2019). Also, upregulation of inflammatory genes,

secretion of cytokines and expression of molecules for antigen presentation is characteristic of the activated state (Prinz and Priller, 2014).

Immunochemistry against ionised calcium-binding adaptor protein-1 (Iba1), a protein surface microglial marker, has been widely used to visualise microglia. In humans and animal models, aged microglia stained for Iba1 showed shorter and less branched microglial processes similar to activated microglia (Norden and Godbout 2013). In addition, the microglia number and density are reported to increase in several CNS regions with age, including the hippocampus (Wong 2013), cortex (Tremblay et al. 2012) and the retina (Damani et al. 2011). Aged microglia also express a plethora of pro-inflammatory markers, characteristic of the activated phenotype. These include enhanced expression of MHC II and complement receptor 3 (CR3) (Frank et al. 2006; VanGuilder et al. 2011a; Ziv et al. 2006), scavenger receptor CD68 (Godbout et al. 2005; Xie et al. 2003), and co-stimulatory molecule CD86, CD11b and CD11c integrins (Perry, Matyszak, and Fearn 1993), and Toll-like receptors (TLR) (Letiembre et al. 2007). Also, aged microglia presents an increased expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines TNFa, IL-1 β and IL-6 (Campuzano et al. 2009), and anti-inflammatory IL-10 and transforming growth factor beta (TGF β) effectors (Norden and Godbout 2013).

However, the majority of the studies used microarray or bulk RNA sequencing (RNAseq), making it impossible to identify any regional microglial differences with age. Recently, this caveat was addressed in a transcriptomic study where microglia form different brain regions across the mouse lifespan were isolated for RNA-seq analysis. Results identified upregulation of pro-inflammatory genes in aged microglia across all regions studied. However, the magnitude and identity of inflammatory response varied according to the neuroaxis location, suggesting a differential regional response to ageing (Grabert et al. 2016).

In addition to their enhanced inflammatory response, aged microglia exert deficits in phagocytosis, involved in clearance of cellular debris and protein aggregates. As an example, myelin fragments are engulfed and degraded by microglia during myelin remodelling (Traiffort et al. 2020). However, studies suggest that an increase in myelin fragments with age can overload microglial cells, altering their homeostasis and contributing to their age-related dysfunction (Safaiyan et al. 2016).

1.1.2.3. Oligodendrocytes and Myelin

The oligodendrocytes (OLs), are glial cells responsible for myelin sheath formation within the CNS, facilitating efficient axonal conduction and providing axons with metabolic and trophic support (Y. Lee et al. 2012; Nave and Trapp 2008; Waxman 1977).

Myelin degeneration and loss of myelinated nerve fibres have been extensively reported in multiple brain regions during normal ageing, including the cortex, corpus callosum, hippocampus and the auditory nerve (Bowley et al. 2010; Peters 2002; Peters, Moss, and Sethares 2000; Sandell and Peters 2001; Wang et al. 2020; Xing et al. 2012). Defective myelination has also been observed in pathological conditions such as multiple sclerosis (MS) but also in several age-related neurodegenerative disorders (Bartzokis 2011; Braak and Del Tredici 2004; Romanelli et al. 2016). Furthermore, decreased expression of myelin-specific proteins, such as MBP and PLP, has also been reported in humans and animal models (**Table 1.1**). The age-related breakdown myelin sheaths, that provide electric insulation of axons and accelerate the transmission of electrical signals, may disrupt connectivity and reduced speed of information.

Life-long production of OLs from oligodendrocyte progenitor cells (OPCs) is required for myelination of new neuronal circuits and repair of myelin lost through natural 'wear and tear'. In rodents, production of new OLs is observed throughout the CNS, even in adulthood (Young et al. 2013). In the rodent cortex, the OL population expands between young adult and middle-aged animals, and then declines in old age (Hill, Li, and Grutzendler 2018; Hughes et al. 2018) (Figure 1.2). In the corpus callosum, impairment of OPC proliferation, recruitment and differentiation into myelinating oligodendrocytes has been reported with age (Psachoulia et al. 2009; Sim et al. 2002; Spitzer et al. 2019). Therefore, it has been recently proposed that the age-induced decline in OPC function underlies the myelination defects observed in healthy ageing (Neumann et al. 2019).

Myelin components	CNS region/ Cell type	Organism	Age-related changes	Method	Age of study	Phentoype	Reference
MBP	Hippocampus	Gb	Reduction	IHC, WB	1 m, 6 m , 24 m	Decrease in myelin fiber density	Ahn et al., 2017
MBP	Frontal lobe white matter	Hu	Reduction	RIA	45-60 yr and 78 yr	Not stated	Ansari <i>et</i> <i>al.,</i> 1985
MBP	Cortex, Cerebellum	Rt	No differences	IHC	6, 12 and 24 m	Not stated	Ciftci <i>et</i> <i>al.,</i> 2012
MBP, MOBP, PLP	OLs isolated from whole brain	Rt	Increase	WB	3 m, 13 m and 18 m	Not stated	de la Fuente <i>et al.,</i> 2020
MBP	Cortex, Hippocampus	Ms	Reduction	IHC	4, 13, 18 m	Decrease in myelin fiber density	Wang <i>et</i> <i>al.,</i> 2020
MBP, MOG	Whole brain (WB) Corpus callosum, Spinal cord, Cortex (IHC)	Rt	Reduction	IHC, WB	5 m, 18 m, 26 m	Myelin breakdown	Xie et al., 2013
MBP, MOBP, MOG	Optic nerve	Rt	Reduction	Microarray	24 m	Myelin breakdown	Xie et al., 2014
MBP	Auditory nerve	Ms	Reduction	IHC	1-3 m, 23-28 m	Myelin breakdown	View et
		Hu	Reduction	IHC	46-91 yr	Decrease in myelin fiber density	xing er al., 2012
MBP, Opalin	Cerebellum, Corpus Callosum, Hippocampus, Thalamus, Optic nerve	Ms	Opalin reduction in Cerebellum	IHC	21 d, 6 m	Not stated	Sato <i>et</i> <i>al.,</i> 2014

 Table 1.1. Age-related changes in myelin components expression across distinct CNS regions

 in adult mammals

Abbreviations used: d - day. Gb - gerbil. Hu - human. IHC - immunohistochemistry. m - month. MBP - myelin basic protein. MOBP - myelin-associated oligodendrocyte basic protein. MOG - myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein. Ms - mouse. PLP - myelin proteolipid protein. RIA - radioimmunoassay. Rt - rat. WB - western blot. yr - year.



Figure 1.2. Oligodendrocyte and myelin dynamics in the mammalian cortex throughout life. Oligodendrocyte precursor cells (OPCs) continuously generate new myelinating oligodendrocytes (OLs) in the somatosensory cortex from birth up to middle age. The OL population then declines in old age, accompanied by a reduction in myelin coverage. Adapted from Williamson and Lyons 2018.

1.1.3. Possible molecular causes of brain ageing

Many hypotheses have been proposed to explain the cause of ageing and biological bases for the decline in brain functions. Summarised below are presented the main findings in the aged CNS.

1.1.3.1. Telomere shortening

Changes in telomere length have been reported in mitotic cells during ageing; however, the relationship between telomere length in post-mitotic cells and ageing is unclear. Only a few studies have examined telomere length in cells from the mammalian CNS. Telomeres shorten with every cell division and is a hallmark of replicative senescence (Harley, Futcher, and Greider 1990; Hastie et al. 1990). Telomere length is generally greater in the brain from adult and old humans compared with other systemic organs, as can be expected due to the limited cell division taking place there (Butler et al. 1998; Takubo et al. 2002). The human brain retains long telomere length in the case of a 115-year old supercentenarian (Holstege et al. 2014). In line with this, analysis of the telomere dynamics in the human pituitary gland showed that it is highly conserved throughout adult life to centenarian age (Ishikawa et al. 2012). In agreement with human findings, telomeres shorten with increasing age in the liver, lung, kidney and pancreas, but not in the brain (Cherif et al. 2003).

However, analyses of cultured rat microglia showed telomere shortening and reduced telomerase activity in ageing (Flanary and Streit 2004) and in AD (Flanary et al. 2007). Future analyses of discrete brain regions and individual neural cell types will allow the detailed characterisation of their telomere lengths during ageing.

1.1.3.2. Oxidative stress and mitochondrial dysfunction

The oxidative stress or free radical theory (Harman 1988), and its later refined version, the mitochondrial free radical theory (Alexeyev 2009), are the major theories of ageing. Both theories postulate that cellular and tissue degeneration reported during ageing is a consequence of excessive production of reactive oxygen species (ROS) and free radicals, where the mitochondrial theory positions the mitochondria at the primary source of oxidative damage.

Increasing evidence indicates that accumulation of protein, lipid, and DNA damage by free radicals, is responsible for the decline in brain functions with age. In support of this, comparison between young and old animal brains showed higher levels of ROS, mitochondrial DNA (mtDNA) damage and oxidative stress markers (Chomyn and Attardi 2003; Liu et al. 2003; Serrano and Klann 2004; Sohal et al. 1994). Also, the appearance of cognitive impairment and learning deficits strongly correlates with increasing brain oxidative damage in aged animal models (Carney and Floyd 1991; Floyd and Carney 1991). Interestingly, an inverse correlation has been shown between oxidative damage to mtDNA and maximum lifespan in the brain of mammals (Barja and Herrero 2000).

The brain is extremely vulnerable to oxidative stress due to its relatively low antioxidant defences (Ahlgren-Beckendorf et al. 1999; Baxter and Hardingham 2016; Dringen, Pawlowski, and Hirrlinger 2005). With age, there is a decline in the antioxidant activity in the brain, increasing its vulnerability dramatically to oxidative damage (Venkateshappa et al. 2012; Yehuda et al. 2002). Also, among the CNS cell types, neurons and OLs are more vulnerable to ROS mediated cellular damage due to the high demand for energy and mitochondrial activity (Fukui and Moraes 2009; McTigue and Tripathi 2008).

In summary, brain ageing is marked by reduced antioxidant defences, enhanced ROS production and oxidative stress, and mitochondrial dysfunction. Interestingly, oxidative stress is involved in maintaining the chronic inflammation observed in ageing and agerelated disorders (Fuente and Miquel 2009).

1.1.3.3. Chronic inflammation and brain ageing

The term 'Inflammageing' describes the close relationship between low-grade chronic inflammation and ageing that has been linked to a broad spectrum of agerelated disorders in various organs, including the brain (Franceschi et al. 2007). Major neurodegenerative diseases, such as AD and PD, present chronic activation of innate immune responses, including those mediated by microglia as a common hallmark (Glass et al. 2010).

Excessive and prolonged inflammation resulting from microglial and astrocyte activation has been reported during ageing and age-related disorders, causing neuroinflammation,

synaptic damage and, ultimately, neuronal loss (Chung et al. 2019). Also, the age-related accumulation of oxidative stress and free radical damage promotes microglia and astrocyte transition towards the activated phenotype (Norden and Godbout 2013). Moreover, recent findings showed that activation of NF-κB (nuclear factor kappa-light-chain-enhancer of activated B cells) increase in many regions of the aged mouse brain, but is most significant in the hypothalamus (Zhang et al. 2013). NF-κB is a central regulator of transcription that mediates inflammation, immune response and cell death, and has been implicated previously in the control of gene expression during ageing (Adler et al. 2007; Hayden and Ghosh 2008).

Previous studies have shown that peripheral inflammation can alter the neuroinflammation in the brain. Reportedly, pro-inflammatory mediators, such as TNFa and IL-6, are generally increased in the sera of aged humans (Krabbe, Pedersen, and Bruunsgaard 2004) and rodents (Campuzano et al. 2009; Sparkman and Johnson 2008). The circulating pro-inflammatory cytokines can reach the CNS through three routes: (1) Active transport across the BBB (Dantzer et al. 2008; Fung et al. 2012); (2) Via circumventricular organs, such as the median eminence (Roth et al. 2004); (3) Afferent nerve stimulation (e.g., the vagus nerve), which then transmit the currently heightened inflammatory status to lower brain stem regions including the hypothalamus, amygdala and bed nucleus of the stria terminals (McCusker and Kelley 2013).

1.1.3.4. Defective autophagy

Autophagy is a conserved cellular process that recycles unwanted cytoplasmic contents, including proteins and organelles, within lysosomes to maintain cellular homeostasis (He and Klionsky 2009). Few studies have covered the effects of ageing in the brain autophagy. In humans, the expression of genes related to autophagy, such as Beclin 1 (Shibata et al. 2006), Atg5 and Atg7 (Lipinski et al. 2010), is reduced in the ageing brain. Also, ageing-dependent impairment in brain autophagy has been reported in the rat (Yu et al. 2017) and the mouse models (Kaushik et al. 2011; Ott et al. 2016). Reportedly, healthy aged mice exhibit defective autophagy in the hypothalamus (Kaushik *et al.*, 2012).

Interestingly, suppression of autophagy in the brain has been linked to neurodegeneration (Hara et al. 2006; Komatsu et al. 2006). In autophagy-deficient mice,

neurodegeneration is accompanied by toxic-protein aggregation of ubiquitinated proteins, similar to those observed in human neurodegenerative disorders such as Huntington's disease (HD) and AD (Bishop, Lu, and Yankner 2010). Thus, reduced autophagy and accumulation of protein aggregates may contribute to severe neuronal dysfunction with increasing age.

1.1.3.5. Evolutionarily conserved pathways involved in the determination of lifespan

Two signalling mechanisms contributing to brain ageing are the mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR) and the insulin/insulin-like growth factor-1 (IGF-1) (IIS) pathways. mTOR and IIS pathways are very frequently altered on models of senescence and neurodegeneration, and recent studies have shown that modulating these pathways may increase lifespan.

At the molecular level, mTOR is a crucial coordinator of metabolic regulation and is involved in the regulation of numerous neurological processes, including neural development, circuit formation, and the neural control of feeding (Mori et al. 2009). Also, the mTOR pathway is recognised as the most important negative regulator of autophagy (Ganley et al. 2009; Jung et al. 2009). Interestingly, inhibition mTOR signalling by genetic or pharmacological intervention has been reported to extend lifespan in mice (Harrison *et al.*, 2009). However, the extent to which mTOR signalling modulates lifespan is not clear, but together with autophagy, has a key role in the development of age-dependent neurodegenerative diseases caused by protein aggregates (Mueed et al. 2019).

Another vital signalling mechanism contributing to brain ageing is IIS pathway. Reduced IIS pathway has been shown to extend lifespan in worms, flies and mammals (Broughton and Partridge 2009; Kappeler et al. 2008). Although reduced IIS in the CNS can extend lifespan, insulin and IGF-1 are also neurotrophic and promote neuronal survival by inhibiting apoptosis (Duarte et al. 2005). Interestingly, IRS2 (Insulin receptor substrate 2) or IGF-1 receptor knockout mice showed reduced cognitive impairment and neurodegeneration in models of AD (Cohen et al. 2009; Freude et al. 2009). Also, in AD patients, reduced expression of IGF signalling is reported (Moloney et al. 2010). The role of the IIS pathway is, therefore, debatable about its response as an effective neuroprotector as well as an indicator of the neurodegenerative process.

1.2. The hypothalamus

Over the last 20 years, there has been a growing interest in understanding the mechanisms and circuits involved in the regulation of energy and homeostasis and how these processes are cause or consequence of ageing. Energy homeostasis is defined as the balance between calorie intake and energy expenditure, which is critical for health and survival. Notably, the shift in the energy homeostasis is one of the hallmarks of the physiological changes during ageing, likely caused by the progressive impairment of mechanisms that control body homeostasis (Roberts 2000). Also, the prevalence of metabolic syndromes significantly increases with age (Hildrum et al. 2007; Saklayen 2018). Even in healthy aged people, a variation in the metabolic activity and body composition often results in sarcopenic obesity, which is characterised by an increase in the fat mass due to loss of muscles in the body composition (Lim et al. 2010). Paradoxically, Poor appetite in the elderly is quite common, resulting in an imbalance between nutrition and energy metabolism (Morley 1997; Visvanathan 2015). The consequential reduction in daily calorie and nutrient intake exacerbates the effects of ageing on a host of physiological systems - from lowered lean mass and bone density to altered gut architecture and microbiota.

The maintenance of body homeostasis is a tightly regulated and complex process facilitated by the cross-talk between the hypothalamus and peripheral organs such as the pancreas, the stomach and the gut (Brunetti et al. 2005). Peripheral signals from the bloodstream reach the brain, which interprets and integrates them to maintain the energy homeostasis. The hypothalamus, in the ventral diencephalon, is the organ responsible for integrating and responding to this variety of hormonal and metabolic signals. The hypothalamus contains highly conserved neuronal circuitries that control basic functions. thermoregulation, energy expenditure and nutrient intake, sexual and reproductive behaviour, nursing, growth and control of circadian and ultra-circadian cycles are some examples of functions under direct and indirect hypothalamic control (Chen, Maevsky, and Uchitel 2015; Melmed et al. 2016).

Furthermore, the hypothalamus contains several different types of neurons and glial cells, distributed within different nuclei that regulate homeostatic functions and play an important role in the control of the body homeostasis. During ageing, the responsiveness of these neurons to peripheral stimuli declines, causing a disruption on

the energy homeostasis control (Dilman et al. 1979). This alteration of the energy homeostasis is accompanied by the development of different age-related conditions such as reduced reproductive functions, insulin resistance, osteoporosis, loss of muscular tone and abnormalities on fat accumulation (Rehman and Masson 2001). Taking all together, the critical role of the hypothalamus in energy control and body homeostasis targets this region as a key regulator of whole-body ageing and its study mandatory to understand the causes underlying the ageing process.

1.2.1. The anatomy of the hypothalamus

The hypothalamus is a small, evolutionarily conserved brain region (Xie and Dorsky 2017) that is located below the thalamus and sits just above the pituitary and brainstem (Figure 1.3 and Figure 1.4). The hypothalamus is subdivided along the rostrocaudal axis into three areas: anterior, tuberal and posterior (Schünke 2016). In the rostral part, nuclei of the *anterior region* regulate thermoregulation (Boulant 2000), sleep and circadian rhythms (Deurveilher and Semba 2003) and sexual behaviour (Paredes 2003). In the middle part, the *tuberal hypothalamus* regulates energy homeostasis (Dietrich and Horvath, 2013; Pearson and Placzek, 2013; Prevot *et al.*, 2018). In the caudal aspect, the *posterior hypothalamus* contains the mammillary bodies, involved in recollective memory, as well as areas dorsal to them like the posterior hypothalamic nuclei (Peterson and Mayes 2019; Vann 2010). At the base of the hypothalamus is located the median eminence (ME), that connects the hypothalamus with the pituitary gland through the hypophysial portal system (Yin and Gore 2010) (Figure 1.3).



Figure 1.3. The relationship between the hypothalamus and the pituitary. The production of the pituitary hormones is under the control of hypothalamic neurons. ME – Median eminence. SON – Supraoptic nucleus. PVN – Paraventricular nucleus.

The hypothalamus links the nervous and endocrine systems via the pituitary gland. The hypothalamus controls the anterior (adenohypophysis) lobe of the pituitary through secretion of releasing hormones and inhibiting hormones that stimulate or inhibit the production of hormones in the anterior pituitary, including thyroid-stimulating hormone (TSH), adrenocorticotrophic hormone (ACTH) and follicle-stimulating hormone (FSH). Regulation of the posterior (neurohypophysis) lobe of the pituitary involves the projection of neurons from the PVN via the hypothalamohypophyseal tract to stimulate the release of oxytocin (OXT) and vasopressin (VSP) into the bloodstream (Xie and Dorsky 2017).



Figure 1.4. Anatomy and organisation of the hypothalamic regions in the mouse brain. (A) Schematic coronal view of the adult mouse brain depicting the location of hypothalamic nuclei present at the approximated bregma position -1.7 mm. The median eminence (ME) region is highlighted in red, below the third ventricle (3V). (B) Schematic sagittal view of the adult mouse brain depicting the location of the different hypothalamic nuclei. Tuberal nuclei (blue) depicted are the ventromedial nucleus (VMN), dorsomedial nucleus (DMH), arcuate nucleus (ARC), paraventricular nucleus (PVN) and the lateral hypothalamus (LH, coronal only). The anterior nuclei in the sagittal section are the suprachiasmatic nucleus (SCN), supraoptic nucleus (SON) and the anterior hypothalamus (AH). Posterior nuclei are the posterior nucleus (PH), and the mammillary body (MB). Generated from (Nesan and Kurrasch 2016).
1.2.2. Hypothalamic regulation of energy homeostasis

The tuberal hypothalamus contains a diverse collection of interconnected neurons and supporting glial cells organised in at least five different nuclei contained into the flanking parenchyma of the third ventricle (3V): The Arcuate (Arc), Dorsomedial (DMN), Lateral Hypothalamic (LH), Ventromedial (VMN) and Paraventricular (PVN) nucleus (Figure 1.5). There are complex but integrated interconnections between the hypothalamic nuclei that maintain energy homeostasis through regulation of food intake and energy expenditure. Critically, the Arc neurons lay at the core of the energy regulation (Dietrich and Horvath 2013).



Figure 1.5. Schematic representation of the different hypothalamic nuclei related to the appetite regulation and energy homeostasis control. Pink cuboid cells represent the ependymal cells lining the third ventricle (3V). Arc – arcuate nucleus; DMN – dorsomedial nucleus; LH – lateral hypothalamus; ME – median eminence PVN - paraventricular nucleus; VMN – ventromedial nucleus.

The central melanocortin system is the primary regulator of feeding behaviour and energy homeostasis via the opposing action of two main neuronal types in the Arc nucleus – the orexigenic (appetite-increasing) neurons expressing agouti-related peptide (AgRP) and neuropeptide Y (NPY) (Hahn et al. 1998); and the anorexigenic (appetite-suppressing) neurons expressing proopiomelanocortin (POMC) (Cone et al. 2001). The

anorexigenic and orexigenic neurons (first-order neurons) exert their functions on downstream targets (second-order neurons) that express the of melanocortin 3 and 4 receptors (MC3R and MC4R) and NPY receptors (Y1-Y5) located in the PVN, the DMN and the LH (Betley et al. 2013; Cone et al. 2001; Hahn et al. 1998).

The energy homeostasis is primarily defined by the balance between the firing rate of POMC and NPY/AgRP neurons, and the firing rate of the neurons regulates feeding behaviour and body weight (Cone et al. 2001). Due to its proximity to the fenestrated capillaries present in the ME (Ciofi 2011), the Arc neurons may receive hormonal and metabolic cues from the bloodstream. Among these are the satiety signal leptin, which activates POMC and inhibits NPY/AgRP neurons (Cowley, Smart, and Diano 2001); and ghrelin, a gastric hormone which is produced during hunger and has the opposite effect (Cowley 2003). Also, Arc neurons are known to be responsive to insulin, glucose, gonadal steroids and interleukin-1β (Blum, Roberts, and Wardlaw 1989; Cone et al. 2001; Kohno and Yada 2012; Varela and Horvath 2012). Intracerebroventricular (ICV) injection of insulin into the 3V has been reported to inhibit Npy expression and decreasing energy intake (Obici et al., 2002). In turn, glucose modulates both POMC and NPY neurons, promoting POMC neuronal activation but inhibiting NPY/AgRP neuronal activity (Parton et al., 2007). Finally, interleukin-1β activates a subpopulation of POMC neurons in the Arc and promotes their release of the anorexigenic α -melanocytestimulating hormone (a-MSH) (Scarlett et al., 2007).

Together with first-order neurons in the Arc, neurons of the VMN, DMN, PVN and LH also regulate energy homeostasis. In the PVN, where MC3R and MC4R are densely expressed, the orexigenic and orexigenic peptides produced by Arc neurons regulate the release of thyrotropin-releasing hormone (TRH) (Fekete, Légrádi, Mihály, Huang, et al. 2000; Fekete and Lechan 2007; Lechan and Fekete 2006) and corticotropin-releasing hormone (CRH) (Fekete, Légrádi, Mihály, Tatro, et al. 2000; Lu et al. 2003) from PVN neurons. The DMN hosts orexigenic neurons expressing NPY that regulate energy homeostasis but are not directly responsive to leptin (Bi, Robinson, and Moran 2003; Chao et al. 2011). In the VMN, neurons express steroidogenic factor 1 (SF1) and the brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF), which have anorexigenic neuropeptides orexin a and b that promote food intake; and the melanin-concentrating hormone (MCH), which enhances energy conservation and promotes food intake (Barson,

Morganstern, and Leibowitz 2013). The hypothalamic neurons in these nuclei form complex networks within and outside of the hypothalamus that regulates energy homeostasis (Timper and Brüning 2017).

1.2.2.1. The Arcuate nucleus: the orexigenic and anorexigenic neurons

The Arc nucleus contains two key neuronal populations involved in the control of food intake and energy balance, POMC and NPY. In addition to POMC and NPY, other neuronal types have been described in the Arc nucleus, such as dopaminergic (Zhang and Van Den Pol 2016), γ -aminobutyric acid release (GABA) (Kong et al. 2012), somatostatin (SST) (Campbell et al. 2017) and kisspeptin/neurokinin B/dynorphin (KNDy) neurons (Kumar et al. 2015; Sanz et al. 2015).

POMC and NPY/AgRP neurons are present in the hypothalamus during embryonic development, with the expression of POMC earlier (E10.5) than NPY expression (E14.5). Padilla *et al.*, showed that nearly one-quarter of the mature NPY neurons share a common progenitor with POMC. Even though the origin of these neurons is embryonic, it has been demonstrated that their production continues after birth (Chaker et al. 2016; Gouazé et al. 2013a; Niels Haan et al. 2013; Li, Tang, and Cai 2012; Pierce and Xu 2010).

The orexigenic neurons exert their effect through the release of the neurotransmitters AgRP and NPY (Hahn et al. 1998). AgRP is an endogenous inverse agonist of the melanocortin receptor, specifically MC3R and MC4R, expressed by neurons located in the PVN and LH (Betley et al. 2013; Hahn et al. 1998); while NPY is an agonist of the NPY receptors (Y1-Y5) (Fetissov, Kopp, and Hökfelt 2004). In addition to their direct effect to the PVN, the NPY/AgRP neurons innervate and inhibit the activity of POMC neurons via direct neuropeptide action through the Y2 receptor and γ -aminobutyric acid (GABA) (Garcia de Yebenes et al. 1995). During the fasting state, there is an increase in the expression of both of these mRNA, thus, suggesting that hypothalamic NPY/AgRP neurons are activated by fasting to stimulate food intake (Hahn et al. 1998).

Germline knockout for AgRP, NPY, or double knockout NPY/AgRP mice are viable and exhibit normal feeding behaviour and energy homeostasis (Qian et al. 2002). Different reports that NPY Knock-out showed a reduced food intake and anxiogenic-like phenotype (Bannon et al. 2000). In contrast, AgRP neurons ablation in adult mice produces extreme anorexia and ultimately starvation (Gropp et al. 2005; Luquet 2005). It has been suggested that these different results are the consequence of an adaptive mechanism that occurs only during the development or the neonatal period when the circuit is not fully formed and is more plastic, but not in adulthood (Bewick 2005; Luquet 2005).

The anorexigenic neurons express POMC precursor which undergoes post-translational processing giving rise to different active peptides: The melanocyte-stimulating hormones (MSHs: alpha, beta and gamma), adrenocorticotrophic hormone (ACTH) and β -endorphin (Millington 2007) (**Figure 1.6**). The α -MSH released by POMC neurons acts upon MC4R and MC3R in the hypothalamus as a melanocortin agonist, suppressing feeding, and PVN neurons are one of the main targets (Millington 2007). In addition, POMC neurons express other peptide and non-peptide transcripts such as cocaine-amphetamine-regulated transcript (CART) (N. Vrang et al. 1999), nociceptin, acetylcholine (Meister et al. 2006), GABA and/or glutamate (Dennison et al. 2016; Jarvie and Hentges 2012; King and Hentges 2011). Recent studies described different subtypes within the POMC population, implying that POMC neurons are not a homogeneous population and have functional heterogeneity (Campbell et al. 2017).



Figure 1.6. Melanocortin peptides ACTH and MSHs (alpha, beta and gamma) derive from post-translational processing of POMC precursor. POMC is also the precursor for opioid peptides β-endorphin and CLIP (corticotropin-like intermediate lobe peptide) Adapted from (Millington, 2007).

Transcriptomic studies have revealed that caloric restriction reduces hypothalamic Pomc mRNA expression (Mizuno et al. 1998), whereas expression is increased in overfed rats (Hagan et al. 1999). In a situation of negative energy balance, as in fasting, the expression of Pomc is decreased. However, during a state of energy surplus, AgRP levels are diminished, and Pomc levels are elevated. Interestingly, Pomc knockout mice exhibit hyperphagia and obesity (Yaswen et al. 1999) similarly to the phenotype reported in humans carrying mutations in the POMC gene (Krude et al. 1998).

1.2.3. The Arc-ME system

The Arc has a unique anatomical relationship with the BBB due to its proximity to the ME (**Figure 1.7**). The ME is one out of eight circumventricular organs in the brain (porous BBB) and plays an important role in the neuroendocrine regulation, facilitating the communication between the hypothalamus and the peripheral endocrine system (Fry and Ferguson 2009; Oldfield and McKinley 2015). In the ME, the signal interchange occurs in both directions. The axons of Arc neurons release hypothalamic hormones into the fenestrated capillaries that carry blood to the pituitary. Moreover, blood-borne signals can diffuse from the ME to the Arc, thereby providing the Arc access to fluctuations of different peripheral signals on the bloodstream (Ciofi 2011).



Figure 1.7. Schematic coronal representation of the Arc-ME region. The position of the Arc is depicted. 3V – third ventricle. Arc – arcuate nucleus.

The cell bodies, dendrites and a long segment of the axons of Arc neurons are protected by the BBB. In contrast, the terminal part of these axons can contact the BBB-free regions of the ME (Rodríguez, Blázquez, and Guerra 2010). Interestingly, NPY/AgRP neurons are unique among hypothalamic neurons as their cell bodies are located outside the BBB, which makes them more sensitive to small changes in circulating leptin (Olofsson et al. 2013) and toxins (Yulyaningsih et al. 2017).

The Arc-ME system is in close proximity to the 3V where a population of stem cells lining the floor of the 3V has been described – the tanycytes. Tanycytes contact Arc neurons and the ME trough their processes and it has been postulated that they function as neuromodulating cells since they can regulate the availability of hormones and metabolites from peripheral tissues to Arc neurons (Balland et al. 2014; Collden et al. 2015) and the cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) contained in the 3V (Orellana et al. 2012).

The ME has four distinctive regions (from dorsal to ventral): 3V zone, myelinated axon zone, neural profile zone, and capillary zone. The ME contains nerve terminals and glial cells but is mostly devoid of synapses, neuronal perikarya, and dendrites (Bitsch and Schiebler 1979; Fekete and Lechan 2007). Tanycytes processes can be observed across the 4 regions, with the end feet contacting the basal lamina (Collden et al. 2015; D. A. Lee et al. 2012; Rizzoti and Lovell-Badge 2017). The neuronal profile zone (unmyelinated neuron processes targeting portal vasculature) contains hypothalamic releasing and inhibiting hormone neural processes, such as CRH, somatostatin, TRH, growth hormone-releasing hormone (GHRH), gonadotropin-releasing hormone (GnRH) neurons (Ojeda, Lomniczi, and Sandau 2008; Yin and Gore 2010). The myelinated axon zone contains nerve terminals from VSP, OXT (Holmes et al. 1986; Yin and Gore 2010) and LepR-expressing neurons (Djogo *et al.*, 2016).

Different types of glial cells within the ME compartment have been identified: astrocytes, microglia, tanycytes (Yin and Gore 2010) and OPCs (Djogo et al. 2016; Kokoeva, Yin, and Flier 2007). The glial cells in the ME interact with neurons and the portal capillary system, being important for the correct function of the portal. Interestingly, during the ageing process, tanycytes suffer morphological changes in ME, the projections become thicker and disorganized and their cytoplasmatic content in lipid droplets (a unique feature of tanycytes) increase (Brawer and Walsh 1982; Zoli et al. 1995).

Interestingly, the communication within glial cells-nerve terminals has been implicated in the control of different neuronal functions, such as the hormone release and neuronal processes maintenance. The best-documented case is the GnRH hormone release, which is controlled by tanycytes and astrocytes interaction with the GnRH terminals in the ME (Parkash et al. 2015; Yin et al. 2009). In the case of LepR-expressing neurons, NG2-glia in the ME plays an important role in the maintenance of their processes (Djogo et al. 2016).

1.2.4. The hypothalamic stem cell niche

In the adult mammalian brain, it is now known that new neurons and glial cells continue to be generated after the embryogenesis period (Eriksson et al. 1998). Adult neurogenesis involves the proliferation of neural stem/progenitor cells (NSPCs), cell survival, cell death, migration, differentiation and, finally, their functional integration. Neural stem cells (NSC) are multipotent cells able to differentiate through different neural lineages with self-renewal ability; while progenitors are proliferating cells with committed differentiation potential (Pino et al. 2017).

Adult neurogenesis does not occur throughout the whole brain and is limited to anatomically circumscribed zones, termed neurogenic niches. The universally accepted neural stem cell niches are located in the subventricular zone (SVZ), lining the walls of the lateral ventricles, and the subgranular zone (SGZ) of the hippocampus. Besides the canonical neurogenic niches, the hypothalamus has emerged as a novel region for postnatal and adult neurogenesis. Within the hypothalamus, two main potential neurogenic sites have been identified: the tanycytes lining the 3V and the parenchymal region.

Hypothalamic tanycytes emerge during late embryonic development (E17 in mice) and occupy the floor and ventro-lateral walls of the 3V (Altman and Bayer 1978). Their apical poles contact the CSF, and their basal extensions extend to portal vessels or contact different hypothalamic nuclei, predominantly the Arc. Due to their anatomical position, it has been suggested that tanycytes may link the CSF to neuroendocrine events (Rodríguez et al. 2005). Tanycytes are subdivided into alpha (α) and beta (β) subtypes depending on their location along with the 3V and gene expression profile (**Figure 1.8**)

(Goodman and Hajihosseini 2015). The β -tanycytes (β 1 and β 2) domain occupies the most ventral floor of the 3V, extending their projections into the ME, while simultaneously forming a barrier between the CSF and parenchymal nuclei – the CSF-ME barrier. The α -tanycytes (α 1 and α 2) are situated more dorsally along the ventro-lateral walls of the 3V, adjacent to the parenchymal DMN and VMN. Tanycytes express multipotent NSC markers such as Sox2 (SRY-Box Transcription Factor 2), Nestin, Bmi1 (B lymphoma Moloney murine leukaemia virus integration site 1 homologue) and Msh1 (Musashi RNA Binding Protein 1) (Goodman and Hajihosseini 2015; Niels Haan et al. 2013; Lee et al. 2016; Li et al. 2012; Robins, Stewart, et al. 2013; Zhang et al. 2017). In addition to the tanycytes, another ependymal cell type, the ependymocytes, with a cuboidal morphology line the 3V. The Ependymocytes are situated more dorsal and form transition zones interdigitating with tanycytes (Hajihosseini et al. 2008).

Even though both tanycytes subtypes share common features, such as the presence of long radial process projected into the parenchyma and the lack of beating cilia, they also display multiple differences. In addition to their different location along with the 3V, α -tanycytes extend only a single villus into the 3V, whereas β -tanycytes extend multiple villi into the 3V space and show blood vessel contact. Furthermore, the majority of β -tanycytes carry primary cilia (Miranda-Angulo et al. 2014), possibly related to cilia-mediated signalling. The expression profile of the alpha-tanycytes is more similar to the ependymocytes, expressing markers such as S100 β , GFAP (Niels Haan et al. 2013) and GLAST, and their progeny is mainly parenchymal astrocytes (Chaker et al. 2016; Robins, Trudel, et al. 2013). In contrast, β -tanycytes express several growth factor genes such as Fgf10 (Fibroblast Growing factor 10), FGF-receptors 1 and 2 and CNTF (Ciliary neurotrophic factor) (Goodman and Hajihosseini 2015). In regards to cell progeny, β -tanycytes generate mainly neuronal types that integrate into different hypothalamic nuclei involved in energy balance and appetite such as Arc and VMN (Lee *et al.*, 2012; Haan *et al.*, 2013; Chaker *et al.*, 2016).

Tanycytes occupy a privileged position in the hypothalamus by possessing contacts with both the CSF of the 3V and peripheral signals such as hormones and metabolites through fenestrated capillaries. Furthermore, β 2-tanycytes contact the fenestrated capillaries of the ME and sense factors from the bloodstream. Subsequently, β 2-tanycytes can transport various factors or signals derived from the bloodstream to



specific regions within the hypothalamus (Balland et al. 2014; Rodríguez et al. 2005) CSF of the 3V.

Figure 1.8. Schematic representation of the cell types of the hypothalamic neurogenic niche lining the 3V. Abbreviations: DMN – dorsomedial nucleus. VMN –ventromedial nucleus. Arc – arcuate nucleus. 3V – third ventricle. ME – median eminence (Goodman and Hajihosseini 2015).

In addition to tanycytes, NG2 (Nerve-glia antigen 2) cells have been identified in the parenchymal region of the hypothalamus. NG2 cells have been demonstrated to proliferate in the adult CNS and are well known for their role as OL progenitors (Dimou and Gallo 2015). The hypothalamic NG2 cells are proliferative and express the stem cell marker Sox2 (Robins, Trudel, et al. 2013).

Genetic fate mapping based on inducible Cre recombinase expression under the promoter of NG2 has demonstrated that a high proportion of hypothalamic NG2-glia differentiate into OLs whereas only a small proportion (8.6%) give rise to neuronal fate cells. The neuronal daughter cells derived from NG2-glia show an immature neuronal phenotype and seem to receive input, indicative of their electrical integration in local hypothalamic circuits. Thus, NG2-glia can take neuronal fates and mature into functional

neurons, indicating that NG2 glia contributes to the neurogenic capacity of the adult hypothalamus (Robins, Trudel, et al. 2013). Also, recent studies have shown that NG2 cells function is connected with leptin signalling in the Arc neurons, suggesting that not only tanycytes but also NG2-glia could act as neuromodulating cells in the Arc-ME system.

In summary, previous evidence suggests that tanycytes lining the 3V and NG2-glia constitute different stem cells populations in the adult hypothalamus. However, the fate of their progeny and their capacity to generate new-born cells across the lifespan is still under debate.

1.3. Hypothesis and objectives

The ultimate control of the appetite and energy balance is located in the hypothalamus, with the Arc nucleus at the core of this regulation. In the Arc nucleus, different neuronal and glial cell populations coexist, and the balance between the activity of these populations is of major importance in regulating energy balance and metabolism. Notably, dysregulated energy metabolism is one of the hallmarks of ageing, likely caused by the progressive impairment of mechanisms that control body homeostasis (Roberts 2000).

Therefore, one may hypothesise that ageing is associated with a reduction in the number, relative ratios and/or connectivity of appetite-regulating neuronal subtypes and glial cells in the hypothalamus accompanied by alterations in hypothalamic transcriptome and a decreased neurogenesis in the hypothalamus. To address this hypothesis, the following objectives were set:

- 1. To determine age-related neuronal numbers and distribution of the two main populations of neurons (anorexigenic and orexigenic) present in the Arc nucleus of the murine hypothalamus.
- 2. To identify age-related transcriptional changes in the mouse hypothalamus through RNA-seq analysis. The genes with the highest age-related changes will be confirmed by imaging and/or molecular biology techniques and scrutinized against published literature.
- To determine age-related changes in astrocyte and microglial cells present in the Arc nucleus of the mouse hypothalamus using immunohistochemistry and western blot.
- 4. Determine the level and magnitude of age-related decline in the hypothalamic neurogenesis using proliferation labelling methods and immunohistochemistry.
- 5. To identify age-related changes in the oligodendrocyte population and the myelination pattern in the mouse hypothalamus using immunohistochemistry and western blot techniques.

2. Material and methods

2.1. Transgenic animals

Mice maintained on a mixed C57BL6/129Ola genetic background and were housed under standard conditions (12-hour light/dark cycle, temperature between 20 and 24 °C, chow and water ad libitum) unless stated otherwise. All animals were maintained, bred, treated and culled in compliance with terms of a Home Office Project Licence (P1980162E). Analyses were performed in males and female brain tissue. Experimental groups of each genotype were defined as young adult (3 – 7 months old), middle-aged (10 – 14 months old), and old animals (18 – 24 months old; Figure 2.1). Only healthy, disease free mice were used in this study. Figure S1 included weight data for animals used in this study with no weight loss observed with increasing age.





2.1.1. Npy-hrGFP

Npy-hrGFP (also named Npy-GFP) transgenic reporter mice were obtained from the Jackson Laboratory (#006417), which exhibits humanised Renilla GFP (hrGFP) expression under the control of the Npy promoter (van den Pol *et al.*, 2009) (**Figure 2.2**, A). Expression of the reporter gene is observed in neurons from the Arc nucleus of the hypothalamus, the dentate gyrus of the hippocampus and the cerebral cortex.

2.1.2. Pomc-EGFP

Pomc-EGFP (also named Pomc-GFP) transgenic reporter mice were obtained from the Jackson Laboratory (#009593), which exhibits enhanced green fluorescent protein (EGFP) expression under the control of the Pomc promoter region (Newell-Price, 2003) (**Figure 2.2, B**). EGFP expression is observed in the Arc nucleus of the hypothalamus, melanotrophs/corticotrophs of the pituitary gland, and in a subpopulation of newly born granule neurons of the dentate gyrus of the hippocampus. EGFP expression is also observed in the nucleus of the solitary tract of the medulla.





2.1.3. Fgf10-LacZ

The Fgf10^{LacZ} transgenic mouse line has the nuclear-targeted lacZ (nLacZ) transgene inserted into Fgf10 regulatory regions 114 Kb upstream of the Fgf10 coding sequence (Fig 2.2 C; (Hajihosseini et al. 2008; Kelly, Brown, and Buckingham 2001). In

these mice, expression of LacZ closely matches expression patterns of Fgf10 and can be used for lineage tracing of Fgf10 expressing cells due to the bacterial origin of the protein product β -galactosidase (β -Gal).

2.1.4. Breeding and genotyping

Genomic DNA for genotyping was extracted from 2 mm ear biopsies and digested overnight at 55 °C in 50 μ l of digest buffer (1 M Tris, 0.5 M EDTA, 5 M NaCl, 2 mg/mL SDS) supplemented with 7 μ g/mL Proteinase K (Sigma, Japan). Following extraction, genomic DNA was precipitated using 50 μ l of isopropanol, spooled out using sterile pipette tips and resuspended in 30 μ l of 30% TE buffer (3mM Tris, 0.3 mM EDTA) overnight at 37 °C in the water bath.

The DNA was subjected to Polymerase Chain Reaction (PCR) using the Roche Expand-PCR kit (Roche, Switzerland). Primers and PCR cycles and are described in **Table 2.1** and **2.2**, respectively. The PCR product was run on ethidium bromide (EtBr)-stained 1% (w/v) agarose gel, and the amplified product was visualised using a UV transilluminator.

Allele	Primers (5'- 3')	Product size (bp)
	AAGTTCATCTGCACCACCG	
Domo ECED	TCCTTGAAGAAGATGGTGCG	WT: 324
POMC-EGFP	CTAGGCCACAGAATTGAAAGATCT	Pomc-GFP: 173
	GTAGGTGGAAATTCTAGCATCATCC	
Npy-hrGFP	TATGTGGACGGGGCAGAAGATCCA	N.T. 400
	CCCAGCTCACATATTTATCTAGAG	W1: 400 Nov-GFP: 300
	GGTGCGGTTGCCGTACTGGA	
	GCATCGAGCTGGGTAATAAGCGTTGGCAAT	
	GACACCGACACAACTGGTAATGGTAGCGAC	WT: 600
Fgf10	CGAGTGGAGCATGTACTTCCGTGTCCTGAA	LacZ: 800
	TCCCTACCCAGTCACAGTCACAGCTGCATA	

Table 2.1. Primers for genotyping

Programme name	Temperature (°C)	Time length (s)	Cycle repeats
	94	120	1
-	94	30	
	58	30	15
	68	70	
Pomc-GFP	94	30	
	58	30	17
	68	70 (+ 20s each cycle)	
	68	420	1
	6	600	1
	94	120	1
	94	30	
	61	30	10
	68	160	
Npy-GFP	94	30	
	61	30	17
	68	160 (+ 40s each cycle)	
	68	420	1
-	6	600	1
	94	120	1
	94	30	
	62	45	15
	68	60	
Fgf10 ^{nLacZ}	94	30	
	62	30	17
	68	60 (+ 40s each cycle)	
	68	420	1
	6	600	1

Table 2.2. PCR programmes for genotyping

2.2. Animal experiments in vivo - BrdU labelling

To study proliferation, animals were treated for 15 days with 5-Bromo-2'deoxyuridine (BrdU, Sigma) in drinking water *ad libitum* (as 1 mg/ml solution containing 0.25 mg/ml glucose) before sacrifice. BrdU is a synthetic thymidine analogue that is incorporated in DNA of cells entering in S-phase of the cell cycle and, is therefore often used to assess cell proliferation (Wojtowicz and Kee, 2006). Fresh BrdU-solution was supplied every 48 hours, and the drinking bottles were protected from light. Stability of BrdU in this paradigm was validated previously (N. Haan et al. 2013).

2.3. Tissue Processing

For vibratome sectioning, mice were sacrificed by CO₂ asphyxiation, followed by transcardial perfusion with 4% (w/v) paraformaldehyde (PFA, pH 7.4, diluted in PBS 1X). Then, brains were dissected out and fixed by immersion in 4% PFA overnight at 4 °C. After overnight fixation, brains were dehydrated in a series of ethanol dilutions for 1 hour each: 30%, 50%, 70%, 90% up to absolute ethanol and stored at 4 °C until required.

Alternatively, for protein or RNA extraction, animals were sacrificed by cervical dislocation. Them, the hypothalami were dissected out, flash-frozen in centrifuge tubes on liquid nitrogen and stored at -80 °C until use.

2.4. Vibratome tissue sectioning

Prior sectioning, brains were rehydrated through a series of ethanol dilutions consisting of 1 hour per dilution: 90%, 70%, 50%, 30%, and PBS. Then, brains were embedded in 3% (w/v) agar, incubated for 30 minutes at 80 °C and left to set in coronal orientation. Vibratome sections were generated on a Leika VT1200 (Leika, Germany) at 60 µm thickness and stored serially in a 48-well plate containing PBS 1X until use.

2.5. Immunolabelling

2.5.1. Antigen retrieval

2.5.1.1. Citrate pre-treatment

Where necessary and before the blocking step of the immunohistochemistry, sections were placed into 10 mM citrate buffer (10 mM tri-sodium citrate, 0.05% Tween-20; pH 6.0); for 10 minutes at room temperature (RT). Subsequently, sections were placed in pre-warmed 10 mM citrate buffer and left for 15 minutes at 70 °C. The sections were left to cool down to RT and washed twice in PBS for 10 minutes each.

2.5.1.2. HCl pre-treatment

To enable the nuclear penetration of the BrdU antibody, before the blocking step, sections were incubated in a solution of HCl 2 M for 1 hour at 37 °C in the water bath and subsequently washed twice for 10 minutes in PBS 1X at RT.

2.5.2. TUNEL assay

To assess apoptosis via DNA fragmentation, the Apoptag TUNEL (terminal deoxynucleotidyl transferase dUTP nick end labelling) assay was performed (kit S7165; according Merck Millipore, Massachusetts, USA), the to manufacturer recommendations. The different reagents were applied directly on slide-mounted sections in a humidified chamber. Alongside hypothalamic sections and as a positive control, sections containing the SGZ of the LV were also assessed for TUNEL staining. To remove false positives, the nuclear morphology and chromatin condensation in TUNEL+ cells were also examined. When double-labelling with immunohistochemistry was required, the TUNEL protocol was performed prior to the blocking step in (1.5.3).

2.5.3. Immunolabelling of vibratome sections

Vibratome sections containing the whole extension of the Arc nucleus (from bregma -0.94 mm to -2.5 mm, approximated) and control regions (SGZ of the LV) were

selected for immunolabelling by comparison to the Allen Brain Atlas (Franklin and Paxinos 2007). To increase antibody binding and penetration in the tissue, the immunolabelling protocol was performed on free-floating sections contained in glass vials. Unless stated otherwise, the different steps were performed at RT and on a rocking platform.

To block non-specific binding sites and permeabilise sections simultaneously, sections were incubated for 2 hours in a solution containing 20% (v/v) NGS, 1% (v/v) Triton X-100 prepared in PBS 1X. Subsequently, sections were incubated with relevant primary antibodies (**Table 2.3**) made in 0.2% (v/v) NGS, 0.1% (v/v) Triton X-100 diluted in PBS 1X overnight at 4 °C. The following day, sections were washed five times, allowing 1 hour per wash, in a solution containing 0.2% (v/v) NGS, 0.1% (v/v) Triton X-100 diluted in PBS 1X to remove the non-bound antibody and incubated overnight at 4 °C with the appropriate secondary antibodies (**Table 2.4**) made diluted in 0.2% (v/v) NGS, 0.5% (v/v) NP-40 in PBS 1X. Where required, for biotin-conjugated secondary antibodies, sections were washed five times, allowing 1 hour per wash, in 0.2% (v/v) NGS, 0.1% (v/v) Triton X-100 prepared in PBS 1X, and incubated in streptavidin-conjugated antibodies made in 0.2% (v/v) NGS, 0.1% (v/v) Triton X-100 diluted in PBS 1X overnight at 4 °C.

The final day, sections were washed six times with PBS 1X, 30 min per wash, and stained with 5 µg/mL Hoechst 333452 in PBS 1X for 30 minutes. After counterstaining, sections were mounted in the slides with Vectashield (Vector Laboratories, California, USA) mounting medium, cover-slipped and sealed by nail varnish.

2.6. Western Blotting and Protein Analysis

2.6.1. Protein extraction from hypothalamic tissue

Hypothalamic tissue was homogenized with ice-cold RIPA lysis buffer (10 µl/mg of tissue; 150mM NaCl, 1% [v/v] NP-40, 0.5% [w/v] sodium deoxycholate, 0.1% [w/v] SDS, 50mM Tris pH 8.0), containing Halt protease and phosphatase inhibitors (1:100; ThermoFisher, Massachusetts, USA), using the bead-beating system TissueLyser LT (Qiagen, France) in series of 1-2-1 minutes. Homogenates were then incubated on an orbital shaker (Cole-Parmer, United Kingdom) for two hours at 4 °C, and cleared to remove debris by centrifugation at 12,000 rpm for 20 minutes at 4 °C. The resulting supernatant was collected, and the total protein concentration of each sample was determined using the colorimetric Pierce BCA protein assay (ThermoFisher), according to manufacturer's instructions.

Samples were prepared by mixing 100 μ g of protein with 4X loading dye (62.5 mM Tris base pH 6.8, 2% [w/v] SDS, 10% [v/v] glycerol, 0.02% bromophenol blue and 12.5% [v/v] β -mercaptoethanol) in a final volume of 25 μ l, boiled for 5 minutes at 95 °C, and kept at -20 °C until required. As an exemption, for PLP detection, samples were not boiled during the preparation.

2.6.2. SDS polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis and transference

The SDS polyacrylamide gel was composed of a 5% stacking gel (126 mM Tris pH 6.8, 5% [v/v] Acrylamide; 0.2% [w/v] SDS; 0.1% [v/v] Ammonium Persulphate; 0.3% [v/v] TEMED); and a resolving gel of 6, 7, 10 or 12% (375 mM Tris pH 8.8, 6-12 % [v/v] Acrylamide 29:1; 0.2% [v/v] SDS; 0.1% [v/v] Ammonium Persulphate; 0.25% [v/v] TEMED), depending on the target protein (**Table 2.5**). Samples were loaded alongside the PageRuler Plus protein ladder (ThermoFisher) and run in electrophoresis buffer (25 mM Tris base, 192 mM Glycine, 1% [w/v] SDS) at 70 V until the dye front surpassed the bottom of the stacking gel, and then at 100 V until the dye front crossed the lower end of the gel.

After electrophoresis is completed, proteins were transferred to nitrocellulose membranes (0.45 µm pore size, Thermofisher) using the mini trans blot cell system (Bio-Rad, California, USA) containing ice-cold transfer buffer (20 mM Tris base, 154 mM Glycine, 0.01% [w/v] SDS, 10% [v/v] methanol) for 90 minutes at 50 V at 4 °C. Alternatively, to transfer high molecular weight proteins (KIF1B and DYNC1H1), the transference was done at 20 V overnight at 4 °C.

2.6.3. Membrane blocking, protein detection and visualisation

Once the transference was complete, membranes were incubated with the blocking solution containing TBST (TBS 1X, 0.1% [v/v] Tween-20) and 5% (w/v) semiskimmed milk, for 2 hours at RT on a rocking platform. After blocking, membranes were directly incubated with the relevant primary antibodies prepared in TBST and 1% semiskimmed milk (w/v), overnight at 4 °C on a tube roller (Cole-Parmer).

After that, membranes were washed with TBST four times, 10 minutes each wash, and incubated with relevant secondary antibodies conjugated with horseradish peroxidase (HRP) prepared in TBST and 1% semi-skimmed milk (w/v), for 2 hours at RT. After washing again with TBST twice for 10 minutes each wash, membranes were incubated in Pierce ECL plus western blotting solution (Thermofisher) for 2 minutes and developed using the ChemiDocTM Imaging System (Bio-Rad). The full list of primary and secondary antibodies can be found in **Table 2.5** and **2.6**, respectively.

In order to re-probe the membranes for different proteins, membranes were incubated in stripping buffer (62.5 mM Tris base pH 6.7, 2% [w/v] SDS, 0.78% [v/v] β mercaptoethanol) for 30 min at 55 °C with gentle rocking, washed four times in TBST for 10 minutes each wash, and blocked again before applying the primary antibodies.

2.7. Microscopy

All fluorescent images were acquired with the Zeiss Apotome Imager M2 microscope (Axiovert 200M) equipped with a Zeiss AxioCam HRm, using the Axiovision 4.8 software. Pictures were captured in serial z-stacks (1 µm of thickness) under X10 (air), X20 (air), X40 (oil) and X63 (oil) objectives. The approximated bregma positions of

each brain section where determined by consultation of the Allen Mouse Brain Atlas (Franklin and Paxinos 2007).

2.8. Image analysis and quantifications

2.8.1. Pomc and Npy quantifications

The Volocity 6.3 software (Perkin Elmer, Massachusets, United States) was employed to generate three-dimensionally reconstructed images, create composites and to modify brightness and contrast to make visible low stained cells. Using the threedimensional images, the total number of hypothalamic GFP+ cells in each brain section was counted in approximated 24 serial sections per brain ranging from bregma -0.94 mm to -2.5 mm. The Volocity automated cell counter was used for Npy-GFP+ cells, while manual counting was preferred for Pomc-GFP+ cells. Both hemispheres were used for the counting, and results are represented as the average cell number of both hemispheres. To avoid double-counting, only the middle 40 μ M of each 60 μ M-thick section was analysed. The Npy: Pomc ratio was calculated using the average number of Npy-GFP+ and Pomc-GFP+ per hemisphere obtained in *Chapter 3*.

2.8.2. GFAP and Iba1 quantifications

The GFAP+ and Iba1+ cell and size number were quantified within a specified ROI (region of interest; a rectangle of area 0.134 mm²) using the ImageJ software (https://imagej.nih.gov/ij/). The counting method consisted of positioning the ROI covering the whole Arc nucleus region and counting manually the positive cells contained within the ROI (represented as GFAP+ or Iba1+ cells/mm²). To quantify the cell size, the same ROI was used, and the total area covered by GFAP+ or Iba1+ signal was divided by the number of GFAP+ or Iba1+ cells contained within the same area (represented as GFAP+ or Iba1+ cells contained within the same area).

2.8.3. BrdU quantifications

The total number of BrdU+ cells was counted manually within the mediobasal hypothalamus using the ImageJ software, in approximated 24 serial sections per brain ranging from bregma -0.94 mm to -2.5 mm. To obtain the percentage of BrdU+/Olig2+ and BrdU+/Iba1+ cells in the Arc-ME, double-labelled (BrdU+/Olig2+ or BrdU+/Iba1+) and single-labelled cells (BrdU+) were counted manually within a specified ROI (a square of area 0.0016 mm²). To improve accuracy, the ROI was positioned in, at least, three different regions of the Arc-ME within the same section.

2.8.4. Olig2 and CC1 quantifications

The number of Olig2+ and CC1+ cells were counted manually within a specified ROI (a square of area 0.0016 mm²) using the ImageJ software, in approximated 12 sections ranging from bregma -1.58 mm to -2.3 mm. The counting method consisted of positioning the ROI within the Arc-ME nucleus and counting manually the positive cells contained within the ROI (represented as Olig2+ or CC1+ cells/mm²). To improve accuracy, the ROI was positioned at least in three different regions of the Arc-ME within the same section.

2.9. RNA-sequencing

Hypothalami form young and old mice (n = 5 for each age group) were isolated and stored in RNA later at -80 °C. Then, the RNA from hypothalamic tissue was extracted by Dr Tarang Mehta, using the RNeasy Plus Mini Kit (Qiagen), achieving RNA integrity (RIN) in the range of 9 – 10 (Agilent Bioanalyzer Total RNA Pico Assay).

The samples were sent to Novogen (Cambridge, UK), where the RNA-Seq experiment was performed. Libraries were constructed and sequences using Illumina HiSeq2000. Each sample had: a sequencing depth of at least 20 million reads per sample. Differential gene expression analysis was carried out by Dr Simon Moxon who pseudoaligned reads to the Ensembl *M. musculus* cDNA release (version 97) (Yates et al. 2020) using Kallisto (Bray et al. 2016). Sleuth (Pimentel et al. 2017) was used to calculate gene-based differential expression from Kallisto count data.

2.10. Statistics

Statistical analysis for multiple comparisons was performed with one-way or twoway ANOVA followed by Tukey's post hoc test using GraphPad Prism (v. 6). Significance was only considered for p-values lower than 0.05 (*p<0.05, **p<0.01, ***p<0.001). Data is represented as mean \pm SEM.

For immunohistochemistry, western blot and RNA-seq studies, *n* numbers relate to the number of mouse brain/hypothalamus analysed within the experimental paradigm. Quantification of cell numbers was measured from approximately 12 – 24 sections per brain, depending on the experiment (see *section 2.8*). The specific number of mice analysed for each experiment is described in *Chapters 3, 4, 5, 6* and 7, with a minimum of 3 mice brains per age group analysed in each experiment.

Name	Host	Manufacturer	Comercial reference	Dilution	Antigen retrieval
a-APC (CC-1)	Ms	Millipore	MABC200	1/500	No
a-ASCL1	Ms	Santa Cruz	sc-374104	1/100	No
a-BrdU	Rt	Abcam	ab6326	1/500	HCI
α-Cl Caspase 3 (CC3)	Rb	Cell signaling	9661	1/1000	No
a-DCX	Ms	Santa Cruz	sc-271390	1/100	No
a-GFAP	Ms	Millipore	MAB360	1/1000	No
a-GFP	Rb	Abcam	ab290	1/1000	No
a-IBA1	Rb	Wako	019-19741	1/1000	No
a-MBP	Ms	Abcam	ab62631	1/500	No
a-MLKL	Rt	Millipore	MABC604	1/100	No
a-NeuN	Ms	Millipore	MAB377	1/500	Citrate
a-NF	Ms	Biolegend	SMI 312	1/500	No
a-OLIG2	Rb	Millipore	AB9610	1/500	No
a-PLP	Ms	Bio-Rad	MCA839G	1/250	No
α-S100β	Ms	Abcam	ab4066	1/200	Citrate

Table 2.3. Primary antibodies used for immunohistochemistry

Rb (rabbit), Ms (mouse), Rt (rat)

Table 2.4. Secondary antibodies used for immunohistochemistry

Host	Taget	Conjugated	Manufacturer	Comercial reference	Dilution
Gt	Ms	Alexa Fluor 488	Invitrogen	A-11001	1/1000
Gt	Ms	Alexa Fluor 568	Invitrogen	A-11004	1/1000
Gt	Rb	Alexa Fluor 488	Invitrogen	A-11008	1/1000
Gt	Rb	Alexa Fluor 568	Invitrogen	A-11011	1/1000
Gt	Ms lgG1	Biotin	Jackson ImmunoResearch	115-065-205	1/500
Gt	Rt	Biotin	Invitrogen	31830	1/500
-	Streptavidin	AMCA	Jackson ImmunoResearch	016-150-084	1/250
-	Streptavidin	Texas Red	Vector laboratories	SA-5006-1	1/250
	Rh (rabbit) Me (mouse) Rt (rat) Gt (goat)				

Rb (rabbit), Ms (mouse), Rt (rat), Gt (goat)

Name	Host	Manufacturer	Comercial reference	Dilution	Concentration resolving gel (%)
a-AIF	Ms	Santa Cruz	sc-13116	1/200	10
a-ARGI Ms	Ms	Santa Cruz	sc-271430	1/200	7
a-B7-2 (CD-86)	Ms	Santa Cruz	sc-28347	1/500	7
a-CD206 Ms	Ms	Santa Cruz	sc-58986	1/200	7
a-CNPase	Ms	Chemicon	MAB326	1/250	10
a-DYNC1H1	Rb	Proteintech	12345-1-AP	1/500	6
a-GADPH	Rb	Cell signaling	2118S	1/1000	12
a-GFAP	Ms	Millipore	MAB360	1/1000	10
a-KIF1B	Rb	Proteintech	15263-1-AP	1/500	6
a-MBP	Rb	Abcam	ab40390	1/500	12
a-MRF	Rb	Abcam	ab854464	1/250	7
a-NF	Ms	Biolegend	SMI 312	1/500	7
a-NG2	Rb	Millipore	AB5320	1/500	7
a-OLIG2	Rb	Millipore	AB9610	1/2500	10
a-PLP	Ms	Bio-Rad	MCA839G	1/1000	12
a-POMC	Rb	Abcam	ab94446	1/500	12
a-TNFa	Ms	Santa Cruz	sc-52746	1/100	12
a-Tuj1	Ms	R&D systems	MAB1195	1/500	7
α-βACTIN	Ms	Proteintech	66009-1-lg	1/5000	7-12
				Rb (ra	abbit), Ms (mouse)

 Table 2.5. Primary antibodies used for western blot

Table 2.6. Secondary antibodies used for western blot

Host	Taget	Conjugated	Manufacturer	Comercial reference	Dilution
Gt	Ms	HRP	Santa Cruz	sc-516102	1/5000
Gt	Rb	HRP	Vector Labs	P1-1000	1/5000
Gt	Ms	HRP	Sigma-Aldrich	A4416	1/5000

Rb (rabbit), Ms (mouse), Rt (rat), Gt (goat)

3. Characterisation of anorexigenic (POMC) and orexigenic (NPY) neuronal populations in the Arc nucleus and their dynamics during ageing

3.1. Introduction

Over the past two decades, a large body of evidence has accumulated to show that the hypothalamus plays a critical role in energy homeostasis by controlling the balance between calorie intake and energy expenditure (Dietrich and Horvath 2013; Kim and Choe 2018). The hypothalamus contains a diverse collection of interconnected neurons organised in different nuclei: the dorsomedial hypothalamus (DMN), ventromedial hypothalamus (VMN), lateral hypothalamus (LH), paraventricular hypothalamus (PVN) and Arcuate nucleus (Arc). Complex but integrated interconnections between the hypothalamic nuclei control the feeding behaviour and energy expenditure (Coupe and Bouret 2013). In the Arc nucleus, the antagonistic relationship between two neuronal populations control energy homeostasis: the orexigenic (appetite-promoting) neurons expressing agouti-related peptide (AgRP) and neuropeptide Y (NPY); and the anorexigenic (appetite-suppressing) neurons expressing proopiomelanocortin (POMC) (Cone et al. 2001).

The AgRP/NPY neurons activate orexigenic behaviours through the release of neurotransmitters, AgRP and NPY, which bind to receptors in PVN and LH neurons (Betley et al. 2013; Hahn et al. 1998). In addition to their direct effect on the PVN and LH, the orexigenic neurons innervate and inhibit the activity of POMC neurons (Garcia de Yebenes et al. 1995). Studies in aged mice showed that NPY/AgRP innervation onto POMC undergoes a progressive and pronounced increase with age, associated with the age-related decrease of POMC firing (Newton et al. 2013).

The POMC neurons exert its anorexigenic effect through its projections to the PVN, VMN and LH, and by releasing α-MSH, a post-translation product of POMC that activates MC4R in target cells (Millington 2007). These neurons can release a plethora of different neurotransmitters, including GABA, glutamate and acetylcholine (Dennison et al. 2016; Jarvie and Hentges 2012; King and Hentges 2011); and express a variety of receptors, such as the insulin receptor (InsR), LepR, and 5-HT2cR (Sohn et al. 2011; Williams et al. 2010). Recent studies have described different subtypes within the POMC population, defined by a set of enriched transcripts, suggesting the possible heterogeneity of these cells (Campbell et al. 2017; Chen et al. 2017). The different POMC subtypes show different rostro-caudal distribution and project to different targets based on their position. For example, POMC neurons in the rostral Arc project mostly to

autonomic areas, whereas caudal Arc POMC neurons mainly innervate hypothalamic areas (Dennison et al. 2016; Jarvie and Hentges 2012; King and Hentges 2011).

Interestingly, in mammals, the shift in energy homeostasis is one of the hallmarks of the physiological changes during ageing (Hildrum et al. 2007). Ageing is associated with the development of metabolic syndrome components including obesity, hypertension and glucose intolerance (Purkayastha and Cai 2013; Purkayastha, Zhang, and Cai 2011; Tang et al. 2015; Zhang et al. 2008). Assumedly, age-related changes in the hypothalamic neurons controlling energy balance and metabolism, especially POMC and AgRP/NPY neurons, could underlie the decline in metabolism and energy homeostasis observed during ageing. Reportedly, the firing of the POMC neurons significantly decreases with age (Newton et al. 2013; Yang et al. 2012), and the induction of Pomc expression by exogenous leptin is impaired during ageing (Scarpace et al. 2002). Furthermore, the hypothalamic Pomc mRNA levels decline in rodents with age (Lloyd et al. 1991; Nelson, Bender, and Schachter 1988). For NPY neurons, studies in aged rats reported a decrease in NPY protein levels with age (Kowalski et al. 1992), whereas mRNA of AgRP remains stable during ageing (Wolden-Hanson, Marck, and Matsumoto 2004).

Thus, although the studies mentioned above provided useful insights about the agerelated changes in the anorexigenic and orexigenic populations, they might not be sufficient to illustrate the ageing-related shift in energy homeostasis. Hence, to better understand the dynamics of appetite-regulating circuits in the aged brain, the number and distribution of POMC and NPY/AgRP neuronal populations in young, middle-aged aged and old mice was characterised in this chapter.

3.2. Aims

- Characterisation of the number of anorexigenic and orexigenic neurons in the Arc nucleus of the murine hypothalamus.
- Characterization of age-related differences in the number and/or anatomical distribution of the anorexigenic and orexigenic populations.
- Study of the physiological consequences of the changes in the number of anorexigenic and orexigenic neurons with ageing.

3.3. Results

3.3.1. Anorexigenic and orexigenic neuronal dynamics with age

Given the decline in energy metabolism reported during ageing in humans and rodents, the effects of ageing in the neuronal populations that control energy balance were investigated. However, neither the total number of those neuronal populations nor their dynamics during ageing have been defined. To quantify the total number of anorexigenic and orexigenic neurons, and any age-related differences, immunohistochemistry and specific reporter mice to each population were employed.

3.3.2. The anorexigenic population (POMC) suffer a significant decline in number in the Arc nucleus with age

To quantify the number of anorexigenic neurons in the hypothalamus, the transgenic model Pomc-GFP maintained on a C57BL/6J background was employed. Immunohistochemistry against GFP was performed in vibratome sections from young adult (2 – 6 months old), middle-aged (10 – 12 months old) and old (18 – 25 months) mice, with a minimum of 4 animals per age group. GFP expression in the mediobasal hypothalamus was detected between bregma positions -0.94 to -2.4 mm (Figure 3.1). GFP+ cells were mainly observed in the Arc nucleus, with minor contributions to the VMN, and cells with differential GFP signal were observed throughout the hypothalamus (Figure 3.1). The neuronal identity of the Pomc-expressing cells was then confirmed by co-localisation with the neuronal marker NeuN (Figure 3.2).

Next, the total number of Pomc-expressing cells per animal were quantified in 24 serial sections (60 µm thickness each), between bregma -0.94 to -2.4 mm (**Figure 3.3 A – F, G**). The young adults showed an average number of Pomc-expressing neurons of approximated 2132 \pm 86 (n = 4) per hemisphere, 4264 \pm 172 (n = 4) in total. In the middle-aged animals, the population number was reduced to 1463 \pm 17 (n = 4) per hemisphere, 2926 \pm 35 (n = 4) in total; a significant decline of 31.4% (p < 0.05). In old animals, the number of Pomc-expressing neurons was 1294 \pm 69 (n = 6) per hemisphere, 2589 \pm 137 (n = 6) in total. In summary, results showed attrition of the Pomc-expressing population with age. The decline is firstly observed in the middle-aged group, with further reduction in the old animals.

Additionally, the analysis of Pomc-expressing cells distribution across the rostro-caudal extent of the Arc showed regional differences (Figure 3.4). In young animals, the rostral portion of the Arc (bregma -0.94 to -1.58 mm, approximated) presented higher cell density than the caudal part (bregma -1.7 to 2.4 mm). In middle-aged animals, a reduction in Pomc-expressing neurons is observed throughout the Arc, affecting more significantly the rostral-positioned neurons. The old group followed the same pattern as the middle-aged animals, with a shaper decline in the rostral region. As a result, Pomc-expressing neurons are more uniformly distributed across the rostro-caudal Arc in middle-aged and old animals. Significant differences between age groups and rostro-caudal position in the Arc are summarized in Table 3.1.

In conclusion, results showed an age-related decline in total number of POMC neurons in the Arc nucleus, as well as changes in their distribution in the Arc nucleus. The changes are firstly observed during early ageing.







Figure 3.1. Representative distribution and density of Pomc+ cells in the hypothalamus. Approximated bregma positions are indicated. Green circles indicate the position of the groups of Pomc+ cells. Results obtained from young, middle-aged and old animals, with a minimum of 3 animals analysed per age group, were employed for the diagram design. Dashed lines outline the 3V and the limits of the different hypothalamic nuclei. 3V – third ventricle. VMN – ventromedial nucleus. AH – anterior hypothalamus. Arc – arcuate nucleus. ME – median eminence.



Figure 3.2. Pomc-GFP+ cells co-express the mature neuronal marker NeuN, confirming their neuronal identity. (A – A") Representative Pomc-GFP+ brain section immunolabelled for GFP (green) and NeuN (red). NeuN expression is lower in the Arc compared to the rest of hypothalamic nuclei, such as the VMN. (B – B") Dashed box in (A) shows a higher power of Pomc-GFP+ and NeuN+ expression in the Arc nucleus. White arrows point co-localisation of GFP+ and NeuN. (C – C") Dashed box in (A) shows a higher power of Pomc-GFP+ and NeuN. (C – C") Dashed box in (A) shows a higher power of Pomc-GFP+ and NeuN. (C – C") Dashed box in (A) shows a higher power of Pomc-GFP+ and NeuN+ expression in the Arc nucleus. White arrows point co-localisation of GFP+ and NeuN expression. Approximated bregma position -1.7 mm. Images are representative of results obtained in young, middle-aged and old animals with a minimum of 3 animals analysed per age group. Dashed line indicates the limit between Arc and VMN nucleus. Scale bar (A – A") 25 µm. Scale bar (B – B" and C – C") 12 µm. MBH – mediobasal hypothalamus. Arc – arcuate nucleus. VMN – ventromedial nucleus.



Figure 3.3. Pomc-expressing neurons show a differential distribution throughout the Arc nucleus and suffer a significative decline with age, that is more pronounced in the rostral region. (A – F) Representative images of Pomc-GFP+ brain sections stained for GFP (green) and Hoechst (blue). (A – C) Bregma -1.46 mm, from young-adult (A), middle-aged (B) and old (C) animals. (D-E) Bregma -1.7 mm, from young (D), middle-aged (E) and old (F) animals. Scale bar 50 μ m. (G) Average total number of GFP+ cells per hemisphere, in young-adults (black column), middle-aged (dark grey) and old animals (light grey). Data show a significant age-related decrease in the number of GFP+ cells. Bregma positions are approximated. Data is represented as mean ±SEM, and a minimum of 4 animals per age group were analysed. Significance testing was performed using one-way ANOVA followed by Tukey post-hoc (*p<0.05, **p<0.01, ***p<0.001).




Table 3.1. Significance testing for Figure 3.4, using two-way ANOVA followed by Tukey post-hoc test (*p<0.05, **p<0.01, ***p<0.001).

Bregma (mm)	Comparison	Significance	p-value
-1.22	Middle-aged vs Old	**	0.0085
1.00	Young <i>vs</i> Old	***	< 0.0001
-1.20	Middle-aged vs Old	**	0.0099
1.04	Young vs Middle-aged	***	< 0.0001
-1.34	Young vs Old	***	< 0.0001
-1.40	Young vs Old	***	< 0.0001
-1.40	Middle-aged vs Old	**	0.0012
1.46	Young vs Middle-aged	***	0.0002
-1.40	Young vs Old	***	< 0.0001
1.50	Young vs Middle-aged	***	< 0.0001
-1.52	Young vs Old	***	< 0.0001
-1.58	Young vs Middle-aged	***	< 0.0001
-1.00	Young <i>vs</i> Old	***	< 0.0001
-1.64	Young vs Middle-aged	***	0.0003
-1.04	Young <i>vs</i> Old	***	< 0.0001
-1 70	Young vs Middle-aged	***	0.0004
-1.70	Young <i>vs</i> Old	***	< 0.0001
-1.76	Young vs Middle-aged	**	0.0026
-1.70	Young <i>vs</i> Old	***	0.0005
-1.82	Young vs Middle-aged	**	0.0099
1.02	Young <i>vs</i> Old	**	0.0016
-1.88	Young vs Middle-aged	***	0.0005
-1.00	Young <i>vs</i> Old	**	0.0011
-1 9/	Young vs Middle-aged	**	0.0029
1.24	Young vs Old	**	0.0011
-2 00	Young vs Middle-aged	**	0.0018
2.00	Middle-aged vs Old	*	0.0301
-2.06	Young vs Middle-aged	**	0.0013
-2.00	Young vs Old	**	0.003

3.3.3. Hypothalamic POMC protein levels remain stable during ageing

Given that Pomc-expressing cells suffer an age-related decline, the next step was to investigate the change in POMC protein level during ageing. To do so, POMC levels were analysed in hypothalamic protein extracts from young, middle-aged and old wild-type animals (n = 6 per age group) via western blot. Anti-POMC antibody detected a single band of approximated 31 KDa (**Figure 3.9**, **B**). Densitometry analysis of the 31 KDa band showed no significant differences with age (**Figure 3.9**, **B**).



Figure 3.5. The protein levels of POMC in the hypothalamus remain constant during ageing. (A) Representative image of immunoblot for POMC protein and the loading control β -ACTIN. POMC protein runs at an approximated size of 31 KDa. Numbers indicate bands of the molecular weight marker used as a size standard (KDa) (B) Comparison of densitometric analysis of POMC levels relative to the loading control, in young adult (black), middle-aged (dark grey) and old (light grey) animals, show no age-related differences. The letters above the immunoblot lanes refer to the different age groups, young adult (Y), middle-aged (M) and old (O). Numbers indicate the bands of the molecular weight marker used as a size standard (KDa). Data is represented as mean ±SEM and a minimum of 6 animals per age group were analysed. All significance testing was performed using one-way ANOVA followed by Tukey post-hoc (*p<0.05).

3.3.4. The orexigenic population (NPY) showed no significant age-related differences in the Arc nucleus

For the quantification of Npy-expressing neurons in the hypothalamus, the transgenic mice employed was the Npy-GFP. The total number of Npy-expressing cells per animal were quantified in 24 serial sections (60 m thickness each), between bregma -0.94 to -2.4 mm. GFP was visualised in vibratome sections from young adult (2 – 6 months old), middle-aged (10 – 12 months old) and old (18 – 25 months) mice, with a minimum of 4 animals per age group. GFP+ cells were mainly observed in Arc nucleus, with minor contributions to the ME (Figure 3.6). Unlike the anorexigenic population, Npy-expressing cells were mainly located in the basal part of the Arc, near the ME and the 3V wall. Also, individual GFP+ cells showed similar fluorescent signal throughout the mediobasal hypothalamus. The neuronal identity of the Npy-expressing cells was then confirmed by co-localisation with the neuronal marker NeuN (Figure 3.7).

Next, the total number of GFP+ cells per hemisphere were counted in serial sections between bregma -0.94 to -2.4 mm. Quantification results showed no significant agerelated differences in the Npy-expressing neuronal number (**Figure 3.8**, **A** – **F** and **G**). The young adult group presented an average number of Npy-expressing neurons of approximated 3001 ± 260 (n = 4) per hemisphere, 6001 ± 519 (n = 4) in total. In middleaged, the population number was 2801 ± 282 (n = 4) per hemisphere, 560 ± 566 (n =4) in total. In old animals, the number of Pomc-expressing neurons was 3492 ± 331 (n = 4) per hemisphere, 6983 ± 661 (n = 4) in total.

Also, GFP+ cells were found throughout the Arc nucleus, with a higher density in the caudal part (between bregma -1.7 to -2.06 mm). The distribution pattern was maintained with age; however, statistical analysis revealed an increase in GFP+ number in caudal positions of the Arc nucleus, specifically bregma -2.06 and -2.18 mm; **Figure 3.9**.

In conclusion, results showed that NPY neurons in the Arc nucleus remain generally stable in number and distribution during ageing, although a small age-related increase in number is detected in caudal position of the Arc.







Figure 3.6. Representative distribution and density of Npy+ cells in the hypothalamus. Approximated bregma positions are indicated. Green circles indicate the position of the groups of Npy+ cells. Results obtained from young, middle-aged and old animals, with a minimum of 3 animals analysed per age group, were employed for the diagram design. Dashed lines outline the 3V and the limits of the different hypothalamic nuclei. 3V – third ventricle. VMN – ventromedial nucleus. AH – anterior hypothalamus. Arc – arcuate nucleus. ME – median eminence.



Figure 3.7. Npy-GFP+ cells co-express the neuronal marker NeuN, confirming their neuronal identity. (A - A'') Representative Npy-GFP+ brain section immunolabelled for GFP (green) and NeuN (red). (B - B'') Dashed box in (A) shows a high power of Npy-GFP+ and NeuN+ expression in the Arc nucleus. White arrows point co-localization of GFP+ and NeuN expression. Images are representative of results obtained in young, middle-aged and old animals with a minimum of 3 animals analysed per age group. Approximated bregma position -1.34 mm. Scale bar (A - A'') 50 µm. Scale bar (B - B'') 13 µm.



Figure 3.8. Npy-expressing neuron number in the Arc nucleus remain stable during ageing. (A – F) Representative images of Npy-GFP+ brain sections stained for GFP (green) and Hoechst (blue). (A – C) Bregma -1.34 mm, from young-adult (A), middle-aged (B) and old (C) animals. (D – E) Bregma -1.7 mm, from young (D), middle-aged (E) and old (F) animals. Scale bar 25 μ m. (G) Average total number of GFP+ cells per hemisphere, in young-adults (black column), middle-aged (dark grey) and old animals (light grey). Data show non-significant differences in GFP+ cell number, however a trend towards increase is observed. Bregma positions are approximated. Data is represented as mean ±SEM and a minimum of 4 animals per age group were quantified. Significance testing was performed using one-way ANOVA followed by Tukey post-hoc test (*p<0.05).



Figure 3.9. Distribution Npy-expressing cells in the Arc nucleus during ageing. Distribution of GFP+ (Npy-GFP) cells in the Arc. Data is represented as the average number of GFP+ (per hemisphere) in sections ranging from bregma -0.94 to -2.46 mm. Different colours represent the three age groups, young adult (blue), middle-aged (orange) and old (red). Data is represented as mean ±SEM, and a minimum of 4 animals per age group were quantified. Significance testing was performed using two-way ANOVA followed by Tukey post-hoc test (*p<0.05). Statistically significant differences for young *vs* old (bregma -2.06 and -2.18 mm) are indicated.

3.3.5. The Npy: Pomc ratio is affected by age

NPY and POMC neurons exert opposite roles, and the firing balance between both populations control feeding and metabolism in the body. Results showed that NPY outnumbered POMC population in the three age groups (**Figure 3.10, A**). The ratio between Npy- and Pomc-expressing neurons (Npy: Pomc) was calculated using the Pomc and Npy quantifications presented in the previous sections (see *section 2.8.1* for more information). Results showed that Npy: Pomc ratio suffered changes with age, 1.416 \pm 0.157 in young adult mice, 1.916 \pm 0.195 in middle-aged, and 3.013 \pm 0.157 in old mice (**Figure 3.10, B**).

Next, Npy and Pomc distribution throughout the Arc was compared in the three age groups. In young animals, Npy- and Pomc-expressing neurons were evenly proportioned in the rostral Arc (bregma -0.94 to -1.58 mm); in the caudal Arc, Npy outnumbered Pomc (-1.7 to -2.06 mm; Figure 3.11, A). In the middle-age and old animals, Npy-expressing cells exceeded Pomc in rostral and caudal regions (Figure 3.11, B – C). In conclusion, the results suggested that Npy to Pomc ratio in the Arc nucleus suffer an age-related change.



Figure 3.10. The orexigenic (Npy+) and anorexigenic (Pomc) neuronal populations change in number with age affecting the Npy/Pomc ratio, important for the control of the energy balance. (A) Average Npy-GFP+ (dark grey) and Pomc-GFP+ (light grey) cells (per hemisphere) comparison per age group. Data is represented as mean ± SEM and minimum of 4 animals per transgenic and age group were quantified. (B) Ratio Npy:Pomc represented as average total number of Npy-GFP+ cells divided by the average total number of Pomc-GFP+ (obtained in previous sections of this chapter); for young adult (black), middle-aged (dark grey) and old (light grey) animals.



Figure 3.11. Pomc-and Npy-expressing cells show a differential distribution within the Arc and, as the age progresses, Npy-expressing cells outnumbers Pomc and become the majoritarian population thorough the Arc. (A - C) Graphs show the distribution of Npy-GFP+ (solid line) and the Pomc-GFP+ (dashed line) cells in the Arc, represented as the average number of GFP+ (per hemisphere) in the bregma positions ranging from -0.94 to -2.46 mm, in young adult (A), middle-aged (B) and old (C) animals. In the young groups, Npy-GFP+ population show a more even distribution in the Arc than Pomc-GFP+ cells that are more predominant in the rostral positions of the Arc (bregma -1.22 to -1.58 mm). During ageing, the Npy population maintain their distribution; however, the Pomc-GFP+ population decline, mostly affecting the rostral positioned cells and appear uniformly distributed in the Arc of old animals. AVE – average. Data is represented as mean ± SEM and a minimum of 4 animals per age group were quantified.

3.3.6. Programmed cell death is absent in the ageing hypothalamus

3.3.6.1. The Decline of Pomc-expressing neurons is not due to apoptosis

Given that the results indicated that Pomc-expressing neurons decline with age, I decided to investigate if (1) apoptosis occurs in the hypothalamus and/or increases with age; and (2) apoptotic events target the anorexigenic population. To do so, immunohistochemistry for the activated form of the caspase 3 (CC3) and TUNEL assay were employed.

Firstly, to identify apoptotic events, the apoptosis marker cleaved caspase 3 (CC3), the activated form of the caspase 3 was used. The caspase 3 is the final effector of the apoptotic cascade, either receptor or mitochondrial-mediated, and has been widely used to detect apoptosis (Stadelmann et al. 1999). Immunohistochemistry for CC3 was performed in hypothalamic brain sections from young adult (n = 4), middle-aged (n = 6), and old mice (n = 3). In order to avoid false positives, the chromatin (Hoechst staining) and the nucleus morphology was analysed in the CC3+ cells, and only cells showing double staining (CC3/Hoechst) were considered real apoptotic events. Results failed to show CC3 staining the Arc; however, sporadic CC3+ cells were detected in other regions of the hypothalamus, including the VMN (Figure 3.12, A - A''' and B - B'''). Additionally, other regions known to suffer apoptotic events were studied, and positive cells were found in the lateral ventricles (LV), thus confirming the validity of the method (Figure S 2).

Secondly, TUNEL assay was used to examine apoptosis via DNA fragmentation. The assay detects the DNA strands breaks and enzymatically labels the free 3'-OH termini with modified nucleotides (digoxigenin-dNTP), further detected by a digoxigenin/antidigoxigenin fluorescent system. Only TUNEL+ cells that showed co-staining with the nuclear marker Hoechst were considered. The TUNEL assay was performed in hypothalamic brain sections from young adult (n = 4), middle-aged (n = 4) and old mice, n = 2). Results showed very rare TUNEL+ cells in the Arc nucleus and in the periventricular region of the 3V (Figure 3.12, C – C''' and D – D'''). As a control region, TUNEL+ cells were observed surrounding the LV (Figure S 2). In conclusion, very few cells were detected via CC3 immunohistochemistry and TUNEL assay in the hypothalamus of young, middle-aged and old animals; thus, suggesting that apoptosis may not play a significant role in Pomc cell number decline reported earlier in this chapter.

3.3.6.2. The age-related decline in Pomc-expressing neurons is not due to necroptosis

Following the apoptosis studies, the next step was to study if necroptosis activation mediates the decline in Pomc-expressing cells observed with age. To do so, the expression of the necroptosis marker MLKL (mixed lineage kinase domain-like) was investigated via immunohistochemistry in hypothalamic brains sections of young adult (n = 3), middle-aged (n = 2) and old animals (n = 3).

Results showed sporadic MLKL+ cells in the mediobasal hypothalamus of the three groups of age. The identity of the sporadic MLKL+ cells was assessed via co-localisation with different markers, including the neuronal marker NeuN and the microglial marker lba1. However, only the lba1 marker showed co-localisation with MLKL+ cells (Figure 3.13, $A - A^{\prime\prime\prime}$). Additionally, in some cases, MLKL staining resembled small vessels, based on the morphological characteristics of the brain vasculature (Figure 3.13, $B - B^{\prime\prime\prime}$). As a control region, the corpus callosum was analysed, and MLKL+/lba1+ cells were observed (Figure S 3).

In conclusion, necroptotic events (MLKL+) in the Arc nucleus are sporadic in the three age groups studied and seem to target only microglial cells and microvascular cells.



Figure 3.12. Analysis of CC3 immunostaining and TUNEL assays revealed rare apoptotic events in the hypothalamus. (A – A''') CC3 immunostaining (green) and Hoechst (blue) in the VMN nucleus of the hypothalamus (bregma -1.43 mm). (A', A'', A'') Dashed box in (A) shows a higher power and features two CC3+ cells and the apoptotic morphology of their nuclei (white arrows). (B – B''') CC3 (red), Pomc-GFP (green) and Hoechst (blue) detection in the periventricular region of the hypothalamus (bregma -1.06 mm). (B', B'', B'') Dashed box in (B) features one CC3+ cell that failed to show co-localization with Pomc-GFP+ expression (white arrow). (C – C'') TUNEL+ cell (red) and Hoechst (blue) in the Arc nucleus of the hypothalamus (bregma -1.94 mm). (C', C'', C'') Dashed box in (C) features a TUNEL+ cell and the apoptotic nucleus (white arrow). (D – D''') TUNEL+ cells (red) and Hoechst (blue) (D', D'', D'') Dashed box in (D) features a TUNEL+ cell and the apoptotic nucleus a TUNEL+ cell and the apoptotic nucleus of the hypothalamus (bregma -1.82 mm). (D', D'', D'') Dashed box in (D) features a TUNEL+ cell and the apoptotic nucleus (A' – A''', B' – B''', C' – C''', D' – D''') 15 μ m. 3V – third ventricle.



Figure 3.13. The necroptosis marker MLKL showed co-localization with microglia (lba1+) and suggest association to blood vessels in the Arc nucleus. (A – B") MLKL (red), lba1 (green) and Hoechst (blue) staining in the Arc nucleus of the hypothalamus (bregma - 1.7mm). White arrows indicate MLKL+/lba1+ cells. (C – D") MLKL (red), lba1 (green) and Hoechst (blue) staining in the Arc nucleus of the hypothalamus (bregma -1.94 mm). White arrows indicate MLKL+ cells that seem to be part of a blood vessel due to its morphology and proximity between each other. (D – D") High power of (C – C") shows MLKL+ cells associated to a blood vessel delineated by dashed lines. Scale bar (A – A", C – C") 50 µm. Scale bar (B – B", D – D") 12 µm. Bregma positions are approximated. Scale bar 25 µm. 3V – third ventricle. Arc – arcuate nucleus.

3.4. Discussion

As part of the ageing process, changes in the energy balance have been reported in mammals (Roberts 2000), likely caused by the progressive impairment of the hypothalamic circuits that control body homeostasis. Previous studies reported changes in the anorexigenic (POMC) and orexigenic (NPY/AgRP) populations with age, although they might not be sufficient to illustrate the age-related shift in energy homeostasis. The coordinated regulation of neuronal circuit involving POMC and NPY/AgRP is essential for maintaining energy balance; however, the number and distribution of both neuronal populations have not been explored, nor their dynamics, during ageing.

In this study, using the transgenic models Pomc-GFP and Npy-GFP, the number and distribution of both neuronal populations was quantified in serial hypothalamic sections across the mouse lifespan. The detailed characterization of both appetite-regulating populations showed that the anorexigenic POMC, but not the orexigenic NPY, suffer a significant decline with age.

Finally, cell death studies confirmed that the POMC neuronal decline is not due to apoptosis and/or necroptosis, suggesting that age-related inhibition of POMC expression in a subset of anorexigenic neurons may underlie the differences observed with age.

3.4.1. Population dynamics: Pomc and Npy

3.4.1.1. Technical considerations

In this study, POMC and NPY neurons counting was performed in 24 serial sections of 60 µm ranging from bregma -0.94 to -2.4 mm, to cover the entire Arc nucleus. This counting system method allowed to obtain an unbiased quantification of the entire neuronal population, taking into account any possible regional differences. Different transgenic animals were used specific to each population: Pomc-GFP and Npy-GFP. It should be noted that results are based on GFP transgene expression under the control of the POMC or NPY promoter, respectively.

To quantify the number and distribution of the anorexigenic neurons, the transgenic Pomc-GFP was employed. The validity of the model was confirmed by immunohistochemistry against POMC, with > 99% co-expression with EGFP+ neurons in the Arc. Co-localisation of EGFP with TH (tyrosine hydroxylase) or NPY was not observed (Cowley et al. 2001). Also, previous studies confirmed the validity of the transgenic model for studying rapid changes in Pomc expression (Niikura et al. 2013).

To quantify the number and distribution of the orexigenic neurons, the transgenic Npy-GFP was employed. The fidelity of GFP expression in orexigenic neurons was previously confirmed via single cell RT-PCR and immunohistochemistry against AgRP and NPY, taking into account that 95% of NPY neurons co-express AgRP (Broberger et al. 1998; van den Pol et al. 2009).

3.4.1.2. Decline of a selected subpopulation of POMC neurons and may cause physiological changes associated with ageing

In the current study, the number of POMC neurons was quantified in hypothalamic coronal sections of the Pomc-GFP reporter mice. Results revealed that the Arc nucleus of young mice hosts a total of 4262 (SEM \pm 172) POMC neurons, which declined by more than 30% during ageing. However, the age-related neuronal decline is not accompanied by a decreased POMC expression at RNA (see Table 4.10 in *Chapter 4*) and protein levels, as western blot analysis revealed. These findings suggest a possible adaptive response to maintain POMC expression stable during ageing. However, it is also plausible that the results reflect the relativity insensitivity or the dilution effect of the western blot at detecting subtle protein expression changes.

The results in this study contrast with previous studies in rodents, that observed a decline in the expression of POMC and POMC-derived peptides with age (Barnea, Cho, and Porter 1982; Lloyd et al. 1991; Nelson et al. 1988). The disparity in results across studies could be due to: (1) the sex of the animals used, as previous studies were done only in females, and the present study is done in both females and males; (2) The methods of quantification used, *in situ* hybridisation/immunohistochemistry *vs* western blot, that differ in sensitivity to quantify total expression levels (Dittadi et al. 1993).

In terms of function, POMC neurons are critical regulators of metabolism by controlling food intake and energy expenditure. Experimental ablation of these cells is sufficient to cause excess weight gain and glucose intolerance in adult mice (Gropp et al. 2005; Zhan et al. 2013). However, the physiological consequences of their age-related decline are still unclear. Some insights can be inferred from studies in diet-induced obese mice, where weight gain is associated with a reduction of POMC neurons in the Arc by ~12% (Li et al. 2012) or ~25% (Thaler et al. 2012). In this context, it is noteworthy that POMC cells play an essential role to protect against obesity; thus, is it possible that loss of POMC neurons promotes the weight gain and increased adiposity observed in aged rodents and humans (Pappas and Nagy 2019).

Following the neuronal decline, the distribution of Pomc-expressing cells also showed age-related anatomical differences. Several reports suggested that POMC neurons in different regions of the Arc nucleus have distinct functions. POMC neurons can co-express a plethora of different transmitters including nociceptin (Maolood and Meister 2010), CART (N Vrang et al. 1999), acetylcholine (Meister et al. 2006), GABA and glutamate (Dicken, Tooker, and Hentges 2012; Jarvie and Hentges 2012; Wittmann, Hrabovszky, and Lechan 2013), adding to the ability of these neurons to regulate a wide range of physiological processes. Heterogeneity in transmitter phenotype often correlates well with the cell's location within the rostro-caudal extent of the Arc nucleus (Jarvie and Hentges, 2012; Wittmann, Hrabovszky and Lechan, 2013). In addition to co-transmitters release, receptor expression and responsiveness to leptin, insulin and serotonin seem to be dependent on their anatomical location within the Arc nucleus (Sohn et al. 2011; Williams et al. 2010). For example, rostral, but not caudal, POMC-positioned cells are activated by leptin administration (Williams et al. 2010).

In line with their functional heterogeneity, Arc POMC neurons send projections throughout the brain to affect a wide array of functions. POMC projections are found in brain areas involved in general homeostasis, including hypothalamic nuclei (PVN, SON and LH) and the brainstem (BST), as well as areas that mediate reward, such as the ventral tegmental area (VTA). Innervation by POMC has also been reported the amygdala, zona incerta, the periaqueductal gray (PAG) and dorsal vagal complex (DVC) (King and Hentges 2011; Lima et al. 2016; Wang et al. 2015; Wei et al. 2018; Zheng et al. 2005, 2010). Interestingly, only a small portion of POMC neurons project to any individual target site, suggesting that relatively few POMC neurons may mediate potent

and specific physiological responses (King and Hentges 2011). Also, neurons in the rostral or caudal regions of the Arc seem to innervate different target regions. For example, POMC neurons innervating the DVC and PAG are mostly located in the rostral Arc (King and Hentges 2011; Zheng et al. 2005).

Taking all together, expression of select receptors, co-expression of specific transmitters and projection to target sites seems to be dependent on the rostro-caudal position of the POMC neurons in the Arc. At the same time, relatively few POMC neurons seem to have potent effects on their target regions. The current study reported an agerelated decline in POMC neurons, affecting mostly to neurons located in rostral positions of the Arc. Therefore, loss of a selected subpopulation of POMC may cause significant consequences and underlie some of the physiological changes associated with ageing.

3.4.1.3. Npy neuronal population in the Arc showed subtle changes with ageing

In the current study, the number of NPY neurons was quantified in hypothalamic coronal sections of the Npy-GFP mouse. Results revealed that the Arc nucleus of young mice hosts a total of 6001 \pm 519 neurons in young adult, 5601 \pm 566 in middle-aged, and 6983 \pm 661 in old mice. In relative similarity, previous reports estimated the ARC contained 7000-8000 NPY neurons (Lemus et al. 2015). In terms of distribution, NPY neuronal number varies along the rostro-caudal extent of the Arc with higher cell counts in the caudal region, in line with previous findings (Lemus et al. 2015). Analysis failed to show age-related differences in the total NPY count; however, a small increase in NPY neurons with age was observed in caudal positions of the Arc.

NPY neurons in the Arc control energy balance by sensing and integrating metabolic signals to induce food intake. As reported for POMC neurons, different NPY subpopulations have been identified based on their responsiveness to peripheral signals, such as ghrelin, leptin, insulin and glucose (Kohno and Yada 2012), suggesting functional heterogeneity. In regard to their projection patterns, studies showed that small subsets of NPY neurons project to specific brain regions (Atasoy et al. 2012; Betley et al. 2013; Wu, Boyle, and Palmiter 2009), where they directly inhibit downstream targets including POMC neurons (Garcia de Yebenes et al. 1995). Interestingly, NPY innervation onto POMC undergoes a progressive and pronounced increase with age, associated with the decrease in POMC activity (Newton et al. 2013).

Therefore, although the changes observed in the orexigenic population are very subtle, variation of a small portion or a specific subtype of NPY neurons could underlie some of physiological responses associated to ageing. However, it is more plausible that changes in NPY neuronal morphology, connectivity or transcriptome, rather than number, are responsible for the decline in metabolism and energy homeostasis observed during ageing.

3.4.1.4. Npy to Pomc ratio change with age may produce an uneven power balance affecting the control of energy balance

The anorexigenic neurons that express POMC and the orexigenic neurons coexpressing NPY/AgRP in the Arc nucleus of the hypothalamus are known to exert opposing actions on feeding; thus, the regulation of energy homeostasis involves a dynamic balance between the two neuronal populations (Cone et al. 2001). One finding of this study is that NPY neurons outnumbered POMC neurons in the three age groups, and the ratio of NPY to POMC neurons increased from 1.4:1 in young adults to 3:1 in old animals. The coordinated regulation of neuronal circuit involving these neurons is essential in properly maintaining energy balance, and any disturbance therein may result in metabolic disbalance. Thus, the age-related changes in the ratio of Npy and Pomc neurons may produce and uneven balance power affecting the control of energy balance.

3.4.2. The decline of POMC population is not due specific apoptosis or necroptosis of the anorexigenic population

The present study identified a decline in the anorexigenic population with age, although the mechanism underlying the neuronal loss is still unclear. Potential causes may involve the selective cell death of POMC neurons, as a result of activation of apoptotic and necroptotic mechanisms with age.

Apoptosis can be triggered through several signalling pathways and involves a family of cysteine-dependent aspartate-directed proteases, known as caspases (Degterev, Boyce, and Yuan 2003). The caspase-3 is the final effector of the apoptotic cascade,

and the detection of its activated form CC3 is a reliable marker for apoptosis activation (Stadelmann et al. 1999). However, in the CNS, caspase-3 can also play non-apoptotic roles, including differentiation of glial cells (Oomman et al. 2006) and cytoskeletal remodelling in neurons and astrocytes (Acarin et al. 2005; Guyenet et al. 2013). Therefore, along with the CC3, the TUNEL assay was chosen as an alternative method to confirm apoptosis. The TUNEL assay detects apoptosis via DNA fragmentation, even where chromatin condensation has begun and there are only a few DNA strand breaks (Kuan et al. 2004; Kyrylkova et al. 2012). Experiments in this chapter found little evidence of CC3 and TUNEL staining within the Arc nucleus across the mouse lifespan; however, CC3+ and TUNEL+ cells were observed in other brain regions confirming the validity of the results. Caspase-independent cell death was also investigated in the ageing hypothalamus via immunohistochemistry for MLKL, the terminal effector of the necroptosis pathway (Czabotar and Murphy 2015). Few cells undergoing necroptosis (MLKL+) were observed in the ageing hypothalamus and co-localisation studies indicated that MLKL+ cells belong to the microglial lineage.

Taking all together, the scarce amount of apoptotic and necroptotic events observed in the ageing hypothalamus suggested that programmed cell death events may not be responsible for the full magnitude of the POMC decline. In line with this, previous studies also failed to establish cell death as the mechanism underlying the POMC neuron loss in diet-induced obese mice (Guyenet et al. 2013; McNay et al. 2012). It is also possible that because cell death is a dynamic process, cells can be found in different stages, making them difficult to detect using the available techniques.

One potential mechanism underlying the POMC neuronal decline could be that ageing is influencing changes in Pomc expression. The promoter of the Pomc gene contains multiple CpG islands that can be either methylated or unmethylated under different nutritional and environmental factors (Marco et al. 2013; Plagemann et al. 2009; Stevens et al. 2010). Also, studies in animal models showed that the pattern of epigenetic markers changes over lifespan (Roth, 2012). Therefore, it is possible that age-related epigenetic modifications, but not cell death, underlie the decline in POMC neurons reported in this study.

4. RNA-seq analysis of the young and aged hypothalamus

4.1. Introduction

The hypothalamus plays a key role in homeostatic and metabolism regulation (Dietrich and Horvath 2013; Kim and Choe 2018) and, as part of the ageing process, changes in the energy balance have been reported in mammals (Roberts 2000). Consequently, an understanding of the impact of ageing on the hypothalamus may provide important insights into the systemic ageing. Traditional histological studies using immunohistochemistry or *in situ* hybridisation have been widely used to study different processes and cell types in the hypothalamus; however, they are limited by the number of proteins or transcripts that can be simultaneously analysed and by a strong bias towards known markers. Consequently, the development of large-scale studies of gene expression has led to significant advances in understanding the hypothalamic functions, including the effects of ageing.

A classical approach to study the changes in gene expression has been the DNA microarrays. In 2001, Jiang and colleagues employed a high-density oligonucleotide array to examine gene expression changes in the hypothalamus with age. The main results of the study showed downregulation of genes related to neuronal signalling, plasticity and structure with age. Moreover, they found proteases upregulated during in the aged hypothalamus, several of which were involved in the processing and degradation of neuropeptides that could affect the neuroendocrine system (Jiang et al. 2001). However, the limitations of the method, with only 13000 genes analysed, made the study incomplete.

Recently, the emergence of RNA sequencing (RNA-seq) provided an alternative approach for high throughput gene expression studies. Through RNA-seq, gene expression, and gene interactions at any time point or in a particular tissue can be investigated (Ozsolak and Milos 2011). This method offered higher specificity and sensitivity compared to microarrays, facilitating the detection of a broader range of differentially expressed genes, especially genes with low expression (Bottomly et al. 2011; Zhao et al. 2014). Moreover, advances in the RNA-seq technology enabled the profiling of individual cells via single-cell RNA-seq, facilitating the transcriptional cataloguing of cell types in many tissues (Han et al. 2018; Regev et al. 2017; Schaum et al. 2018)

Interestingly, two different studies using the single-cell RNA-seq approach have systematically catalogued the cell types from the adult murine hypothalamus, identifying 34 neuronal and up to 36 different non-neuronal populations (Campbell et al. 2017; Chen et al. 2017). These studies have provided a comprehensive RNA-seq database of the different cell types in the adult hypothalamus; however, the effect of ageing on these cells remained largely unexplored.

In 2019, Boisvert and colleagues investigated the effect of ageing in the astrocyte population of the hypothalamus and other brain regions. They employed the Astrocyte-Ribotag mouse model for purification of astrocyte-enriched mRNA from the adult and aged brain to provide an RNA-seq database of gene expression (Boisvert et al. 2018; Sanz et al. 2015). The study confirmed previous histological data, with aged astrocytes exhibiting gene expression changes consistent with the reactive phenotype, such as upregulation of GFAP (Ike et al. 2004; Sofroniew and Vinters 2010), but also provided new information regarding the biological processes affected in the aged hypothalamic Results astrocytes. confirmed altered expression of synapse-regulating genes, supporting an active role for astrocytes in eliminating synapses in the ageing brain; increased expression of immune pathways, including the complement system, cytokines, and MHC; and decreased expression of genes involved in cholesterol synthesis (Boisvert et al. 2018).

In conclusion, the results mentioned above provided useful insights into the processes affected in the hypothalamus with ageing, however, the full picture remains unknown. Consequently, to investigate the biological processes affected in the hypothalamus with age, the analysis of the hypothalamic transcriptome of young and aged animals was performed in this chapter using RNA-seq.

4.2. Aims

To identify and gain insights into the effect of ageing in the hypothalamic transcriptome, RNA-seq was performed on mRNA extracted from the hypothalamus of young and old mice. The results of RNA-seq were then analysed, and gene ontology (GO) analysis was performed to reduce complexity and highlight biological processes affected in the aged hypothalamus.

4.3. Results

To better understand the processes involved in ageing, changes in gene expression were examined in the aged hypothalamus. To do so, hypothalami from young and old male mice were collected (*n* = 5 per age group), and mRNA was isolated. The samples were sent to Novogen (Cambridge, UK), where the RNA-seq differential gene expression experiment was performed. Each sample had: a sequencing depth of at least 20 million reads which is sufficient to accurately call differentially expressed genes (Liu, Zhou, and White 2014). The mapping rate is consistently high in all samples and the read numbers per sample were very similar (**Table 4.1**). Therefore, we can be confident in the outcome of the analysis. Differential gene expression analysis was carried out by Dr Simon Moxon using through Kallisto (Bray et al. 2016) and Sleuth (Pimentel et al. 2017).

Sample name	Age (months)	Age group	Mapped reads	Proccessed reads	Mapped fraction
s1500	3	Young	18213349	20268284	0.8986
s2175	3	Young	23055413	25340676	0.9098
s2323	3	Young	21098009	23417224	0.901
s2399	3	Young	20870255	23233870	0.8983
s8278	4	Young	24859990	27550149	0.9024
s8282	24	Old	18124777	20056008	0.9037
s9001	25	Old	25177861	27739333	0.9077
s9002	26	Old	22615759	25199938	0.8975
s9003	26	Old	19618635	21778336	0.9008
s9004	25	Old	23073158	25647448	0.8996

Table 4.1. Information samples used for RNA-seq analysis

Results revealed 2467 genes with differential expression (q-value < 0.05) in the aged group relative to the young animals, with 1131 of them downregulated and 1334 upregulated.

To classify the upregulated and downregulated genes identified by RNA-seq, gene ontology (GO) analysis was performed to reduce complexity and highlight biological processes enriched in the transcriptomic data. To do so, the online tool g:profiler (Raudvere et al. 2019) was used to analyse the list of upregulated and downregulated genes.

4.3.1. Upregulated genes in the aged hypothalamus

First, the upregulated gene list was analysed using g:profiler. The GO results highlighted multiple biological processes involved in the immune response. In fact, from the 172 GO modules enriched in the analysis, at least 108 of them were involved in immune response and neuroinflammation (Figure 4.1 – A, B). Additionally, GO enrichment analysis highlighted modules that appeared to represent the oligodendrocytes (OL), and included genes involved in myelination and OL differentiation (Figure 4.1 – C, D).

4.3.1.1. Upregulated expression of immune response genes in the aged hypothalamus

The immune genes and pathways upregulated in aged hypothalamus included the complement system, the major histocompatibility complex (MHC) and cytokine production (Table 1-3). The complement upregulated genes included C1qa, C1qb, C1qc, C1qbp, C1ra, C3, C3ar1 and C4b (**Table 4.2**). The MHC upregulated genes included B2m, H2-D1, H2-K1, H2-K2, H2-Q4, H2-Q6, H2-Q7, H2-M3, H2-T22, H2-T23 and Tap1 (**Table 4.3**). Production of cytokines was also increased in the aged hypothalamus, including the pro-inflammatory cytokines Tnf and Ccl3 (**Table 4.4**).

Given that microglia and astrocytes are key mediators of CNS immune response, genes considered markers of astrocytes and microglia were investigated. Transcriptomic results showed increased in RNA levels of Iba1, Trem2, Tmem119, Cx3cr1 and P2ry12,

expressed by microglial cells; and Gfap, S100β and Serpina3n, expressed by astrocytes (Table 4.5).

4.3.1.2. Upregulated expression of myelin-related genes in the aged hypothalamus

In addition to immune response, GO analysis also showed an enrichment of genes involved in myelination and terminal OL differentiation (**Table 4.6**). Genes essential for myelin production were upregulated in the aged hypothalamus, including Mbp and Plp1, Mog, Mag and Cnp (Aggarwal, Yurlova and Simons, 2011), as well as the transcriptional factor MYRF that directly promotes the expression of these genes (Bujalka et al. 2013). The RNA levels of Cd82, Trf and Opalin, expressed in mature-myelinating OL, were also increased in the hypothalamus with age (Goldman and Kuypers 2015).



Figure 4.1. GO term enrichment for upregulated genes in the aged hypothalamus. (A and C) Manhattan plots illustrating GO term enrichment for upregulated genes in the aged hypothalamus. The x-axis represents functional terms that are grouped by biological process (BP), represented by orange circles. The y-axis shows the adjusted enrichment p-values in negative log10 scale. (A) Selected GO terms involved to immune response and inflammation (dark orange circles). (B) Highlighted enriched GO terms for plot A involved in immune response and their corresponding GO identification (ID) numbers. (C) Selected GO terms involved in myelination (dark orange circles). (D) Top enriched GO terms for plot C involved in myelin production and their corresponding GO identification (ID) numbers.

Gene	Description	Ensembl Gene ID	Log2 Fold-change	q-value
C4b	Complement component 4B	ENSMUSG0000073418	2.007546385	1.93E-36
C3ar1	Complement component 3a receptor 1	ENSMUSG0000040552	1.503129013	5.40E-13
C1qa	Complement component 1, q subcomponent, α polypeptide	ENSMUSG00000036887	1.162447146	3.00E-93
C1qb	Complement component 1, q subcomponent, β polypeptide	ENSMUSG00000036905	1.064616806	1.16E-28
C1qc	Complement component 1, q subcomponent, C chain	ENSMUSG00000036896	1.063741745	2.03E-28
C3ar1	Complement component 3a receptor 1	ENSMUSG0000040552	1.063741745	1.02E-10
C1ra	Complement component 1, r subcomponent A	ENSMUSG00000055172	1.046848276	0.008219
C3	Complement component 3	ENSMUSG00000024164	0.948507801	0.026414
C1qbp	Complement component 1, q subcomponent binding protein	ENSMUSG0000018446	0.239056656	0.001580

Table 4.2. Complement system genes upregulated in the aged hypothalamus

Table 4.3. MHC genes upregulated in the aged hypothalamus

Gene	Description	Ensembl Gene ID	Log2 Fold-change	q-value
H2-Q7	Histocompatibility 2, Q region locus 7	ENSMUSG0000060550	2.143994466	3.77E-12
H2-Q6	Histocompatibility 2, Q region locus 6	ENSMUSG0000073409	2.059270566	5.11E-18
H2-K2	Histocompatibility 2, K2, K region	ENSMUSG0000067203	1.654193747	3.86E-05
H2-Q4	Histocompatibility 2, Q region locus 4	ENSMUSG00000035929	1.516117277	3.52E-19
Tap1	Transporter 1, ATP-binding cassette, B	ENSMUSG0000037321	1.360246828	3.64E-09
H2-K1	Histocompatibility 2, K1, K region	ENSMUSG0000061232	1.316655004	9.17E-31
H2-D1	Histocompatibility 2, D region locus 1	ENSMUSG0000073411	1.155707001	2.86E-27
H2-T23	Histocompatibility 2, T region locus 23	ENSMUSG0000067212	1.103738226	2.32E-24
B2m	Beta-2 microglobulin	ENSMUSG0000060802	1.042919809	1.11E-100
H2-M3	Histocompatibility 2, M region locus 3	ENSMUSG0000016206	0.693164289	1.45E-05
H2-T22	Histocompatibility 2, T region locus 22	ENSMUSG00000056116	0.479036072	3.15E-09

Table 4.4. Cytokines upregulated in the aged hypothalamus

Gene	Description	Ensembl Gene ID	Log2 Fold-change	q-value
Ccl3	Chemokine (C-C motif) ligand 3	ENSMUSG0000000982	2.172975208	0.000810
Ccl12	Chemokine (C-C motif) ligand 12	ENSMUSG0000035352	1.983459241	0.007173
Ccl6	Chemokine (C-C motif) ligand 6	ENSMUSG0000018927	1.500654046	4.42E-06
Tnf	Tumor necrosis factor	ENSMUSG0000024401	1.110886950	0.000158
Cxcl13	Chemokine (C-X-C motif) ligand 13	ENSMUSG0000023078	0.974190564	2.97E-09
Cxcl16	Chemokine (C-X-C motif) ligand 16	ENSMUSG00000018920	0.974190564	0.001018
∥16	Interleukin 16	ENSMUSG0000001741	0.806657184	0.022400
1133	Interleukin 33	ENSMUSG0000024810	0.691608164	1.21E-23
Cxcl14	Chemokine (C-X-C motif) ligand 14	ENSMUSG0000021508	0.144924121	0.044403

Gene	Description	Ensembl Gene ID	Log2 Fold-change	q-value
Trem2	Triggering receptor expressed on myeloid cells 2	ENSMUSG0000023992	1.316341702	6.55E-25
Aif 1	Allograft inflammatory factor 1 (lba1)	ENSMUSG0000024397	1.145589307	2.09E-07
Serpina3n	Serine protease inhibitor A3N	ENSMUSG0000021091	0.969527618	2.51E-33
Gfap	Glial fibrillary acidic protein	ENSMUSG00000020932	0.622147905	3.94E-17
Tmem119	Transmembrane protein 119	ENSMUSG00000054675	0.485306598	4.08E-05
Cx3cr1	Chemokine (C-X3-C motif) receptor 1	ENSMUSG00000052336	0.447714041	5.06E-05
S100b	S100 protein, beta polypeptide, neural	ENSMUSG00000033208	0.343824528	0.000449
P2ry12	Purinergic receptor P2Y, G-protein coupled 12	ENSMUSG00000036353	0.280659196	0.007173

Table 4.5	Upregulated	microglial and	astrocytes	markers in	the aged	hypothalamus
-----------	-------------	----------------	------------	------------	----------	--------------

Table 4.6. Upregulated myelin-related genes in the aged hypothalamus

Gene	Description	Ensembl Gene ID	Log2 Fold-change	q-value
Pmp22	Peripheral myelin protein 22	ENSMUSG0000018217	0.607378173	2.18E-10
Mbp	Myelin basic protein	ENSMUSG00000041607	0.490941737	8.03E-15
Trf	Transferrin	ENSMUSG0000032554	0.490207863	3.57E-17
Opalin	Oligodendrocytic myelin paranodal and inner loop protein	ENSMUSG0000050121	0.488732173	0.036709
Nkx6-2	NK6 homeobox 2	ENSMUSG00000041309	0.458867079	4.30E-06
Mobp	Myelin-associated oligodendrocytic basic protein	ENSMUSG0000032517	0.458818701	6.60E-20
Cd82	CD82 antigen	ENSMUSG00000027215	0.327519208	0.000952
Cd9	CD9 antigen	ENSMUSG0000030342	0.317156812	2.98E-06
Sox10	SRY (sex determining region Y)- box 10	ENSMUSG00000033006	0.279819959	3.26E-05
Cnp	2',3'-cyclic nucleotide 3' phosphodiesterase	ENSMUSG0000006782	0.244301843	1.15E-06
Mag	Myelin-associated glycoprotein	ENSMUSG00000036634	0.236672146	0.006112
Myrf	Myelin regulatory factor	ENSMUSG00000036098	0.214081203	0.000628
Plp1	Proteolipid protein 1	ENSMUSG0000031425	0.21005480	0.002356
Mog	Myelin-associated glycoprotein	ENSMUSG00000076439	0.194190652	0.015457

4.3.2. Downregulated genes in the aged hypothalamus

Second, the downregulated genes were analysed following the same approach (g:profiler). GO results highlighted the biological processes involved in neuronal morphogenesis and intracellular transport. From the 295 biological processes enriched in the GO analysis, we identified at least 26 involved in neuronal cytoskeleton organisation (Figure 4.2 – A, B) and six associated with intracellular transport (Figure 4.2 – C, D).

4.3.2.1. Neuronal structural genes are downregulated in the aged hypothalamus

The GO analysis revealed an enrichment in genes involved in the architecture of the neurons and the regulation of neuronal projection development. Results showed downregulation of neuronal cytoskeleton elements including the Tuba1a and Tubb2b, part of the tubulin family of proteins that form and organise cell structures called microtubules; the intermediate filament Nfm, found in the neuronal cytoplasm; and the structural microtubule-associated proteins Map1a, Map1b, Map2, Mapt, Map6 and Map10, critical for the organisation and stabilisation of neuronal microtubules (Kapitein and Hoogenraad, 2015; **Table 4.7**).

Besides, genes involved in axonal guidance were also downregulated in the aged hypothalamus (**Table 4.8**). Results showed downregulation of Sema3d, Sema5a and Sema6b, members of the semaphorin family involved in axon growth and guidance, and the semaphorin receptors, neuropilins Nrp1 and Nrp2 and plexins Plxna1, Plexa2 and Pxna4 (Mann, Chauvet, and Rougon 2007; Russell and Bashaw 2018). Additionally, the axon guidance cues Slit2 and Efnb1, and the netrin receptor Unc5c (Russell and Bashaw 2018) showed decreased RNA levels in the aged hypothalamus. Finally, the neurotrophin Bdnf, that regulates neuronal growth and plasticity in adulthood (Tapia-Arancibia et al. 2004), was also downregulated in the aged hypothalamus.

4.3.2.2. Intracellular transport genes are downregulated in the aged hypothalamus

The GO results showed enrichment in genes involved in the intracellular and microtubule-based transport. Results showed an age-related downregulation of microtubule motor kinesin and dynein proteins, that drive the movement of organelles, vesicles, RNA granules, and proteins along the axon in neurons. Downregulated genes included members of the kinesin family, that drive anterograde transport outward from the soma: Kif2a, Kif26b, Kif3c, Kif3a, Kif3b and Kif21a and Kif1b; and Dync1H1, Dync1LI and Dync2H1, encoding different subunits of the cytosolic dynein that drives retrograde transport back from the distal axon (Maday *et al.*, 2014; **Table 4.9**). Importantly, these proteins are not only essential for neuronal transport but are also involved in myelination by transporting the different myelin components to developing the myelin sheath (Herbert et al. 2017).



Figure 4.2. GO term enrichment for downregulated genes in the aged hypothalamus. (A and C) Manhattan plots illustrating GO term enrichment for downregulated genes in the aged hypothalamus. The x-axis represents functional terms that are grouped by biological process (BP), represented by orange circles. The y-axis shows the adjusted enrichment p-values in negative log10 scale. (A) Selected GO terms involved to neuronal cytoskeleton organization (dark orange circles). (B) Top enriched GO terms for plot (A) involved in neuronal cytoskeleton organization and their corresponding GO identification (ID) numbers. (C) Selected GO terms involved in transport (dark orange circles). (B) Top enriched GO terms for plot (A) involved in transport and their corresponding GO identification (ID) numbers.

Gene	Description	Ensembl Gene ID	Log2 Fold-change	q-value
Map1b	Microtubule-associated protein 1B	ENSMUSG00000052727	-0.41906055	6.11E-09
Map10	Microtubule-associated protein 10	ENSMUSG00000050930	-0.345951694	0.012863
Map1a	Microtubule-associated protein 1 A	ENSMUSG0000027254	-0.316210624	4.48E-07
Map2	Microtubule-associated protein 2	ENSMUSG00000015222	-0.308426493	7.49E-07
Map6	Microtubule-associated protein 6	ENSMUSG00000055407	-0.245507946	8.22E-05
Tubb2b	Tubulin, beta 2B class IIB	ENSMUSG00000045136	-0.241513988	5.20E-06
Nefm	Neurofilament, medium polypeptide	ENSMUSG00000022054	-0.189661278	0.000216
Mapt	Microtubule-associated protein tau	ENSMUSG0000018411	-0.151364805	0.017104
Tuba1a	Tubulin, alpha 1A	ENSMUSG00000072235	-0.130554880	0.020644

Table 4.7.	Neuronal	cvtoskeleton	genes	downregulated	in the	aged hypo	thalamus
		0,000,000,000	90.000	0.0.0.0.0.0.000.0.000.0.000.0.000.000.000.0000			

Table 4.8. Axon guidance-related genes downregulated in the aged hypothalamus

Gene	Description	Ensembl Gene ID	Log2 Fold-change	q-value
Slit2	Slit homolog 2 (Drosophila)	ENSMUSG00000031558	-0.441176060	0.000176
Bdnf	Brain derived neurotrophic factor	ENSMUSG00000048482	-0.435612844	1.59E-07
Plxna4	Plexin A2	ENSMUSG00000029765	-0.395778259	4.41E-08
Sema3d	Semaphorin 3D	ENSMUSG00000040254	-0.368477194	0.037944
Plxna2	Plexin A2	ENSMUSG0000026640	-0.325646994	4.88E-05
Unc5c	Unc-5 netrin receptor C	ENSMUSG00000059921	-0.322489367	1.07E-05
Sema5a	Semaphorin 5A	ENSMUSG00000022231	-0.317199224	4.55E-07
Slit1	Slit homolog 1 (Drosophila)	ENSMUSG0000025020	-0.316489949	0.002399
Nrp2	Neuropilin 2	ENSMUSG0000025969	-0.2719596	8.63E-05
Nrp1	Neuropilin 1	ENSMUSG0000025810	-0.254873551	0.000584
Plxna1	Plexin A1	ENSMUSG0000030084	-0.243546084	0.032184
Efnb1	Ephrin B1	ENSMUSG0000031217	-0.224865588	0.034956
Sema6d	Semaphorin 6D	ENSMUSG0000027200	-0.148115723	0.015836

Table 4.9. Intracellular transport genes downregulated in the aged hypothalamus

Gene	Description	Ensembl Gene ID	Log2 Fold-change	q-value
Dync1H1	Dynein cytoplasmic 1 heavy chain 1	ENSMUSG00000018707	-0.382704803	0.000565
Dync2H1	Dynein cytoplasmic 2 heavy chain 1	ENSMUSG0000047193	-0.334862001	0.004433
Kif3c	Kinesin familty member 3C	ENSMUSG00000020668	-0.226288838	5.09E-05
Kif3a	Kinesin familty member 3A	ENSMUSG00000018395	-0.214550537	0.000124
Kif3b	Kinesin family member 3B	ENSMUSG00000027475	-0.203014437	0.000914
Kif26b	Kinesin family member 26B	ENSMUSG00000026494	-0.185460094	0.027210
Kif1a	Kinesin family member 1A	ENSMUSG00000014602	-0.184961501	0.021969
Kif21a	Kinesin family member 21A	ENSMUSG00000022629	-0.177645354	0.001007
Kif2a	Kinesin family member 2A	ENSMUSG00000021693	-0.169410524	0.014201
Kifap3	Kinesin-associated protein 3	ENSMUSG00000026585	-0.165267676	0.000907
Dync1Li1	Dynein cytoplasmic 1 light intermediate chain 1	ENSMUSG00000032435	-0.162547379	0.007173
Kif1b	Kinesin family member 1B	ENSMUSG0000063077	-0.124519737	0.045217

4.3.3. Genes with no differential expression

In addition to the upregulated and downregulated genes, the RNA-seq analysis revealed no age-related changes in the expression of the major hypothalamic neuropeptides (Table 4.10). These include the orexigenic neuropeptides AgRP and Npy; and anorexigenic peptide Pomc and Cartp. In addition, no changes were observed for Hcrt (also known as orexin) and Pmch, expressed by neurons located in the LH. Moreover, the enkephalin Penk and the Substance P (also known as Tac1), both synthesized in the VMN, also showed no differences with age. Finally, other hypothalamic neuropeptides with no age-related differences included Avp, Crh, Gad1, Nts, Oxt, Sst, and Trh.

Table 4.10. Hypothalamic	c neuropeptide genes w	vith no differential	expression with age
--------------------------	------------------------	----------------------	---------------------

Gene	Description	Ensembl Gene ID	q-value
Pomc	Pro-opiomelanocortin-alpha	ENSMUSG0000020660	0.783506
Cartp	CART prepropeptide	ENSMUSG0000021647	0.886421
Npy	Neuropeptide Y	ENSMUSG0000029819	0.815756
Agrp	Agouti related neuropeptide	ENSMUSG0000005705	0.645035
Gad1	Glutamate decarboxylase 1	ENSMUSG0000070880	0.963289
Sst	Somatostatin	ENSMUSG0000004366	0.892759
Nts	Neurotensin	ENSMUSG00000019890	0.189772
Trh	Thyrotropin releasing hormone	ENSMUSG0000005892	0.333884
Oxt	Oxytocin	ENSMUSG0000027301	0.784253
Avp	Arginine vasopressin	ENSMUSG0000037727	0.083454
Penk	Preproenkephalin	ENSMUSG00000045573	0.094938
Crh	Corticotropin releasing hormone	ENSMUSG00000049796	0.837774
Pmch	Pro-melanin-concentrating hormone	ENSMUSG0000035383	0.063059
Tac1	Tachykinin 1	ENSMUSG0000061762	0.419022
Hcrt	Hypocretin	ENSMUSG0000045471	0.386745

4.3.4. Transcriptomic conclusions

- Upregulation of immune and inflammatory response molecules, as well as myelin-related genes, in the aged hypothalamus.
- Downregulation of genes involved in neuronal cytoskeleton organisation, microtubule-based transport and axonal growth in the aged hypothalamus.
- No differential expression of the major hypothalamic neuropeptides with age.

4.4. Discussion

A better understanding of the molecular effects of ageing in the hypothalamus may help to reveal mechanisms underlying the age-related decline in body homeostasis. Therefore, in this study, bulk RNA-seq analysis of the hypothalamus from young and old mice revealed four biological processes significantly altered with age: immune response, myelination, neuronal structure and intracellular transport. In contrast, no differences in gene expression between the adult and aged brain was found for the major hypothalamic neuropeptides.

4.4.1. Upregulated genes are associated with immune response and myelin formation

Inflammation in the hypothalamus has been reported during ageing, however, most of the studies are restricted to the astrocyte population (Boisvert et al. 2018; Santos, Bobermin, et al. 2018; Santos, Roppa, et al. 2018; Wang et al. 2006). Results in this chapter represent a more comprehensive investigation of the age-related immune response in the aged hypothalamus. Major changes detected included the upregulation of the complement pathway, MHC genes and inflammatory cytokines. The complement pathway and MHC genes play important roles in neuroinflammation, but growing evidence also suggested their involvement in key homeostatic functions, including the maintenance of synaptic plasticity, neurogenesis and clearance of cellular debris (Alawieh, Elvington, and Tomlinson 2015). Recently, the complement pathway has been implicated in synaptic pruning in neurological disorders; for example, C4 is upregulated in schizophrenia, and complement is involved in eliminating synapses in AD (Hong et al. 2016; Sekar et al. 2016). Interestingly, the complement-dependent synapse pruning involves synapses tagging by astrocytes followed by microglia phagocytosis, showing crosstalk between the two glial cell types (Liddelow et al. 2017).

Moreover, the present study identified upregulation of cytokines with different roles in regulating the pathophysiology and the inflammatory responses in the CNS. These included the pro-inflammatory mediator Tnfa, previously associated with hypothalamic inflammation and systemic ageing (Zhang et al. 2013). However, changes in cytokine expression are not restricted to Tnfa, and results also showed upregulation of Ccl3 and
II16, involved in the disease progression and axonal degeneration reported in MS (Skundric 2015; Sørensen et al. 2004). Another inflammatory mediator upregulated is II-33, that enhance chemokines and nitric oxide production, as well as phagocytosis by microglia; and its involvement in the pathophysiology of different neurological disorders has been reported (Abd Rachman Isnadi et al. 2018; Hudson et al. 2008). In the hypothalamus, increased II-33 levels are detected in diet-induced inflammation (Huang et al. 2019).

In the CNS, most of the immune-related genes are expressed by astrocytes and microglia (Gasque, Fontaine, and Morgan 1995; Morgan and Gasque 1997), although some neuronal contribution cannot be ruled out (Freidin, Bennett, and Kessler 1992). Accordingly, analysis of the microglial and astrocyte transcriptome from discrete brain regions indicated that immune-related genes are particularly sensitive to ageing (Boisvert et al. 2018; Grabert et al. 2016). In the present study, age-related upregulation of astrocytes reactive markers, including Gfap, S100β and Serpina3n were observed confirming previous reports (Boisvert et al. 2018; Santos, Bobermin, et al. 2018; Santos, Roppa, et al. 2018; Wang et al. 2006). Besides astrocyte makers, increased expression of microglial homeostatic genes, such as Iba1, Trem2, Tmem119, Cx3cr1 and P2ry12 was also detected. Upregulated of homeostatic genes in microglia has been reported upon activation (von Bernhardi, Eugenín-von Bernhardi, and Eugenín 2015; Tang and Le 2016); thus, suggesting that hypothalamic microglia may acquire an activated phenotype with age. The detailed investigation of hypothalamic microglia and astrocytes dynamics with age is presented in *Chapter 5*.

In summary, the upregulated genes reflect a neuroinflammatory response in the ageing hypothalamus, possibly due to astrocyte and microglia activation. Interestingly, low doses of the anti-inflammatory drug ibuprofen have been shown to reduce astrocyte and microglial reactivity, leading to a protective effect against age-related cognitive decline in rodents (Rogers et al. 2017). Moreover, ageing delay and lifespan extension have been achieved in mice through preventing against hypothalamic NF- κ B activation (Zhang et al. 2013); thus, providing evidence of a link between the hypothalamus and ageing development (Tang and Cai 2013; Tang et al. 2015; Zhang et al. 2013).

Following the neuroinflammatory response, a novel finding of this study was the upregulation of genes involved in myelination and neuronal ensheathment. In mammals,

myelin degeneration is a hallmark of the ageing brain and is highly correlated by a decline in the levels of myelin components (Peters, Moss and Sethares, 2000; Sandell and Peters, 2001; Peters, 2002; Bowley et al., 2010; Xing et al., 2012; Wang et al., 2020).

To date, however, the myelination pattern and the precise myelin dynamics in the hypothalamus throughout life are not well characterised. Therefore, the present chapter provides the first detailed investigation of the expression of myelin-related genes in the adult and aged hypothalamus. Results showed an increase in the expression of the major abundant myelin proteins Mbp and Plp1, that hold structural function by stabilising and compacting myelin membranes (Baron and Hoekstra 2010). Additional myelin proteins upregulated included Mog, Mag, Mobp and Cnp, Pmp22 and Cd9, although these lack a primarily structural role and their function is relatively unknown (Morell and Quarles 1999; Nakamura, Iwamoto, and Mekada 1996; Ohsawa et al. 2006).

Unsurprisingly, the transcriptional factor Myrf, that specifically activates the expression of myelin-related genes such as Mbp, Plp, Mog and Mag were also upregulated in the aged group (Bujalka et al. 2013). In spite its role in activating myelin gene expression, MYRF is necessary to promote and maintain terminal OL differentiation, and genetic ablation resulted in a delayed but severe CNS demyelination (Emery et al. 2009; Koenning et al. 2012). In addition, other transcriptional factors upregulated were Sox10 and Nkx6.2, that appear to have similar functions in the control of OL differentiation, and targeted mutations of these two genes caused retarded OL maturation and myelin gene expression (Claus Stolt et al. 2002; Qi et al. 2001). Moreover, upregulation of Cd82, Trf and Opalin, expressed in the terminal stages of the OL differentiation, was also detected (Goldman and Kuypers 2015; Tripathi et al. 2017). From the markers mentioned above, Opalin is considered the most terminal marker of OL differentiation, given that its expression starts at the onset of myelination, after the appearance of other myelin genes (Golan et al. 2008).

The relative amounts and timely expression of the different myelin components are key for the normal myelination and myelin remodelling throughout various stages of life (Zeller et al. 1985). Impaired axonal transport and accumulated organelles including mitochondria are observed in myelinated axons of PLP-overexpressing mice (Edgar et al. 2010; lp et al. 2012). Moreover, myelin-related gene expression and myelin structure are altered in neurodegenerative disorders, such as MS and AD, where age is a major

risk factor (Allen et al. 2018; Gendelman et al. 1985). Therefore, in line with the results presented in this chapter, the myelin sheath formation and the terminal OL differentiation seem to be altered in the aged hypothalamus. To validate these results and to fully understand the precise dynamics of myelination throughout life, a detailed characterization of the hypothalamic myelination pattern across the mouse lifespan is presented in *Chapter 7*.

4.4.2. Downregulated genes are associated with the neuronal cytoskeleton, intracellular transport and axonal growth

The neuronal cytoskeleton has been proposed as a modulator of ageing in processes, and their dysfunction has been associated to multiple neurogenerative disorders, such as AD, Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS) and PD (Iqbal, Grundke-Iqbal, and Wisniewski 1986; Salvadores et al. 2017). The neuronal cytoskeleton is mainly composed of three elements: the actin microfilaments, the intermediate filaments, and the microtubules (Mclean and Robertson 2011). Considering the important functionality of cytoskeletal proteins in neurons, changes in the expression of some of the components could lead to important functional consequences in the normal functioning of the hypothalamic circuitry.

In neurons, neurofilaments (NF) represent the most abundant intermediate filaments are composed by NFL, NFM, and NFH subunits (for light, medium, and heavy, respectively) (Cooper and Hausman 2007); and the ratio of NF subunits is critical for proper filament formation (Mclean and Robertson 2011). However, the results presented in this chapter identified downregulation of Nfm, but not Nfl and Nfh, suggesting that the ratio of subunits changes with age. Alterations in the NF subunits ratio include the formation of neuronal cytoplasmic inclusions, disruption of intracellular transport and axonal degeneration (Szaro and Strong 2010; Xiao, McLean, and Robertson 2006).

In regard to other cytoskeleton components, this study reported an age-related decline in Tuba1a and Tubb2b. Tuba1a and Tubb2b encode α- and β- tubulin isoforms that, in turn, compose microtubules (Aiken et al. 2017; Gloster et al. 1994). Microtubules are required for the maintenance of neuronal shape and stability, axonal and neurite growth, and also form the cytoskeletal "highways" upon which trafficking proteins move (Conde and Cáceres 2009; Kapitein and Hoogenraad 2015). Thus, the reduced tubulin levels during ageing would be detrimental to these processes and the normal functioning of the hypothalamic neuronal cell types. In fact, previous studies identified trafficking defects and synaptic impairment in mice lacking TUBA1A (Buscaglia et al. 2020), and mutations in TUBB2B have been shown to cause errors in axon guidance and axonal damage in humans (Jaglin et al. 2009). In addition, microtubules interact with a group of proteins known as microtubule-associated proteins (MAPs), that influence their stability and interactions with other cellular components (Kapitein and Hoogenraad, 2015). Downregulation of several MAP family members were detected in the aged hypothalamus, including Mapt (also known as tau). Tau is the major MAP in mature neurons and, its abnormal accumulation underlies the physiopathology of AD and other related tauopathies (Iqbal et al. 2010). Also, *in vitro* studies indicated that tau modulates the interaction of motor proteins with microtubules (Dixit et al. 2008)

Following the reduction in the expression of neuronal cytoskeleton components, downregulation of axon growth and guidance molecules was also observed. The CNS axons have a minimal natural ability to regenerate after injury (Huebner and Strittmatter 2009), and an age-dependent decline in axon growth potential has been recently reported across different brain regions of the adult mouse (Geoffroy et al. 2016). Thus, axonal growth and the regenerative capacity of hypothalamic neurons seem to decrease substantially with age, making them more vulnerable to negative environmental influences such as increased inflammation.

Since trafficking defects are associated with microtubule and MAP dysfunction, it is not surprising that the transcriptomic data also revealed downregulation of microtubule-associated motor proteins. These included several members of the kinesin and dynein families, essential for anterograde and retrograde axonal transport, respectively. (Howard 1996; Ligon et al. 2004). Previous observations also suggested that the axonal transport is reduced with age in rodent neurons (Brunetti et al. 1987; Geinisman, Bondareff, and Telser 1977; Li et al. 2003; Stromska and Ochs 1982; Takihara et al. 2015; Uchida et al. 2001). The neuronal function relies heavily on the intracellular transport of essential cargos within axons and dendrites; for example, mobilisation of mitochondria to regions of high energy demand, trafficking of mRNA and ribosomal subunits for local translation and delivery of signalling endosome-mediated delivery of survival factors (Mattedi and Vagnoni 2019). Thus, an interruption in the bi-directional

axonal transport could have detrimental consequences for a wide array of neuronal functions.

Besides their role in neuronal intracellular transport, dynein and kinesin proteins are also involved in the myelination process. Previous studies in zebrafish identified the kinesin Kif1b is essential for the anterograde transport of Mbp, and Kif1b mutants showed myelin defects (Lyons et al. 2009). Similar to Kif1b, the retrograde motor complex dynein/dynactin is also necessary for normal myelination in zebrafish and mammals (Herbert et al. 2017).

In summary, an increased the axonal atrophy with age could be expected in the neuronal tracts present in the hypothalamus due to the reduced expression of cytoskeletal proteins and axonal transport, as well as the decreased expression of genes involved in axonal growth and guidance.

4.4.3. General conclusions

Overall, the ageing hypothalamus alters its gene expression to generate a detrimental environment for neuronal and glial function, due to exacerbated inflammatory and neurotoxic responses. This inflammatory response may be mediated by microglia and astrocyte activation, although it is still unclear how their activation is initially triggered. It has been proposed that age-related changes in the hypothalamic circuitry, including inflammation, could underlie the decline in metabolism and energy homeostasis observed during ageing. However, it is possible that changes in neuronal connectivity, rather than altered expression of the hypothalamic neurotransmitters, are behind the energy shift reported in aged individuals. To sum up, the data presented here support previous studies and provides new clues about the functional changes in the hypothalamus with age.

5. Age-related inflammation in the hypothalamus

5.1. Introduction

Chronic inflammation is a hallmark of many age-related neurodegenerative diseases as well as metabolic syndrome disorders (López-Otín et al. 2013). Recent research indicates that hypothalamic inflammation participates in the development of metabolic syndrome components including obesity, hypertension and glucose intolerance, all these often associated to ageing (Purkayastha and Cai 2013; Purkayastha et al. 2011; Tang et al. 2015; Zhang et al. 2008). Consequently, in the last years, it has been proposed the role of hypothalamic inflammation in the ageing development and lifespan control (Tang and Cai 2013; Tang et al. 2015; Zhang et al. 2013). Within the hypothalamus, microglia and astrocytes mediate immunity and inflammation by producing and releasing a range of inflammatory mediators (Clarke et al. 2018; Colombo and Farina 2016; Valdearcos et al. 2017).

In their immune role, microglia respond to abnormalities in the parenchyma by triggering their activation which, in turn, can influence astrocyte activation and recruitment through their secretory profile (Liddelow and Barres 2017). Microglial activation can be broadly categorised in two main types: M1 and M2, with different roles in neuroinflammation. The M1 phenotype exerts neurotoxic proprieties, and M2 has a phagocytic/ neuroprotective role in the inflammatory response (von Bernhardi et al. 2015; Gordon 2003; Tang and Le 2016). Some specific markers have been described for both subtypes: The M1 phenotype expresses markers such as CD86 (cluster of differentiation 86), and also produce inflammatory cytokines such as TNFα, IL-1β, and IL-6; the M2 phenotype typical markers are Arg1 (Arginase I), CD206 (cluster of differentiation 206), and Chi3I3 (chitinase-like 3) (Tang and Le 2016).

Immunohistochemistry studies for pro-inflammatory factors revealed that microglial cells in the mediobasal hypothalamus (MBH) increase with age, concomitantly with TNFα expression and activation of NF-κB. TNFα is a pro-inflammatory cytokine that leads to the activation of transcription factor NF-κB. NF-κB is the master switch and central regulator of inflammation, immune response and cell death (Hayden and Ghosh 2008). In the MBH, TNFα upregulation and NF-κB activation were mostly limited to microglia in middle-aged animals but became prevalent across the MBH in aged animals, producing a neurotoxic effect to neighbouring cells, including neurons. Interestingly, suppression of MBH microglial NF-κB activation prevented the microglia increase, exerting an antiageing effect (Zhang et al. 2013).

Together with microglia, astrocytes provide immune defence to the CNS by producing and releasing a range of inflammatory mediators (Pekny and Pekna 2014; Sofroniew 2009). In addition to immune defence, growing evidence has highlighted a critical role of astrocytes in orchestrating hypothalamic functions by participating in synaptic plasticity, metabolic and trophic support to neurons, and nutrient sensing (Fuente-Martín *et al.*, 2012; Fuente-Martín *et al.*, 2016). Interestingly, hypothalamic astrocytes increase in number and can acquire a pro-inflammatory phenotype with age (Santos, Bobermin, et al. 2018; Santos, Roppa, et al. 2018; Wang et al. 2006). Also, TGF β (transforming growth factor beta) production and release by astrocytes are increased in the hypothalamic RNA stress response and activation of NF- κ B in MBH neurons (Yan et al. 2014). Besides their pro-inflammatory phenotype, aged astrocytes also exhibit changes in their neurochemical properties, including changes in the regulation of glutamatergic homeostasis, glutathione biosynthesis, glucose metabolism and amino acid profile

Activation of inflammatory pathways in hypothalamic cells seems to be restricted to astrocytes and microglia cells during early ageing but becomes prevalent in neurons with age. Thus, inhibition of NF- κ B activation in hypothalamic neurons increased mice lifespan while decreasing ageing-related changes in histological markers such as muscle size and skin thickness. In contrast, the over-activation of NF- κ B by the constitutive activation of IKK β (inhibitor of nuclear factor kappa-B kinase subunit beta) showed the opposite effects (Zhang et al. 2013).

The results mentioned above provide information on hypothalamic glia-neuron crosstalk by which microglia and astrocyte inflammatory activation leads to cytokine release and neuronal inflammation in the aged hypothalamus. However, the effects of ageing in the microglial and astrocytic populations are still in the early stages of characterisation. Consequently, in this chapter, to further understand ageing-related changes in hypothalamic microglia and astrocyte populations were characterised across the murine lifespan.

5.2. Aims

Given that age-related neuroinflammation is mediated by microglia and astrocytes, both populations were investigated in the ageing hypothalamus. To do so, immunohistochemistry for Iba1 or GFAP was employed to visualise microglia or astrocytes in the hypothalamus, respectively. Additionally, expression of specific glial markers was detected via western blot. The aims included:

- Determine age-related changes in distribution, number and/or morphology in hypothalamic microglia and astrocytes.
- Evaluate the activation state of microglial cells in the hypothalamus during the ageing process.

5.3. Results

5.3.1. Hypothalamic microglia

5.3.1.1. Microglia morphology, but not distribution, is altered in the mediobasal hypothalamus during ageing

Given that microglia mediate immunity and inflammation in the hypothalamus, the distribution and morphology of microglial cells were investigated in the ageing hypothalamus. To do so, Immunohistochemistry for Iba1 was performed on brain sections from young adult (n = 4), middle-aged (n = 4) and old mice (n = 3); between bregma positions -1.22 to -2.3 mm. The Iba1+ cells were uniformly scattered in the hypothalamic parenchyma, and no-regional enrichment was observed across the three age groups (**Figure 5.1, A – F**).

In the Arc nucleus, young animals presented Iba1+ cells with ramified morphology, small, rounded cell body and slender, elongated processes (Figure 5.1, A', A'', D, D''). In the middle-aged, the ramified phenotype was also predominant, although some cells appeared to possess slightly shorter process compared to their young counterparts (Figure 5.1, B', B'', E', E''). Contrarily, old animals presented Iba1+ cells with dystrophic morphology, enlarged cell bodies and shorter and thickened processes (Figure 5.1, C',

C", F', F"). In addition to the Arc, microglial cells present in the ME suffered the same phenotypical changes with age (Figure 5.2). Microglia morphology has been widely used to identify activation state, with ramified morphology typically observed in the resting state and ameboid morphology present in the activated form. Therefore, results suggest that hypothalamic microglia undergo progressive morphological changes from resting to activated phenotype with age.

5.3.1.2. Microglia number and size is not affected by ageing in the mediobasal hypothalamus

Since microglial morphology adopted an activated phenotype with age, the quantity and size of microglia were measured to see the effects on inflammation with age. Immunohistochemistry for Iba1 was performed in brain sections from young adult (n = 4), middle-aged (n = 4) and old mice (n = 3). Quantifications were performed in a minimum of 12 sections per animal, ranging from bregma -1.22 to -2.06 mm (see section 2.8.3 for more details). Results showed no statistical differences in the microglial number (Figure 5.3, A) and size (Figure 5.3, B) in the hypothalamus with age.



Figure 5.1. Iba1+ cells show an age-related switch from resting to activated phenotype in the MBH, featuring ameboid morphology and short and thickened processes. (A – C) Representative images of the Arc, bregma -1.46 mm, stained for Iba1, from young-adult (A), middle-aged (B) and old (C) animals. High power magnification of microglial cells for young (A', A''), middle-aged (B', B'') and old (C', C') showed age-related morphological features of microglial activation, such as ameboid cell body and short and thickened processes. (D, E, F) Representative images of the Arc, bregma -1.7 mm stained for Iba1, from young-adult (D), middle-aged (E) and old (F) animals. High power magnification of astrocytes for young (D', D''), middle-aged (E', E'') and old (F', F) showed an age-related change in microglial morphology. Bregma positions are approximated and indicated. Scale bar (A, B, C, D, E, F) 50 μm, (A'-A'', B'-B'', C'-C'', D', D'', E', E'', F'') 25 μm.



Figure 5.2. Iba1+ cells show an age-related switch from resting to reactive microglia morphology in the ME. (A, B, C) Representative images of the Arc, bregma -1.46 mm, stained for Iba1, from young adult (A), middle-aged (B) and old (C) animals. Dashed box shows a higher power of microglial cells for young (A', A''), middle-aged (B', B'') and old (C', C'). Bregma position is approximated. Dashed lines outline the 3V. Scale bar 50 µm. 3V – third ventricle. ME – median eminence. Scale bar 50 µm



Figure 5.3. The number of Iba1+ microglia and size remain stable during ageing in the MBH. (A) Number of Iba1+ cells within the rectangle defined as Iba1+ per area in young adult (black column), middle-aged (dark grey) and old animals (light grey). (B) Iba1+ cell size in young adult (black column), middle-aged (dark grey) and old animals (light grey). (B) Iba1+ cell size show no changes in Iba1+ cell number and size with age. Data is represented as mean \pm SEM, and a minimum of 4 animals per age group was quantified. All significance testing was performed using one-way ANOVA followed by Tukey post-hoc test (*p<0.05).

5.3.1.3. Expression of pro-inflammatory cytokine TNFa and the M1 microglia marker CD86 is increased with age in the hypothalamus

To further investigate and confirm the activation state in aged microglia, different markers of microglia activation were assessed. Microglial activation in the CNS is heterogeneous, which can broadly categorise in two main types: M1 and M2, with different roles in neuroinflammation. Some specific markers have been described for both subtypes: The M1 neurotoxic phenotype expresses specific markers such as CD86, and also produce inflammatory cytokines such as TNFa; the M2 neuroprotective phenotype typical markers include Arg1 and CD206. In this study, the protein levels of TNFa, CD86, CD206 and Arg1 were assessed via western blot in hypothalamic protein extracts from young adult, middle-aged and old mice (CD86, CD206, Arg1 n = 3 for each age group, n = 6 for TNFa).

Expression of TNFα and CD86 expression was detected in the hypothalamus. Anti-TNFα antibody detected two strong bands of 17 KDa and 27 KDa (Figure 5.4, A), which both increased with age as highlighted by densitometry analysis (Figure 5.4, B). In turn, anti-CD86 antibody detected multiple isoforms with a molecular weight between 52 KDa to 70 KDa (Figure 5.4, C). Densitometry analysis of the 70 KDa showed no differences with age (Figure 5.4, D). However, the 52 KDa isoform was highly expressed in aged animals, with the middle-aged group showing a bigger increased compared to young animals (Figure 5.4, E). Contrarily, expression of CD206 and Arg1 was not detected in the hypothalamus in any age group (results not shown). The data suggests that microglial cells in the hypothalamus may adopt a neurotoxic, pro-inflammatory (M1) activated phenotype with age, although M2 activation cannot be ruled out completely.



Figure 5.4. The protein levels of TNFa, CD86 and GFAP in the hypothalamus. (A) Representative image of immunoblot for TNFa and the loading control β -ACTIN. TNFa runs at an approximated MW of 27 KDa (transmembrane domain). Additional bands corresponding to the soluble form of 17 KDa can only be observed in the old animal lane. (B) Comparison of densitometric analysis of TNFa 27 KDa level relative to the loading control, in young adult (black), middle-aged (dark grey) and old (light grey) animals, show a significant increase with age. (C) Representative image of immunoblot for CD86 and the loading control β-ACTIN. CD86 antibody detects multiple bands with MW between 52 to 70 KDa, approximated. (D) Comparison of densitometric analysis of TNFa 70 KDa level relative to the loading control, in young adult (black), middle-aged (dark grey) and old (light grey) animals, show no age-related differences. (E) Comparison of densitometric analysis of TNFa 52 KDa level relative to the loading control, show a significant increase with age. (F) Representative image of immunoblot for GFAP and the loading control β-ACTIN. GFAP antibody detects a double band running at an approximated MW of 51 KDa. (G) Comparison of densitometric analysis of GFAP level relative to the loading control, in young adult (black), middle-aged (dark grey) and old (light grey) animals, show no age-related differences. Y - young. M - middle-aged. O - old. Numbers indicate bands of the molecular weight marker used as a size standard (KDa). Data is represented as mean \pm SEM. A total of 6 animals per age group were quantified and for GFAP and TNFa and 3 animals per age group for CD86. All significance testing was performed using one-way ANOVA followed by Tukey post-hoc test (*p<0.05).

5.3.2. Hypothalamic astrocytes

5.3.2.1. Age-related effect on astrocytes distribution and morphology in the mediobasal hypothalamus

Given that astrocytes release pro-inflammatory cytokines in the hypothalamus with age, the effects of ageing in the hypothalamic astrocytes were investigated. The distribution and morphology of the cells were investigated in the hypothalamus using immunohistochemistry for GFAP on brain sections from young adult (n = 4), middle-aged (n = 4) and old mice (n = 3); between bregma positions -1.22 to -2.3 mm.

Results show GFAP+ cells in the parenchymal region flanking the 3V. Also, some GFAP+ cells were observed in the ependymal layer of the 3V but were not taking into consideration due to their tanycytic identity (Figure 5.5, A – F) (Goodman and Hajihosseini 2015). Therefore, the parenchymal GFAP+ astrocytes distribution was analysed in the three groups of age. Results showed that GFAP+ astrocytes were not homogeneously distributed in the hypothalamus, and an age-dependent regional enrichment was observed. In young animals, the Arc nucleus shows higher GFAP expression, compared to the rest of the hypothalamic nuclei (Figure 5.5, A, D). In addition to the Arc nucleus, high GFAP signal was also observed in the VMN of middle-aged animals (Figure 5.5, B, E). Finally, in old animals, high GFAP levels were additionally detected in the DMN (Figure 5.5, C, F). These results suggest that GFAP signal increase initially in the Arc-ME in middle-aged, which becomes more prevalent in the rest of nuclei of old animals.

Concomitantly to their distribution, astrocyte morphology also presented age-related changes. Results showed that GFAP+ astrocytes from young animals presented short and thin processes, representative of the resting morphology (Figure 5.5, A', A", D', D"). The astrocytes in the middle-aged group presented longer processes than young animals. However, variability was observed between animals (Figure 5.5, B', B", E', E"). Finally, in old mice, astrocytes appeared bigger with longer and thicker processes – features of the reactive phenotype (Figure 5.5, C', C", F', F"). Moreover, in the aged hypothalamus, astrocytes seem to form an interconnected network thought their projections, termed syncytium (Scemes and Spray 2003). Both, the reactive morphology present in aged astrocytes and the syncytium formation, are signs of age-related

astrogliosis. In conclusion, hypothalamic astrocytes seem to undergo morphological changes towards a reactive phenotype with age, suggesting that the remodelling of the GFAP astrocytes is a dynamic process that develops gradually with age.

5.3.2.2. Astrocytes number and size is increased during ageing in the mediobasal hypothalamus but GFAP total hypothalamic levels remain stable

After exploring the astrocytes distribution and morphology, the next step was to investigate if the astrocyte number and/or size was also affected with age. To do so, immunohistochemistry for GFAP was performed in brain sections from young adult (n = 4), middle-aged (n = 4) and old mice (n = 3). Quantifications were performed in a minimum of 12 sections per animal, ranging from bregma -1.22 mm to -2.06 mm. Results showed that GFAP+ astrocytes show a significant increase in number (**Figure 5.6**, **A**) and size (**Figure 5.6**, **B**) in the hypothalamus with age.

The total levels of GFAP in the hypothalamus were assessed via western blot in protein extracts from young adult, middle-aged and old mice (n = 6 for each age group). Anti-GFAP antibody detected a strong band of 51 KDa, the predicted molecular weight of the full-length protein. Additionally, the antibody detected a weaker band of 45 KDa (Figure 5.4, A). Densitometry analysis of the full-length protein showed no significant differences in GFAP expression with age, although a trend towards increase can be observed (Figure 5.4, B).



Figure 5.5. GFAP expression in the MBH increases with age and GFAP+ astrocytes display reactive morphology features. (A, B, C) Representative images of the MBH stained for GFAP (White), from young-adult (A), middle-aged (B) and old (C) animals. GFAP expression increase can be first observed in the Arc nucleus of middle-aged animals and later expands to the VMN and DMN in old animals. (D-F) Representative images of the Arc at bregma - 1.58 mm stained for GFAP (White), from young-adult (D), middle-aged (E) and old (F) animals. High power magnification of astrocytes for young (D', D''), middle-aged (E', E'') and old (F', F'') show an age-related change in astrocyte morphology. (G-I) Representative images of the Arc at bregma -2.06 mm stained for GFAP (White), from young-adult (G), middle-aged (H) and old (I) animals. High power magnification of astrocytes for young (G', G''), middle-aged (H', H'') and old (I', I'') show an age-related change in astrocyte morphology. Bregma positions are approximated and indicated. Dashed lines outline different hypothalamic nuclei. DMN – dorsomedial nucleus. VMN – ventromedial nucleus. Arc – arcuate nucleus. Scale bar (A, B, C, D, E, F, G, H, I) 50 μm. Scale bar (D', D'', E', F'', G', G'', H', H, I'') 25 μm.



Figure 5.6. The number and size of hypothalamic GFAP+ astrocytes increase with age. (A) Number of GAFP+ cells in the Arc nucleus of young adult (black column), middle-aged (dark grey) and old animals (light grey). Data show a significant age-related increase in GFAP+ cells density. (B) GFAP+ cell size in young adult (black column), middle-aged (dark grey) and old animals (light grey). Data show a significant age-related increase in GFAP+ cell size. Data is represented as mean ±SEM, and a minimum of 3 animals per age group were quantified. All significance testing was performed using one-way ANOVA followed by Tukey post-hoc test (*p<0.05, **p<0.01).

5.4. Discussion

Growing evidence indicate that hypothalamic inflammation participates in the development of systemic ageing. Inflammation in the CNS is linked to glial remodelling and activation; however, the effects of ageing in the hypothalamic microglial and astrocytic populations are still in the early stages of characterisation. In this study, immunohistochemistry for the microglial marker Iba1 and astrocytic marker GFAP was employed. In aged microglia, Iba1+ cells acquired an enlarged cell body with ameboid morphology, typical of the activated phenotype. In turn, aged GFAP+ astrocytes increased in number and presented bigger and thicker ramifications, forming a syncytium of interconnected cells. The changes observed suggest that reactive gliosis involving both microglial and astrocyte populations develop gradually in the hypothalamus with age. In addition, western blot analysis suggest that aged hypothalamic microglia adopt a neurotoxic/pro-inflammatory (M1) activated phenotype accompanied by the release of the pro-inflammatory cytokine TNFα.

In summary, results in this chapter suggest that inflammation, mediated by activation of microglia and astrocytes, and release of pro-inflammatory factors is a feature of the aged hypothalamus. This detrimental environment may affect various neural cell types and disrupt key hypothalamic signalling pathways essential for energy balance, glucose homeostasis and blood pressure.

5.4.1. Age-related changes in microglia and astrocytes morphology, number and distribution in the hypothalamus

5.4.1.1. Age-related changes in hypothalamic microglia

To characterise the hypothalamic microglia and any age-related changes, immunohistochemistry for Iba1 was performed in brain sections of young, middle-aged and old animals. Iba1 is a calcium-binding protein expressed in the cytoplasm of microglia, but not present in other neural cell types (Ahmed et al. 2007). Microglial cells (Iba1+) were observed uniformly distributed in the hypothalamic parenchyma in nonoverlapping territories, and their density was stable across the three age groups. The results presented in this chapter contradict with previous reports that observed hypothalamic microglia increase during ageing (Yin et al. 2018; Zhang et al. 2013) and in diet-induced inflammation (Baufeld et al. 2016; Valdearcos et al. 2017). The differences observed between the present study and Zhang *et al.* could be due to the different counting methods employed, and the bregma positions analysed. Interestingly, in other regions of the brain, including the hippocampus, the total number of microglia in the brain is not increased during healthy ageing (Long et al. 1998; VanGuilder et al. 2011b).

In contrast, an age-related microglial phenotypic change towards the activated state is observed. Furthermore, the microglia activation seems to occur gradually as the animal ages, and the first signs of microglial activation are observed in middle-aged animals. Consistent with the data present here, studies in mammals observed microglia with activated morphology in different areas across the healthy aged CNS (von Bernhardi et al. 2015; Cerbai et al. 2012; Conde and Streit 2006; Lee et al. 2017). In the hypothalamus, size change in conjunction with altered morphology in microglia was observed after HFD feeding (Berkseth et al. 2014; Thaler et al. 2012); however, this is the first study providing evidence of morphological changes in hypothalamic microglia during ageing.

5.4.1.2. Age-related changes in hypothalamic astrocytes

To characterise age-related changes in hypothalamic astrocytes, immunohistochemistry for GFAP was performed in brain sections of young, middle-aged and old animals.

In agreement with previous reports, an age-related increase in hypothalamic astrocytes (GFAP+) density was detected (Santos, Bobermin, et al. 2018; Wang et al. 2006). The increase in GFAP+ number could be originated from different sources: (1) mature astrocytes that reactivate the cell cycle and proliferate (Bardehle et al. 2013; Gadea, Schinelli, and Gallo 2008); (2) parenchymal progenitors (Li et al. 2012); (3) ependymal/tanycytes cell progenitors (Chaker et al. 2016; Robins, Stewart, et al. 2013). Importantly, although GFAP is a widely used marker for astrocytes, presents some caveats: (1) is not expressed by all astrocytes (Sofroniew and Vinters 2010); (2) as an intermediate filament protein of the cytoskeleton, immunolabelling for GFAP only represents about 15% of the total astrocyte volume (Bushong et al. 2002).

The results presented in this chapter indicate that aged astrocytes acquire a reactive phenotype, with general hypertrophy of the cell body that increase in size with age. Reactive astrocytes lose the ability to carry out their normal functions and could induce the death of neurons and OLs (Clarke et al. 2018; Liddelow et al. 2017). In the hypothalamus, and consistent with their reactive phenotype, aged astrocytes exhibit functional changes (Santos, Roppa, et al. 2018) and up-regulate the expression of neuroinflammatory genes (Boisvert et al. 2018). Following the reactive phenotype, in the hypothalamus, aged GFAP+ astrocytes seem to overlap neighbouring astrocyte processes, ultimately forming a network or syncytium (Scemes and Spray 2003). These phenotypical changes are first observed in middle-aged animals and become more prevalent in the old group, suggesting that the activation and remodelling of the hypothalamic astrocytes is a dynamic process that develops with age.

Taken together, cellular hypertrophy, loss of individual astrocyte domains and increase in astrocyte number suggests that reactive astrogliosis occurs in the ageing hypothalamus (Sofroniew 2009; Sofroniew and Vinters 2010). Chronic astrogliosis can also impair the neuronal functions, limit axonal regeneration, and decrease neurogenesis in aged mice (Menet et al. 2003; Pekny and Nilsson 2005). In the rodent hypothalamus, reactive astrogliosis has been associated with a reduction in POMC neurons (Thaler et al. 2012), essential for energy balance and metabolism regulation. Therefore, the gradual and chronic inflammatory response observed in the hypothalamus during ageing may be detrimental for the correct functioning of neuronal and glial populations present in the area and may underlie some of the metabolic defects observed during ageing.

5.4.2. Pro-inflammatory markers

Increasing evidence indicates that microglial activation is heterogeneous, which can be categorised into two main opposite types: M1 and M2. The M1 phenotype exerts neurotoxic proprieties, and M2 has a phagocytic/neuroprotective role in the inflammatory response. (von Bernhardi et al. 2015; Gordon 2003; Tang and Le 2016). In addition to neurotoxicity, the M1 microglia is required for the activation of adjacent astrocytes by releasing factors such as TNFα and interleukins (Liddelow et al. 2017).

Protein levels of M1- and M2-type microglial markers were assessed via western blot in total hypothalamic extracts. Increased expression of the M1 marker CD86 and the proinflammatory cytokine TNFa in the hypothalamus was detected with age (**Figure 5.4**). Interestingly, in the hypothalamus, previous studies showed that upregulation of TNFa is restricted to the microglial cells during early ageing, but became prevalent across the neighbouring cells in 22-months-old mice (Zhang et al. 2013)

Contrarily, expression of the M2 markers CD206 and Arg1 was not detected in the hypothalamus. The failure to detect both M2 phenotype markers could be due to multiple reasons: (1) the antibodies employed are not suitable for western blot analysis; (2) CD206 and Arg1 are not expressed in the hypothalamus, or their expression falls below the detection threshold of the method. In support of (2), the transcriptomic experiment in *Chapter 3* failed to detect age-related changes in the classical M2 markers Cd206, FIZZ1 and Chil3l3 (results not shown).

In conclusion, results suggest that hypothalamic microglia acquire a neurotoxic phenotype (M1) during ageing, accompanied by the expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines such as TNFa, that may contribute to the age-related astrocyte activation in the hypothalamus.

5.4.3. Activators of hypothalamic age-related inflammation

This chapter showed that hypothalamic microglia and astrocytes undergo gradual changes towards a pro-inflammatory phenotype with age. The gradual changes observed in both populations indicate an escalation of inflammation during age progression, although it is still unclear how microglial and astrocyte activation is initially triggered. Different mechanisms could contribute, including mitochondrial dysfunction (Drougard et al. 2015; Tang et al. 2015), loss of autophagy (Kaushik et al. 2011, 2012) and intracellular RNA stress response (Yan et al. 2014). It is also possible that tissue changes during ageing development, such as adiposity and immune system dysfunction, secondarily contribute to hypothalamic inflammation (Deleidi, Jäggle, and Rubino 2015; Kuk et al. 2009).

Regardless of insufficient understanding as to its primary causes, age-related hypothalamic inflammation mediated by astrocytes and microglia disrupts key hypothalamic signalling pathways and mediate the development of the metabolic syndrome (Purkayastha and Cai 2013; Purkayastha et al. 2011; Tang et al. 2015; Zhang et al. 2008). Therefore, strategies that target age-related inflammation in the hypothalamus, like suppression of NF-κB reported by Zhang *et al.*, may delay the development of age-related conditions and increase the lifespan.

6. Proliferation studies in the ageing hypothalamus

6.1. Introduction

Adult neural stem cell niches harbouring neural stem and progenitor cells able to differentiate through different glial and/or neuronal lineages have been identified in several species. Specifically, the canonical NSC niches include the SVZ, lining the walls of the lateral ventricles, and the SGZ of the hippocampus (Barnea and Nottebohm 1994; Eriksson et al. 1998; E. Gould et al. 1999; Gould et al. 1998; Kempermann, Kuhn, and Gage 1997). Besides the well-known neurogenic niches, the hypothalamus has emerged as a novel niche for postnatal and adult neurogenesis and gliogenesis.

In the hypothalamus, two main potential neurogenic sites have been identified, the ependymal cells lining the 3V and the parenchyma; although, the exact location and identity of the proliferative niche is object of strong controversy. The studies reporting neurogenesis in the postnatal and adult rodent hypothalamus, using both BrdU incorporation studies and cell lineage analysis using inducible Cre lines, are summarized in **Table 6.1** and **6.2**, respectively.

On the one hand, previous studies in rodents indicated that tanycytes lining the ependymal layer of the 3V harbours NSC that can give rise to both neurons (NeuN+, HuC/D+) and glial cells (GFAP+) and may self-renew by generating other tanycytes (Niels Haan et al. 2013; D. A. Lee et al. 2012; Robins, Stewart, et al. 2013). The new-born neurons originated from tanycytes integrate into the appetite and energy balance regulating nuclei, as lineage tracing studies revealed (Lee and Blackshaw 2012; Xu et al. 2005). Proliferation of tanycytes lining the 3V is frequently observed in postnatal ages, but it seems to decrease in adults (Niels Haan et al. 2013; D. A. Lee et al. 2012). In fact, young mice (2 - 3 months old) treated with the thymidine analogue BrdU, which effectively labels new-born cells in the hypothalamus, showed BrdU+ throughout the hypothalamic parenchyma but very few BrdU+ cells lining the 3V, (Djogo et al. 2016; Kokoeva et al. 2007; Robins, Trudel, et al. 2013; Zhang et al. 2017). In addition to decreased BrdU labelling, a recent study reported loss of NSC in the 3V with age, by visualizing proteins strongly expressed in NCS, such as Sox2, Nestin, Bmi1, and Msh1 (Goodman and Hajihosseini 2015; Zhang et al. 2017). Interestingly, one study using lineage tracing of Nestin expressing tanycytes showed that neurogenesis occurs even in mice as old as 9 months, and that deletion of IGF-1 receptors in Nestin expressing cells and their progeny enhances neurogenesis (Chaker et al. 2016).

Several studies have suggested that the neural stem/progenitor cells reside within the hypothalamic parenchyma. Parenchymal new-born cells have been identified throughout many hypothalamic regions, including the Arc, VMN, DMN nuclei and the ME (Niels Haan et al. 2013; Kokoeva et al. 2007; D. A. Lee et al. 2012; Matsuzaki et al. 2009; Robins, Trudel, et al. 2013). Besides, some studies identified a regional enrichment, with the ME containing 15-fold more BrdU+ cells than the rest of the hypothalamus (Djogo et al. 2016; Kokoeva et al. 2007; D. A. Lee et al. 2012). Analysis of the adult hypothalamus seven weeks post BrdU treatment revealed that parenchymal BrdU+ cells give rise to OLs (oligodendrocytes, CC1+) and, to a lesser extent, neurons (DCX+, HuC/D+, Tuj1+) (Kokoeva et al. 2007). Moreover, recent studies identified the majority of parenchymal dividing cells as NG2-glia in the adult mice (Robins, Villemain, et al. 2013). Hypothalamic NG2-glia is highly regenerative and can undergo multiple selfrenewing divisions (Robins, Trudel, et al. 2013). Independent studies using the mitotic blocker arabinofuranosyl cytosine (AraC) reached the same conclusion and identified the majority of cycling cells in the adult hypothalamus as NG2-glia, being the microglia the second proliferative population in this region (Djogo et al. 2016).

The NG2-glia comprise an OL progenitor population that has an important role in myelination post-development (McTigue and Tripathi 2008), with a dense distribution throughout the CNS and a high potency to regenerate. In the hypothalamus, NG2-glia has been found enwrapping LepR processes from arcuate neurons, with the AraC NG2-glia induced ablation causing degeneration of LepR processes in the ME. Thus, proliferative NG2-glia has a critical role in the normal functioning of the hypothalamic neuronal circuits, and a short-term NG2 elimination cause permanent neuronal processes impairment (Djogo et al. 2016).

In conclusion, many studies have reported cell proliferation and generation of new cells of neuronal and glial lineage in the postnatal and adult hypothalamus, with the majority of proliferative cells identified as NG2-glia; however, the characterisation of this niche is still in its early stages compared to the canonical SGZ and SVZ niches. Consequently, in this chapter, I decided to characterise the proliferating niche within the hypothalamus and define any changes during normal ageing. A decline in hypothalamic neurogenesis could disrupt key signalling pathways, contributing to functional changes in the hypothalamus with age.

6.2. Aims

Given that cycling cells with neuro- and gliogenic properties have been identified in the postnatal and adult hypothalamus, the next step was to investigate and characterise the dynamics of the hypothalamic stem cell niche during normal ageing:

- Defining the identity and spatial location of the proliferative cells in the adult hypothalamus.
- Characterisation of the number and distribution of the proliferative cells within the adult hypothalamus.
- Defining the changes in the number and distribution of the different proliferative subpopulations during ageing.

Location proliferative cells	Identity cycling cells and progeny	Species	Age BrdU treatment	BrdU labelling paradigm	Treatment	Treatment effect on proliferation	Reference
Periventricular zone Parenchyma	GFAP+, NeuN+	Rt	P20-40	IP 1x daily for 3 d (chased for 17 d)	Gonadal hormones	Up	Ahmed <i>et</i> <i>al.,</i> 2008
Parenchyma (Arc)	HuC/D+	Ms	P70-84	ICV osmotic pump for 9 d (acute - harverst or chased for 34 d)		-	Bless <i>et al.,</i> 2014, 2016
Parenchyma (Arc-ME)	lba1+, NG2+	Ms	2-3 m	ICV osmotic pump for 7 d (acute harvest) AraC ICV 6 d IP 6x within 30 h (acute harvest)		First down, Up within following 14 d	Djogo <i>et al.,</i> 2016
Parencyma	NeuN+, POMC+	Ms	P50	ICV for 3 days (chased for 3 d, 7 d, 17 d or 21 d) HFD 3-7 d		Up for 3 d, down after	Gouaze <i>et</i> <i>al.,</i> 2013
Ependymal layer Parenchyma (Most)	BGal+ (Fgf10 ^{nLacZ}), NeuN+	Ms	P28-32 P60-70	DW for 15 d (acute harvest) -		-	Haan <i>et al.,</i> 2013
Ependymal layer Parenchyma	Prss56+ (Prss56-Cre), Sox2+, Vim+	Ms	3 m	ICV osmotic pump for 7d (chased for 42 d)	FGF ICV 7 d	Up	Jourdon <i>et</i> <i>al.,</i> 2016
Parenchyma (Arc-ME)	APC (CC1)+, DCX+,HuC/D+, NPY+, POMC+, Tuj1+	Ms	P60	ICV osmotic pump 7d (chased for 3 d, 7 d, 21 d, 35 d or 49 d)	CNTF ICV 7 d	Up	Kokoeva, Yin and Flier, 2005
Parenchyma	APC (CC1)+, DCX+, HuC/D+, Tuj1+	Ms	P60	ICV osmotic pump for 7 d (chased for 2 d, 9 d, 22 d or 42 d)	CNTF ICV 7 d	Up	Kokoeva, Yin and Flier, 2007
Ependymal layer (ME) Parenchyma	HuC/D+, Nestin+	Ms	P10	IP 2x daily for 9 d (chased for 26 d)	HFD 30 d	Up	Lee et al., 2012
Parenchymal (Arc-ME)	HuC/D+, Nestin+	Ms	P42	P 2x daily for 9 d (chased for 26 d) HFD, High 30 d		Up (ME) Down (Arc)	Lee <i>et al.,</i> 2014
Parenchyma (Arc-ME)	NeuN+, NPY+, POMC+, RIP+ (OL), S100β+	Ms	4-8 m	ICV for 7 days (chased 10 d or 30 d)	Chronic HFD	Down	Li, Tang and Cai, 2013
Periventricular zone Parenchyma	APC+, DCX+, NeuN+, SYN+	Rt	P50	IP 1x daily for 5 d (chased for 6 d, 13 d, 23 d, 33 d, 43 d or 53 d)	Heat exposure	Up	Matsuzaki <i>et</i> <i>al.,</i> 2009

Table 6.1. Studies reporting neurogenesis in postnatal and adult hypothalamus of rodents using the mitotic marker BrdU

Location proliferative cells	Identity cycling cells and progeny	Species	Age BrdU treatment	BrdU labelling paradigm Treatme		Treatment effect on proliferation	Reference
Ependymal layer (P50) Parenchyma	APC+, DCX+, GFAP+, NeuN+	Rt	P50 10–11 m 22–25 m	IP 1x daily for 5 d (chased 40-50 d) Heat exposure		Up	Matsuzaki <i>et</i> <i>al.,</i> 2015
Ependymal layer Parenchyma	GAD67+, Glut+, NeuN+	Rt	P45	IP 1x daily for 5 d (chased for 6 d or 40 d) Heat exposure		Up	Matsuzaki <i>et</i> <i>al.,</i> 2017
Parenchyma	HuC/D+, NeuN+	Ms	P60	ICV osmotic pump for 7 d (chased for 28 d)	HFD 28 d	Down	McNay <i>et</i> <i>al.,</i> 2012
Ependymal layer Parenchyma	GFAP+, NeuN+	Rt	P28	ICV osmotic pump for 28 d (chased for 10 d)			Mohr, Don Carlos and Sisk, 2017
Ependymal layer Parenchyma	HuC/D+, GFAP+, Nestin+, NeuN+, Vim+	Rt	2.5-3 m	IP 1x daily for 5 d (chased for 2 d or 21 d)	Voluntary exercise	Up	Niwa <i>et al.,</i> 2016
Parenchyma	MAP2+, Tuj1+	Rt	Adult (not specified)	ICV osmotic pump for 7 d (chased for 28 d)	BDNF ICV 12 d	Up	Pencea et al., 2001
Periventricular zone Parenchyma	GFAP+, Iba1+, NeuN+, S100β+	Rt	P60	IP 2x daily for 3 d (chased for 18 d)	IGF ICV 7 d	Up	Perez-Martin <i>et al.,</i> 2010
Parenchyma (Arc)	ACTH (POMC)+, AgRP+	Ms	3 m	ICV osmotic pump for 42 d (acute harvest)	Degeneration Agrp-neurons	Up	Pierce and Xu, 2010
Ependymal layer Parenchyma	GFAP+ (α-tanycytes), Vim+	Ms	P45-60	ICV osmotic pump for 7 d (acute harverst or chased for 42 d)	ump for 7 d (acute FGF2 ICV 7 d ased for 42 d)		Robins, Stewart, <i>et al.,</i> 2013
Parenchyma (Arc-ME)	HuC/D+, NG2+, Sox2+	Ms	P60	ICV osmotic pump for 7 d (acute harverst or chased for 30 d) DW 28 d (acute harvest)	7 d (acute 30 d)		Robins, Trudel, <i>et al.,</i> 2013
Periventricular zone Parenchyma	GFAP+, HuC/D+, Orexin A+	Rt	P60	IP every 2 h for 48 h (chased for 3 d, 7 d, 28 d or 56 d)	bFGF ICV single dose	Up	Xu <i>et al.,</i> 2005
Ependymal layer (only 2-4 m)	-	Ms	2-4 m 11-16 m >22 m	IP 2x daily for 7 days (acute harvest)	_	-	Zhang <i>et</i> <i>al.,</i> 2017

Table 6.1(cont). Studies reporting neurogenesis in postnatal and adult hypothalamus of rodents using the mitotic marker BrdU

Identity and location progenitor cells	Identity progeny	Progeny location	Transgenic line	Reporter	Age of induction	Tamoxifen induction paradigm	Reference
Ependymal layer (ependymocytes and α/β-tanycytes)	GFAP+, GLAST+, Glut-R+, GABA-R+, NeuN+, NPY+, GHRH	Arc, VMN, DMN, LH, PH	Nestin-CreER ^{T2}	R26 ^{tdTom}	3 m	IP 2x daily for 5 d (chased for 1 m, 6 m or 13 m)	Chaker <i>et</i> <i>al.,</i> 2016
Parenchymal OPC	BrdU+, Sox2+	Arc, ME,VMN	NG2-CreER ^{T2}	R26 ^{tdTom}	2-3 m	IP 2x daily for 5 d (chased for 18 d)	Djogo <i>et</i> <i>al.,</i> 2016
Ependymal layer (β-tanycytes)	NeuN+	Arc, VMN	Fgf10-CreER ^{T2}	R26 ^{LacZ}	P60	IP 1x daily for 7 d, then in diet for 10 d (chased for up to 84 d)	Haan <i>et al.,</i> 2013
Ependymal layer (α2-tanycytes)	BrdU+, Huc/D+, Sox2+	Arc, VMN, DMN	Prss56-Cre	R26 ^{tdTom}	3 m	-	Jourdon <i>et</i> <i>al.,</i> 2016
Ependymal layer (β2-tanycytes)	DCX+, HuC/D+	Arc, ME	Nestin-CreER T2	R26 ^{YFP}	P4.5	IP single dose (chased for 30 d)	Lee <i>et al.,</i> 2012
Parenchymal progenitor cell	NeuN+, NPY+, POMC+, S100β+, RIP+	Arc, VMN	Sox2 promoter- Cre lentivirus	R26 ^{YFP}	3 m	Delivery not stated (chased for 80 d)	Li, Tang and Cai, 2013
Ependymal layer (α-tanycytes)	DCX+, GFAP+, NeuN+	Arc, VMN, DMN	Glast-CreER ^{T2}	R26 ^{LacZ}	P56-P84	IP 1x daily for 10 d (chased for 42 d and 270 d)	Robins, Stewart, <i>et al.,</i> 2013
Parenchymal OPC	APC (CC1)+, BrdU+, CD13+ (pericytes), HuC/D+, NeuN+, Sox2+	Arc, ME, VMN	NG2-CreER ^{T2}	R26 ^{tdTom}	P56-P84	IP 2x daily for 5 days (chased for 2 d, 14 d, 20 d and 60 d)	Robins, Trudel, <i>et al.,</i> 2013

Table 6.2. Studies reporting neurogenesis in postnatal and adult hypothalamus using lineage tracing mouse models

Abbreviations used: AraC - arabinofuranosyl cytosine. Arc - Arcuate nucleus. d - day. DMN - dorsomedial nucleus. DW - drinking water. HFD - high fat diet. ICV - intracerebroventricular. IGF - insulin-like growth factor. IP - intraperitoneal. FGF - fibroblast growth factor. LH lateral hypothalamus. m - month. ME - median eminence. PH - posterior hypothalamus. VMN - ventromedial hypothalamus.

6.3. Results

6.3.1. Characterisation of proliferating cells in the hypothalamus

Given that previous research suggested that the adult hypothalamus contains a proliferative stem cell/progenitor niche, the next step was to characterise the hypothalamic proliferative niche during ageing. To do so, immunohistochemical detection of BrdU was performed in hypothalamic brain sections from young adult (3 – 7 months old), middle-aged (10 – 14) and old mice (18 – 24; n = 4 animals per age group). As a result, BrdU+ cells were detected in the hypothalamic parenchyma between bregma positions -1.22 mm to -2.46 mm (Figure 6.1). The dividing cells were observed in the Arc-ME, with minor contributions to the VMN. The BrdU+ cells were present in the same hypothalamic regions across the three age groups (Figure 6.2). As a general observation, the BrdU+ cells were found in close proximity to each other, in some cases resembling to cell pairs, suggesting that they recently underwent cell division. As a control, the corpus callosum was immunolabelled for BrdU, and positive cells were observed in the region (Figure S 4).

Additionally, very few BrdU+ were observed in the ependymal layer of the 3V, where the neurogenic tanycytes are located. The low number of proliferating cells lining the 3V suggested that ependymal cells, including tanycytes, are a non-dividing or a very slow dividing population in the adult brain.

In summary, the BrdU+ cells spatial distribution is maintained during ageing, being specially concentrated in the Arc-ME region.







Figure 6.1. Representative distribution and density of BrdU+ cells in the hypothalamus. Approximated bregma positions are indicated. Red circles indicate position of the groups of BrdU+ cells. Results obtained from young, middle-aged and old animals, with a minimum of 3 animals analysed per age group, were employed for the diagram design. Dashed lines outline the 3V and the limits of the different hypothalamic nuclei. 3V – third ventricle. VMN – Ventromedial nucleus. AH – Anterior hypothalamus. Arc – Arcuate nucleus. ME – Median eminence.



Figure 6.2. Proliferative cells within the hypothalamus were mainly observed in the Arc-ME in young, middle-aged and old animals. Mice were treated for 15 d with BrdU in drinking water to mark proliferative cells. (A, B, C) Representative images of the MBH at bregma -1.46 mm stained for BrdU (white), from young-adult (A), middle-aged (B) and old (C) animals. (D, E, F) Representative images of the MBH at bregma -1.7 mm stained for BrdU (white), from young-adult (D), middle-aged (E) and old (F) animals. (G, H, I) Representative images of the MBH at bregma -2.06 mm stained for BrdU (white), from young-adult (G), middle-aged (H) and old (I) animals. (J, K, L) Representative images of the ME at bregma -1.7 mm stained for BrdU (white), from young-adult (J), middle-aged (K) and old (L) animals. Bregma positions are approximated and indicated. Experiments performed in young, middle-aged and old animals with 4 animals analysed per age group. Dashed lines outline the 3V and the limits of the hypothalamus. Scale bar 50 µm. 3V – third ventricle.

6.3.2. Characterisation of the hypothalamic proliferative cells

Next, the identity of the proliferating cells identified in the Arc-ME regions was confirmed. To do so, BrdU co-localisation with different cell type makers was assessed in the hypothalamus via immunohistochemistry in young, middle-aged and old mice (minimum of n = 3 animals per age group). The specific cell type markers included Olig2 (OL lineage), Iba1 (microglia), GFAP (astrocytes, α -tanycytes), NeuN (neurons) and S100 β (astrocytes, OLs and α -tanycytes). In addition, transgenic mice selectively expressing GFP in the Pomc and Npy neuronal populations (Pomc-GFP and Npy-GFP, respectively) were used to determine BrdU+ cells identity.

Results showed that BrdU+ cells co-localised with Olig2 and Iba1, specific makers of OLs and microglia respectively (Figure 6.3 and 6.4). Co-localisation of BrdU with S100 β was also observed, but the BrdU+/S100 β + cells were always Olig2+, confirming that they belong to the OL lineage (Figure 6.5).

Moreover, in old animals but not in young adults, a very small number of GFAP+ astrocytes co-localised with BrdU staining (**Figure 6.6**). However, BrdU co-localisation with NeuN, Pomc and Npy (**Figure S 5**) was not observed, suggesting the neurogenic capacity of the proliferative cells is very low or totally absent in the adult hypothalamus. Also, co-localisation of BrdU with LacZ (Fgf10^{nLacZ}), that labels Fgf10-expressing tanycytes and derived cells, was not detected in any age group (**Figure S 6**).

In addition to co-localisation studies, immunohistochemistry for the neuronal new-born marker doublecortin (DCX), a transient marker for early postmitotic neurons, was assessed in the hypothalamus of young, middle-aged and old animals. This antibody was previously validated by former members of the group in postnatal tissue with positive staining. In the adult hypothalamus, however, staining for DCX was not detected.

In conclusion, results confirmed that the hypothalamic parenchymal stem cells are capable of gliogenesis and give rise to new-born microglial cells and OLs throughout the lifespan.


Figure 6.3. BrdU+ cells co-localise with the oligodendrocyte marker Olig2 in the Arc-ME. (A – A'') Orthogonal view z-stack images of BrdU (blue) and Olig2 (red) immunostaining show co-localisation (white arrow). Immunostaining for Olig2 (red) and BrdU (blue) show co-localisation in the ME (B – B'') and the Arc nucleus (C' – C''). The pictures shown were obtained from young animal tissue (n = 3). Dashed lines outline the borders of the 3V. Experiments performed in young, middle-aged and old animals with a minimum of 3 animals analysed per age group. Scale bar 25 µm. 3V – third ventricle.



Figure 6.4. BrdU+ cells co-localise with the microglia marker Iba1 in the Arc-ME. (A – A'') Orthogonal view z-stack images of BrdU (blue) and Iba1 (red) immunostaining show co-localisation (white arrow) in the hypothalamus. Immunostaining for Iba1 (red) and BrdU (blue) show co-localisation in the ME (B – B''') and the Arc nucleus (C – C''). Experiments performed in young, middle-aged and old animals with a minimum of 3 animals analysed per age group. The pictures shown were obtained from young animal tissue. Dashed lines outline the borders of the 3V. Scale bar 25 μ m.



Figure 6.5. BrdU+ cells co-localise with S100 β +/Olig2+ cells but not S100 β +/Olig2- cells. (A – A''') Immunostaining for S100 β (green), Olig2 (red) and BrdU (blue) in bregma - 1.7 mm, approximated. Dashed lines outline the borders of the 3V. White arrows signal S100 β , Olig2 and BrdU co-localisation. No S100 β +/Olig2- cells were found to co-localise with BrdU staining. The pictures shown were obtained from young animal tissue. Experiments performed in young, middle-aged and old animals with a minimum of 3 animals analysed per age group. Scale bar 25 μ m. 3V – third ventricle.



Figure 6.6. GFAP+ astrocytes that co-localise with BrdU+ cells are rare and only detected in aged animals. (A – A") Orthogonal view z-stack images of GFAP (Red) and BrdU+ (Blue) immunostaining show co-localisation (white arrow) in the hypothalamus of old mice. (B – B"). Immunostaining for GFAP (Red) and BrdU (Blue) show a BrdU+/GFAP+ cell in the Arc (white arrow) and BrdU+/GFAP- cells (asterisks) in the Arc nucleus. Experiments performed in young, middle-aged and old animals with a minimum of 3 animals analysed per age group. Dashed lines outline the borders of the 3V. Pictures were obtained from old animal tissue. Scale bar 25 μ m.

6.3.3. Age-related effects in number and rostro-caudal distribution of hypothalamic proliferative cells

After confirming the identity of the new-born cells, I wished to investigate whether the proliferation rate of these parenchymal proliferative cells suffered any agerelated changes. To do so, the total number BrdU+ cells in the Arc-ME were quantified in young adult, middle-aged, and old mice (n = 4 for each age group); between bregma positions -1.22 to -2.46 mm. Statistical analysis of young adult 151 ± 26.2 (n = 4), middle-aged 116 ± 25.2 (n = 4), and old mice 107 ± 30.4 (n = 3) results showed a significant age-related decrease in the total number of BrdU+ cells (**Figure 6.7 – A**).

The rostro-caudal distribution of BrdU+ cells was also investigated and BrdU+ cells were mainly observed between bregma -1.58 mm and -2.06 mm (Figure 6.1 and Figure 6.7 – F). BrdU+ distribution showed that the age-related decline in proliferation was homogenous throughout the Arc-ME region (Figure 6.7 – F).

6.3.4. Age-related effects in the identity of the new-born cells derived from hypothalamic proliferative cells

Given that the results showed an age-related decline in the number of dividing cells, I wanted to investigate the effect on the production of new-born OLs (Olig2+) and microglia (lba1+). To do so, the number (Figure 6.7 – B and C) and percentage (Figure 6.7 D and E) of BrdU cells that co-localised with Olig2 or Iba1 was obtained for each age group (n = 4). Results showed that 45 – 50% BrdU+ co-localised with Olig2+ and 30 – 35% with Iba1+, making the Olig2+ population the most proliferating in the hypothalamus. Importantly, these percentages were not affected with age, indicating that the age-related decline in proliferation affects both populations equally. Additionally, rostro-caudal distribution of BrdU+/Olig2+ and BrdU+/Iba1+ cells was also investigated, with no changes observed with age (Figure 6.7 – G and – H).

In conclusion, proliferation in the hypothalamus suffers an age-related decline, affecting both the microglia and OLs. However, Olig2+ and Iba1+ are not the only proliferating populations, as they together accounted only for the 80% of the proliferating cells. Thus, the identity of the remaining proliferating cells remains unidentified, although their identity could be inferred due to their localisation. As an example, some BrdU+ could be pericytes and/or endothelial cells as they are found in close contact with blood vessels, requiring confirmation by the use of specific markers for both populations.



Figure 6.7. BrdU+ cells decline in the hypothalamus with age, affecting the two main proliferative populations (Olig2+ and Iba1+) equally. (A) Number of BrdU+ cells in young adult (black), middle-aged (dark grey) and old animals (light grey). Data show a significant age-related decline in the BrdU+ cell number. (B) Number of Olig2+/BrdU+ cells in young adult, middleaged, and old animals. Data show a significant age-related decline. (C) Number of Olig2+/BrdU+ cells in young adult, middle-aged and old animals. (D) Percentage of Olig2+/BrdU+ show no age-related differences. (E) Percentage of Iba1+/BrdU+ show no agerelated differences. (F) Distribution of BrdU+ cells in the hypothalamus, represented as the average number of BrdU+ cells in sections ranging from bregma -1.34 mm to -2.3 mm. Different colours represent the three age groups, young adult (blue), middle-aged (orange) and Old (red) (G) Distribution of proliferative Olig2+ cells in the MBH, represented as the percentage Olig2+/BrdU+ cells respect to the total BrdU+ cell count, between bregma -1.34 mm to -2.3 mm. (H) Distribution of proliferative lba1+ cells in the MBH, represented as the percentage lba1+/BrdU+ cells respect to the total BrdU+ cell count. Data is represented as mean \pm SEM and a minimum of 4 animals per age group were quantified. The significance testing for A, B and C was performed using one-way ANOVA followed by Tukey post-hoc test (*p<0.05).

6.4. Discussion

Previous studies have suggested that a population of neural stem/progenitor cells reside within the adult hypothalamus, although the anatomic location of the proliferative niche is the object of strong controversy. In this study, using the mitotic marker BrdU, cycling cells have been identified in the hypothalamic parenchyma of the Arc nucleus and the ME; thus, suggesting that the putative progenitor population is located in the parenchyma. The proliferative cells were identified as Olig2+ (oligodendrocyte) and lba1+ (microglia), accounting for 80% of the BrdU+ cells. However, co-localisation with mature neuronal markers failed to give positive results, thus suggesting that the parenchymal progenitor cells predominantly give rise to glial fate cells.

Characterisation of the parenchymal progenitor population in three age groups (young adult, middle-aged and old) indicated that the number of BrdU+ cells in the Arc-ME decline gradually with age, affecting both Olig2+ and Iba1+ populations. These results suggest that either the progenitor cells lose self-renewing capacity with age, or they became senescent as the animals age.

6.4.1. BrdU incorporation assays label new-born cells in the hypothalamus

Over the past two decades, the hypothalamus has emerged as a putative novel region for adult neurogenesis and gliogenesis, in addition to the well-documented SGZ and SVZ neurogenic niches. The development of new techniques to track cycling cells facilitated the detection of additional proliferative regions outside the canonical stem cells niches. BrdU is the most common method for directly tracking DNA replication (Cavanagh et al. 2011; Zeng et al. 2010), and is especially useful for labelling slowly dividing cells as incorporation can be tracked *in vivo* over the course of several days.

Therefore, BrdU was applied for 15 days via drinking water (1 mg/ml solution containing 0.25 mg/ml glucose), in preference to other labelling routes (intraperitoneal and intracerebroventricular injections) that require surgery and/or can be stressful for the animals (Kokoeva et al. 2007; Pérez-Martín et al. 2010). The BrdU concentration within this paradigm was sufficient to be detectably incorporated into the DNA of dividing cells in the hypothalamus, the SVZ and the SGZ (Niels Haan et al. 2013). Also, given that

prolonged BrdU treatment can induce toxicity, the analysis was limited to 15 days and animals showed no overt phenotype at this time point (Niels Haan et al. 2013).

Alternative methods based upon detecting endogenously expressed markers associated with cell proliferation, such as Ki67 or PCNA, were not considered in this study given that they provide a snapshot of a cell population at the time of assay (Kee et al. 2002; Miller et al. 2018), and label too few cells to allow a satisfactory evaluation of cell proliferation in regions with lower mitotic activity than the SVZ or SGZ.

Caveats of the BrdU assays include that the thymidine analogue can be incorporated into DNA repair or during cell death (Kuan et al. 2004; Yang et al. 2012). Consequently, alternative methods were assessed to confirm cell proliferation via BrdU incorporation. First, in this study, BrdU+ cells are often observed in pairs, in close proximity, indicative of recently divided cells (Rakic 2002). Also, cell death studies in *Chapter 1* reported that apoptotic and necroptotic events are rarely observed in the hypothalamus of adult mice, suggesting that cell death cannot explain the full magnitude of the hypothalamic proliferation and supporting the proliferative identity of the hypothalamic BrdU+ cells. In agreement with these results, very few cells were detected by CC3 immunohistochemistry and TUNEL assay in the hypothalamus of young rats (Guyenet et al. 2013).

6.4.2. The spatial distribution of the proliferative cells suggested that the adult neural stem cell/progenitor niche resides within the hypothalamic parenchyma

The existence of a neuronal stem cell/progenitor niche within the adult hypothalamus has been the object of strong controversy and the precise identity of the neurogenic cells, and their dynamics with age remained elusive, particularly during adulthood. Several studies have suggested that proliferative cells with neurogenic capacity reside in the adult hypothalamic parenchyma (Djogo et al. 2016; Kokoeva et al. 2007; Pencea et al. 2001; Pierce and Xu 2010). Contrarily, additional studies have speculated that tanycytes located in the ependymal layer lining of the 3V are the neurogenic cells (Lee *et al.*, 2012; Haan *et al.*, 2013; Robins *et al.*, 2013).

The lack of agreement in the identification and location of the hypothalamic progenitor/NSC niche could be caused by a combination of multiple factors. First, the different methodology employed, including the BrdU labelling routes (IP, ICV or DW), the length of treatments and the different transgenic models used. Second, the fact that there is no specific marker for neural stem cells could underlie the discrepancy concerning the precise anatomic origin of the adult hypothalamic new-born cells (Doetsch et al. 1999; Johansson et al. 1999). Third, the majority of the studies used animals of postnatal stages (**Table 6.1** and **6.2**), thus encompassing significant developmental effects. To date, only a handful of studies included rodents older than 3 months (Pierce and Xu, 2010; Matsuzaki *et al.*, 2015; Djogo *et al.*, 2016; Jourdon *et al.*, 2016; Niwa *et al.*, 2016; Zhang *et al.*, 2017). Rodents are considered fully mature adults when they reach 3 months of age (Flurkey et al. 2007), and in the hypothalamus, the organisation and final maturation of the glia and neuronal circuits continue for, at least, 1 month after birth (Bitsch and Schiebler 1979; Padilla, Carmody, and Zeltser 2010).

Therefore, in order to identify the location and of the hypothalamic adult neural stem cell/progenitor niche, the present study focuses on fully adult animals, older than 3 months of age. This study demonstrates that the parenchymal region surrounding the 3V wall harbours adult proliferative cells, and their proliferative capacity continues in the adult and ageing brain (**Figure 6.3**). These proliferative cells appear restricted to the Arc nucleus and the ME, with scarce BrdU+ staining lining the 3V. The relative and spatial distribution of BrdU+ cells in the hypothalamic compartments was comparable to previous reports despite the different labelling routes and length of treatments employed (Bless et al. 2014; Djogo et al. 2016; Kokoeva, Yin, and Flier 2005; Lee et al. 2014; Li et al. 2012; Robins, Trudel, et al. 2013; Robins, Villemain, et al. 2013).

Besides, the results showed rare proliferating cells in the ependymal layer of the 3V of young, middle-aged and old animals, similarly to results obtained in rodents older than 2 months (Niels Haan et al. 2013; Kokoeva et al. 2007; Matsuzaki et al. 2015; Pierce and Xu 2010; Robins, Villemain, et al. 2013). The scarce amount of cycling cells observed lining 3V wall suggests that the ependymal layer contains non-proliferative and/or slow-cycling cells, in agreement with previous reports that classified tanycytes as a slow-cycling cell population, containing non-dividing as well as proliferative subtypes with long cell cycles ranging 9 to 15 days (Haan *et al.*, 2013; Robins *et al.*, 2013).

Interestingly, lineage tracing studies in adult mice using Prss56^{Cre/+} Rosa26^{tdTom/+} found that a2 tanycytes can migrate into the parenchyma in physiological conditions and upon mitogenic stimulation (Jourdon et al. 2016). Also, it has been suggested that tanycytes proliferation is not restricted to the ependymal compartment, and upon departure of the ependymal layer, they can remain undifferentiated and continue to divide within the neighbouring parenchyma. In support of this notion, Haan et al., found pairs of BrdU+/ β Gal+ cells in close contact within the hypothalamic parenchyma of Fgf10^{nLacZ} brains of postnatal mice, suggesting that a subset of parenchymal cycling cells might be tanycytes in origin. In the hypothalamus, Fgf10 expression is restricted to β 1 and β 2 tanycytes (Hajihosseini et al. 2008), and the use of Fgf10^{nLacZ} transgenic mice enables their transient lineage tracing (Niels Haan et al. 2013). However, experiments presented in this chapter using the Fgf10^{nLacZ} animal model and the same BrdU labelling paradigm than Haan et al. failed to show BrdU/BGal co-localisation, either lining the 3V or in the parenchymal region, with the only difference that this study was performed in adult animals. Therefore, the results suggested that the adult parenchymal cycling cells are not derived from tanycytes, at least not Fgf10+, supporting the notion that adult tanycytes are either non-dividing or slow-dividing cells. The use of additional lineage tracing transgenic mice for other tanycytes subtypes would help to assess this possibility.

The regional enrichment of the BrdU+ cells is particularly important given the unique anatomical relationship of the hypothalamus with the BBB, where the ME and the mediobasal region of the Arc nucleus are located outside the BBB (Yulyaningsih et al. 2017), allowing the cells contained in these regions to sense and respond to a variety to blood-borne molecules. Remarkably, in the hypothalamus, BrdU incorporation can be modulated by dietary changes (Gouazé et al. 2013b; D. A. Lee et al. 2012; Lee et al. 2014; Li et al. 2012; McNay et al. 2012), hormonal levels (Ahmed et al. 2008), and voluntary exercise (Niwa et al. 2016). Finally, a similar connection between the NSC and the vasculature has been observed in the hippocampal niche, where studies highlighted a role of the vascular context in the regulation of adult neurogenesis (Kokovay et al. 2010; Palmer, Willhoite, and Gage 2000; Shen et al. 2004). Thus, the anatomical location of the proliferative niche in the hypothalamus suggested that these cells are able to sense and respond to different environmental and peripheral cues.

Environmental conditions may therefore have a crucial role in the modulation of hypothalamic proliferation, neurogenesis and gliogenesis.

6.4.3. The co-localisation studies suggested that the identity and fate of the parenchymal proliferating is predominantly glia (oligodendrocytes and microglia)

BrdU incorporation combination with assays can be used in immunohistochemistry (Houck and Loken 1985), making it feasible to determine the identity of the proliferative cells. Co-localisation studies with different neuronal and glial cells markers, including Olig2 (OL lineage marker), Iba1 (microglia), S100β (astrocytes), GFAP (astrocytes) and NeuN (mature neurons) were performed. Also, different transgenic models were employed to assess BrdU co-localisation with Fgf10+ tanycytes and derived cells (Fgf10-nLacZ), and Npy- and Pomc-expressing neurons (Npy-GFP and Pomc-GFP, respectively).

According to the results presented in this chapter, the majority of the parenchymal proliferative cells have glial Identity: 45 – 50% BrdU+ cells expressed the transcriptional factor Olig2, and 30 – 35% expressed the microglial marker Iba1. However, Olig2+ and Iba1+ are not the only proliferating populations, as they together accounted only for the 80% of the proliferating cells. Thus, the identity of the remaining proliferating cells remains unidentified, although their identity could be inferred due to their location. As an example, some BrdU+ could be pericytes and/or endothelial cells from blood vessels, as previous reports indicated (Robins, Trudel, et al. 2013; Robins, Villemain, et al. 2013). Confirmation by the use of specific markers such as CD13 for pericytes, or CD31 for endothelial cells, may help to answer this question.

Olig2 is a universal oligodendrocyte lineage marker (Valério-Gomes et al. 2018), expressed by progenitors (OPC) and maturing OLs. In line with the findings presented in this chapter, previous BrdU labelling studies identified that more than two-thirds of the BrdU+ cells in the adult hypothalamus co-express NG2, a specific OPC marker (Robins, Trudel, et al. 2013). More than 90% of NG2 cells co-express Olig2 in the brain, in contrast, only 18% of the Olig2+ cell population expressed NG2 (Ligon et al. 2006); however, when Olig2 expression is examined in proliferating cells, the ratio of Olig2+

proliferating cells was almost the same as the ratio of NG2+ proliferating cells (Mori et al. 2009). Thus, the different proportion of cycling OPCs observed in this study and Robins *et al.* could be due that NG2 expression, but not Olig2, is detected in pericytes associated with blood vessels (Ligon et al. 2006).

In addition, NG2-glia is highly regenerative and can undergo multiple self-renewal divisions and, in the hypothalamus is able to differentiate into mature OL (CC1+, RIP1+), pericytes (CD13+) and a small subset of neurons (DCX+, HuC/D+, NeuN+, NPY+, POMC+, Tuj1+; Kokoeva, Yin and Flier, 2007; Li, Tang and Cai, 2012; Robins, Trudel, *et al.*, 2013).

The present study also identified the Iba1+ microglia, as the second proliferative population in the adult hypothalamus. In addition to this study, another two reports identified proliferating microglia in the hypothalamus (Djogo et al. 2016; Pérez-Martín et al. 2010). Interestingly, microglia proliferation has been reported in different regions of the mammalian CNS following its experimental depletion (Bruttger, Karram, Wörtge, et al. 2015; Lloyd et al. 2019; Renee et al. 2015). Genetic ablation of microglia in adult mice revealed that these cells are able to self-renew, proliferate and rapidly repopulate the region of the CNS inspected (Bruttger, Karram, Prinz, et al. 2015). Thus, the results suggest that the hypothalamic parenchyma hosts a microglial progenitor pool, capable of self-renewal and, possibly, able to generate new microglia across the mouse lifespan.

Regarding the neuronal identity of the proliferating cells, this study failed to identify colocalisation of BrdU+ cells with the neuronal markers NeuN, Npy and Pomc; however, the possibility that new neurons are generated in the adult hypothalamus cannot be rejected. First, although NeuN is a widely employed marker to identify mature neurons, not all differentiated neurons express NeuN (Mullen, Buck, and Smith 1992; Weyer and Schilling 2003). Also, the hypothalamus contains multiple neuronal types that are distinct from NPY neurons and POMC neurons (Campbell et al. 2017). Thus, the absence of NeuN, Npy and Pomc expression in new-born hypothalamic cells does not preclude that these cycling cells lack neurogenic potential, as they may generate a different cohort of neurons. The use of additional neuronal markers should help resolve this question. Second, the length of the BrdU treatment (15 days) may not be long enough for progenitors to differentiate into neurons, given that evidence following experimental ablation suggested that the time needed to terminal neuronal differentiation in the hypothalamus seems to be longer than 10 days (Yulyaningsih et al. 2017). Indeed, adultborn cells in the hypothalamus failed to express the mature neuronal markers Tuj1, NeuN and HuC/D two weeks after BrdU ICV infusion; however, BrdU+ co-localisation with Tuj1+ and HuC/D+, but not NeuN, was observed 7 weeks post-ICV BrdU infusion (Kokoeva et al. 2007). Earlier studies from the same group also identified several BrdU+ cells expressing HuC/D+, Tuj1+ and the neuropeptides NPY or POMC characteristic of hypothalamic neurons in CNTF-treated animals 42 days after BrdU ICV infusion (Kokoeva et al. 2005). In agreement with this findings, the number of adult-born cells with neuronal fate in the hypothalamus (NeuN, POMC, NPY) increased when the BrdUlabelled cells were chased for longer periods (greater than 20 days after treatment; (Gouazé et al. 2013b; Li et al. 2012; Matsuzaki et al. 2009; Xu et al. 2005). Therefore, longer treatments and/or longer tracing time should help resolved if progenitor cells residing within the hypothalamic parenchyma could differentiate into neurons that integrate the hypothalamic circuitry. Third, some of the previous evidence indicates that the neurogenic potential of the hypothalamic progenitors may be lower in adult rodents, given that new-born cells with neuronal fate were hardly observed in rats older than 3 months (Matsuzaki et al. 2015). Also, lineage-tracing studies with NG2-CreER^{T2}:R26^{tdTom} found that over 60 days following induction, a minority (0.54%) of NeuN+ neurons in the adult hypothalamus have been derived from NG2-glia (Robins, Trudel, et al. 2013). Together, this evidence suggested that new-born neurons may represent a very small fraction of the hypothalamic adult-born cells, making them mostly undetectable with the methods used in this study.

As an alternative indicator for adult neurogenesis to BrdU incorporation, the expression of the immature neuronal marker DCX in the adult hypothalamus was assessed. In contrast to NeuN, DCX is transiently expressed in early postmitotic neurons, but not in mature neurons (Brown et al. 2003). Indeed, some BrdU+/DCX+ cells in the adult hypothalamus can be observed around 11 – 15 days post-BrdU infusion; early before than co-localisation with NeuN is detected (Kokoeva et al. 2007; Matsuzaki et al. 2009). However, the results present in this chapter failed to detect convincing DCX expression in the adult hypothalamus, suggesting that either very little new-born neurons are being produced or that new-born hypothalamic neurons express DCX at relatively low levels and therefore might have escaped detection.

Finally, the results suggested that adult hypothalamic astrocytes are either quiescent or have very long cycles, as adult born GFAP+ astrocytes were scarce and only observed in the aged group. Also, co-localisation of S100 β with BrdU was observed in the three age groups; however, BrdU+/S100 β + cells also expressed Olig2+, thus suggesting they belong to the OL linage. Although S100 β is an alleged astrocytic marker, its expression is upregulated in OPC, as well as immature and mature OLs (Hachem et al. 2005).

6.4.4. The proliferation in the hypothalamus declines with increasing age

Although new-born cells are continuously produced throughout life in discrete regions of the CNS, a significant decline in neurogenesis been reported with advancing age (Kuhn, Dickinson-Anson, and Gage 1996; Lazarov and Marr 2013; Tang et al. 2009). In the hypothalamus, a decline in parenchymal progenitor proliferation has been reported in aged rats. The same study also found that not only progenitor cell proliferation was decreased, but survival and maturation of the new-born cells were also impaired in the aged hypothalamus (Matsuzaki *et al.*, 2015).

The hypothalamic proliferation, measured by the number of BrdU+ cells, declines significantly and gradually with increasing age (Figure 6.7 – A). Also, the decline affected both progenitor populations, Olig2+ and Iba1+ Figure 6.7 - B, C). The decreased proliferation rate observed leaded to speculate that (1) hypothalamic parenchymal progenitors may be lost gradually during ageing; (2) progenitor cell cycle times increase significantly with advancing age or a subpopulation of the parenchymal progenitors became senescent; (3) hypothalamic progenitor responsiveness to stimulating environmental factors decreases with age and/or (4) these environmental factors decrease or disappear with age and/or inhibitory factors appear or accumulate with age. In support of (1, 2), previous reports associated the age-related accumulation of damaged proteins resulting in a reduction in the NSC proliferation rate (Vilchez, Saez, and Dillin 2014). Also, studies in the mouse demonstrate that OPC cycle times increase significantly in cortex and corpus callosum with age (Psachoulia et al. 2009). Finally, DNA damage, oxidative stress and telomerase shortening have been proposed as a mechanism for the ageing-induced deterioration of stem cell functions, including mitotic potential (Back et al. 2001; Balaban et al. 2005; Schultz and Sinclair 2016; Sharpless and DePinho 2007).

In support of (3, 4), previous studies have shown that hypothalamic proliferation can be modulated by a range of trophic factors, such as BDNF, IGF, CNTF, and FGFs (Jourdon et al. 2016; Kokoeva et al. 2005; Pencea et al. 2001; Pérez-Martín et al. 2010; Robins, Stewart, et al. 2013; Xu et al. 2005). Consistent with these observations, inhibition of the IGF-1 pathway significantly delayed the age-related decline of hypothalamic neurogenesis (Chaker et al. 2016). Also, hypothalamic neurogenesis is known to be highly sensitive to nutrition and metabolic status of the animal nutrition (Gouazé et al. 2013b; D. A. Lee et al. 2012; Lee et al. 2014; Li et al. 2012; McNay et al. 2006; Niwa et al. 2016). Therefore, it can be speculated that age-related environmental and nutrient factors can influence and/or underlie the decline in proliferation observed with aged hypothalamus.

6.4.5. The age-related decline in the number of proliferative cells affects the Olig2+ and Iba1+ populations equally

This study reported an age-related decrease in hypothalamic proliferation, that could be associated with reductions in the number of new-born OLs (Olig2+) and microglia (lba1+) cells, and possibly, other neural cell types.

OPC proliferation and differentiation is essential for maintaining CNS myelination throughout life (Franklin and Ffrench-Constant 2008). However, studies in aged mice have observed that the OPC have a diminished ability to self-renew and to differentiate, causing a reduction in oligodendrogenesis (Neumann et al. 2019; Psachoulia et al. 2009). In the hypothalamus, OPCs seem to hold a critical role in preserving the axonal tracts, as permanent neuronal processes impairment has been observed after short-term OPC elimination (Djogo et al. 2016). However, only one study reported this, and further investigation will be required to confirm the NG2-glia role in neuronal processes maintenance. Taking all together, the decline in OPC proliferation could lead to a reduced number of new-born OLs, myelin defects and axonal damage in the hypothalamus with age.

Together with OPC decline, microglia proliferation was also reduced in the aged hypothalamus. As mentioned in the introduction, microglia are the resident macrophages in the CNS and mediate immunity and inflammation by producing and releasing a range of inflammatory mediators (Clarke et al. 2018; Colombo and Farina 2016; Valdearcos et al. 2017). In humans and mice, the microglia population homeostasis is maintained during the lifetime by the spatial and temporal coupling of proliferation and cell death (Askew et al. 2017; Renee et al. 2015). Therefore, according to the results presented here, turnover dynamics and homeostasis of the microglia population could be affected in the aged hypothalamus.

7. Myelin dynamics in the ageing hypothalamus

7.1. Introduction

Myelin is a special type of membrane composed mainly of lipids and a few protein components. Myelin primarily function consists in enwrapping axons, insulating them and allowing an energy-efficient saltatory transmission of the action potentials. In addition, myelin is involved in axonal maintenance by covering and protecting target axons from any damage and degeneration (Aggarwal et al. 2011).

Biochemical analysis of myelin composition identified a high lipidic content (73 – 83%), with enrichment of glycosphingolipids (galactosylceramide and sulfatide) and plasmalogens. The major protein constituents are the myelin basic protein (MBP; 30% total protein fraction), and the proteolipid protein (PLP; 50%), that hold structural function by stabilising and compacting myelin membranes (Baron and Hoekstra 2010). Additional myelin proteins include the myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein (MOG), myelin-associated glycoprotein (MAG), myelin-associated oligodendrocyte basic protein (MOBP), and 2',3'-cyclic nucleotide phosphodiesterase (CNP). Although MOG, MAG, MOBP and CNP are associated with myelin, they lack a primarily structural function (Morell and Quarles 1999; Nakamura et al. 1996).

The MBP gene encodes different isoforms, with molecular weights ranging from 14 to 21.5 KDa in rodents (Akiyama et al. 2002), which appear to localise to different microdomains in the myelin membrane (Boggs 2006; DeBruin et al. 2006). Likewise, the PLP gene also encodes different isoforms, PLP with structural function, and DM20, that seems to assist the trafficking of PLP (Sinoway et al. 1994). Strikingly, although both MBP and PLP are structural proteins, MBP is the only protein essential for myelin formation, with myelination still occurring in the PLP-null mice, although the myelin stability decreases over time (Boggs 2006; Klugmann et al. 1997).

In the CNS, the different myelin proteins are produced by the OLs, a specialised type of glial cells. These glial cells suffer a terminal differentiation staged process, from progenitors (OPC) to post-mitotic pre-myelinating OLs (pre-OL), and then into myelinating OLs (Emery 2010). The terminal differentiation of OPCs is essential for the synthesis of the different myelin components and, the different stages are controlled by the expression of certain proteins that can be used as markers to study the process. However, in the CNS the master regulator of OPC differentiation has not been yet

identified and, the axonal signals identified are primarily inhibitory of OPC differentiation (Piaton, Gould, and Lubetzki 2010; Taveggia, Feltri, and Wrabetz 2010).

With the onset of myelin synthesis, terminally differentiated OLs must organise the delivery of different components to the growing myelin sheath. The myelin components are transported to the OL projections terminals where they assemble and organise the myelin sheath surrounding target axons. The myelin components are expressed in a timely fashion and transported to the growing myelin sheath by different mechanisms. After its biosynthesis, the myelin protein PLP is sorted and transported in vesicles to the OL projections, before reaching the myelin sheath (Sinoway et al. 1994). In marked contrast, the Mbp mRNA is trafficked away from the cell body to the oligodendrocyte projections, where it is translated 'on-site' and inserted within the myelin membrane (Barbarese et al. 1999).

The Mbp mRNA transport relies on microtubules, and different RNA-binding motor proteins are involved: the vast kinesin family and single cytosolic dynein that binds the dynactin activator (Barbarese et al. 1999; Baron and Hoekstra 2010). Previous studies in zebrafish identified the kinesin Kif1b as an essential member for the anterograde Mbp transport. Kif1b mutants showed a disrupted Mbp transport, causing Mbp to accumulate in the OL perikaryon, where it is locally translated (Lyons et al. 2009). At the same time, the Kif1B mutant presented ectopic myelin-like membranes in processes that did not ensheath axonal processes (Lyons et al. 2009). Similar to Kif1b mutants, mutations in the retrograde motor complex dynein/dynactin resulted in arrested Mbp transport and defective myelination in zebrafish and mammalian OL primary cultures (Herbert et al. 2017). In humans, mutations in the kinesin Kif1b and dynein genes have been linked with susceptibility to MS (Aulchenko et al. 2008), and are known to cause Charcot-Marie-Tooth (CMT), both demyelinating diseases (Gentil and Cooper 2012).

Importantly, loss of myelin is a hallmark of the ageing brain, although differences in the magnitude of decline have been observed across different brain regions (Bowley et al. 2010; Peters 2002; Peters et al. 2000; Sandell and Peters 2001; Wang et al. 2020; Xing et al. 2012). Also, impairment of OPC proliferation, recruitment and differentiation into myelinating OLs have been reported with age (Psachoulia et al. 2009; Sim et al. 2002). Consequently, given that myelin enwraps axons to facilitate neuronal transmission and protect them from damage, the loss of myelin could lead to defective neuronal

communication and, ultimately, axonal degeneration with increasing age. Therefore, following the changes in myelin gene expression in the ageing hypothalamus reported in *Chapter 4*, the next step was to investigate if myelination defects occur in the hypothalamus with age.

7.2. Aims

- Characterise the myelination pattern in the hypothalamus during ageing and identify any age-related changes with age.
- Investigate the myelin-axon relationship in the ageing hypothalamus and identify any age-related changes in axonal integrity.
- Study the expression levels of the proteins involved in the transport of myelin components to target axons in the ageing hypothalamus.
- Study the OL number and the process of terminal differentiation from OPC to mature-myelinating OLs in the ageing hypothalamus.

7.3. Results

7.3.1. The myelination pattern in the hypothalamus is maintained with age, although differences in the myelin microstructure are observed with advancing age

Given that transcriptomic data presented in *Chapter 4* showed an age-related upregulation of myelin-related genes in the hypothalamus, the next step was to investigate the effects on the myelination in the hypothalamus. To do so, the myelination pattern in the hypothalamus was characterised using immunohistochemistry for MBP in brain sections of young adult (2 – 6 months old), middle-aged (10 – 12 months old) and old (18 – 25 months) mice, with a minimum of 5 animals per age group; between bregma positions -1.22 to -2.46 mm.

Results showed a region-specific myelination pattern in the hypothalamus, as evidenced by detection of dense MBP+ fibers in the ME and the ventral region of the Arc nucleus. In contrast, the dorsal part of the Arc nucleus and the periventricular regions were practically devoid of myelinated fibres (**Figure 7.1**, A - C and D - F). This region-specific pattern is maintained during ageing, with high MBP density observed in the Arc-ME of young, middle-aged and old mice. Then, given that our results indicated that the Arc-ME are highly myelinated areas, the next step was to investigate the microstructure of the myelin in those areas. To do so, high power magnifications of MBP immunostaining in the MBH were obtained. Results for young animals showed a continuous MBP staining resembling to fibres with multidirectional orientation. In contrast with the continuous meshwork of the MBP+ fibres observed in the young animals, MBP staining showed a disrupted appearance in middle-aged and old animals (**Figure 7.2**). In addition to the disrupted pattern, myelin circumferences were observed in the Arc-ME of old mice.

To assess if the aberrant pattern also was observed in extra-hypothalamic regions, the corpus callous was analysed for MBP expression. Results failed to show the abnormal MBP labelling observed in the MBH, thus suggesting that the age-related aberrant pattern is specific to the MBH (**Figure S 7**).

In conclusion, although the localisation of the myelinated areas in the hypothalamus is maintained during ageing, defects in the myelin microstructure are associated with age progression.









Figure 7.2. Age-related morphological changes in MBP expression in the ME and the ventral part of the Arc. (A) Representative image of MBH section with nuclear staining Hoechst (white). Dashed boxes outline the location ME, Arc and VMN regions at bregma - 1.82 mm referred in the following images. (B, C, D) Representative images of ME stained for MBP (white) in young (B), middle-aged (C) and old (D) animals showed an age-related MBP+ circumferences. (B', C', D') Representative images of Arc stained for MBP (white) in young (B'), middle-aged (C') and old (D') animals showed an age-related MBP disrupted and circular staining. (D'', C'', D') Representative images of VMN stained for MBP (white) in young (B''), middle-aged (C') and old (D'') animals showed no age-related MBP differential staining and the aberrant myelin figures in the Arc-ME are not detected. Bregma position is approximated. Dashed lines outline 3V. Representative images of a minimum of 4 animals analysed per age-group. Scale bar 25 μm. 3V – third ventricle. Arc – Arcuate nucleus. ME – median eminence. VMN – Ventromedial nucleus.

7.3.2. MBP and Olig2 co-labelling indicates ectopic expression in the oligodendrocytes perikaryon of aged animals

Following the striking observations with MBP labelling, the next step was to investigate the relationship of MBP fibres with OLs in the Arc-ME. To do so, immunostaining for Olig2 and MBP was performed in was performed in 6 - 8 brain sections of young (n = 4), middle-aged (n = 3) and old (n = 3) animals, between bregma -1.58 mm to -2.3 mm. Results for young animals showed Olig2+ nuclei close to MBP+ fibres; however, co-localisation of both markers was hardly detected (Figure 7.3, A, A'). The same pattern was observed in middle-aged animals (Figure 7.3, B, B'). However, in the aged group, Olig2+ nuclei are often surrounded by MBP+ circumferences structures (Figure 7.3, C, C'), suggesting that MBP accumulates in the perikaryon of OL of aged animals.

In conclusion, the MBP staining observed in the perinuclear region could be a signal of ectopic deposition and aberrant myelination process that occurs in the MBH with age.



Figure 7.3. MBP expression is detected in the perinuclear region of Olig2+ cells in old animals. (A, B, C) Representative images of ME stained for MBP (red) and the nuclear marker Olig2 (green) in young (A), middle-aged (B) and old (C) animals. (B', C', D') Representative images of Arc nucleus stained for MBP (red) and Olig2 (green) in young (A), middle-aged (B) and old (C) animals. In the ME and Arc of old animals, some MBP staining enwrap Olig2+ nucleus (white arrows) while others do not (asterisks). Representative images of a minimum of 3 animals analysed per age group. Scale bar 12 µm.

7.3.3. Myelin-axon relationship in the Arc-ME is affected with age

Given that myelin is involved in axonal maintenance by covering and protecting axons from damage and degeneration, the next step was to investigate the relationship between myelin and axonal tracts in the MBH. To do so, co-immunostaining for MBP and the axonal neurofilaments (NFs) was performed in 6 - 8 brain sections of young, middle-aged and old animals (n = 3 per age group), between bregma -1.58 mm to -2.3 mm. Results showed NF+ axons orientated in different directions and co-localisation with MBP was observed in the Arc-ME (Figure 7.4).

Then, to investigate microstructural changes in the myelin-axon relationship with age, high power magnifications of MBP and NF immunostaining in the Arc-ME were obtained. Results for young adults showed NF+ axonal tracts in cross-section surrounded by MBP staining (**Figure 7.5**, A - A''). The middle-aged group showed the same pattern observed in young animals; however, MBP+ circumferences filled or partially filled by NF signal were observed in the ME (**Figure 7.5**, B - B''). In old animals, the MBP+ structures were detected widespread in the Arc and ME and were mainly devoid of NF labelling (**Figure 5.12**, C - C''), thus suggesting that ectopic myelin-like membranes are not enwrapping axonal tracts.



Figure 7.4. Co-immunostaining for MBP and NF in the Arc nucleus and the ME. (A – A", C – C", E – E") Representative images of ME stained for MBP (red) and the NF (green) in young, middle-aged and old animals. (B – B", D – D", F – F") Representative images of Arc nucleus stained for MBP (red) and NF (green) in young, middle-aged and old animals. Representative images of 3 animals analysed per age-group. Scale bar 25 μ m.



Figure 7.5. Axonal tracts immunolabeled for MBP and NF in the ME revealed age-related defects. (A, B, C) Representative images of ME stained for MBP (red) and the NF (green) in young (A – A"), middle-aged (B – B") and old (C – C") animals. In old animals, some MBP+ circumferences are filled by NF signal (white arrows) while others are devoid of NF staining (asterisks). Representative images of a minimum of 3 animals analysed per age group. Scale bar 12 μ m

7.3.4. Expression of proteins involved in axonal stability in the aged hypothalamus

Lastly, given that myelination pattern changes with age in the hypothalamus, the axonal integrity was investigated in this region. Since visualisation of full-length axonal tracts was unachievable with the available methods, the expression of proteins involved in axonal stability and maintenance was investigated instead. To do so, the protein levels of β III-tubulin (TUBB3) and NFM were assessed via western blot in hypothalamic extracts of young, middle-aged and old animals (*n* = 6 per age group).

Results for TUBB3 showed that the antibody detected a band of 55 KDa (Figure 7.6, A), and densitometric analysis of the 55 KDa showed no differences with age. (Figure 7.6, B). For NF, the antibody detected a multi banded pattern corresponding to the neurofilament medium isoform (NFM, 145 – 160 KDa) and additional lower and higher molecular weight weaker bands (Figure 7.6, C). Densitometric analysis of the NFM band revealed a significant decrease in the expression in old animals (Figure 7.6, D). In summary, the NFM protein levels showed decreased expression with age, while TUBB3 expression is maintained during ageing.



Figure 7.6. Expression of the neuronal cytoskeleton markers TUBB3 and NF in the ageing hypothalamus. (A) Representative image of immunoblot for TUBB3 and the loading control β -ACTIN. TUBB3 runs at an approximated MW of 55 KDa. (B) Comparison of densitometric analysis of TUBB3 relative to the loading control showed no significant changes with age. (C) Representative image of immunoblot for NF and the loading control β -ACTIN. NFM runs at MW of 145 – 160 KDa, approximated. (C) Comparison of densitometric analysis of NFM relative to the loading control showed a significant decline in the old group compared to the young animals. The letters above the immunoblot lanes refer to the different age groups, young adult as Y, middle-aged as M and old as O. Numbers indicate bands of the molecular weight marker used as a size standard (KDa). Data is represented as mean ±SEM and a minimum of 6 animals per age group were analysed. All significance testing was performed using one-way ANOVA followed by Tukey post-hoc test (*p<0.05).

7.3.5. The expression of motor proteins involved in the transport of Mbp is decreased in the aged hypothalamus

As described in *Chapter 4*, transcriptomic analysis showed an age-related decrease in RNA levels of the kinesin Kif1b and dynein Dync1h1, involved in Mbp transport from OL cell body to target axons. However, since mRNA levels do not always correlate with functional protein level, an alternative approach was used to confirm the transcriptomic results. To do so, the protein levels of KIF1B and DYNC1H1 were analysed via western blot in hypothalamic extracts of young, middle-aged and old animals (n = 6 per age group).

Results for KIF1B showed that the antibody detected a band of 204 KDa corresponding to the predicted size of the protein and, an additional band with lower molecular weight (Figure 7.7, A). Densitometric analysis of the 204 KDa showed lower KIF1B expression in the old group, compared to young and middle-aged animals (Figure 7.7, B). For DYNC1H1, the antibody detected a high molecular weight band of 520 KDa, approximated (Figure 7.7, C). Densitometric analysis of showed lower DYNC1H1 expression in the old group, compared to middle-aged (Figure 7.7, D).

In summary, the expression of RNA-binding motor proteins KIF1B and DYNC1H1 is decreased in aged animals.



Figure 7.7. Age-related changes in the levels of KIF1B and DYNC1H1 in the hypothalamus. (A) Representative image of immunoblot for KIF1B and the loading control β -ACTIN. KIF1B runs at an approximated MW of 204 KDa. (B) Comparison of densitometric analysis of KIF1B relative to the loading control showed a significant age-related decline with age. (C) Representative image of immunoblot for DYNC1H1 and the loading control β -ACTIN. DYNC1H1 runs at an approximated MW of 530 KDa. (C) Comparison of densitometric analysis of DYNC1H1 relative to the loading control showed a significant decline in the old group compared to the middle-aged animals. The letters above the immunoblot lanes refer to the different age groups, young adult (Y), middle-aged (M) and old (O). Numbers indicate bands of the molecular weight marker used as standard (KDa). The column colours in the graph represent the three age groups: young adult (black), middle-age (dark grey) and old (light grey). Data is represented as mean ±SEM and a minimum of 6 animals per age group were analysed. All significance testing was performed using one-way ANOVA followed by Tukey post-hoc test (*p<0.05).

7.3.6. Oligodendrocyte number increases with age in the ME region

Next, given that the myelination pattern is affected in the hypothalamus with age, the next step was to investigate differences in the OL population during ageing. To do so, the distribution and density of OL was mapped in the MBH, using immunohistochemistry for Olig2 or APC (clone CC1) in 10 - 12 brain sections from young adult, middle-aged and old mice (n = 4 animals per age group). The analysis was performed between bregma -1.58 mm to -2.3 mm. The nuclear marker Olig2 is expressed at all stages of OL differentiation. To better characterise the myelinating OL subtype, CC1 was used as an additional marker to label specifically mature OL cell bodies. Thus, the use of the two markers allowed the characterisation OL at different differentiation stages (**Figure 7.8**).

Immunostaining for Olig2 revealed positive nuclei evenly distributed throughout the hypothalamic parenchyma, with greater concentration in the basal region of the Arc and the ME (Figure 7.9). The distribution was maintained during ageing, as observed in young, middle-aged and old animals. Coinciding with Olig2, CC1+ cells were also scattered in the hypothalamus with a higher concentration observed in the basal region of the Arc and the Arc and the ME. Likewise, CC1 distribution was maintained with age (Figure 7.10). As a control, the CC was immunolabelled for CC1, and positive cells were observed in the region (Figure S 8).

In addition to defining the OL distribution, Olig2+ and CC1+ cell number was also quantified in the ME. Figure 7.11 shows that both Olig2+ and CC1+ cells increase in number with age. Also, given that Olig2 is a universal OL marker while CC1 is specific to the mature OL subtype, Olig2+ cells outnumbered CC1+ cells in the hypothalamus of young adults (17 ± 0.86 Olig2+ cells vs 8.33 ± 1.20 CC1+ cells), middle-aged (23.98 ± 0.60 Olig2+ cells vs 12.00 ± 1.73 CC1+ cells) and old mice (26.07 ± 0.68 Olig2+ cells vs 16.00 ± 0.58 CC1+ cells) (Figure 7.11, C).

In conclusion, OLs (Olig2+ and CC1+) are evenly distributed throughout the hypothalamus with a higher density in the ME, where OL accumulate with age.


Figure 7.8. Immunostaining for the oligodendrocyte markers Olig2 and CC1 in the hypothalamus. (A-A", B-B"). Representative images of the ME immunolabelled for Olig2 (green) and CC1 (red). The nuclear expression of Olig2 can be detected in all stages of OL differentiation, while CC1 labels specifically mature OL cell bodies. Images are representative of the results obtained for 4 animals analysed per age group. Scale bar 25 μ m.



Figure 7.9. Oligodendrocytes showed a scattered pattern in the hypothalamus parenchyma with a higher density in the ME. (A-C) Representative images of the MBH for Olig2 (green) and Hoechst (blue) immunochemistry of young adult (A) middle-aged (B) and old (C) mice at bregma -1.7 mm. High power of the Arc nucleus (A', B', C') and ME (A", B", C") in young (A', A"), middle-aged (B', B") and old animals (C', C"). (D-F) Representative images of the MBH for Olig2 (white) staining of young adult (D) middle-aged (E) and old mice (F) at bregma -2.06 mm. Dashed lines outline the borders of the hypothalamus and the 3V. Scale bar 50 µm.



Figure 7.10. Mature oligodendrocytes showed higher density in the ME. (A-C) Representative images of the MBH for CC1 (white) immunochemistry of young adult (A) middle-aged (B) and old (C) mice at bregma -1.7 mm. High power of the Arc nucleus (A', B', C') and ME (A", B", C") in young (A', A"), middle-aged (B', B") and old animals (C', C"), showed an age-related increase of CC1+ cells in the ME. (D-F) Representative images of the ME for CC1 (white) staining of young adult (D) middle-aged (E) and old (F) mice at bregma -1.82 mm. Dashed lines outline the borders of the hypothalamus and the 3V. Scale bar (A – A", B – B", C – C") 50 µm. Scale bar (D' – F'), 25 µm.



Figure 7.11. Age-related increase of Olig2+ and CC1+ cells in the ME. (A) Number of Olig2+ cells in the ME per square of area defined as Olig2+ cells per mm² in young-adults (black column), middle-aged (dark grey) and old animals (light grey). (B) Number of CC1+ cells in the ME per square of area defined as CC1+ cells per mm² in young-adults (black column), middle-aged (dark grey) and old animals (light grey). Data is represented as mean \pm SEM and 4 animals per age group were quantified for both markers. All significance testing was performed using one-way ANOVA followed by Tukey post-hoc (*p<0.05, **p<0.01, ***p<0.001).

7.3.7. Mature oligodendrocyte markers are normally expressed in the hypothalamus during ageing, suggesting the oligodendrocyte differentiation process is not impaired

Given that the terminal OPC differentiation to mature myelinating OLs is essential for myelin production, the OL differentiation process was investigated in the ageing hypothalamus. The OL differentiation is a multi-step process divided into three main stages: the OPC, the pre-myelinating and the mature myelinating OLs, which is defined by the expression of different markers. To gain a better understanding of the OL differentiation process, Olig2 was used as a pan-marker for OLs (**Figure 7.8**), while NG2 for OPC and CNP for pre-myelinating OL stages. To cover the final stage of the differentiation process, the transcriptional factor MYRF and the myelin proteins PLP and MBP as mature markers were chosen (**Figure 7.12**). The level of all markers was analysed via western blot in hypothalamic extracts of young, middle-aged and old animals (n = 6 per age group).



Figure 7.12. Markers of oligodendrocyte lineage differentiation and maturation. The schematic shows progression from OPC to pre-OL and, then to myelinating OL. The expression of different OLs markers is indicated by coloured gradients. The marker Olig2 is expressed in all the stages. The expression of the chondroitin sulphate proteoglycan NG2 is detected in the OPC and the intermediate pre-OL stages. CNP (2',3'-cyclic nucleotide phosphodiesterase) is expressed in the intermediate pre-OL and in myelinating OL. Finally, CC1 (anti-adenomatous polyposis coli clone CC1), MYRF (myelin regulatory factor), PLP (myelin proteolipid protein) and MBP (myelin basic protein) expression is restricted to the mature myelinating type. OPC – oligodendrocyte progenitor cells. Pre-OL – pre-myelinating oligodendrocyte. OL – oligodendrocyte.

Western blot results for Olig2 showed that the antibody detected a distinct band of 32 KDa (Figure 7.13, A), and densitometric quantification showed no significant differences with age (Figure 7.13, B). As an early-stage marker, NG2 antibody recognised a high molecular weight band of 300 KDa, approximated (Figure 7.13, C). Densitometric analysis of the 300 KDa band revealed a significant decrease with age (Figure 7.13, D). For the pre-OL stage, CNP antibody detected a double band of 46 and 48 KDa (Figure 7.13, E) which expression remained unaffected with age (Figure 7.13, F).

For the mature stage, three makers were analysed, including the transcriptional factor MYRF and the structural myelin proteins PLP and MBP. For MYRF, densitometric quantification of the 123 KDa band (Figure 7.13, G) revealed a trend toward increase with age; however, the statistical analysis failed to show significant differences (Figure 7.13, H). Next, immunoblot for the PLP antibody detected two bands of 26 and 30 KDa, likely corresponding the DM20 and PLP isoforms (Figure 7.13, I), whose expression was not affected with age (Figure 7.13, J). Finally, the MBP antibody detected five bands with approximated molecular weights of 13, 14, 17, 18.5 and 21.5 KDa (Figure 7.13, K). Densitometric analysis revealed differential expression of some of the MBP isoforms with age. Results showed a decrease expression of the 21 KDa isoform (Figure 7.13, L), and an increase in the 13/14 KDa isoforms with age (Figure 7.13, N). However, the expression of the 17/18.5 KDa isoforms remained unaffected (Figure 7.13, M).

In summary, the expression of all the markers, including terminal differentiation markers, was observed in the hypothalamus, suggesting that OPC progression to mature OL is not disrupted in the hypothalamus with age. However, significant differences were observed for the OPC marker NG2 and, the terminal markers MYRF and MBP. Results showed that NG2 is decreased with age, MYRF expression is increased in aged animals and, the expression of the different MBP isoforms changes across the murine lifespan.



Figure 7.13. Age-related changes in the levels of different oligodendrocyte differentiation markers. (A) Representative image of immunoblot for Olig2 and the loading control B-ACTIN. OlgG2 runs at an approximated MW of 32 KDa. (B) Comparison of densitometric analysis of Olig2 relative to the loading control showed no age-related differences. (C) Representative image of immunoblot for NG2 and the loading control β-ACTIN. NG2 runs at an approximated MW of 300 KDa. (D) Comparison of densitometric analysis of NG2 relative to the loading control showed an age-related decrease in the protein level. (E) Representative image of immunoblot for CNP and the loading control GADPH. CNP is detected as a double band at 46 and 48 KDa. (F) Comparison of densitometric analysis of CNP relative to the loading control showed no age-related differences. (G) Representative image of immunoblot for MYRF and the loading control β -ACTIN. MYRF runs at an approximated MW of 123 KDa. (H) Comparison of densitometric analysis of MYRF relative to the loading control showed tendency to increase with age. (I) Representative image of immunoblot for PLP and the loading control β-ACTIN. PLP and its spliced isoform DM20 can be detected at 30 KDa and 26 KDa, respectively. (J) Comparison of densitometric analysis of PLP/DM20 relative to the loading control showed a tendency to increase with age. (K) Representative image of immunoblot for MBP and the loading control β -ACTIN. A total of five MBP spliced isoforms are detected with different MW: 13, 14, 17, 18.5 and 21.5 KDa. (L) Comparison of densitometric analysis of 21 KDa MBP isoform relative to the loading control showed a significant decline with age. (L) Comparison of densitometric analysis of 17/18.5 KDa MBP isoforms relative to the loading control showed no agerelated differences. (L) Comparison of densitometric analysis of 17/18.5 KDa MBP isoforms relative to the loading control showed a significant age-related increase. The letters above the immunoblot lanes refer to the different age groups, young adult (Y), middle-aged (M) and old (O). Numbers indicate bands of the molecular weight marker used as a size standard (KDa). The column colours in the graph represent the three age groups: young adult (black), middle-age (dark grey) and old (light grey). Data is represented as mean ±SEM and a minimum of 6 animals per age group were analysed. All significance testing was performed using one-way ANOVA followed by Tukey post-hoc test (*p<0.05).

7.4. Discussion

In healthy ageing, decline in neuronal functions has been linked to myelination defects, including myelin disruption, decreased expression in myelin proteins and changes in oligodendrocyte number (Psachoulia et al. 2009; Sim et al. 2002). However, the myelination pattern and the myelin dynamics in the hypothalamus throughout life remain unexplored. In this study, characterisation of the myelin pattern in young adult, middle-aged and old animals revealed that myelin microstructure in the MBH is impaired with age. Investigation of the myelin-producing cells showed an age-related increase in total and mature OL numbers. In addition to increase, hypothalamic OLs seem to retain their capacity to differentiate and are able to produce the major myelin components PLP and MBP throughout life. In contrast, the expression of the motor proteins KIF1B kinesin and DYNC1H1 dynein, involved in Mbp trafficking, are reduced in the aged hypothalamus. The loss of myelin could lead to defective neuronal connectivity and, ultimately, axonal degeneration with increasing age.

7.4.1. Age-related defects in the myelin microstructure in the mediobasal hypothalamus are associated to ectopic expression of MBP and inhibition of intracellular transport in oligodendrocytes

To characterise the myelin pattern in the hypothalamus and any age-related changes, in this study immunohistochemistry for MBP was performed in brain sections of young, middle-aged and old mice. MBP immunostaining allows for the rapid and efficient evaluation of age-related changes in myelin structure and is an excellent alternative approach to electron microscopy (Xing et al. 2012).

In the hypothalamus, MBP immunohistochemistry revealed relatively high densities of myelinated fibres in the basal Arc nucleus and the ME. The localisation of the myelinated axons in the hypothalamus was maintained across the lifespan, however, the integrity of myelin microstructure in the Arc-ME was affected with age. Myelin sheath disorganisation is first observed in middle-aged animals, although their frequency of occurrence increased with age. In line with these findings, the progressive loss of myelin and degeneration of myelinated nerve fibres has been extensively described in healthy ageing and in neurodegenerative diseases (Bartzokis 2011; Bowley et al. 2010; Braak

and Del Tredici 2004; Peters 2002; Peters et al. 2000; Sandell and Peters 2001; Wang et al. 2020; Xing et al. 2012). Also, the capacity to replace lost or damaged myelin progressively declines as animals grow older (Ibanez et al. 2003).

In the current study, myelin microstructure defects included myelin circumferences in the Arc-ME of aged animals that were never present in the young group. The aberrant myelin pattern could be a consequence of ectopic expression of myelin proteins and/or redundant myelin production, that lead to the formation of myelin-like membranes that do not ensheath axons. In support of this hypothesis, MBP expression was observed surrounding Olig2+ nuclei, in contrast to previous reports where this protein is restricted to myelinating processes (R. M. Gould, Freund, and Barbarese 1999; Lyons et al. 2009; O'Connor et al. 2000). Ectopic accumulation of MBP may exert deleterious effects for the OL function and affect the formation and maintenance of the myelin sheath. Indeed, altered intracellular localisation of myelin proteins has been reported in the taeip rat, a myelin mutant that presents characteristics of hypomyelination (O'Connor et al. 2000). Also, the results support the production of redundant myelin in the aged hypothalamus, a common age-related myelin defect (Peters 2002; Sandell and Peters 2001). Colocalisation studies of MBP with the axonal marker NF identified MBP+ circumferences with different diameter, among normal myelinated structures filled by NF labelling. In other cases, the myelin sheath in cross-sections appeared too large for the size of the enclosed axon. It is, therefore, possible that the presence of redundant myelin may be the result of continued formation of myelin. However, failure to assemble and elaborate the correct amount of myelin around axons may underlie the aberrant pattern observed in aged animals.

The process of myelin sheath formation requires a timely and spatially controlled transport of the different myelin components from the OLs to the expanding myelin sheath. The Mbp mRNA trafficking occurs through a multi-step pathway, including assembly into granules, transport along the processes, and localization within the myelin compartment (Ainger et al. 1993). The Mbp mRNA transport relies on microtubules, and the RNA-binding motor proteins KIF1B and dynein are required (Barbarese et al. 1999; Herbert et al. 2017; Lyons et al. 2009). The RNA-seq results in *Chapter 4* showed downregulation of Kif1b and the three subunits of the dynein Dync1H1, Dync1LI and Dync2H1, in the aged hypothalamus. Further validation via western blot analysis confirmed the decreased expression of KIF1B and DYNC1H1 at protein level. Hence, it

is possible that altered expression of molecules that regulate and coordinate the intracellular trafficking of Mbp could affect the myelin biogenesis. Indeed, studies in zebrafish identified that KIF1B and Dynein mutants showed a arrested Mbp transport OL perikaryon that resulted in myelination defects (Herbert et al. 2017; Lyons et al. 2009).

Myelin wraps around axons, thereby facilitating rapid saltatory conduction while protecting axons form degeneration. In the MBH, terminals from VSP and OXT neurons are myelinated (Yin and Gore 2010). The age-related aberrant myelination could reduce the conduction velocity, affect axonal connectivity, and ultimately, result in degeneration of myelinated nerves crossing the hypothalamus. Indeed, attenuation of POMC electrical responses has been reported in aged rats (Newton et al. 2013). Importantly, NFs are major determinants of axonal calibre, and decreased NFs expression has been associated with axonal atrophy (Parhad et al. 1995; Uchida et al. 2001). In line with this, results presented in this study showed that NFM protein levels in the hypothalamus are reduced with age.

7.4.2. Oligodendrocyte number, but not the differentiation along the oligodendrocyte lineage, seems to be altered in the aged hypothalamus

To address if the aberrant myelin pattern observed in the aged hypothalamus involved the dysfunction or loss of the myelin-producing cells of the CNS, the OL number and differentiation along the OL lineage was investigated across the mouse lifespan. In addition, the proliferative capacity of hypothalamic OPC was investigated in the *Chapter 6*, identifying an age-related decrease. In the hypothalamus, OPCs hold a critical role in preserving neuronal processes, and short-term OPC elimination leaded to permanent neuronal damage in the ME (Djogo et al. 2016). However, how the decreasing rate of OPC cell division affects directly the myelin production in the hypothalamus is still unknown. Life-long generation of OLs is required for myelination of new neuronal connections and repair of myelin lost through normal 'wear and tear' (Peters et al. 2000; Rivers et al. 2008). It is, therefore, possible that decline in the OPC proliferation contributes to reduced generation of new OLs, in turn promoting deficient myelination in the aged hypothalamus.

First, to address if the aberrant myelin pattern observed in aged animals was due to changes in OL number, immunohistochemistry for Olig2 (pan OL marker) and CC1 (mature-myelinating OL marker) was performed in brain sections of young, middle-aged and old animals. Coincidentally with the myelin distribution, Olig2+ and CC1+ showed a higher density in the Arc-ME region, and quantification of Olig2+ and CC1+ cells in the ME showed an increase in the number with both markers. This observation indicates that hypothalamic OLs are probably long-lived cells, as previously reported in the corpus callosum from mouse and humans (Tripathi et al. 2017; Young et al. 2013). Thus, the increase in number could be due to accumulation of adult-born OLs, that may augment the pre-existing population rather than replacing lost cells (Tripathi et al. 2017). Also, the increase in OL number has been linked to myelination defects. Previous reports demonstrated that dysregulation of OL number relative to target axons can lead to aberrant myelination patterns and ectopic myelin deposition (Almeida et al. 2018), similar to the defects reported in the present study.

Second, to address if myelin defects could be attributed to the inefficient or interrupted differentiation of OPCs, the expression of multiple stage-specific markers was investigated. Arrest in a pre-myelinogenic stage will translate in altered levels of OL lineage markers. In regard to this possibility, the RNA-seq data in *Chapter 4* showed an upregulated expression of the mRNA encoding myelin-related proteins expressed by OLs, including Cnp, Myrf, Plp1 and Mbp (Aggarwal et al. 2011; Bujalka et al. 2013). However, although transcriptomic studies provide valuable insights, most transcripts require translation to protein to deliver biological function of the expression of OL stage-specific proteins was inspected via western blot in hypothalamic extracts of young, middle aged and old animals. Given that the whole hypothalamus was dissected out for proteins analysed, and regional differences in the Arc-ME may be diluted or not represented.

Western blot results for the OPC maker NG2 showed lower protein levels with age concurring with to the decline in the number of actively proliferating OPCs described earlier in *Chapter 6*. However, no differences were detected for the pan OL marker Olig2, and the myelin-associated enzyme CNP expressed by both, pre- and myelinating OL (Goldman and Kuypers 2015). Interestingly, the mature myelinating protein MYRF

showed an increase in expression with age. MYRF is essential for the myelination process and, evidence suggest that is an important factor in the terminal OL differentiation (Emery et al. 2009; Koenning et al. 2012). Also, as a transcriptional factor MYRF regulates the expression of myelin genes such as, Plp1 and Mbp (Bujalka et al. 2013; Koenning et al. 2012). In turn, the Plp1 gene encodes the two isoforms PLP and DM20, which represent the predominant protein portion of myelin in the CNS (McLaughlin et al. 2002) and showed no age-related differences.

In regard to MBP, the relative amounts of MBP isoforms are affected with age. In rodents, MBP protein has 5 different isoforms consequence of alternative splicing of the same mRNA that translate in proteins with different molecular weights: 21.5, 18.5, 17, 14 and 13 KDa (Akiyama et al. 2002). Reduction in MBP expression has been reported across multiple brain regions with age, in both rodents and humans (Ansari et al., 1985; Xing et al., 2012; Xie et al., 2013, 2014; Ahn et al., 2017; Wang et al., 2020); however, most of these studies have not examined the expression of the different MBP isoforms individually. In contrast, the present study identified age-related changes in the expression in the MBP isoforms, with decreased expression of the 21 KDa isoform and increase of the 13/14 KDa isoforms, that become the most abundant in the ageing hypothalamus. MBP acts as an important spatial and temporal regulator of myelination, by triggering disassembly of the actin cytoskeleton to promote initiation of myelin membrane wrapping (Zuchero et al. 2015). The exact role of each isoform during the formation and compaction of the myelin sheath is still unknown, although it has been reported that the 18.5 KDa and 14.0 KDa are predominant during active myelination in the rat brain (Akiyama et al. 2002). Interestingly, differences in both size and relative amounts of MBP isoforms have been reported between normal and myelin-deficient jimpy mouse (Fannon and Moscarello 1990). Thus, the age-related increased expression of the 14 KDa isoform may play a role in the aberrant myelination observed.

In summary, the number of OL, but not the differentiation along the OL lineage, seems to be altered in the aged hypothalamus. Potentially, an increase in OL number may lead to mistargeting of myelin to cell bodies, including those of neurons (Almeida et al. 2018). In addition, the relative amounts of MBP isoforms suffer an age-related change, although the functional consequences of this switch will require further investigation.

8. General discussion

Ageing is characterised by a progressive loss of physiological functions and constitutes the leading risk factor for the development of neurodegenerative diseases (López-Otín *et al.*, 2013). Ageing represents a major health issue worldwide that is only expected to escalate due to the remarkable increase in life expectancy of the population. According to the World Health Organisation (WHO), the world's population over 60 years will nearly double from 12% to 22% between 2015 and 2050.

Even healthy people experience a decline in several physiological functions with age, including energy homeostasis, hormonal regulation, circadian rhythm, reproduction, and cognition. Interestingly, the majority of the physiological functions that deteriorate with age are controlled by the hypothalamus (Kim and Choe 2018). Therefore, in the recent years, the role of the hypothalamus as a central orchestrator of the systemic ageing has gained interest (Chen et al. 2015; Zhang et al. 2013, 2017).

The present study aimed to uncover the underlying cellular and molecular mechanisms involved in the age-related (Tang et al. 2015; Zhang et al. 2013, 2017)(Tang et al. 2015; Zhang et al. 2013, 2017)(Tang et al. 2015; Zhang et al. 2013, 2017)(Tang et al. 2015; Zhang et al. 2013, 2017)alterations occurring in the hypothalamic circuits that control energy balance. Main findings included age-related changes in appetite-regulating neuron number, inflammation, loss of stem cells and myelin defects in the hypothalamus.

8.1. Age-mediated inflammation mediated by astrocyte and microglia activation may damage the brain circuits that regulate energy balance

The hypothalamus plays a critical role in the control of energy homeostasis via the opposing action of two defined neuronal types, POMC and NPY/AgRP, that can directly respond to peripheral hormonal and nutritional status (Blouet and Schwartz 2010; Dietrich and Horvath 2013). Studies in rodents have shown that dietary excess and central administration of glucose or lipids lead to the activation of the NF-kB pathway

and the expression of pro-inflammatory genes (Berkseth et al. 2014; Posey et al. 2009; Valdearcos et al. 2017; Zhang et al. 2008). Hypothalamic inflammation disrupts key signalling pathways involved in the regulation of energy balance, glucose homeostasis and blood pressure, and participates in the development of metabolic syndrome components such as obesity, glucose intolerance, and hypertension (Cai and Khor 2019; Calegari et al. 2011; Cazettes et al. 2011; Purkayastha and Cai 2013).

Recent evidence indicates that hypothalamic inflammation is also crucial for the development of whole-body ageing (Tang et al. 2015; Zhang et al. 2013, 2017). In mice, systemic inflammation associated with age leads to NF- κ B activation in microglia of different brain areas, including the hypothalamus (Korhonen, Helenius, and Salminen 1997; Zhang et al. 2013). Notably, ageing delay and lifespan extension have been achieved in mice through prevention of hypothalamic NF- κ B activation (Zhang et al. 2013). Also, ageing correlates with a decline in the hypothalamic GnRH expression in mice, given that activated NF- κ B inhibits the expression of GnRH. In turn, GnRH therapy promotes adult neurogenesis and deaccelerates age-related phenotypes (Zhang et al. 2013). However, future studies will be required to uncover the effect of NF- κ B activation/inhibition on other neurotransmitters and in the neuronal populations present in the hypothalamus.

In the present study, results indicated that reactive gliosis, involving both microglia and astrocytes, develop gradually in the hypothalamus with age. Also, a neuroinflammatory response represented by the upregulation of inflammatory genes is observed in the aged hypothalamus, including upregulation of the complement pathway, MHC genes and inflammatory cytokines (see *Chapter 4*). In general, the inflammatory response is a result of NF- κ B activation, given that the majority of the immune signalling and inflammatory responses genes are under NF- κ B transcriptional control (Tilstra et al. 2011). In the hypothalamus, the age-related NF- κ B activation is initially restricted to astrocytes and microglia cells (Zhang et al. 2013), known to be the primary source of a wide range of inflammatory mediators (Clarke et al. 2018; Colombo and Farina 2016; Pekny and Nilsson 2005). It is possible, therefore, that microglia and astrocyte activation is underlying the exacerbated neuroinflammatory response observed with age.

Inflammatory responses mediated by microglia and astrocytes can impair neuronal functions, limit axonal regeneration, decrease neurogenesis, and induce myelin defects

(Menet et al. 2003; Pekny and Nilsson 2005). Interestingly, within the hypothalamus, the physiological effects of neuronal NF-kB activation appear to be cell-type dependent (Purkayastha et al. 2011). TNFa has two known receptors: TNFa receptor 1 (TNFR1) and TNFa receptor 2 (TNFR2) (Wajant, Pfizenmaier, and Scheurich 2003). TNFR1 is barely detected in hypothalamic neurons; in turn, TNFR2 expression is detected in POMC neurons but hardly observed in NPY/AgRP neurons (Purkayastha et al. 2011). The differential expression pattern may suggest that POMC neurons are more sensitive to neuroinflammation mediated by NF-κB activation. In line with this, previous studies in rodents linked diet-induced inflammation with a reduction of hypothalamic POMC neurons but not NPY/AgRP (Li et al. 2012; Thaler et al. 2012), mimicking the results presented in Chapter 3. Diet-induced hypothalamic inflammation negatively impacts neurogenesis (Li et al. 2012), and recently, it has also been associated with myelin disruption (Huang et al. 2019). In turn, the age-related myelin breakdown contributes significantly to the wear and tear of microglia, which may exacerbate microglia senescence and immune dysfunction in the ageing brain (Safaiyan et al. 2016). Similarly, the present study showed that age-related inflammation in the hypothalamus is accompanied by a decreased proliferation capacity of stem/progenitor cell niche (Chapter 6) and myelination defects (Chapter 7).

Age-related activation of inflammatory responses can damage cellular functions and be detrimental for the correct functioning of the hypothalamic circuits; however, it is still unclear how microglial and astrocyte activation is initially triggered in the ageing hypothalamus. Different mechanisms are reported to contribute to hypothalamic inflammation, including mitochondrial dysfunction (Drougard et al. 2015; Tang et al. 2015), defective autophagy (Kaushik et al. 2012; Meng and Cai 2011) and intracellular RNA stress response (Yan et al. 2014). It is also possible that dietary stressors and tissue changes during ageing, such as adiposity and immune system dysfunction, also contribute to hypothalamic inflammation (Burfeind, Michaelis, and Marks 2016; Deleidi et al. 2015; Kuk et al. 2009). One of the most popular hypothesis suggests that accumulation of oxidative damage over time mediates microglia and astrocyte activation (Norden and Godbout 2013). In support of this, the hypothalamus from aged mice showed increased expression of enzymes involved in mitochondria respiratory chain compared to young animals (Jiang et al. 2001), suggesting an increased hypothalamic ROS production with age. Also, elevated oxidative stress (increased generation of free

radicals and lipid peroxidation levels), along with impaired antioxidant defences has been reported in the hypothalamus of aged rats (Rodrigues Siqueira et al. 2005).

Regardless of insufficient understanding as to its primary causes, age-related hypothalamic inflammation mediated by astrocytes and microglia may contribute to the decline in energy homeostasis with age and mediate the development of the metabolic syndrome (Purkayastha and Cai 2013; Purkayastha et al. 2011; Tang et al. 2015; Zhang et al. 2008). Therefore, strategies that target hypothalamic microglia/astrocyte activation may delay the development of age-related conditions and increase the lifespan.

8.2. Age-dependent changes in hypothalamic POMC neurons may contribute to the altered energy balance observed with age

In this study, an age-dependent remodelling of the hypothalamic neuronal circuits reported, accounting for one potential mechanism to explain the age-dependent decline in energy homeostasis. Main findings include: (1) The number of POMC neurons, but not NPY, decline with age; (2) POMC neuronal decline is not associated to cell death, however, ageing could be influencing silencing of Pomc expression in a specific subset of anorexigenic neurons.

The specific reasons underlying POMC neuronal decline are uncertain, although ageassociated inflammation mediated via NF-κB may play a role (Zhang et al. 2013). In fact, *in vitro* studies revealed that Pomc gene is a downstream target of NF-κB (Shi et al. 2013). In addition to inflammation, the elevation of mTOR activity has also been associated with the deterioration of POMC neurons during ageing (Yang et al. 2012). Elevation of mTOR signalling by targeted deletion of the negative regulator Tsc1 in POMC neurons caused cell hypertrophy, silenced neuronal activity and reduced neurite projection to the PVN, contributing to age-dependent obesity (Mori et al. 2009; Yang et al. 2012). However, targeted Tsc1 deletion in NPY/AgRP neurons did not affect their size or firing rate (Yang et al. 2012). In old mice, the central administration of rapamycin, an inhibitor of mTOR pathway, enhanced the firing and neurite projections of POMC neurons, causing a reduction of food intake and body weight (Yang et al. 2012). Reportedly, rapamycin significantly extends the median and maximal lifespan in mice when fed at 20 months of age (Harrison *et al.*, 2009). Recent studies also revealed that POMC neurons exhibit increased sensitivity to ageassociated reduced autophagy, leading to decreased lipolysis and α-MSH levels (Kaushik et al. 2012). In mice, selective deletion of essential autophagy genes in POMC neurons affected axonal growth and caused metabolic defects often associated with ageing, including obesity, adiposity, and glucose intolerance (Coupé et al. 2012; Kaushik et al. 2012; Quan et al. 2012). Interestingly, hypothalamic inflammation has been linked to autophagic dysfunction, at least partly, due to the effect of deficient hypothalamic autophagy in promoting obesity (Meng and Cai 2011).

In summary, given that POMC neurons are critical regulators of energy homeostasis, dysfunction of these cells likely represents the cause of the metabolic deregulation observed with age. Thus, it is possible that the decline in POMC neuronal number reported in this study, coupled with decreased autophagy, increased mTOR signalling and higher sensitivity of these cells to neuroinflammation (described in the previous section) underlies the ageing-related shift in energy homeostasis.

8.3. Ageing exacerbates myelin disruption and axon injury in the mediobasal hypothalamus

Although the loss of myelinated nerve fibres has been reported in multiple brain regions during normal ageing and in neurodegenerative diseases (Bartzokis 2011; Braak and Del Tredici 2004; Peters 2002; Peters et al. 2000; Sandell and Peters 2001; Xing et al. 2012), this study represents the first attempt to characterise the myelin dynamics in the ageing hypothalamus.

The present study identified an aberrant myelination pattern in the hypothalamus with age together with an age-related increase in the number of total and mature myelinating OLs in the MBH. Moreover, hypothalamic OLs seem to retain their capacity to differentiate and are able to produce the major myelin proteins PLP and MBP throughout life. Interestingly, the expression of the motor proteins KIF1B kinesin and Dynein, essential for Mbp trafficking and myelination *in vivo* (Herbert et al. 2017; Lyons et al. 2009), are reduced in the aged hypothalamus (see Chapter 7). These results suggest that inhibition of the transport, rather than the reduced expression of myelin proteins,

may contribute to the aberrant myelination reported with age. Defects in the transport of myelin membrane components have been linked to myelin dysfunction in demyelinating diseases, including MS (Aulchenko et al. 2008).

The remyelination capacity has been shown progressively decline as animals grow older (Ibanez et al. 2003) and is associated with changes in the inflammatory response (Graf et al. 2016; Hinks and Franklin 2000). The proliferative capacity of hypothalamic OPC was also investigated in *Chapter 6*, identifying an age-related decrease. In the hypothalamus, OPCs also hold a critical role in preserving neuronal processes, and short-term OPC elimination led to permanent neuronal damage in the ME (Djogo et al. 2016). Interestingly, in diet-induced mouse models, hypothalamic NF-κB activation led to reduced OPC proliferation and reduced production of new OLs in the hypothalamus (Li et al. 2012). Also, impaired myelin microstructure in the hypothalamus has been reported in diet-induced obesity models, due to pro-inflammatory cytokine expression and microglia activation (Huang et al. 2019).

Regardless of its causes, defective myelination may lead to interrupted neuronal communication and, ultimately, cause axonal degeneration (Stassart et al. 2018). In line with this, results in *Chapter 4* revealed reduced expression of genes involved in neuronal cytoskeleton organisation, axonal guidance and transport in the aged hypothalamus. It is possible, therefore, that the loss of myelin and the neuronal processes in the hypothalamus could underlie the decline in metabolism and energy homeostasis observed during ageing. Thus, strategies that preserve OPC proliferation and reduce gliosis may help maintain the normal hypothalamic functioning during ageing.

8.4. Concluding remarks

The present project provides novel information on the age-related alterations which occur in the hypothalamic circuits that control energy homeostasis. The detailed characterisation of both appetite-regulating populations showed that the anorexigenic POMC, but not the orexigenic NPY, suffers a significant decline with age. Also, increased inflammation, mediated by activation of microglia and astrocytes, and release of pro-inflammatory factors was reported. Finally, defective myelin in the aged hypothalamus,

possibly due to the decline in OPC proliferation and oligodendrogenesis, may lead to interrupted neuronal communication and axonal degeneration.

Combined, the findings presented here may help improve the understanding of the different roles that hypothalamic neurons and glial cells may play during the ageing development. These results open the possibility that potential anti-ageing and ageing-control technologies to target the cellular and molecular mechanisms affected in the ageing hypothalamus.

Bibliography

- Abbott, N. Joan, and Alon Friedman. 2012. "Overview and Introduction: The Blood-Brain Barrier in Health and Disease." *Epilepsia*.
- Abd Rachman Isnadi, Mohammad Faruq, Voon Kin Chin, Roslaini Abd Majid, Tze Yan Lee, Maizaton Atmadini Abdullah, Ramatu Bello Omenesa, Zaid Osamah Ibraheem, and Rusliza Basir. 2018. "Critical Roles of IL-33/ST2 Pathway in Neurological Disorders." *Mediators of Inflammation.*
- Acarin, Laia, Hugo Peluffo, Luis Barbeito, Bernardo Castellano, and Berta González. 2005.
 "Astroglial Nitration after Postnatal Excitotoxic Damage: Correlation with Nitric Oxide Sources, Cytoskeletal, Apoptotic and Antioxidant Proteins." *Journal of Neurotrauma*.
- Adler, Adam S., Saurabh Sinha, Tiara L. A. Kawahara, Jennifer Y. Zhang, Eran Segal, and Howard Y. Chang. 2007. "Motif Module Map Reveals Enforcement of Aging by Continual NF-KB Activity." *Genes and Development*.
- Aggarwal, Shweta, Larisa Yurlova, and Mikael Simons. 2011. "Central Nervous System Myelin: Structure, Synthesis and Assembly." *Trends in Cell Biology* 21(10):585–93.
- Ahlgren-Beckendorf, J. A., Annie M. Reising, Mia A. Schander, Joseph W. Herdler, and Jeffrey A. Johnson. 1999. "Coordinate Regulation of NAD(P)H:Quinone Oxidoreductase and Glutathione-S-Transferases in Primary Cultures of Rat Neurons and Glia: Role of the Antioxidant/Electrophile Responsive Element." GLIA.
- Ahmed, Eman I., Julia L. Zehr, Kalynn M. Schulz, Betty H. Lorenz, Lydia L. DonCarlos, and Cheryl L. Sisk. 2008. "Pubertal Hormones Modulate the Addition of New Cells to Sexually Dimorphic Brain Regions." *Nature Neuroscience*.
- Ahmed, Zeshan, Gerry Shaw, Ved P. Sharma, Cui Yang, Eileen McGowan, and Dennis W. Dickson. 2007. "Actin-Binding Proteins Coronin-1a and IBA-1 Are Effective Microglial Markers for Immunohistochemistry." *Journal of Histochemistry and Cytochemistry*.
- Aiken, Jayne, Georgia Buscaglia, Emily A. Bates, and Jeffrey K. Moore. 2017. "The α-Tubulin Gene TUBA1A in Brain Development: A Key Ingredient in the Neuronal Isotype Blend." *Journal of Developmental Biology*.
- Ainger, K., D. Avossa, F. Morgan, S. J. Hill, C. Barry, E. Barbarese, and J. H. Carson. 1993. "Transport and Localization of Exogenous Myelin Basic Protein MRNA Microinjected into Oligodendrocytes." *Journal of Cell Biology*.
- Akiyama, Kyoichi, Sachiyo Ichinose, Akira Omori, Yoko Sakurai, and Hiroaki Asou. 2002. "Study of Expression of Myelin Basic Proteins (MBPs) in Developing Rat Brain Using a Novel Antibody Reacting with Four Major Isoforms of MBP." *Journal of Neuroscience Research* 68(1):19–28.
- Alawieh, Ali, Andrew Elvington, and Stephen Tomlinson. 2015. "Complement in the Homeostatic and Ischemic Brain." *Frontiers in Immunology*.
- Alexeyev, Mikhail F. 2009. "Is There More to Aging than Mitochondrial DNA and Reactive Oxygen Species?" *FEBS Journal*.
- Allen, Mariet, Xue Wang, Jeremy D. Burgess, Jens Watzlawik, Daniel J. Serie, Curtis S. Younkin, Thuy Nguyen, Kimberly G. Malphrus, Sarah Lincoln, Minerva M. Carrasquillo, Charlotte Ho, Paramita Chakrabarty, Samantha Strickland, Melissa E. Murray, Vivek Swarup, Daniel H. Geschwind, Nicholas T. Seyfried, Eric B. Dammer, James J. Lah, Allan I. Levey, Todd E. Golde, Cory Funk, Hongdong Li, Nathan D. Price, Ronald C. Petersen, Neill R. Graff-Radford, Steven G. Younkin, Dennis W. Dickson, Julia R. Crook, Yan W. Asmann, and Nilüfer Ertekin-Taner. 2018. "Conserved Brain Myelination Networks Are Altered in Alzheimer's and Other Neurodegenerative Diseases." *Alzheimer's and Dementia*.

Almeida, Rafael G., Simon Pan, Katy L. H. Cole, Jill M. Williamson, Jason J. Early, Tim Czopka,

Anna Klingseisen, Jonah R. Chan, and David A. Lyons. 2018. "Myelination of Neuronal Cell Bodies When Myelin Supply Exceeds Axonal Demand." *Current Biology* 28(8):1296-1305.e5.

- Altman, Joseph, and Shirley A. Bayer. 1978. "Development of the Diencephalon in the Rat. III. Ontogeny of the Specialized Ventricular Linings of the Hypothalamic Third Ventricle." *Journal of Comparative Neurology* 182(5):995–1015.
- Amenta, Francesco, Elena Bronzetti, Maurizio Sabbatini, and José Antonio Vega. 1998. "Astrocyte Changes in Aging Cerebral Cortex and Hippocampus: A Quantitative Immunohistochemical Study." *Microscopy Research and Technique*.
- Askew, Katharine, Kaizhen Li, Adrian Olmos-Alonso, Fernando Garcia-Moreno, Yajie Liang, Philippa Richardson, Tom Tipton, Mark A. Chapman, Kristoffer Riecken, Sol Beccari, Amanda Sierra, Zoltán Molnár, Mark S. Cragg, Olga Garaschuk, V. Hugh Perry, and Diego Gomez-Nicola. 2017. "Coupled Proliferation and Apoptosis Maintain the Rapid Turnover of Microglia in the Adult Brain." *Cell Reports*.
- Atasoy, Deniz, J. Nicholas Betley, Helen H. Su, and Scott M. Sternson. 2012. "Deconstruction of a Neural Circuit for Hunger." *Nature*.
- Aulchenko, Yurii S., Ilse A. Hoppenbrouwers, Sreeram V. Ramagopalan, Linda Broer, Naghmeh Jafari, Jan Hillert, Jenny Link, Wangko Lundström, Eva Greiner, A. Dessa Sadovnick, Dirk Goossens, Christine Van Broeckhoven, Jurgen Del-Favero, George C. Ebers, Ben A. Oostra, Cornelia M. Van Duijn, and Rogier Q. Hintzen. 2008. "Genetic Variation in the KIF1B Locus Influences Susceptibility to Multiple Sclerosis." *Nature Genetics*.
- Back, Stephen A., Ning Ling Luo, Natalya S. Borenstein, Joel M. Levine, Joseph J. Volpe, and Hannah C. Kinney. 2001. "Late Oligodendrocyte Progenitors Coincide with the Developmental Window of Vulnerability for Human Perinatal White Matter Injury." *Journal of Neuroscience*.
- Balaban, Robert S., Shino Nemoto, Toren Finkel, Judith Campisi, Kenneth R. Chien, Gerard Karsenty, Paul T. .. Jr. Costa, Leonard Guarente, Frédéric Picard, Evan C. Hadley, Edward G. Lakatta, Marcelle Morrison-Bogorad, Huber R. Warner, Richard J. Hodes, Cynthia Kenyon, T. B. L. Kirkwood, David B. Lombard, Katrin F. Chua, Raul Mostoslavsky, Sonia Franco, Monica Gostissa, Frederick W. Alt, George M. Martin, Linda Partridge, David Gems, Dominic J. Withers, Rudolph E. Tanzi, and Lars Bertram. 2005. "DNA Repair, Genome Stability, and Aging." *Cell*.
- Balland, Eglantine, Julie Dam, Fanny Langlet, Emilie Caron, Sophie Steculorum, Andrea Messina, S. Rasika, Anthony Falluel-Morel, Youssef Anouar, Bénédicte Dehouck, Eric Trinquet, Ralf Jockers, Sebastien G. Bouret, and Vincent Prévot. 2014. "Hypothalamic Tanycytes Are an ERK-Gated Conduit for Leptin into the Brain." *Cell Metabolism*.
- Bannon, A. W., J. Seda, M. Carmouche, J. M. Francis, M. H. Norman, B. Karbon, and M. L. McCaleb. 2000. "Behavioral Characterization of Neuropeptide Y Knockout Mice." *Brain Research* 868(1):79–87.
- Barbarese, Elisa, Craig Brumwell, Sunjong Kwon, Hongyi Cui, and John H. Carson. 1999. "RNA on the Road to Myelin." *Journal of Neurocytology*.
- Bardehle, Sophia, Martin Krüger, Felix Buggenthin, Julia Schwausch, Jovica Ninkovic, Hans Clevers, Hugo J. Snippert, Fabian J. Theis, Melanie Meyer-Luehmann, Ingo Bechmann, Leda Dimou, and Magdalena Götz. 2013. "Live Imaging of Astrocyte Responses to Acute Injury Reveals Selective Juxtavascular Proliferation." *Nature Neuroscience*.
- Barja, Gustavo, and Asunción Herrero. 2000. "Oxidative Damage to Mitochondrial DNA Is Inversely Related to Maximum Life Span in the Heart and Brain of Mammals." *The FASEB Journal*.
- Barnea, A., and F. Nottebohm. 1994. "Seasonal Recruitment of Hippocampal Neurons in Adult Free-Ranging Black- Capped Chickadees." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*.

- Barnea, Ayalla, Gloria Cho, and John C. Porter. 1982. "A Reduction in the Concentration of Immunoreactive Corticotropin, Malanotropin and Lipotropin in the Brain of the Aging Rat." *Brain Research*.
- Barnes, C. A. 1979. "Memory Deficits Associated with Senescence: A Neurophysiological and Behavioral Study in the Rat." *Journal of Comparative and Physiological Psychology*.
- Baron, Wia, and Dick Hoekstra. 2010. "On the Biogenesis of Myelin Membranes: Sorting, Trafficking and Cell Polarity." *FEBS Letters*.
- Barres, Ben A. 2008. "The Mystery and Magic of Glia: A Perspective on Their Roles in Health and Disease." *Neuron*.
- Barson, Jessica R., Irene Morganstern, and Sarah F. Leibowitz. 2013. "Complementary Roles of Orexin and Melanin-Concentrating Hormone in Feeding Behavior." *International Journal of Endocrinology*.
- Bartzokis, George. 2011. "Alzheimer's Disease as Homeostatic Responses to Age-Related Myelin Breakdown." *Neurobiology of Aging*.
- Baufeld, Caroline, Anja Osterloh, Stefan Prokop, Kelly R. Miller, and Frank L. Heppner. 2016. "High-Fat Diet-Induced Brain Region-Specific Phenotypic Spectrum of CNS Resident Microglia." Acta Neuropathologica.
- Baxter, Paul S., and Giles E. Hardingham. 2016. "Adaptive Regulation of the Brain's Antioxidant Defences by Neurons and Astrocytes." *Free Radical Biology and Medicine*.
- Berkseth, Kathryn E., Stephan J. Guyenet, Susan J. Melhorn, Donghoon Lee, Joshua P. Thaler, Ellen A. Schur, and Michael W. Schwartz. 2014. "Hypothalamic Gliosis Associated with High-Fat Diet Feeding Is Reversible in Mice: A Combined Immunohistochemical and Magnetic Resonance Imaging Study." *Endocrinology*.
- von Bernhardi, Rommy, Laura Eugenín-von Bernhardi, and Jaime Eugenín. 2015. "Microglial Cell Dysregulation in Brain Aging and Neurodegeneration." *Frontiers in Aging Neuroscience*.
- Betley, J. Nicholas, Zhen Fang Huang Cao, Kimberly D. Ritola, and Scott M. Sternson. 2013. "Parallel, Redundant Circuit Organization for Homeostatic Control of Feeding Behavior." *Cell*.
- Bewick, G. A. 2005. "Postembryonic Ablation of AgRP Neurons in Mice Leads to a Lean, Hypophagic Phenotype." *The FASEB Journal*.
- Bi, Sheng, Benjamin M. Robinson, and Timothy H. Moran. 2003. "Acute Food Deprivation and Chronic Food Restriction Differentially Affect Hypothalamic NPY MRNA Expression." *American Journal of Physiology - Regulatory Integrative and Comparative Physiology*.
- Bishop, Nicholas A., Tao Lu, and Bruce A. Yankner. 2010. "Neural Mechanisms of Ageing and Cognitive Decline." *Nature*.
- Bitsch, P., and T. H. Schiebler. 1979. "The Postnatal Development of the Median Eminence of the Rat." *Zeitschrift Fur Mikroskopisch-Anatomische Forschung Abteilung 2*.
- Bless, E. P., T. Reddy, K. D. Acharya, B. S. Beltz, and M. J. Tetel. 2014. "Oestradiol and Diet Modulate Energy Homeostasis and Hypothalamic Neurogenesis in the Adult Female Mouse." *Journal of Neuroendocrinology*.
- Blouet, Clémence, and Gary J. Schwartz. 2010. "Hypothalamic Nutrient Sensing in the Control of Energy Homeostasis." *Behavioural Brain Research*.
- Blum, Mariann, James L. Roberts, and Sharon L. Wardlaw. 1989. "Androgen Regulation of Proopiomelanocortin Gene Expression and Peptide Content in the Basal Hypothalamus." *Endocrinology*.
- Boggs, J. M. 2006. "Myelin Basic Protein: A Multifunctional Protein." *Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences*.
- Boisvert, Matthew M., Galina A. Erikson, Maxim N. Shokhirev, and Nicola J. Allen. 2018. "The

Aging Astrocyte Transcriptome from Multiple Regions of the Mouse Brain." Cell Reports.

- Bonawitz, Nicholas D., Marc Chatenay-Lapointe, Yong Pan, and Gerald S. Shadel. 2007. "Reduced TOR Signaling Extends Chronological Life Span via Increased Respiration and Upregulation of Mitochondrial Gene Expression." *Cell Metabolism*.
- Bottomly, Daniel, Nicole A. R. Walter, Jessica Ezzell Hunter, Priscila Darakjian, Sunita Kawane, Kari J. Buck, Robert P. Searles, Michael Mooney, Shannon K. McWeeney, and Robert Hitzemann. 2011. "Evaluating Gene Expression in C57BL/6J and DBA/2J Mouse Striatum Using RNA-Seq and Microarrays." *PLoS ONE*.
- Boulant, J. A. 2000. "Role of the Preoptic-Anterior Hypothalamus in Thermoregulation and Fever." in *Clinical Infectious Diseases*.
- Bowley, Michael P., Howard Cabral, Douglas L. Rosene, and Alan Peters. 2010. "Age Changes in Myelinated Nerve Fibers of the Cingulate Bundle and Corpus Callosum in the Rhesus Monkey." *Journal of Comparative Neurology*.
- Braak, Heiko, and Kelly Del Tredici. 2004. "Poor and Protracted Myelination as a Contributory Factor to Neurodegenerative Disorders." *Neurobiology of Aging*.
- Brawer, James R., and Raymond J. Walsh. 1982. "Response of Tanycytes to Aging in the Median Eminence of the Rat." *American Journal of Anatomy*.
- Bray, Nicolas L., Harold Pimentel, Páll Melsted, and Lior Pachter. 2016. "Near-Optimal Probabilistic RNA-Seq Quantification." *Nature Biotechnology*.
- Broberger, Christian, Jeanette Johansen, Carolina Johansson, Martin Schalling, and Tomas Hökfelt. 1998. "The Neuropeptide Y/Agouti Gene-Related Protein (AGRP) Brain Circuitry in Normal, Anorectic, and Monosodium Glutamate-Treated Mice." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*.
- Broughton, Susan, and Linda Partridge. 2009. "Insulin/IGF-like Signalling, the Central Nervous System and Aging." *Biochemical Journal*.
- Brown, Jason P., Sébastien Couillard-Després, Christiana M. Cooper-Kuhn, Jürgen Winkler, Ludwig Aigner, and H. Georg Kuhn. 2003. "Transient Expression of Doublecortin during Adult Neurogenesis." *Journal of Comparative Neurology* 467(1):1–10.
- Brunetti, L., C. Di Nisio, G. Orlando, C. Ferrante, and Michele Vacca. 2005. "The Regulation of Feeding: A Cross Talk between Peripheral and Central Signalling." *International Journal of Immunopathology and Pharmacology*.
- Brunetti, M., A. Miscena, A. Salviati, and A. Gaiti. 1987. "Effect of Aging on the Rate of Axonal Transport of Choline-Phosphoglycerides." *Neurochemical Research*.
- Bruttger, Julia, Khalad Karram, Marco Prinz, Steffen Jung, Ari Waisman, Julia Bruttger, Khalad Karram, and Simone Wo. 2015. "Genetic Cell Ablation Reveals Clusters of Local Self-Renewing Microglia in the Mammalian Central Article Genetic Cell Ablation Reveals Clusters of Local Self-Renewing Microglia in the Mammalian Central Nervous System." 92–106.
- Bruttger, Julia, Khalad Karram, Simone Wörtge, Tommy Regen, Federico Marini, Nicola Hoppmann, Matthias Klein, Thomas Blank, Simon Yona, Yochai Wolf, Matthias Mack, Emmanuel Pinteaux, Werner Müller, Frauke Zipp, Harald Binder, Tobias Bopp, Marco Prinz, Steffen Jung, and Ari Waisman. 2015. "Genetic Cell Ablation Reveals Clusters of Local Self-Renewing Microglia in the Mammalian Central Nervous System." *Immunity* 43(1):92–106.
- Bujalka, Helena, Matthias Koenning, Stacey Jackson, Victoria M. Perreau, Bernard Pope, Curtis M. Hay, Stanlislaw Mitew, Andrew F. Hill, Q. Richard Lu, Michael Wegner, Rajini Srinivasan, John Svaren, Melanie Willingham, Ben A. Barres, and Ben Emery. 2013.
 "MYRF Is a Membrane-Associated Transcription Factor That Autoproteolytically Cleaves to Directly Activate Myelin Genes." *PLoS Biology*.
- Burfeind, Kevin G., Katherine A. Michaelis, and Daniel L. Marks. 2016. "The Central Role of Hypothalamic Inflammation in the Acute Illness Response and Cachexia." *Seminars in Cell*

and Developmental Biology.

- Burke, Sara N., and Carol A. Barnes. 2006. "Neural Plasticity in the Ageing Brain." *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*.
- Buscaglia, Georgia, Kyle R. Northington, Jeffrey K. Moore, and Emily Anne Bates. 2020. "Reduced TUBA1A Tubulin Causes Defects in Trafficking and Impaired Adult Motor Behavior." *ENeuro* 7(2):1–19.
- Bushong, Eric A., Maryann E. Martone, Ying Z. Jones, and Mark H. Ellisman. 2002. "Protoplasmic Astrocytes in CA1 Stratum Radiatum Occupy Separate Anatomical Domains." *Journal of Neuroscience*.
- Butler, Merlin G., Jon Tilburt, Aaron Devries, Bethi Muralidhar, Georg Aue, Lora Hedges, James Atkinson, and Herbert Schwartz. 1998. "Comparison of Chromosome Telomere Integrity in Multiple Tissues from Subjects at Different Ages." *Cancer Genetics and Cytogenetics*.
- Cai, Dongsheng, and Sinan Khor. 2019. "'Hypothalamic Microinflammation' Paradigm in Aging and Metabolic Diseases." *Cell Metabolism*.
- Calegari, Vivian C., Adriana S. Torsoni, Emerielle C. Vanzela, Eliana P. Araú, Joseane Morari, Claudio C. Zoppi, Lourenço Sbragia, Antonio C. Boschero, and Lício A. Velloso. 2011. "Inflammation of the Hypothalamus Leads to Defective Pancreatic Islet Function." *Journal of Biological Chemistry*.
- Campbell, John N., Evan Z. Macosko, Henning Fenselau, Tune H. Pers, Anna Lyubetskaya, Danielle Tenen, Melissa Goldman, Anne M. J. Verstegen, Jon M. Resch, Steven A. McCarroll, Evan D. Rosen, Bradford B. Lowell, and Linus T. Tsai. 2017. "A Molecular Census of Arcuate Hypothalamus and Median Eminence Cell Types." *Nature Neuroscience* 20(3):484–96.
- Campuzano, O., M. M. Castillo-Ruiz, Laia Acarin, B. Castellano, and B. Gonzalez. 2009. "Increased Levels of Proinflammatory Cytokines in the Aged Rat Brain Attenuate Injury-Induced Cytokine Response after Excitotoxic Damage." *Journal of Neuroscience Research*.
- Carney, John M., and Robert A. Floyd. 1991. "Protection against Oxidative Damage to CNS by a-Phenyl-Tert-Butyl Nitrone (PBN) and Other Spin-Trapping Agents: A Novel Series of Nonlipid Free Radical Scavengers." *Journal of Molecular Neuroscience*.
- Castiglioni, A. J., M. E. Legare, D. L. Busbee, and E. Tiffany-Castiglioni. 1991. "Morphological Changes in Astrocytes of Aging Mice Fed Normal or Caloric Restricted Diets." *AGE*.
- Cavanagh, Brenton L., Tom Walker, Anwar Norazit, and Adrian C. B. Meedeniya. 2011. "Thymidine Analogues for Tracking DNA Synthesis." *Molecules*.
- Cazettes, Fanny, Jessica I. Cohen, Po Lai Yau, Hugues Talbot, and Antonio Convit. 2011. "Obesity-Mediated Inflammation May Damage the Brain Circuit That Regulates Food Intake." *Brain Research*.
- Cerbai, Francesca, Daniele Lana, Daniele Nosi, Polina Petkova-Kirova, Sandra Zecchi, Holly M. Brothers, Gary L. Wenk, and Maria Grazia Giovannini. 2012. "The Neuron-Astrocyte-Microglia Triad in Normal Brain Ageing and in a Model of Neuroinflammation in the Rat Hippocampus." *PLoS ONE*.
- Chaker, Zayna, Caroline George, Marija Petrovska, Jean Baptiste Caron, Philippe Lacube, Isabelle Caillé, and Martin Holzenberger. 2016. "Hypothalamic Neurogenesis Persists in the Aging Brain and Is Controlled by Energy-Sensing IGF-I Pathway." *Neurobiology of Aging* 41:64–72.
- Chao, Pei Ting, Liang Yang, Susan Aja, Timothy H. Moran, and Sheng Bi. 2011. "Knockdown of NPY Expression in the Dorsomedial Hypothalamus Promotes Development of Brown Adipocytes and Prevents Diet-Induced Obesity." *Cell Metabolism*.
- Chen, Renchao, Xiaoji Wu, Lan Jiang, and Yi Zhang. 2017. "Single-Cell RNA-Seq Reveals Hypothalamic Cell Diversity." *Cell Reports*.

- Chen, Thomas T., Eugene I. Maevsky, and Mikhail L. Uchitel. 2015. "Maintenance of Homeostasis in the Aging Hypothalamus: The Central and Peripheral Roles of Succinate." *Frontiers in Endocrinology* 6(FEB).
- Cherif, H., J. L. Tarry, S. E. Ozanne, and C. N. Hales. 2003. "Ageing and Telomeres: A Study into Organ- and Gender-Specific Telomere Shortening." *Nucleic Acids Research*.
- Chomyn, Anne, and Giuseppe Attardi. 2003. "MtDNA Mutations in Aging and Apoptosis." Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications.
- Chung, Hae Young, Dae Hyun Kim, Eun Kyeong Lee, Ki Wung Chung, Sangwoon Chung, Bonggi Lee, Arnold Y. Seo, Jae Heun Chung, Young Suk Jung, Eunok Im, Jaewon Lee, Nam Deuk Kim, Yeon Ja Choi, Dong Soon Im, and Byung Pal Yu. 2019. "Redefining Chronic Inflammation in Aging and Age-Related Diseases: Proposal of the Senoinflammation Concept." *Aging and Disease*.
- Ciofi, Philippe. 2011. "The Arcuate Nucleus as a Circumventricular Organ in the Mouse." *Neuroscience Letters*.
- Clarke, Laura E., Shane A. Liddelow, Chandrani Chakraborty, Alexandra E. Münch, Myriam Heiman, and Ben A. Barres. 2018. "Normal Aging Induces A1-like Astrocyte Reactivity." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*.
- Claus Stolt, C., Stephan Rehberg, Marius Ader, Petra Lommes, Dieter Riethmacher, Melitta Schachner, Udo Bartsch, and Michael Wegner. 2002. "Terminal Differentiation of Myelin-Forming Oligodendrocytes Depends on the Transcription Factor Sox10." *Genes and Development*.
- Coffey, Edward C., W. E. Wilkinson, I. A. Parashos, S. A. R. Soady, R. J. Sullivan, L. J. Patterson, G. S. Figiel, M. C. Webb, C. E. Spritzer, and W. T. Djang. 1992. "Quantitative Cerebral Anatomy of the Aging Human Brain: A Cross–Sectional Study Using Magnetic Resonance Imaging." *Neurology*.
- Cohen, Ehud, Johan F. Paulsson, Pablo Blinder, Tal Burstyn-Cohen, Deguo Du, Gabriela Estepa, Anthony Adame, Hang M. Pham, Martin Holzenberger, Jeffery W. Kelly, Eliezer Masliah, and Andrew Dillin. 2009. "Reduced IGF-1 Signaling Delays Age-Associated Proteotoxicity in Mice." *Cell*.
- Collden, Gustav, Eglantine Balland, Jyoti Parkash, Emilie Caron, Fanny Langlet, Vincent Prevot, and Sebastien G. Bouret. 2015. "Neonatal Overnutrition Causes Early Alterations in the Central Response to Peripheral Ghrelin." *Molecular Metabolism* 4(1):15–24.
- Colombo, Emanuela, and Cinthia Farina. 2016. "Astrocytes: Key Regulators of Neuroinflammation." *Trends in Immunology*.
- Conde, Cecilia, and Alfredo Cáceres. 2009. "Microtubule Assembly, Organization and Dynamics in Axons and Dendrites." *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*.
- Conde, Jessica R., and Wolfgang J. Streit. 2006. "Effect of Aging on the Microglial Response to Peripheral Nerve Injury." *Neurobiology of Aging*.
- Cone, R. D., M. A. Cowley, A. A. Butler, W. Fan, D. L. Marks, and M. J. Low. 2001. "The Arcuate Nucleus as a Conduit for Diverse Signals Relevant to Energy Homeostasis." *International Journal of Obesity and Related Metabolic Disorders : Journal of the International Association for the Study of Obesity* 25 Suppl 5(February 2002):S63-7.
- Cooper, Geoffrey M., and Robert E. Hausman. 2007. *The Cell: A Molecular Approach 2nd Edition*.
- Coupe, Berengere, and Sebastien G. Bouret. 2013. "Development of the Hypothalamic Melanocortin System." *Frontiers in Endocrinology*.
- Coupé, Bérengre, Yuko Ishii, Marcelo O. Dietrich, Masaaki Komatsu, Tamas L. Horvath, and Sebastien G. Bouret. 2012. "Loss of Autophagy in Pro-Opiomelanocortin Neurons Perturbs Axon Growth and Causes Metabolic Dysregulation." *Cell Metabolism*.
- Cowley, Michael A. 2003. "Hypothalamic Melanocortin Neurons Integrate Signals of Energy

State." in European Journal of Pharmacology.

- Cowley, Michael A., James L. Smart, and Sabrina Diano. 2001. "Leptin Activates Anorexigenic POMC Neurons through a Neural Network in the Arcuate Nucleus." 411(May):480–84.
- Curcio, C. A., and J. W. Hinds. 1983. "Stability of Synaptic Density and Spine Volume in Dentate Gyrus of Aged Rats." *Neurobiology of Aging*.
- Czabotar, Peter E., and James M. Murphy. 2015. "A Tale of Two Domains A Structural Perspective of the Pseudokinase, MLKL." *FEBS Journal*.
- Damani, Mausam R., Lian Zhao, Aurora M. Fontainhas, Juan Amaral, Robert N. Fariss, and Wai T. Wong. 2011. "Age-Related Alterations in the Dynamic Behavior of Microglia." *Aging Cell*.
- Dantzer, Robert, Jason C. O'Connor, Gregory G. Freund, Rodney W. Johnson, and Keith W. Kelley. 2008. "From Inflammation to Sickness and Depression: When the Immune System Subjugates the Brain." *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*.
- Davis, E. J., T. D. Foster, and W. E. Thomas. 1994. "Cellular Forms and Functions of Brain Microglia." *Brain Research Bulletin*.
- DeBruin, Lillian S., Jeffery D. Haines, Dorothee Bienzle, and George Harauz. 2006. "Partitioning of Myelin Basic Protein into Membrane Microdomains in a Spontaneously Demyelinating Mouse Model for Multiple Sclerosis." in *Biochemistry and Cell Biology*.
- Degterev, Alexei, Michael Boyce, and Junying Yuan. 2003. "A Decade of Caspases." Oncogene.
- Dekaban, Anatole S., and Doris Sadowsky. 1978. "Changes in Brain Weights during the Span of Human Life: Relation of Brain Weights to Body Heights and Body Weights." *Annals of Neurology*.
- Deleidi, Michela, Madeline Jäggle, and Graziella Rubino. 2015. "Immune Ageing, Dysmetabolism and Inflammation in Neurological Diseases." *Frontiers in Neuroscience*.
- Dennison, Christina S., Connie M. King, Matthew S. Dicken, and Shane T. Hentges. 2016. "Age-Dependent Changes in Amino Acid Phenotype and the Role of Glutamate Release from Hypothalamic Proopiomelanocortin Neurons." *Journal of Comparative Neurology*.
- Deurveilher, Samuel, and Kazue Semba. 2003. "Indirect Projections from the Suprachiasmatic Nucleus to the Median Preoptic Nucleus in Rat." *Brain Research*.
- Dhillon, Harveen, Jeffrey M. Zigman, Chianping Ye, Charlotte E. Lee, Robert A. McGovern, Vinsee Tang, Christopher D. Kenny, Lauryn M. Christiansen, Ryan D. White, Elisabeth A. Edelstein, Roberto Coppari, Nina Balthasar, Michael A. Cowley, Streamson Chua, Joel K. Elmquist, and Bradford B. Lowell. 2006. "Leptin Directly Activates SF1 Neurons in the VMH, and This Action by Leptin Is Required for Normal Body-Weight Homeostasis." *Neuron*.
- Dicken, M. S., R. E. Tooker, and S. T. Hentges. 2012. "Regulation of GABA and Glutamate Release from Proopiomelanocortin Neuron Terminals in Intact Hypothalamic Networks." *Journal of Neuroscience*.
- Dietrich, Marcelo O., and Tamas L. Horvath. 2013. "Hypothalamic Control of Energy Balance: Insights into the Role of Synaptic Plasticity." *Trends in Neurosciences* 36(2):65–73.
- Dilman, V. M., Ju F. Bobrov, M. N. Ostroumova, E. G. Lvovich, A. S. Vishnevsky, V. N. Anisimov, and I. A. Vasiljeva. 1979. "Hypothalamic Mechanisms of Ageing and of Specific Age Pathology-III. Sensitivity Threshold of Hypothalamo-Pituitary Complex to Homeostatic Stimuli in Energy Systems." *Experimental Gerontology* 14(5):217–24.
- Dimou, L., and V. Gallo. 2015. "NG2-Glia and Their Functions in the Central Nervous System." *GLIA* 63(8):1429–51.
- Dittadi, R., L. Catozzi, M. Gion, A. Brazzale, G. Capitanio, M. C. Gelli, A. Menegon, G. Gardini, R. Malagutti, and A. Piffanelli. 1993. "Comparison between Western Blotting, Immunohistochemical and ELISA Assay for P185(Neu) Quantitation in Breast Cancer

Specimens." Anticancer Research.

- Dixit, Ram, Jennifer L. Ross, Yale E. Goldman, and Erika L. F. Holzbaur. 2008. "Differential Regulation of Dynein and Kinesin Motor Proteins by Tau." *Science*.
- Djogo, Tina, Sarah C. Robins, Sarah Schneider, Darya Kryzskaya, Xiaohong Liu, Andrew Mingay, Colleen J. Gillon, Joo Hyun Kim, Kai Florian Storch, Ulrich Boehm, Charles W. Bourque, Thomas Stroh, Leda Dimou, and Maia V. Kokoeva. 2016. "Adult NG2-Glia Are Required for Median Eminence-Mediated Leptin Sensing and Body Weight Control." *Cell Metabolism*.
- Doetsch, F., I. Caille, D. A. Lim, J. M. Garcia-Verdugo, and A. Alvarez-Buylla. 1999. "Subventricular Zone Astrocytes Are Neural Stem Cells in the Adult Mammalian Brain." *Cell*.
- Dringen, Ralf, Petra G. Pawlowski, and Johannes Hirrlinger. 2005. "Peroxide Detoxification by Brain Cells." in *Journal of Neuroscience Research*.
- Drougard, Anne, Audren Fournel, Philippe Valet, and Claude Knauf. 2015. "Impact of Hypothalamic Reactive Oxygen Species in the Regulation of Energy Metabolism and Food Intake." *Frontiers in Neuroscience*.
- Duarte, Ana I., Maria S. Santos, Catarina R. Oliveira, and A. Cristina Rego. 2005. "Insulin Neuroprotection against Oxidative Stress in Cortical Neurons - Involvement of Uric Acid and Glutathione Antioxidant Defenses." *Free Radical Biology and Medicine*.
- Edgar, Julia M., Mailis C. McCulloch, Paul Montague, Angus M. Brown, Sebastian Thilemann, Laura Pratola, Fredrik I. Gruenenfelder, Ian R. Griffiths, and Klaus Armin Nave. 2010. "Demyelination and Axonal Preservation in a Transgenic Mouse Model of Pelizaeus-Merzbacher Disease." *EMBO Molecular Medicine*.
- Emery, Ben. 2010. "Regulation of Oligodendrocyte Differentiation and Myelination." Science.
- Emery, Ben, Dritan Agalliu, John D. Cahoy, Trent A. Watkins, Jason C. Dugas, Sara B.
 Mulinyawe, Adilijan Ibrahim, Keith L. Ligon, David H. Rowitch, and Ben A. Barres. 2009.
 "Myelin Gene Regulatory Factor Is a Critical Transcriptional Regulator Required for CNS Myelination." *Cell*.
- Eriksson, Peter S., Ekaterina Perfilieva, Thomas Björk-Eriksson, Ann Marie Alborn, Claes Nordborg, Daniel A. Peterson, and Fred H. Gage. 1998. "Neurogenesis in the Adult Human Hippocampus." *Nature Medicine*.
- Esiri, Margaret M. 2007. "Ageing and the Brain." Journal of Pathology.
- Fannon, A. M., and M. A. Moscarello. 1990. "Myelin Basic Protein Is Affected by Reduced Synthesis of Myelin Proteolipid Protein in the Jimpy Mouse." *Biochemical Journal*.
- Fekete, Csaba, and Ronald M. Lechan. 2007. "Negative Feedback Regulation of Hypophysiotropic Thyrotropin-Releasing Hormone (TRH) Synthesizing Neurons: Role of Neuronal Afferents and Type 2 Deiodinase." *Frontiers in Neuroendocrinology*.
- Fekete, Csaba, Gábor Légrádi, Emese Mihály, Qin Heng Huang, Jeffrey B. Tatro, William M. Rand, Charles H. Emerson, and Ronald M. Lechan. 2000. "α-Melanocyte-Stimulating Hormone Is Contained in Nerve Terminals Innervating Thyrotropin-Releasing Hormone-Synthesizing Neurons in the Hypothalamic Paraventricular Nucleus and Prevents Fasting-Induced Suppression of Prothyrotropin-Releasing Hormone Gene E." *Journal of Neuroscience*.
- Fekete, Csaba, Gábor Légrádi, Emese Mihály, Jeffrey B. Tatro, William M. Rand, and Ronald M. Lechan. 2000. "α-Melanocyte Stimulating Hormone Prevents Fasting-Induced Suppression of Corticotropin-Releasing Hormone Gene Expression in the Rat Hypothalamic Paraventricular Nucleus." *Neuroscience Letters*.
- Fetissov, Sergueï O., Jutta Kopp, and Tomas Hökfelt. 2004. "Distribution of NPY Receptors in the Hypothalamus." *Neuropeptides* 38(4):175–88.

Flanary, Barry E., Nicole W. Sammons, Cuong Nguyen, Douglas Walker, and Wolfgang J.

Streit. 2007. "Evidence That Aging and Amyloid Promote Microglial Cell Senescence." *Rejuvenation Research*.

- Flanary, Barry E., and Wolfgang J. Streit. 2004. "Progressive Telomere Shortening Occurs in Cultured Rat Microglia, but Not Astrocytes." *GLIA*.
- Flood, Dorothy G. 1993. "Critical Issues in the Analysis of Dendritic Extent in Aging Humans, Primates, and Rodents." *Neurobiology of Aging*.
- Flood, Dorothy G., Stephen J. Buell, Gary J. Horwitz, and Paul D. Coleman. 1987. "Dendritic Extent in Human Dentate Gyrus Granule Cells in Normal Aging and Senile Dementia." *Brain Research*.
- Flood, Dorothy G., Michael Guarnaccia, and Paul D. Coleman. 1987. "Dendritic Extent in Human CA2-3 Hippocampal Pyramidal Neurons in Normal Aging and Senile Dementia." *Brain Research*.
- Floyd, Robert A., and John M. Carney. 1991. "Age Influence on Oxidative Events during Brain Ischemia/Reperfusion." *Archives of Gerontology and Geriatrics*.
- Flurkey, Kevin, Joanne M. Currer, and D. E. Harrison. 2007. "Mouse Models in Aging Research." in *The Mouse in Biomedical Research*.
- Franceschi, Claudio, Miriam Capri, Daniela Monti, Sergio Giunta, Fabiola Olivieri, Federica Sevini, Maria Panagiota Panourgia, Laura Invidia, Laura Celani, Maria Scurti, Elisa Cevenini, Gastone C. Castellani, and Stefano Salvioli. 2007. "Inflammaging and Anti-Inflammaging: A Systemic Perspective on Aging and Longevity Emerged from Studies in Humans." *Mechanisms of Ageing and Development*.
- Frank, Matthew G., Ruth M. Barrientos, Joseph C. Biedenkapp, Jerry W. Rudy, Linda R. Watkins, and Steven F. Maier. 2006. "MRNA Up-Regulation of MHC II and Pivotal pro-Inflammatory Genes in Normal Brain Aging." *Neurobiology of Aging*.
- Franklin, Kieth B. J., and George Paxinos. 2007. *The Mouse Brain in Stereotaxic Coordinates* (Map).
- Franklin, Robin J. M., and Charles Ffrench-Constant. 2008. "Remyelination in the CNS: From Biology to Therapy." *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*.
- Freidin, M., M. V. L. Bennett, and J. A. Kessler. 1992. "Cultured Sympathetic Neurons Synthesize and Release the Cytokine Interleukin 1β." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*.
- Freude, Susanna, Moritz M. Hettich, Christina Schumann, Oliver Stöhr, Linda Koch, Christoph Köhler, Michael Udelhoven, Uschi Leeser, Marita Müller, Naoto Kubota, Takashi Kadowaki, Wilhelm Krone, Hannsjörg Schroder, Jens C. Brüning, and Markus Schubert. 2009. "Neuronal IGF-1 Resistance Reduces Aβ Accumulation and Protects against Premature Death in a Model of Alzheimer's Disease." *The FASEB Journal*.
- Fry, W. M., and A. V Ferguson. 2009. *Encyclopedia of Neuroscience: Circumventricular Organs*. Elselvier.
- Fuente-Martín, Esther, Cristina Garciá-Cáceres, Pilar Argente-Arizón, Francisca Diáz, Miriam Granado, Alejandra Freire-Regatillo, David Castro-González, Mariá L. Ceballos, Laura M. Frago, Suzanne L. Dickson, Jesús Argente, and Julie A. Chowen. 2016. "Ghrelin Regulates Glucose and Glutamate Transporters in Hypothalamic Astrocytes." *Scientific Reports*.
- Fuente-Martiń, Esther, Cristina García-Cáceres, Miriam Granado, Mariá L. De Ceballos, Miguel Ángel Sánchez-Garrido, Beatrix Sarman, Zhong Wu Liu, Marcelo O. Dietrich, Manuel Tena-Sempere, Pilar Argente-Arizón, Francisca Díaz, Jesús Argente, Tamas L. Horvath, and Julie A. Chowen. 2012. "Leptin Regulates Glutamate and Glucose Transporters in Hypothalamic Astrocytes." Journal of Clinical Investigation.
- Fuente, Monica, and Jaime Miquel. 2009. "An Update of the Oxidation-Inflammation Theory of Aging: The Involvement of the Immune System in Oxi-Inflamm-Aging." *Current Pharmaceutical Design*.

- Fukui, Hirokazu, and Carlos T. Moraes. 2009. "Mechanisms of Formation and Accumulation of Mitochondrial DNA Deletions in Aging Neurons." *Human Molecular Genetics*.
- Fung, Anthony, Marcela Vizcaychipi, Dafydd Lloyd, Yanjie Wan, and Daqing Ma. 2012. "Central Nervous System Inflammation in Disease Related Conditions: Mechanistic Prospects." *Brain Research*.
- Gadea, Ana, Sergio Schinelli, and Vittorio Gallo. 2008. "Endothelin-1 Regulates Astrocyte Proliferation and Reactive Gliosis via a JNK/c-Jun Signaling Pathway." *Journal of Neuroscience*.
- Ganley, Ian G., Du H. Lam, Junru Wang, Xiaojun Ding, She Chen, and Xuejun Jiang. 2009. "ULK1·ATG13·FIP200 Complex Mediates MTOR Signaling and Is Essential for Autophagy." *Journal of Biological Chemistry*.
- Garcia de Yebenes, Ester, Songyun Li, Alain Fournier, Serge St-Pierre, and Georges Pelletier. 1995. "Regulation of Proopiomelanocortin Gene Expression by Neuropeptide Y in the Rat Arcuate Nucleus." *Brain Research* 674(1):112–16.
- Gasque, P., M. Fontaine, and B. P. Morgan. 1995. "Complement Expression in Human Brain: Biosynthesis of Terminal Pathway Components and Regulators in Human Glial Cells and Cell Lines." *Journal of Immunology*.
- Geinisman, Yuri, William Bondareff, and Alvin Telser. 1977. "Diminished Axonal Transport of Glycoproteins in the Senescent Rat Brain." *Mechanisms of Ageing and Development*.
- Geinisman, Yuri, Leyla de Toledo-Morrell, Frank Morrell, Inna S. Persina, and Marvin Rossi. 1992. "Age-related Loss of Axospinous Synapses Formed by Two Afferent Systems in the Rat Dentate Gyrus as Revealed by the Unbiased Stereological Dissector Technique." *Hippocampus*.
- Gendelman, Howard E., Gholam H. Pezeshkpour, Norman J. Pressman, Jerry S. Wolinsky, Richard H. Quarles, Michael J. Dobersen, Bruce D. Trapp, Cheryl A. Kitt, Allen Aksamit, and Richard T. Johnson. 1985. "A Quantitation of Myelin-associated Glycoprotein and Myelin Basic Protein Loss in Different Demyelinating Disease." Annals of Neurology.
- Gentil, Benoit J., and Laura Cooper. 2012. "Molecular Basis of Axonal Dysfunction and Traffic Impairments in CMT." *Brain Research Bulletin*.
- Geoffroy, Cédric G., Brett J. Hilton, Wolfram Tetzlaff, and Binhai Zheng. 2016. "Evidence for an Age-Dependent Decline in Axon Regeneration in the Adult Mammalian Central Nervous System." *Cell Reports*.
- Glass, Christopher K., Kaoru Saijo, Beate Winner, Maria Carolina Marchetto, and Fred H. Gage. 2010. "Mechanisms Underlying Inflammation in Neurodegeneration." *Cell*.
- Gloster, A., W. Wu, A. Speelman, S. Weiss, C. Causing, C. Pozniak, B. Reynolds, E. Chang, J. G. Toma, and F. D. Miller. 1994. "The Tα1 α-Tubulin Promoter Specifies Gene Expression as a Function of Neuronal Growth and Regeneration in Transgenic Mice." *Journal of Neuroscience*.
- Godbout, J. P., J. Chen, J. Abraham, A. F. Richwine, B. M. Berg, K. W. Kelley, and R. W. Johnson. 2005. "Exaggerated Neuroinflammation and Sickness Behavior in Aged Mice Following Activation of the Peripheral Innate Immune System." *The FASEB Journal*.
- Golan, Neev, Konstantin Adamsky, Elena Kartvelishvily, Damian Brockschnieder, Wiebke Möbius, Ivo Spiegel, Alejandro D. Roth, Christine E. Thomson, Gideon Rechavi, and Elior Peles. 2008. "Identification of Tmem10/Opalin as an Oligodendrocyte Enriched Gene Using Expression Profiling Combined with Genetic Cell Ablation." *GLIA*.
- Goldman, Steven A., and Nicholas J. Kuypers. 2015. "How to Make an Oligodendrocyte." *Development (Cambridge)* 142(23):3983–95.
- Gonçalves, Carlos Alberto, Marina Concli Leite, and Patrícia Nardin. 2008. "Biological and Methodological Features of the Measurement of S100B, a Putative Marker of Brain Injury." *Clinical Biochemistry*.

- Goodman, Timothy, and Mohammad K. Hajihosseini. 2015. "Hypothalamic Tanycytes-Masters and Servants of Metabolic, Neuroendocrine, and Neurogenic Functions." *Frontiers in Neuroscience* 9(OCT).
- Gordon, Siamon. 2003. "Alternative Activation of Macrophages." Nature Reviews Immunology.
- Gouazé, Alexandra, Xavier Brenachot, Caroline Rigault, Alice Krezymon, Camille Rauch, Emmanuelle Nédélec, Aleth Lemoine, Jean Gascuel, Sylvian Bauer, Luc Pénicaud, and Alexandre Benani. 2013a. "Cerebral Cell Renewal in Adult Mice Controls the Onset of Obesity." *PLoS ONE* 8(8).
- Gouazé, Alexandra, Xavier Brenachot, Caroline Rigault, Alice Krezymon, Camille Rauch, Emmanuelle Nédélec, Aleth Lemoine, Jean Gascuel, Sylvian Bauer, Luc Pénicaud, and Alexandre Benani. 2013b. "Cerebral Cell Renewal in Adult Mice Controls the Onset of Obesity." *PLoS ONE*.
- Gould, Elizabeth, Anna Beylin, Patima Tanapat, Alison Reeves, and Tracey J. Shors. 1999. "Learning Enhances Adult Neurogenesis in the Hippocampal Formation." *Nature Neuroscience*.
- Gould, Elizabeth, Patima Tanapat, Bruce S. Mcewen, Gabriele Flügge, and Eberhard Fuchs. 1998. "Proliferation of Granule Cell Precursors in the Dentate Gyrus of Adult Monkeys Is Diminished by Stress." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*.
- Gould, Robert M., Concetta M. Freund, and Elisa Barbarese. 1999. "Myelin-Associated Oligodendrocytic Basic Protein MRNAs Reside at Different Subcellular Locations." *Journal* of Neurochemistry.
- Grabert, Kathleen, Tom Michoel, Michail H. Karavolos, Sara Clohisey, J. Kenneth Baillie, Mark P. Stevens, Tom C. Freeman, Kim M. Summers, and Barry W. McColl. 2016. "Microglial Brain Region-Dependent Diversity and Selective Regional Sensitivities to Aging." *Nature Neuroscience*.
- Graf, Amanda E., Scott W. Lallier, Gavisha Waidyaratne, Michael D. Thompson, Trent E. Tipple, Mark E. Hester, Aaron J. Trask, and Lynette K. Rogers. 2016. "Maternal High Fat Diet Exposure Is Associated with Increased Hepcidin Levels, Decreased Myelination, and Neurobehavioral Changes in Male Offspring." *Brain, Behavior, and Immunity*.
- Grill, Joshua D., and David R. Riddle. 2002. "Age-Related and Laminar-Specific Dendritic Changes in the Medial Frontal Cortex of the Rat." *Brain Research*.
- Gropp, Eva, Marya Shanabrough, Erzsebet Borok, Allison W. Xu, Ruth Janoschek, Thorsten Buch, Leona Plum, Nina Balthasar, Brigitte Hampel, Ari Waisman, Gregory S. Barsh, Tamas L. Horvath, and Jens C. Brüning. 2005. "Agouti-Related Peptide-Expressing Neurons Are Mandatory for Feeding." *Nature Neuroscience*.
- Guyenet, Stephan J., Hong T. Nguyen, Bang H. Hwang, Michael W. Schwartz, Denis G. Baskin, and Joshua P. Thaler. 2013. "High-Fat Diet Feeding Causes Rapid, Non-Apoptotic Cleavage of Caspase-3 in Astrocytes." *Brain Research*.
- Haan, N., T. Goodman, A. Najdi-Samiei, C. M. Stratford, R. Rice, E. El Agha, S. Bellusci, and M. K. Hajihosseini. 2013. "Fgf10-Expressing Tanycytes Add New Neurons to the Appetite/Energy-Balance Regulating Centers of the Postnatal and Adult Hypothalamus." *Journal of Neuroscience* 33(14):6170–80.
- Haan, Niels, Timothy Goodman, Alaleh Najdi-Samiei, Christina M. Stratford, Ritva Rice, Elie El Agha, Saverio Bellusci, and Mohammad K. Hajihosseini. 2013. "Fgf10-Expressing Tanycytes Add New Neurons to the Appetite/Energy-Balance Regulating Centers of the Postnatal and Adult Hypothalamus." *Journal of Neuroscience* 33(14):6170–80.
- Hachem, S., A. Aguirre, V. Vives, A. Marks, V. Gallo, and C. Legraverend. 2005. "Spatial and Temporal Expression of S100B in Cells of Oligodendrocyte Lineage." *GLIA* 51(2):81–97.
- Hagan, M., P. Rushing, M. Schwartz, K. Yagaloff, P. Burn, S. Woods, and R. Seeley. 1999. "Role of the CNS Melanocortin System in the Response to Overfeeding." *The Journal of*

Neuroscience 19(6):2362-67.

- Hagemeyer, Nora, Klara Maria Hanft, Maria Anna Akriditou, Nicole Unger, Eun S. Park, E. Richard Stanley, Ori Staszewski, Leda Dimou, and Marco Prinz. 2017. "Microglia Contribute to Normal Myelinogenesis and to Oligodendrocyte Progenitor Maintenance during Adulthood." *Acta Neuropathologica*.
- Hahn, T. M., J. F. Breininger, D. G. Baskin, and M. W. Schwartz. 1998. "Coexpression of Agrp and NPY in Fasting-Activated Hypothalamic Neurons." *Nature Neuroscience* 1(4):271–72.
- Hajihosseini, Mohammad K., Stijn De Langhe, Eva Lana-Elola, Harris Morrison, Neil Sparshott, Robert Kelly, James Sharpe, David Rice, and Saverio Bellusci. 2008. "Localization and Fate of Fgf10-Expressing Cells in the Adult Mouse Brain Implicate Fgf10 in Control of Neurogenesis." *Molecular and Cellular Neuroscience*.
- Han, Xiaoping, Renying Wang, Yincong Zhou, Lijiang Fei, Huiyu Sun, Shujing Lai, Assieh Saadatpour, Zimin Zhou, Haide Chen, Fang Ye, Daosheng Huang, Yang Xu, Wentao Huang, Mengmeng Jiang, Xinyi Jiang, Jie Mao, Yao Chen, Chenyu Lu, Jin Xie, Qun Fang, Yibin Wang, Rui Yue, Tiefeng Li, He Huang, Stuart H. Orkin, Guo Cheng Yuan, Ming Chen, and Guoji Guo. 2018. "Mapping the Mouse Cell Atlas by Microwell-Seq." Cell.
- Hanks, Steven D., and Dorothy G. Flood. 1991. "Region-Specific Stability of Dendritic Extent in Normal Human Aging and Regression in Alzheimer's Disease. I. CA1 of Hippocampus." *Brain Research*.
- Hara, Taichi, Kenji Nakamura, Makoto Matsui, Akitsugu Yamamoto, Yohko Nakahara, Rika Suzuki-Migishima, Minesuke Yokoyama, Kenji Mishima, Ichiro Saito, Hideyuki Okano, and Noboru Mizushima. 2006. "Suppression of Basal Autophagy in Neural Cells Causes Neurodegenerative Disease in Mice." *Nature*.
- Harley, Calvin B., A. Bruce Futcher, and Carol W. Greider. 1990. "Telomeres Shorten during Ageing of Human Fibroblasts." *Nature*.
- Harman, Denham. 1988. "Free Radicals in Aging." Molecular and Cellular Biochemistry.
- Harrison, David E., Randy Strong, Zelton Dave Sharp, James F. Nelson, Clinton M. Astle, Kevin Flurkey, Nancy L. Nadon, J. Erby Wilkinson, Krystyna Frenkel, Christy S. Carter, Marco Pahor, Martin A. Javors, Elizabeth Fernandez, and Richard A. Miller. 2009. "Rapamycin Fed Late in Life Extends Lifespan in Genetically Heterogeneous Mice." *Nature*.
- Hastie, Nicholas D., Maureen Dempster, Malcolm G. Dunlop, Alastair M. Thompson, Daryll K. Green, and Robin C. Allshire. 1990. "Telomere Reduction in Human Colorectal Carcinoma and with Ageing." *Nature*.
- Hayden, Matthew S., and Sankar Ghosh. 2008. "Shared Principles in NF-KB Signaling." Cell.
- He, Congcong, and Daniel J. Klionsky. 2009. "Regulation Mechanisms and Signaling Pathways of Autophagy." *Annual Review of Genetics*.
- Herbert, Amy L., Meng Meng Fu, Catherine M. Drerup, Ryan S. Gray, Breanne L. Harty, Sarah D. Ackerman, Thomas O'Reilly-Pol, Stephen L. Johnson, Alex V. Nechiporuk, Ben A. Barres, and Kelly R. Monk. 2017. "Dynein/Dynactin Is Necessary for Anterograde Transport of Mbp MRNA in Oligodendrocytes and for Myelination in Vivo." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 114(43):E9153–62.
- Hildrum, Bjørn, Arnstein Mykletun, Torstein Hole, Kristian Midthjell, and Alv A. Dahl. 2007. "Age-Specific Prevalence of the Metabolic Syndrome Defined by the International Diabetes Federation and the National Cholesterol Education Program: The Norwegian HUNT 2 Study." *BMC Public Health*.
- Hill, Robert A., Alice M. Li, and Jaime Grutzendler. 2018. "Lifelong Cortical Myelin Plasticity and Age-Related Degeneration in the Live Mammalian Brain." *Nature Neuroscience*.
- Hinks, G. L., and R. J. M. Franklin. 2000. "Delayed Changes in Growth Factor Gene Expression during Slow Remyelination in the CNS of Aged Rats." *Molecular and Cellular Neuroscience*.

- Ho, K., U. Roessmann, J. V. Straumfjord, and G. Monroe. 1980. "Analysis of Brain Weight. I. Adult Brain Weight in Relation to Sex, Race, and Age." *Archives of Pathology and Laboratory Medicine*.
- Hof, Patrick R., and John H. Morrison. 2004. "The Aging Brain: Morphomolecular Senescence of Cortical Circuits." *Trends in Neurosciences*.
- Holmes, Megan C., Ferenc A. Antoni, Greti Aguilera, and Kevin J. Catt. 1986. "Magnocellular Axons in Passage Trough the Median Eminence Release Vasopressin." *Letters to Nature* 319:326–29.
- Holstege, Henne, Wayne Pfeiffer, Daoud Sie, Marc Hulsman, Thomas J. Nicholas, Clarence C.
 Lee, Tristen Ross, Jue Lin, Mark A. Miller, Bauke Ylstra, Hanne Meijers-Heijboer, Martijn H. Brugman, Frank J. T. Staal, Gert Holstege, Marcel J. T. Reinders, Timothy T. Harkins, Samuel Levy, and Erik A. Sistermans. 2014. "Somatic Mutations Found in the Healthy Blood Compartment of a 115-Yr-Old Woman Demonstrate Oligoclonal Hematopoiesis." *Genome Research*.
- Hong, Soyon, Victoria F. Beja-Glasser, Bianca M. Nfonoyim, Arnaud Frouin, Shaomin Li, Saranya Ramakrishnan, Katherine M. Merry, Qiaoqiao Shi, Arnon Rosenthal, Ben A.
 Barres, Cynthia A. Lemere, Dennis J. Selkoe, and Beth Stevens. 2016. "Complement and Microglia Mediate Early Synapse Loss in Alzheimer Mouse Models." *Science*.
- Hou, Yujun, Xiuli Dan, Mansi Babbar, Yong Wei, Steen G. Hasselbalch, Deborah L. Croteau, and Vilhelm A. Bohr. 2019. "Ageing as a Risk Factor for Neurodegenerative Disease." *Nature Reviews Neurology*.
- Houck, David W., and Michael R. Loken. 1985. "Simultaneous Analysis of Cell Surface Antigens, Bromodeoxyuridine Incorporation and DNA Content." *Cytometry*.
- Howard, J. 1996. "The Movement of Kinesin Along Microtubules." *Annual Review of Physiology*.
- Huang, Hui Ting, Sheng Feng Tsai, Hung Tsung Wu, Hsin Ying Huang, Han Hsueh Hsieh, Yu Ming Kuo, Po See Chen, Chung Shi Yang, and Shun Fen Tzeng. 2019. "Chronic Exposure to High Fat Diet Triggers Myelin Disruption and Interleukin-33 Upregulation in Hypothalamus." *BMC Neuroscience*.
- Hudson, Chad A., George P. Christophi, Ross C. Gruber, Joel R. Wilmore, David A. Lawrence, and Paul T. Massa. 2008. "Induction of IL-33 Expression and Activity in Central Nervous System Glia." *Journal of Leukocyte Biology*.
- Huebner, Eric A., and Stephen M. Strittmatter. 2009. "Axon Regeneration in the Peripheral and Central Nervous Systems." *Results and Problems in Cell Differentiation*.
- Hughes, Ethan G., Jennifer L. Orthmann-Murphy, Abraham J. Langseth, and Dwight E. Bergles. 2018. "Myelin Remodeling through Experience-Dependent Oligodendrogenesis in the Adult Somatosensory Cortex." *Nature Neuroscience*.
- Ibanez, C., S. A. Shields, M. El-Etr, E. Leonelli, V. Magnaghi, W. W. Li, F. J. Sim, E. E. Baulieu, R. C. Melcangi, M. Schumacher, and R. J. M. Franklin. 2003. "Steroids and the Reversal of Age-Associated Changes in Myelination and Remyelination." *Progress in Neurobiology* 71(1):49–56.
- Ike, Hiromi, Yoshitaka Tamada, Mamoru Uemura, Akihiko Ishihara, Fumihiko Suwa, and Yasuhiko Ibata. 2004. *Age-Related Changes in Astrocytes and Microvasculature in the Median Eminence of the Rat.* Vol. 37.
- Ip, Chi Wang, Antje Kroner, Janos Groh, Marianne Huber, Dennis Klein, Irene Spahn, Ricarda Diem, Sarah K. Williams, Klaus Armin Nave, Julia M. Edgar, and Rudolf Martini. 2012.
 "Neuroinflammation by Cytotoxic T-Lymphocytes Impairs Retrograde Axonal Transport in an Oligodendrocyte Mutant Mouse." *PLoS ONE*.
- Iqbal, K., I. Grundke-Iqbal, and H. M. Wisniewski. 1986. "Neuronal Cytoskeleton in Aging and Dementia." *Progress in Brain Research*.
- Iqbal, K., F. Liu, C. X. Gong, and I. Grundke-Iqbal. 2010. "Tau in Alzheimer Disease and

Related Tauopathies." Current Alzheimer Research.

- Ishikawa, Naoshi, Ken Ichi Nakamura, Naotaka Izumiyama, Junko Aida, Motoji Sawabe, Tomio Arai, Hiroshi Kishimoto, Mutsunori Fujiwara, Akio Ishii, and Kaiyo Takubo. 2012.
 "Telomere Length Dynamics in the Human Pituitary Gland: Robust Preservation throughout Adult Life to Centenarian Age." Age.
- Jaglin, Xavier Hubert, Karine Poirier, Yoann Saillour, Emmanuelle Buhler, Guoling Tian, Nadia Bahi-Buisson, Catherine Fallet-Bianco, Françoise Phan-Dinh-Tuy, Xiang Peng Kong, Pascale Bomont, Laëtitia Castelnau-Ptakhine, Sylvie Odent, Philippe Loget, Manoelle Kossorotoff, Irina Snoeck, Ghislaine Plessis, Philippe Parent, Cherif Beldjord, Carlos Cardoso, Alfonso Represa, Jonathan Flint, David Anthony Keays, Nicholas Justin Cowan, and Jamel Chelly. 2009. "Mutations in the B-Tubulin Gene TUBB2B Result in Asymmetrical Polymicrogyria." *Nature Genetics*.
- Janda, Elzbieta, Laura Boi, and Anna R. Carta. 2018. "Microglial Phagocytosis and Its Regulation: A Therapeutic Target in Parkinson's Disease?" *Frontiers in Molecular Neuroscience*.
- Jarvie, Brooke C., and Shane T. Hentges. 2012. "Expression of GABAergic and Glutamatergic Phenotypic Markers in Hypothalamic Proopiomelanocortin Neurons." *Journal of Comparative Neurology*.
- Jernigan, Terry L., Gary A. Press, and John R. Hesselink. 1990. "Methods for Measuring Brain Morphologic Features on Magnetic Resonance Images: Validation and Normal Aging." *Archives of Neurology*.
- Jiang, Cecilia H., Joe Z. Tsien, Peter G. Schultz, and Yinghe Hu. 2001. "The Effects of Aging on Gene Expression in the Hypothalamus and Cortex of Mice." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 98(4):1930–34.
- Johansson, Clas B., Stefan Momma, Diana L. Clarke, Mårten Risling, Urban Lendahl, and Jonas Frisén. 1999. "Identification of a Neural Stem Cell in the Adult Mammalian Central Nervous System." *Cell*.
- Jourdon, Alexandre, Aurélie Gresset, Nathalie Spassky, Patrick Charnay, Piotr Topilko, and Renata Santos. 2016. "Prss56, a Novel Marker of Adult Neurogenesis in the Mouse Brain." *Brain Structure and Function* 221(9):4411–27.
- Jung, Chang Hwa, Chang Bong Jun, Seung Hyun Ro, Young Mi Kim, Neil Michael Otto, Jing Cao, Mondira Kundu, and Do Hyung Kim. 2009. "ULK-Atg13-FIP200 Complexes Mediate MTOR Signaling to the Autophagy Machinery." *Molecular Biology of the Cell*.
- Jyothi, H. J., D. J. Vidyadhara, Anita Mahadevan, Mariamma Philip, Suresh Kumar Parmar, S. Gowri Manohari, S. K. Shankar, Trichur R. Raju, and Phalguni Anand Alladi. 2015. "Aging Causes Morphological Alterations in Astrocytes and Microglia in Human Substantia Nigra Pars Compacta." *Neurobiology of Aging*.
- Kanaan, Nicholas M., Jeffrey H. Kordower, and Timothy J. Collier. 2010. "Age-Related Changes in Glial Cells of Dopamine Midbrain Subregions in Rhesus Monkeys." *Neurobiology of Aging*.
- Kapitein, Lukas C., and Casper C. Hoogenraad. 2015. "Building the Neuronal Microtubule Cytoskeleton." *Neuron*.
- Kappeler, Laurent, Carlos De Magalhaes Filho, Joëlle Dupont, Patricia Leneuve, Pascale Cervera, Laurence Périn, Catherine Loudes, Annick Blaise, Rüdiger Klein, Jacques Epelbaum, Yves Le Bouc, and Martin Holzenberger. 2008. "Brain IGF-1 Receptors Control Mammalian Growth and Lifespan through a Neuroendocrine Mechanism." *PLoS Biology*.
- Kaushik, Susmita, Esperanza Arias, Hyokjoon Kwon, Nuria Martinez Lopez, Diana Athonvarangkul, Srabani Sahu, Gary J. Schwartz, Jeffrey E. Pessin, and Rajat Singh. 2012. "Loss of Autophagy in Hypothalamic POMC Neurons Impairs Lipolysis." *EMBO Reports*.
- Kaushik, Susmita, Jose Antonio Rodriguez-Navarro, Esperanza Arias, Roberta Kiffin, Srabani Sahu, Gary J. Schwartz, Ana Maria Cuervo, and Rajat Singh. 2011. "Autophagy in Hypothalamic Agrp Neurons Regulates Food Intake and Energy Balance." *Cell Metabolism*.
- Kee, N., S. Sivalingam, R. Boonstra, and J. M. Wojtowicz. 2002. "The Utility of Ki-67 and BrdU as Proliferative Markers of Adult Neurogenesis." *Journal of Neuroscience Methods*.
- Kelly, Robert G., Nigel A. Brown, and Margaret E. Buckingham. 2001. "The Arterial Pole of the Mouse Heart Forms from Fgf10-Expressing Cells in Pharyngeal Mesoderm." *Developmental Cell* 1(3):435–40.
- Kempermann, Gerd, H. Georg Kuhn, and Fred H. Gage. 1997. "More Hippocampal Neurons in Adult Mice Living in an Enriched Environment." *Nature*.
- Kim, Keetae, and Han Kyoung Choe. 2018. "Role of Hypothalamus in Aging and Its Underlying Cellular Mechanisms." *Mechanisms of Ageing and Development*.
- King, Connie M., and Shane T. Hentges. 2011. "Relative Number and Distribution of Murine Hypothalamic Proopiomelanocortin Neurons Innervating Distinct Target Sites." *PLoS ONE* 6(10).
- Kirk, John, Jonnie Plumb, Meenakshi Mirakhur, and Stephen McQuaid. 2003. "Tight Junctional Abnormality in Multiple Sclerosis White Matter Affects All Calibres of Vessel and Is Associated with Blood-Brain Barrier Leakage and Active Demyelination." *Journal of Pathology*.
- Klugmann, Matthias, Markus H. Schwab, Anja Pühlhofer, Armin Schneider, Frank Zimmermann, Ian R. Griffiths, and Klaus Armin Nave. 1997. "Assembly of CNS Myelin in the Absence of Proteolipid Protein." *Neuron*.
- Koenning, Matthias, Stacey Jackson, Curtis M. Hay, Clare Faux, Trevor J. Kilpatrick, Melanie Willingham, and Ben Emery. 2012. "Myelin Gene Regulatory Factor Is Required for Maintenance of Myelin and Mature Oligodendrocyte Identity in the Adult CNS." *Journal of Neuroscience*.
- Kohama, Steven G., James R. Goss, Caleb E. Finch, and Thomas H. McNeill. 1995. "Increases of Glial Fibrillary Acidic Protein in the Aging Female Mouse Brain." *Neurobiology of Aging*.
- Kohno, Daisuke, and Toshihiko Yada. 2012. "Arcuate NPY Neurons Sense and Integrate Peripheral Metabolic Signals to Control Feeding." *Neuropeptides*.
- Kokoeva, Maia V., Huali Yin, and Jeffrey S. Flier. 2005. "Neurogenesis in the Hypothalamus of Adult Mice: Potential Role in Energy Balance." *Science*.
- Kokoeva, Maia V., Huali Yin, and Jeffrey S. Flier. 2007. "Evidence for Constitutive Neural Cell Proliferation in the Adult Murine Hypothalamus." *Journal of Comparative Neurology*.
- Kokovay, Erzsebet, Susan Goderie, Yue Wang, Steve Lotz, Gang Lin, Yu Sun, Badrinath Roysam, Qin Shen, and Sally Temple. 2010. "Adult Svz Lineage Cells Home to and Leave the Vascular Niche via Differential Responses to SDF1/CXCR4 Signaling." *Cell Stem Cell*.
- Komatsu, Masaaki, Satoshi Waguri, Tomoki Chiba, Shigeo Murata, Jun Ichi Iwata, Isei Tanida, Takashi Ueno, Masato Koike, Yasuo Uchiyama, Eiki Kominami, and Keiji Tanaka. 2006. "Loss of Autophagy in the Central Nervous System Causes Neurodegeneration in Mice." *Nature*.
- Kong, Dong, Qingchun Tong, Chianping Ye, Shuichi Koda, Patrick M. Fuller, Michael J.
 Krashes, Linh Vong, Russell S. Ray, David P. Olson, and Bradford B. Lowell. 2012.
 "GABAergic RIP-Cre Neurons in the Arcuate Nucleus Selectively Regulate Energy Expenditure." *Cell*.
- Korhonen, P., M. Helenius, and A. Salminen. 1997. "Age-Related Changes in the Regulation of Transcription Factor NF-KB in Rat Brain." *Neuroscience Letters*.
- Kowalski, C., J. Micheau, R. Corder, R. Gaillard, and B. Conte-Devolx. 1992. "Age-Related Changes in Cortico-Releasing Factor, Somatostatin, Neuropeptide Y, Methionine

Enkephalin and β-Endorphin in Specific Rat Brain Areas." *Brain Research*.

- Krabbe, Karen Suárez, Maria Pedersen, and Helle Bruunsgaard. 2004. "Inflammatory Mediators in the Elderly." *Experimental Gerontology*.
- Krude, H., H. Biebermann, W. Luck, R. Horn, G. Brabant, and a Grüters. 1998. "Severe Early-Onset Obesity, Adrenal Insufficiency and Red Hair Pigmentation Caused by POMC Mutations in Humans." *Nature Genetics* 19(2):155–57.
- Kuan, Chia Yi, Aryn J. Schloemer, Aigang Lu, Kevin A. Burns, Wei Lan Weng, Michael T.
 Williams, Kenneth I. Strauss, Charles V. Vorhees, Richard A. Flavell, Roger I. Davis, Frank
 R. Sharp, and Pasko Rakic. 2004. "Hypoxia-Ischemia Induces DNA Synthesis without
 Cell Proliferation in Dying Neurons in Adult Rodent Brain." *Journal of Neuroscience*.
- Kuhn, H. Georg, Heather Dickinson-Anson, and Fred H. Gage. 1996. "Neurogenesis in the Dentate Gyrus of the Adult Rat: Age-Related Decrease of Neuronal Progenitor Proliferation." *Journal of Neuroscience* 16(6):2027–33.
- Kuk, Jennifer L., Travis J. Saunders, Lance E. Davidson, and Robert Ross. 2009. "Age-Related Changes in Total and Regional Fat Distribution." *Ageing Research Reviews*.
- Kumar, Devesh, Vinod Periasamy, Maria Freese, Anja Voigt, and Ulrich Boehm. 2015. "In Utero Development of Kisspeptin/GnRH Neural Circuitry in Male Mice." *Endocrinology*.
- Kyrylkova, Kateryna, Sergiy Kyryachenko, Mark Leid, and Chrissa Kioussi. 2012. "Detection of Apoptosis by TUNEL Assay." *Methods in Molecular Biology*.
- Lazarov, Orly, and Robert A. Marr. 2013. "Of Mice and Men: Neurogenesis, Cognition, and Alzheimer's Disease." *Frontiers in Aging Neuroscience*.
- Lechan, Ronald M., and Csaba Fekete. 2006. "Role of Melanocortin Signaling in the Regulation of the Hypothalamic-Pituitary-Thyroid (HPT) Axis." *Peptides*.
- Lee, Bora, Seunghee Lee, Soo-Kyung Lee, and Jae W. Lee. 2016. "The LIM-Homeobox Transcription Factor Isl1 Plays Critical Roles in Development of Multiple Arcuate Nucleus Neurons." *Development (Cambridge, England)* (2016):3763–73.
- Lee, Daniel A., Joseph L. Bedont, Thomas Pak, Hong Wang, Juan Song, Ana Miranda-Angulo, Vani Takiar, Vanessa Charubhumi, Francesca Balordi, Hirohide Takebayashi, Susan Aja, Eric Ford, Gordon Fishell, and Seth Blackshaw. 2012. "Tanycytes of the Hypothalamic Median Eminence Form a Diet-Responsive Neurogenic Niche." *Nature Neuroscience* 15(5):700–702.
- Lee, Daniel A., and Seth Blackshaw. 2012. "Functional Implications of Hypothalamic Neurogenesis in the Adult Mammalian Brain." *International Journal of Developmental Neuroscience*.
- Lee, Daniel A., Sooyeon Yoo, Thomas Pak, Juan Salvatierra, Esteban Velarde, Susan Aja, and Seth Blackshaw. 2014. "Dietary and Sex-Specific Factors Regulate Hypothalamic Neurogenesis in Young Adult Mice." *Frontiers in Neuroscience*.
- Lee, Kwon Young, Joo Yeon Kang, Jung Im Yun, Jin Young Chung, In Koo Hwang, Moo Ho Won, and Jung Hoon Choi. 2017. "Age-Related Change of Iba-1 Immunoreactivity in the Adult and Aged Gerbil Spinal Cord." *Anatomy and Cell Biology*.
- Lee, Youngjin, Brett M. Morrison, Yun Li, Sylvain Lengacher, Mohamed H. Farah, Paul N. Hoffman, Yiting Liu, Akivaga Tsingalia, Lin Jin, Ping Wu Zhang, Luc Pellerin, Pierre J. Magistretti, and Jeffrey D. Rothstein. 2012. "Oligodendroglia Metabolically Support Axons and Contribute to Neurodegeneration." *Nature*.
- Lemus, Moyra B., Jacqueline A. Bayliss, Sarah H. Lockie, Vanessa V. Santos, Alex Reichenbach, Romana Stark, and Zane B. Andrews. 2015. "A Stereological Analysis of NPY, POMC, Orexin, GFAP Astrocyte, and Iba1 Microglia Cell Number and Volume in Diet-Induced Obese Male Mice." *Endocrinology* 156(5):1701–13.
- Letiembre, M., W. Hao, Y. Liu, S. Walter, I. Mihaljevic, S. Rivest, T. Hartmann, and K. Fassbender. 2007. "Innate Immune Receptor Expression in Normal Brain Aging."

Neuroscience.

- Li, Juxue, Yizhe Tang, and Dongsheng Cai. 2012. "IKKβ/NF-KB Disrupts Adult Hypothalamic Neural Stem Cells to Mediate a Neurodegenerative Mechanism of Dietary Obesity and Pre-Diabetes." *Nature Cell Biology*.
- Li, Wenxue, Paul N. Hoffman, Wanda Stirling, Donald L. Price, and Michael K. Lee. 2003. "Axonal Transport of Human α-Synuclein Slows with Aging but Is Not Affected by Familial Parkinson's Disease-Linked Mutations." *Journal of Neurochemistry*.
- Liddelow, Shane A., and Ben A. Barres. 2017. "Reactive Astrocytes: Production, Function, and Therapeutic Potential." *Immunity*.
- Liddelow, Shane A., Kevin A. Guttenplan, Laura E. Clarke, Frederick C. Bennett, Christopher J. Bohlen, Lucas Schirmer, Mariko L. Bennett, Alexandra E. Münch, Won Suk Chung, Todd C. Peterson, Daniel K. Wilton, Arnaud Frouin, Brooke A. Napier, Nikhil Panicker, Manoj Kumar, Marion S. Buckwalter, David H. Rowitch, Valina L. Dawson, Ted M. Dawson, Beth Stevens, and Ben A. Barres. 2017. "Neurotoxic Reactive Astrocytes Are Induced by Activated Microglia." *Nature* 541(7638):481–87.
- Ligon, Keith L., Santosh Kesari, Masaaki Kitada, Tao Sun, Heather A. Arnett, John A. Alberta, David J. Anderson, Charles D. Stiles, and David H. Rowitch. 2006. "Development of NG2 Neural Progenitor Cells Requires Olig Gene Function." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*.
- Ligon, Lee A., Mariko Tokito, Jeffrey M. Finklestein, Francesca E. Grossman, and Erika L. F. Holzbaur. 2004. "A Direct Interaction between Cytoplasmic Dynein and Kinesin I May Coordinate Motor Activity." *Journal of Biological Chemistry*.
- Lim, Soo, Jung Hee Kim, Ji Won Yoon, Seon Mee Kang, Sung Hee Choi, Young Joo Park, Ki Woong Kim, Jae Young Lim, Kyong Soo Park, and Hak Chul Jang. 2010. "Sarcopenic Obesity: Prevalence and Association with Metabolic Syndrome in the Korean Longitudinal Study on Health and Aging (KLoSHA)." *Diabetes Care*.
- Lima, Leandro B., Martin Metzger, Isadora C. Furigo, and J. Donato. 2016. "Leptin Receptor-Positive and Leptin Receptor-Negative Proopiomelanocortin Neurons Innervate an Identical Set of Brain Structures." *Brain Research*.
- Lipinski, Marta M., Bin Zheng, Tao Lu, Zhenyu Yan, Bénédicte F. Py, Aylwin Ng, Ramnik J. Xavier, Cheng Li, Bruce A. Yankner, Clemens R. Scherzer, and Junying Yuan. 2010. "Genome-Wide Analysis Reveals Mechanisms Modulating Autophagy in Normal Brain Aging and in Alzheimer's Disease." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*.
- Liu, Quan, Arun K. Raina, Mark A. Smith, Lawrence M. Sayre, and George Perry. 2003. "Hydroxynonenal, Toxic Carbonyls, and Alzheimer Disease." in *Molecular Aspects of Medicine*.
- Liu, Yansheng, Andreas Beyer, and Ruedi Aebersold. 2016. "On the Dependency of Cellular Protein Levels on MRNA Abundance." *Cell*.
- Liu, Yuwen, Jie Zhou, and Kevin P. White. 2014. "RNA-Seq Differential Expression Studies: More Sequence or More Replication?" *Bioinformatics* 30(3):301–4.
- Lloyd, Amy F., Claire L. Davies, Rebecca K. Holloway, Yasmine Labrak, Graeme Ireland, Dario Carradori, Alessandra Dillenburg, Eva Borger, Daniel Soong, Jill C. Richardson, Tanja Kuhlmann, Anna Williams, Jeffrey W. Pollard, Anne des Rieux, Josef Priller, and Veronique E. Miron. 2019. "Central Nervous System Regeneration Is Driven by Microglia Necroptosis and Repopulation." *Nature Neuroscience* 22(7):1046–52.
- Lloyd, Jonathan M., Kathryn Scarbrough, Nancy G. Weiland, and Phyllis M. Wise. 1991. "Age-Related Changes in Proopiomelanocortin (POMC) Gene Expression in the Periarcuate Region of Ovariectomized Rats." *Endocrinology*.
- Long, Jeffrey M., Audrey N. Kalehua, Nancy J. Muth, Michael E. Calhoun, Mathias Jucker, John M. Hengemihle, Donald K. Ingram, and Peter R. Mouton. 1998. "Stereological

Analysis of Astrocyte and Microglia in Aging Mouse Hippocampus." *Neurobiology of Aging*.

- López-Otín, Carlos, Maria A. Blasco, Linda Partridge, Manuel Serrano, and Guido Kroemer. 2013. "The Hallmarks of Aging." *Cell*.
- Lu, Xin Yun, Gregory S. Barsh, Huda Akil, and Stanley J. Watson. 2003. "Interaction between a-Melanocyte-Stimulating Hormone and Corticotropin-Releasing Hormone in the Regulation of Feeding and Hypothalamo-Pituitary-Adrenal Responses." *Journal of Neuroscience*.
- Lundgaard, I., M. J. Osório, B. T. Kress, S. Sanggaard, and M. Nedergaard. 2014. "White Matter Astrocytes in Health and Disease." *Neuroscience* 276:161–73.
- Luquet, S. 2005. "NPY/AgRP Neurons Are Essential for Feeding in Adult Mice but Can Be Ablated in Neonates." *Science* 310(5748):683–85.
- Lyons, David A., Stephen G. Naylor, Anja Scholze, and William S. Talbot. 2009. "Kif1b Is Essential for MRNA Localization in Oligodendrocytes and Development of Myelinated Axons." *Nature Genetics* 41(7):854–58.
- Maday, Sandra, Alison E. Twelvetrees, Armen J. Moughamian, and Erika L. F. Holzbaur. 2014. "Axonal Transport: Cargo-Specific Mechanisms of Motility and Regulation." *Neuron*.
- Madeira, M. Dulce, N. Sousa, R. M. Santer, M. M. Paula-Barbosa, and H. J. G. Gundersen. 1995. "Age and Sex Do Not Affect the Volume, Cell Numbers, or Cell Size of the Suprachiasmatic Nucleus of the Rat: An Unbiased Stereological Study." *Journal of Comparative Neurology*.
- Mann, Fanny, Sophie Chauvet, and Geneviève Rougon. 2007. "Semaphorins in Development and Adult Brain: Implication for Neurological Diseases." *Progress in Neurobiology* 82(2):57–79.
- Maolood, N., and B. Meister. 2010. "Nociceptin/Orphanin FQ Peptide in Hypothalamic Neurones Associated with the Control of Feeding Behaviour." *Journal of Neuroendocrinology*.
- Marco, Asaf, Tatiana Kisliouk, Aron Weller, and Noam Meiri. 2013. "High Fat Diet Induces Hypermethylation of the Hypothalamic Pomc Promoter and Obesity in Post-Weaning Rats." *Psychoneuroendocrinology*.
- Matsuzaki, Kentaro, Masanori Katakura, Toshiko Hara, Guanghua Li, Michio Hashimoto, and Osamu Shido. 2009. "Proliferation of Neuronal Progenitor Cells and Neuronal Differentiation in the Hypothalamus Are Enhanced in Heat-Acclimated Rats." *Pflugers Archiv European Journal of Physiology*.
- Matsuzaki, Kentaro, Masanori Katakura, Takayuki Inoue, Toshiko Hara, Michio Hashimoto, and Osamu Shido. 2015. "Aging Attenuates Acquired Heat Tolerance and Hypothalamic Neurogenesis in Rats." *Journal of Comparative Neurology*.
- Mattedi, Francesca, and Alessio Vagnoni. 2019. "Temporal Control of Axonal Transport: The Extreme Case of Organismal Ageing." *Frontiers in Cellular Neuroscience*.
- McCusker, Robert H., and Keith W. Kelley. 2013. "Immune-Neural Connections: How the Immune System's Response to Infectious Agents Influences Behavior." *Journal of Experimental Biology*.
- McLaughlin, M., D. J. B. Hunter, C. E. Thomson, D. Yool, D. Kirkham, A. A. Freer, and I. R. Griffiths. 2002. "Evidence for Possible Interactions between PLP and DM20 within the Myelin Sheath." *GLIA*.
- Mclean, Jesse R., and Janice Robertson. 2011. "Cytoskeleton of the Nervous System." Neurobiology 3(May):201–24.
- McNay, David E. G., Nadege Briançon, Maia V. Kokoeva, Eleftheria Maratos-Flier, and Jeffrey S. Flier. 2012. "Remodeling of the Arcuate Nucleus Energy-Balance Circuit Is Inhibited in Obese Mice." *Journal of Clinical Investigation* 122(1):142–52.

- McNay, David E. G., Michelle Pelling, Suzanne Claxton, François Guillemot, and Siew Lan Ang. 2006. "Mash1 Is Required for Generic and Subtype Differentiation of Hypothalamic Neuroendocrine Cells." *Molecular Endocrinology* 20(7):1623–32.
- McTigue, Dana M., and Richa B. Tripathi. 2008. "The Life, Death, and Replacement of Oligodendrocytes in the Adult CNS." *Journal of Neurochemistry*.
- Meister, Björn, Burçak Gömüç, Elisabet Suarez, Yuko Ishii, Katrin Dürr, and Linda Gillberg. 2006. "Hypothalamic Proopiomelanocortin (POMC) Neurons Have a Cholinergic Phenotype." *European Journal of Neuroscience* 24(10):2731–40.
- Melmed, Shlomo., Kenneth S. Polonsky, P. Larsen Reed, and Henry M. Kronenberg. 2016. Williams Textbook of Endocrinology 13th Edition. Vol. 1.
- Menet, V., M. Prieto, A. Privat, and M. Giménez y Ribotta. 2003. "Axonal Plasticity and Functional Recovery after Spinal Cord Injury in Mice Deficient in Both Glial Fibrillary Acidic Protein and Vimentin Genes." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*.
- Meng, Qingyuan, and Dongsheng Cai. 2011. "Defective Hypothalamic Autophagy Directs the Central Pathogenesis of Obesity via the IκB Kinase β(IKKβ)/NF-KB Pathway." *Journal of Biological Chemistry*.
- Merrill, David A., Andrea A. Chiba, and Mark H. Tuszynski. 2001. "Conservation of Neuronal Number and Size in the Entorhinal Cortex of Behaviorally Characterized Aged Rats." *Journal of Comparative Neurology*.
- Miller, Iain, Mingwei Min, Chen Yang, Chengzhe Tian, Sara Gookin, Dylan Carter, and Sabrina L. Spencer. 2018. "Ki67 Is a Graded Rather than a Binary Marker of Proliferation versus Quiescence." *Cell Reports*.
- Millington. 2007. "The Role of Proopiomelanocortin (POMC) Neurones in Feeding Behaviour." Nutrition and Metabolism 4.
- Miranda-Angulo, Ana L., Mardi S. Byerly, Janny Mesa, Hong Wang, and Seth Blackshaw. 2014. "Rax Regulates Hypothalamic Tanycyte Differentiation and Barrier Function in Mice." *Journal of Comparative Neurology* 522(4):876–99.
- Mizuno, Tooru M., Steven P. Kleopoulos, Hugo T. Bergen, James L. Roberts, Catherine A. Priest, and Charles V. Mobbs. 1998. "Hypothalamic Pro-Opiomelanocortin MRNA Is Reduced by Fasting in Ob/Ob and Db/Db Mice, but Is Stimulated by Leptin." *Diabetes* 47(2):294–97.
- Moloney, Aileen M., Rebecca J. Griffin, Suzanne Timmons, Rosemary O'Connor, Rivka Ravid, and Cora O'Neill. 2010. "Defects in IGF-1 Receptor, Insulin Receptor and IRS-1/2 in Alzheimer's Disease Indicate Possible Resistance to IGF-1 and Insulin Signalling." *Neurobiology of Aging*.
- Morell, P., and RH. Quarles. 1999. "Characteristic Composition of Myelin." in *Basic Neurochemistry: Molecular, Cellular and Medical Aspects*.
- Morgan, B. P., and P. Gasque. 1997. "Extrahepatic Complement Biosynthesis: Where, When and Why?" *Clinical and Experimental Immunology*.
- Mori, Hiroyuki, Ken Inoki, Heike Münzberg, Darren Opland, Miro Faouzi, Eneida C. Villanueva, Tsuneo Ikenoue, David Kwiatkowski, Ormond A. MacDougald, Martin G. Myers, and Kun Liang Guan. 2009. "Critical Role for Hypothalamic MTOR Activity in Energy Balance." *Cell Metabolism*.
- Morley, John E. 1997. "Anorexia of Aging: Physiologic and Pathologic." *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*.
- Mueed, Zeba, Pallavi Tandon, Sanjeev Kumar Maurya, Ravi Deval, Mohammad A. Kamal, and Nitesh Kumar Poddar. 2019. "Tau and MTOR: The Hotspots for Multifarious Diseases in Alzheimer's Development." *Frontiers in Neuroscience*.
- Mullen, R. J., C. R. Buck, and A. M. Smith. 1992. "NeuN, a Neuronal Specific Nuclear Protein

in Vertebrates." Development.

- Nagelhus, Erlend A., Mahmood Amiry-Moghaddam, Linda H. Bergersen, Jan G. Bjaalie, Jens Eriksson, Vidar Gundersen, Trygve B. Leergaard, J. Preben Morth, Jon Storm-Mathisen, Reidun Torp, Kristine B. Walhovd, and Tone Tønjum. 2013. "The Glia Doctrine: Addressing the Role of Glial Cells in Healthy Brain Ageing." *Mechanisms of Ageing and Development*.
- Nakamura, Yasuhiro, Ryo Iwamoto, and Eisuke Mekada. 1996. "Expression and Distribution of CD9 in Myelin of the Central and Peripheral Nervous Systems." *American Journal of Pathology*.
- Nave, Klaus Armin, and Bruce D. Trapp. 2008. "Axon-Glial Signaling and the Glial Support of Axon Function." *Annual Review of Neuroscience*.
- Nedergaard, Maiken, Bruce Ransom, and Steven A. Goldman. 2003. "New Roles for Astrocytes: Redefining the Functional Architecture of the Brain." *Trends in Neurosciences* 26(10):523–30.
- Nelson, James F., Miriam Bender, and Beth S. Schachter. 1988. "Age-Related Changes in Proopiomelanocortin Messenger Ribonucleic Acid Levels in Hypothalamus and Pituitary of Female C57bl/6 j Mice." *Endocrinology*.
- Nesan, Dinushan, and Deborah M. Kurrasch. 2016. "Genetic Programs of the Developing Tuberal Hypothalamus and Potential Mechanisms of Their Disruption by Environmental Factors." *Molecular and Cellular Endocrinology*.
- Neumann, Bjoern, Michael Segel, Kevin J. Chalut, and Robin J. M. Franklin. 2019. "Remyelination and Ageing: Reversing the Ravages of Time." *Multiple Sclerosis Journal* 25(14):1835–41.
- Newell-Price, J. 2003. "Proopiomelanocortin Gene Expression and DNA Methylation: Implications for Cushing's Syndrome and Beyond." *Journal of Endocrinology* 177:365–72.
- Newton, A. Jamila, Simon Hess, Lars Paeger, Merly C. Vogt, Jenifer Fleming Lascano, Eduardo A. Nillni, Jens C. Brüning, Peter Kloppenburg, and Allison W. Xu. 2013. "AgRP Innervation onto POMC Neurons Increases with Age and Is Accelerated with Chronic High-Fat Feeding in Male Mice." *Endocrinology*.
- Niikura, K., Y. Zhou, A. Ho, and M. J. Kreek. 2013. "Proopiomelanocortin (POMC) Expression and Conditioned Place Aversion during Protracted Withdrawal from Chronic Intermittent Escalating-Dose Heroin in POMC-EGFP Promoter Transgenic Mice." *Neuroscience*.
- Niwa, Atsuko, Masahiro Nishibori, Shinichi Hamasaki, Takuro Kobori, Keyue Liu, Hidenori Wake, Shuji Mori, Tadashi Yoshino, and Hideo Takahashi. 2016. "Voluntary Exercise Induces Neurogenesis in the Hypothalamus and Ependymal Lining of the Third Ventricle." *Brain Structure and Function*.
- Norden, D. M., and J. P. Godbout. 2013. "Review: Microglia of the Aged Brain: Primed to Be Activated and Resistant to Regulation." *Neuropathology and Applied Neurobiology*.
- Norenberg, Michael D., and Antonio Martinez-Hernandez. 1979. "Fine Structural Localization of Glutamine Synthetase in Astrocytes of Rat Brain." *Brain Research*.
- O'Connor, Lawrence T., Brian D. Goetz, Eduardo Couve, Jonathan Song, and Ian D. Duncan. 2000. "Intracellular Distribution of Myelin Protein Gene Products Is Altered in Oligodendrocytes of the Taiep Rat." *Molecular and Cellular Neurosciences*.
- Ohsawa, Yutaka, Tatsufumi Murakami, Yuko Miyazaki, Teruo Shirabe, and Yoshihide Sunada. 2006. "Peripheral Myelin Protein 22 Is Expressed in Human Central Nervous System." *Journal of the Neurological Sciences.*
- Ojeda, Sergio R., A. Lomniczi, and U. S. Sandau. 2008. "Glial-Gonadotrophin Hormone (GnRH) Neurone Interactions in the Median Eminence and the Control of Gnrh Secretion." *Journal of Neuroendocrinology*.

- Oldfield, Brian J., and Michael J. McKinley. 2015. "Circumventricular Organs." in *The Rat Nervous System: Fourth Edition*.
- Olofsson, Louise E., Elizabeth K. Unger, Clement C. Cheung, and Allison W. Xu. 2013. "Modulation of AgRP-Neuronal Function by SOCS3 as an Initiating Event in Diet-Induced Hypothalamic Leptin Resistance." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America.*
- Oomman, Sowmini, Howard Strahlendorf, Janet Dertien, and Jean Strahlendorf. 2006. "Bergmann Glia Utilize Active Caspase-3 for Differentiation." *Brain Research*.
- Orellana, Juan A., Pablo J. S??ez, Christian Cort??s-campos, Roberto J. Elizondo, Kenji F. Shoji, Susana Contreras-Duarte, Vania Figueroa, Victoria Velarde, Jean X. Jiang, Francisco Nualart, Juan C. S??ez, and Mar??a A. Garc??a. 2012. "Glucose Increases Intracellular Free Ca 2+ in Tanycytes via ATP Released through Connexin 43 Hemichannels." *GLIA* 60(1):53–68.
- Ott, Christiane, Jeannette König, Annika Höhn, Tobias Jung, and Tilman Grune. 2016. "Macroautophagy Is Impaired in Old Murine Brain Tissue as Well as in Senescent Human Fibroblasts." *Redox Biology*.
- Ozsolak, Fatih, and Patrice M. Milos. 2011. "RNA Sequencing: Advances, Challenges and Opportunities." *Nature Reviews Genetics*.
- Padilla, Stephanie L., Jill S. Carmody, and Lori M. Zeltser. 2010. "Pomc-Expressing Progenitors Give Rise to Antagonistic Neuronal Populations in Hypothalamic Feeding Circuits." *Nature Medicine* 16(4):403–5.
- Palmer, Alexandra L., and Shalina S. Ousman. 2018. "Astrocytes and Aging." *Frontiers in Aging Neuroscience* 10(October):1–14.
- Palmer, Theo D., Andrew R. Willhoite, and Fred H. Gage. 2000. "Vascular Niche for Adult Hippocampal Neurogenesis." *Journal of Comparative Neurology*.
- Pappas, Lindsay E., and Tim R. Nagy. 2019. "The Translation of Age-Related Body Composition Findings from Rodents to Humans." *European Journal of Clinical Nutrition*.
- Paredes, Raúl G. 2003. "Medial Preoptic Area/Anterior Hypothalamus and Sexual Motivation." Scandinavian Journal of Psychology.
- Parhad, I. M., J. N. Scott, L. A. Cellars, J. S. Bains, C. A. Krekoski, and A. W. Clark. 1995.
 "Axonal Atrophy in Aging Is Associated with a Decline in Neurofilament Gene Expression." *Journal of Neuroscience Research* 41(3):355–66.
- Parkash, Jyoti, Andrea Messina, Fanny Langlet, Irene Cimino, Anne Loyens, Danièle Mazur, Sarah Gallet, Eglantine Balland, Samuel A. Malone, François Pralong, Gabriella Cagnoni, Roberta Schellino, Silvia De Marchis, Massimiliano Mazzone, R. Jeroen Pasterkamp, Luca Tamagnone, Vincent Prevot, and Paolo Giacobini. 2015. "Semaphorin7A Regulates Neuroglial Plasticity in the Adult Hypothalamic Median Eminence." Nature Communications.
- Pearson, Caroline Alayne, and Marysia Placzek. 2013. "Development of the Medial Hypothalamus."
- Pekny, M., and M. Pekna. 2014. "Astrocyte Reactivity and Reactive Astrogliosis: Costs and Benefits." *Physiological Reviews*.
- Pekny, Milos, and Michael Nilsson. 2005. "Astrocyte Activation and Reactive Gliosis." GLIA.
- Pencea, Viorica, Kimberly D. Bingaman, Stanley J. Wiegand, and Marla B. Luskin. 2001. "Infusion of Brain-Derived Neurotrophic Factor into the Lateral Ventricle of the Adult Rat Leads to New Neurons in the Parenchyma of the Striatum, Septum, Thalamus, and Hypothalamus." *Journal of Neuroscience*.
- Perego, C., C. Vanoni, M. Bossi, S. Massari, H. Basudev, R. Longhi, and G. Pietrini. 2000. "The GLT-1 and GLAST Glutamate Transporters Are Expressed on Morphologically Distinct Astrocytes and Regulated by Neuronal Activity in Primary Hippocampal Cocultures."

Journal of Neurochemistry.

- Pérez-Martín, M., M. Cifuentes, J. M. Grondona, M. D. López-Ávalos, U. Gómez-Pinedo, J. M. García-Verdugo, and P. Fernández-Llebrez. 2010. "IGF-I Stimulates Neurogenesis in the Hypothalamus of Adult Rats." *European Journal of Neuroscience* 31(9):1533–48.
- Perry, V. H., M. K. Matyszak, and S. Fearn. 1993. "Altered Antigen Expression of Microglia in the Aged Rodent CNS." *Glia*.
- Peters, Alan. 2002. "The Effects of Normal Aging on Myelin and Nerve Fibers: A Review." *Journal of Neurocytology*.
- Peters, Alan, Mark B. Moss, and Claire Sethares. 2000. "Effects of Aging on Myelinated Nerve Fibers in Monkey Primary Visual Cortex." *Journal of Comparative Neurology*.
- Peterson, Diana C., and Debra A. Mayes. 2019. "Neuroanatomy, Mammillary Bodies." *StatPearls*.
- Pfefferbaum, Adolf, Daniel H. Mathalon, Edith V. Sullivan, Jody M. Rawles, Robert B. Zipursky, and Kelvin O. Lim. 1994. "A Quantitative Magnetic Resonance Imaging Study of Changes in Brain Morphology from Infancy to Late Adulthood." *Archives of Neurology*.
- Piaton, Gabrièle, Robert M. Gould, and Catherine Lubetzki. 2010. "Axon-Oligodendrocyte Interactions during Developmental Myelination, Demyelination and Repair." *Journal of Neurochemistry*.
- Pierce, Andrew A., and Allison W. Xu. 2010. "De Novo Neurogenesis in Adult Hypothalamus as a Compensatory Mechanism to Regulate Energy Balance." *Journal of Neuroscience* 30(2):723–30.
- Pimentel, Harold, Nicolas L. Bray, Suzette Puente, Páll Melsted, and Lior Pachter. 2017. "Differential Analysis of RNA-Seq Incorporating Quantification Uncertainty." *Nature Methods*.
- Pino, Annachiara, Guido Fumagalli, Francesco Bifari, and Ilaria Decimo. 2017. "New Neurons in Adult Brain: Distribution, Molecular Mechanisms and Therapies." *Biochemical Pharmacology* 141:4–22.
- Plagemann, Andreas, Thomas Harder, Matthias Brunn, Anja Harder, Katharina Roepke, Manon Wittrock-Staar, Thomas Ziska, Karen Schellong, Elke Rodekamp, Kerstin Melchior, and Joachim W. Dudenhausen. 2009. "Hypothalamic Proopiomelanocortin Promoter Methylation Becomes Altered by Early Overfeeding: An Epigenetic Model of Obesity and the Metabolic Syndrome." Journal of Physiology.
- van den Pol, A. N., Y. Yao, L. Y. Fu, K. Foo, H. Huang, R. Coppari, B. B. Lowell, and C. Broberger. 2009. "Neuromedin B and Gastrin-Releasing Peptide Excite Arcuate Nucleus Neuropeptide Y Neurons in a Novel Transgenic Mouse Expressing Strong Renilla Green Fluorescent Protein in NPY Neurons." *Journal of Neuroscience*.
- Posey, Kelly A., Deborah J. Clegg, Richard L. Printz, Jaeman Byun, Gregory J. Morton, Anuradha Vivekanandan-Giri, Subramaniam Pennathur, Denis G. Baskin, Jay W. Heinecke, Stephen C. Woods, Michael W. Schwartz, and Kevin D. Niswender. 2009.
 "Hypothalamic Proinflammatory Lipid Accumulation, Inflammation, and Insulin Resistance in Rats Fed a High-Fat Diet." *American Journal of Physiology - Endocrinology and Metabolism*.
- Prevot, Vincent, Bénédicte Dehouck, Ariane Sharif, Philippe Ciofi, Paolo Giacobini, and Jerome Clasadonte. 2018. "The Versatile Tanycyte: A Hypothalamic Integrator of Reproduction and Energy Metabolism." *Endocrine Reviews* 39(3):333–68.
- Psachoulia, Konstantina, Francoise Jamen, Kaylene M. Young, and William D. Richardson. 2009. "Cell Cycle Dynamics of NG2 Cells in the Postnatal and Ageing Brain." *Neuron Glia Biology*.
- Purkayastha, Sudarshana, and Dongsheng Cai. 2013. "Neuroinflammatory Basis of Metabolic Syndrome." *Molecular Metabolism*.

- Purkayastha, Sudarshana, Guo Zhang, and Dongsheng Cai. 2011. "Uncoupling the Mechanisms of Obesity and Hypertension by Targeting Hypothalamic IKK-Î 2 and NFΰB." *Nature Medicine*.
- Pyapali, Gowri K., and Dennis A. Turner. 1996. "Increased Dendritic Extent in Hippocampal CA1 Neurons from Aged F344 Rats." *Neurobiology of Aging*.
- Qi, Y., J. Cai, Y. Wu, R. Wu, J. Lee, H. Fu, M. Rao, L. Sussel, J. Rubenstein, and M. Qiu. 2001. "Control of Oligodendrocyte Differentiation by the Nkx2.2 Homeodomain Transcription Factor." *Development*.
- Qian, Su, Howard Chen, Drew Weingarth, Myrna E. Trumbauer, Dawn E. Novi, Xiaoming Guan, Hong Yu, Zhu Shen, Yue Feng, Easter Frazier, Airu Chen, Ramon E. Camacho, Lauren P. Shearman, Shobhna Gopal-Truter, Douglas J. MacNeil, Lex H. .. T. Van der Ploeg, and Donald J. Marsh. 2002. "Neither Agouti-Related Protein nor Neuropeptide Y Is Critically Required for the Regulation of Energy Homeostasis in Mice." *Molecular and Cellular Biology* 22(14):5027–35.
- Quan, Wenying, Hyun Kyong Kim, Eun Yi Moon, Su Sung Kim, Cheol Soo Choi, Masaaki Komatsu, Yeon Taek Jeong, Moon Kyu Lee, Kwang Won Kim, Min Seon Kim, and Myung Shik Lee. 2012. "Role of Hypothalamic Proopiomelanocortin Neuron Autophagy in the Control of Appetite and Leptin Response." *Endocrinology*.
- Rakic, Pasko. 2002. "Progress: Neurogenesis in Adult Primate Neocortex: An Evaluation of the Evidence." *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*.
- Raudvere, Uku, Liis Kolberg, Ivan Kuzmin, Tambet Arak, Priit Adler, Hedi Peterson, and Jaak Vilo. 2019. "G:Profiler: A Web Server for Functional Enrichment Analysis and Conversions of Gene Lists (2019 Update)." *Nucleic Acids Research*.
- Reeve, Amy, Eve Simcox, and Doug Turnbull. 2014. "Ageing and Parkinson's Disease: Why Is Advancing Age the Biggest Risk Factor?" *Ageing Research Reviews*.
- Regev, Aviv, Sarah A. Teichmann, Eric S. Lander, Ido Amit, Christophe Benoist, Ewan Birney, Bernd Bodenmiller, Peter Campbell, Piero Carninci, Menna Clatworthy, Hans Clevers, Bart Deplancke, Ian Dunham, James Eberwine, Roland Eils, Wolfgang Enard, Andrew Farmer, Lars Fugger, Berthold Göttgens, Nir Hacohen, Muzlifah Haniffa, Martin Hemberg, Seung Kim, Paul Klenerman, Arnold Kriegstein, Ed Lein, Sten Linnarsson, Emma Lundberg, Joakim Lundeberg, Partha Majumder, John C. Marioni, Miriam Merad, Musa Mhlanga, Martijn Nawijn, Mihai Netea, Garry Nolan, Dana Pe'er, Anthony Phillipakis, Chris P. Ponting, Stephen Quake, Wolf Reik, Orit Rozenblatt-Rosen, Joshua Sanes, Rahul Satija, Ton N. Schumacher, Alex Shalek, Ehud Shapiro, Padmanee Sharma, Jay W. Shin, Oliver Stegle, Michael Stratton, Michael J. T. Stubbington, Fabian J. Theis, Matthias Uhlen, Alexander Van Oudenaarden, Allon Wagner, Fiona Watt, Jonathan Weissman, Barbara Wold, Ramnik Xavier, and Nir Yosef. 2017. "The Human Cell Atlas." *ELife*.
- Rehman, Habib U., and Ewan A. Masson. 2001. "Neuroendocrinology of Ageing." Age and Ageing 30(4):279–87.
- Renee, Monica, Pittman Elmore, Allison Rachel Najafi, Maya Allegra Koike, Nabil Nazih, Elizabeth Erin Spangenberg, Rachel Anne Rice, Masashi Kitazawa, Hoa Nguyen, Brian Lee West, and Kim Nicholas Green. 2015. "CSF1 Receptor Signaling Is Necessary for Microglia Viability, Which Unmasks a Cell That Rapidly Repopulates the Microglia-Depleted Adult Brain." *Neuron*.
- Resnick, Susan M., Dzung L. Pham, Michael A. Kraut, Alan B. Zonderman, and Christos Davatzikos. 2003. "Longitudinal Magnetic Resonance Imaging Studies of Older Adults: A Shrinking Brain." *Journal of Neuroscience*.
- Rios, Maribel. 2013. "BDNF and the Central Control of Feeding: Accidental Bystander or Essential Player?" *Trends in Neurosciences*.
- Rivers, Leanne E., Kaylene M. Young, Matteo Rizzi, Françoise Jamen, Konstantina Psachoulia, Anna Wade, Nicoletta Kessaris, and William D. Richardson. 2008. "PDGFRA/NG2 Glia Generate Myelinating Oligodendrocytes and Piriform Projection Neurons in Adult Mice."

Nature Neuroscience.

- Rizzoti, Karine, and Robin Lovell-Badge. 2017. "Pivotal Role of Median Eminence Tanycytes for Hypothalamic Function and Neurogenesis." *Molecular and Cellular Endocrinology*.
- Roberts, S. B. 2000. "Energy Regulation and Aging: Recent Findings and Their Implications." *Nutrition Reviews* 58(4):91–97.
- Robillard, Katelyn N., Kim M. Lee, Kevin B. Chiu, and Andrew G. MacLean. 2016. "Glial Cell Morphological and Density Changes through the Lifespan of Rhesus Macaques." *Brain, Behavior, and Immunity.*
- Robins, I. Stewart, D. E. McNay, V. Taylor, C. Giachino, M. Goetz, J. Ninkovic, N. Briancon, E. Maratos-Flier, J. S. Flier, M. V. Kokoeva, and M. Placzek. 2013. "α-Tanycytes of the Adult Hypothalamic Third Ventricle Include Distinct Populations of FGF-Responsive Neural Progenitors." *Nature Communications*.
- Robins, Eric Trudel, Olivia Rotondi, Xiaohong Liu, Tina Djogo, Darya Kryzskaya, Charles W. Bourque, and Maia V. Kokoeva. 2013. "Evidence for NG2-Glia Derived, Adult-Born Functional Neurons in the Hypothalamus." *PLoS ONE*.
- Robins, Aude Villemain, Xiaohong Liu, Tina Djogo, Darya Kryzskaya, Kai Florian Storch, and Maia V. Kokoeva. 2013. "Extensive Regenerative Plasticity among Adult NG2-Glia Populations Is Exclusively Based on Self-Renewal." *GLIA*.
- Rodrigues Siqueira, Ionara, Cíntia Fochesatto, Iraci Lucena Da Silva Torres, Carla Dalmaz, and Carlos Alexandre Netto. 2005. "Aging Affects Oxidative State in Hippocampus, Hypothalamus and Adrenal Glands of Wistar Rats." *Life Sciences*.
- Rodríguez, Esteban M., Juan L. Blázquez, and Montserrat Guerra. 2010. "The Design of Barriers in the Hypothalamus Allows the Median Eminence and the Arcuate Nucleus to Enjoy Private Milieus: The Former Opens to the Portal Blood and the Latter to the Cerebrospinal Fluid." *Peptides*.
- Rodríguez, Esteban M., Juan L. Blázquez, Francisco E. Pastor, Belén Peláez, Patricio Peña, Bruno Peruzzo, and Pedro Amat. 2005. "Hypothalamic Tanycytes: A Key Component of Brain-Endocrine Interaction." *International Review of Cytology* 247:89–164.
- Rogers, Justin T., Chia Chen Liu, Na Zhao, Jian Wang, Travis Putzke, Longyu Yang, Mitsuru Shinohara, John D. Fryer, Takahisa Kanekiyo, and Guojun Bu. 2017. "Subacute Ibuprofen Treatment Rescues the Synaptic and Cognitive Deficits in Advanced-Aged Mice." *Neurobiology of Aging*.
- Romanelli, Elisa, Doron Merkler, Aleksandra Mezydlo, Marie Theres Weil, Martin S. Weber, Ivana Nikić, Stephanie Potz, Edgar Meinl, Florian E. H. Matznick, Mario Kreutzfeldt, Alexander Ghanem, Karl Klaus Conzelmann, Imke Metz, Wolfgang Brück, Matthew Routh, Mikael Simons, Derron Bishop, Thomas Misgeld, and Martin Kerschensteiner. 2016. "Myelinosome Formation Represents an Early Stage of Oligodendrocyte Damage in Multiple Sclerosis and Its Animal Model." Nature Communications.
- Roth, Joachim, Eva Maria Harré, Christoph Rummel, Rüdiger Gerstberger, and Thomas Hübschle. 2004. "Signaling the Brain in Systemic Inflammation: Role of Sensory Circumventricular Organs." *Frontiers in Bioscience*.
- Rozovsky, I., C. E. Finch, and T. E. Morgan. 1998. "Age-Related Activation of Microglia and Astrocytes: In Vitro Studies Show Persistent Phenotypes of Aging, Increased Proliferation, and Resistance to down-Regulation." *Neurobiology of Aging*.
- Russell, Samantha A., and Greg J. Bashaw. 2018. "Axon Guidance Pathways and the Control of Gene Expression." *Developmental Dynamics* 247(4):571–80.
- Sabbatini, Maurizio, Paolo Barili, Elena Bronzetti, Damiano Zaccheo, and Francesco Amenta. 1999. "Age-Related Changes of Glial Fibrillary Acidic Protein Immunoreactive Astrocytes in the Rat Cerebellar Cortex." *Mechanisms of Ageing and Development*.
- Safaiyan, Shima, Nirmal Kannaiyan, Nicolas Snaidero, Simone Brioschi, Knut Biber, Simon Yona, Aimee L. Edinger, Steffen Jung, Moritz J. Rossner, and Mikael Simons. 2016.

"Age-Related Myelin Degradation Burdens the Clearance Function of Microglia during Aging." *Nature Neuroscience*.

- Saklayen, Mohammad G. 2018. "The Global Epidemic of the Metabolic Syndrome." *Current Hypertension Reports*.
- Salvadores, Natalia, Mario Sanhueza, Patricio Manque, and Felipe A. Court. 2017. "Axonal Degeneration during Aging and Its Functional Role in Neurodegenerative Disorders." *Frontiers in Neuroscience* 11(SEP).
- Sanada, Fumihiro, Yoshiaki Taniyama, Jun Muratsu, Rei Otsu, Hideo Shimizu, Hiromi Rakugi, and Ryuichi Morishita. 2018. "Source of Chronic Inflammation in Aging." *Frontiers in Cardiovascular Medicine*.
- Sandell, Julie H., and Alan Peters. 2001. "Effects of Age on Nerve Fibers in the Rhesus Monkey Optic Nerve." *Journal of Comparative Neurology*.
- Santos, Camila Leite, Larissa Daniele Bobermin, Diogo Onofre Souza, and André Quincozes-Santos. 2018. "Leptin Stimulates the Release of Pro-Inflammatory Cytokines in Hypothalamic Astrocyte Cultures from Adult and Aged Rats." *Metabolic Brain Disease* 33(6):2059–63.
- Santos, Camila Leite, Paola Haack Amaral Roppa, Pedro Truccolo, Fernanda Urruth Fontella, Diogo Onofre Souza, Larissa Daniele Bobermin, and André Quincozes-Santos. 2018. "Age-Dependent Neurochemical Remodeling of Hypothalamic Astrocytes." *Molecular Neurobiology*.
- Sanz, Elisenda, Albert Quintana, Jennifer D. Deem, Robert A. Steiner, Richard D. Palmiter, and G. Stanley McKnight. 2015. "Fertility-Regulating Kiss1 Neurons Arise from Hypothalamic Pomc-Expressing Progenitors." *Journal of Neuroscience* 35(14):5549–56.
- Satoh, Akiko, Cynthia S. Brace, Nick Rensing, Paul Cliften, David F. Wozniak, Erik D. Herzog, Kelvin A. Yamada, and Shin Ichiro Imai. 2013. "Sirt1 Extends Life Span and Delays Aging in Mice through the Regulation of Nk2 Homeobox 1 in the DMH and LH." *Cell Metabolism*.
- Scahill, Rachael I., Chris Frost, Rhian Jenkins, Jennifer L. Whitwell, Martin N. Rossor, and Nick C. Fox. 2003. "A Longitudinal Study of Brain Volume Changes in Normal Aging Using Serial Registered Magnetic Resonance Imaging." *Archives of Neurology*.
- Scarpace, P. J., M. Matheny, Y. Zhang, N. Tümer, C. D. Frase, E. W. Shek, B. Hong, V. Prima, and S. Zolotukhin. 2002. *Central Leptin Gene Delivery Evokes Persistent Leptin Signal Transduction in Young and Aged-Obese Rats but Physiological Responses Become Attenuated over Time in Aged-Obese Rats*. Vol. 42.
- Scemes, Eliana, and David C. Spray. 2003. "The Astrocytic Syncytium." Advances in Molecular and Cell Biology.
- Schaum, Nicholas, Jim Karkanias, Norma F. Neff, Andrew P. May, Stephen R. Quake, Tony Wyss-Coray, Spyros Darmanis, Joshua Batson, Olga Botvinnik, Michelle B. Chen, Steven Chen, Foad Green, Robert C. Jones, Ashley Maynard, Lolita Penland, Angela Oliveira Pisco, Rene V. Sit, Geoffrey M. Stanley, James T. Webber, Fabio Zanini, Ankit S. Baghel, Isaac Bakerman, Ishita Bansal, Daniela Berdnik, Biter Bilen, Douglas Brownfield, Corey Cain, Min Cho, Giana Cirolia, Stephanie D. Conley, Aaron Demers, Kubilay Demir, Antoine de Morree, Tessa Divita, Haley du Bois, Laughing Bear Torrez Dulgeroff, Hamid Ebadi, F. Hernán Espinoza, Matt Fish, Qiang Gan, Benson M. George, Astrid Gillich, Geraldine Genetiano, Xueying Gu, Gunsagar S. Gulati, Yan Hang, Shayan Hosseinzadeh, Albin Huang, Tal Iram, Taichi Isobe, Feather Ives, Kevin S. Kao, Guruswamy Karnam, Aaron M. Kershner, Bernhard M. Kiss, William Kong, Maya E. Kumar, Jonathan Y. Lam, Davis P. Lee, Song E. Lee, Guang Li, Qingyun Li, Ling Liu, Annie Lo, Wan Jin Lu, Anoop Manjunath, Kaia L. May, Oliver L. May, Marina McKay, Ross J. Metzger, Marco Mignardi, Dullei Min, Ahmad N. Nabhan, Katharine M. Ng, Joseph Noh, Rasika Patkar, Weng Chuan Peng, Robert Puccinelli, Eric J. Rulifson, Shaheen S. Sikandar, Rahul Sinha, Krzysztof Szade, Weilun Tan, Cristina Tato, Krissie Tellez, Kyle J. Travaglini, Carolina

Tropini, Lucas Waldburger, Linda J. van Weele, Michael N. Wosczyna, Jinyi Xiang, Soso Xue, Justin Youngyunpipatkul, Macy E. Zardeneta, Fan Zhang, Lu Zhou, Paola Castro, Derek Croote, Joseph L. DeRisi, Christin S. Kuo, Benoit Lehallier, Patricia K. Nguyen, Serena Y. Tan, Bruce M. Wang, Hanadie Yousef, Philip A. Beachy, Charles K. F. Chan, Kerwyn Casey Huang, Kenneth Weinberg, Sean M. Wu, Ben A. Barres, Michael F. Clarke, Seung K. Kim, Mark A. Krasnow, Roel Nusse, Thomas A. Rando, Justin Sonnenburg, and Irving L. Weissman. 2018. "Single-Cell Transcriptomics of 20 Mouse Organs Creates a Tabula Muris." *Nature*.

- Scheibel, Madge E., Robert D. Lindsay, Uwamie Tomiyasu, and Arnold B. Scheibel. 1975. "Progressive Dendritic Changes in Aging Human Cortex." *Experimental Neurology*.
- Scheibel, Madge E., Robert D. Lindsay, Uwamie Tomiyasu, and Arnold B. Scheibel. 1976. "Progressive Dendritic Changes in the Aging Human Limbic System." *Experimental Neurology*.
- Schultz, Michael B., and David A. Sinclair. 2016. "When Stem Cells Grow Old: Phenotypes and Mechanisms of Stem Cell Aging." *Development (Cambridge)*.
- Schünke, Michael author. 2016. Thieme Atlas of Anatomy. Volume 3, Head, Neck, and Neuroanatomy.
- Sekar, Aswin, Allison R. Bialas, Heather De Rivera, Avery Davis, Timothy R. Hammond, Nolan Kamitaki, Katherine Tooley, Jessy Presumey, Matthew Baum, Vanessa Van Doren, Giulio Genovese, Samuel A. Rose, Robert E. Handsaker, Mark J. Daly, Michael C. Carroll, Beth Stevens, and Steven A. McCarroll. 2016. "Schizophrenia Risk from Complex Variation of Complement Component 4." *Nature*.
- Serrano, Faridis, and Eric Klann. 2004. "Reactive Oxygen Species and Synaptic Plasticity in the Aging Hippocampus." *Ageing Research Reviews*.
- Sharpless, Norman E., and Ronald A. DePinho. 2007. "How Stem Cells Age and Why This Makes Us Grow Old." *Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology*.
- Shen, Qin, Susan K. Goderie, Li Jin, Nithin Karanth, Yu Sun, Natalia Abramova, Peter Vincent, Kevin Pumiglia, and Sally Temple. 2004. "Endothelial Cells Stimulate Self-Renewal and Expand Neurogenesis of Neural Stem Cells." *Science*.
- Shi, X., X. Wang, Q. Li, M. Su, E. Chew, E. T. Wong, Z. Lacza, G. K. Radda, V. Tergaonkar, and W. Han. 2013. "Nuclear Factor Kb (NF-KB) Suppresses Food Intake and Energy Expenditure in Mice by Directly Activating the Pomc Promoter." *Diabetologia*.
- Shibata, Mamoru, Tao Lu, Tsuyoshi Furuya, Alexei Degterev, Noboru Mizushima, Tamotsu Yoshimori, Marcy MacDonald, Bruce Yankner, and Junying Yuan. 2006. "Regulation of Intracellular Accumulation of Mutant Huntingtin by Beclin 1." *Journal of Biological Chemistry*.
- Shibata, Takashi, Keiko Yamada, Masahiko Watanabe, Kazuhiro Ikenaka, Keiji Wada, Kohichi Tanaka, and Yoshiro Inoue. 1997. "Glutamate Transporter GLAST Is Expressed in the Radial Glia-Astrocyte Lineage of Developing Mouse Spinal Cord." *Journal of Neuroscience*.
- Sim, Fraser J., Chao Zhao, Jacques Penderis, and Robin J. M. Franklin. 2002. "The Age-Related Decrease in CNS Remyelination Efficiency Is Attributable to an Impairment of Both Oligodendrocyte Progenitor Recruitment and Differentiation." *Journal of Neuroscience*.
- Sinoway, M. P., K. Kitagawa, S. Timsit, G. A. Hashim, G. A. Hashim, and D. R. Colman. 1994. "Proteolipid Protein Interactions in Transfectants: Implications for Myelin Assembly." *Journal of Neuroscience Research*.
- Skundric, Dusanka S. 2015. "Chemotactic Signaling and beyond: Link between Interleukin-16 and Axonal Degeneration in Multiple Sclerosis." *Neural Regeneration Research*.
- Smith, David E., Peter R. Rapp, Heather M. McKay, Jeffrey A. Roberts, and Mark H. Tuszynski. 2004. "Memory Impairment in Aged Primates Is Associated with Focal Death of Cortical

Neurons and Atrophy of Subcortical Neurons." Journal of Neuroscience.

- Sofroniew, Michael V. 2009. "Molecular Dissection of Reactive Astrogliosis and Glial Scar Formation." *Trends in Neurosciences*.
- Sofroniew, Michael V., and Harry V. Vinters. 2010. "Astrocytes: Biology and Pathology." Acta Neuropathologica 119(1):7–35.
- Sohal, Rajindar S., Hung Hai Ku, Sanjiv Agarwal, Michael J. Forster, and Harbans Lal. 1994. "Oxidative Damage, Mitochondrial Oxidant Generation and Antioxidant Defenses during Aging and in Response to Food Restriction in the Mouse." *Mechanisms of Ageing and Development*.
- Sohn, Jong Woo, Yong Xu, Juli E. Jones, Kevin Wickman, Kevin W. Williams, and Joel K. Elmquist. 2011. "Serotonin 2C Receptor Activates a Distinct Population of Arcuate Pro-Opiomelanocortin Neurons via TRPC Channels." *Neuron*.
- Sørensen, T. L., R. M. Ransohoff, R. M. Strieter, and F. Sellebjerg. 2004. "Chemokine CCL2 and Chemokine Receptor CCR2 in Early Active Multiple Sclerosis." *European Journal of Neurology*.
- Sparkman, Nathan L., and Rodney W. Johnson. 2008. "Neuroinflammation Associated with Aging Sensitizes the Brain to the Effects of Infection or Stress." *NeuroImmunoModulation*.
- Spitzer, Sonia Olivia, Sergey Sitnikov, Yasmine Kamen, Kimberley Anne Evans, Deborah Kronenberg-Versteeg, Sabine Dietmann, Omar de Faria, Sylvia Agathou, and Ragnhildur Thóra Káradóttir. 2019. "Oligodendrocyte Progenitor Cells Become Regionally Diverse and Heterogeneous with Age." Neuron 101(3):459-471.e5.
- Stadelmann, Christine, Thomas L. Deckwerth, Anu Srinivasan, Christian Bancher, Wolfgang Brück, Kurt Jellinger, and Hans Lassmann. 1999. "Activation of Caspase-3 in Single Neurons and Autophagic Granules of Granulovacuolar Degeneration in Alzheimer's Disease: Evidence for Apoptotic Cell Death." *American Journal of Pathology*.
- Stassart, Ruth M., Wiebke Möbius, Klaus Armin Nave, and Julia M. Edgar. 2018. "The Axon-Myelin Unit in Development and Degenerative Disease." *Frontiers in Neuroscience*.
- Stevens, Adam, Ghazala Begum, Alice Cook, Kristin Connor, Christopher Rumball, Mark Oliver, John Challis, Frank Bloomfield, and Anne White. 2010. "Epigenetic Changes in the Hypothalamic Proopiomelanocortin and Glucocorticoid Receptor Genes in the Ovine Fetus after Periconceptional Undernutrition." *Endocrinology*.
- Stromska, D. P., and S. Ochs. 1982. "Axoplasmic Transport in Aged Rats." *Experimental Neurology*.
- Szaro, Ben G., and Michael J. Strong. 2010. "Post-Transcriptional Control of Neurofilaments: New Roles in Development, Regeneration and Neurodegenerative Disease." *Trends in Neurosciences*.
- Taguchi, Akiko, Lynn M. Wartschow, and Morris F. White. 2007. "Brain IRS2 Signaling Coordinates Life Span and Nutrient Homeostasis." *Science*.
- Takihara, Yuji, Masaru Inatani, Kei Eto, Toshihiro Inoue, Alexander Kreymerman, Seiji Miyake, Shinji Ueno, Masatoshi Nagaya, Ayami Nakanishi, Keiichiro Iwao, Yoshihiro Takamura, Hirotaka Sakamoto, Keita Satoh, Mineo Kondo, Tatsuya Sakamoto, Jeffrey L. Goldberg, Junichi Nabekura, and Hidenobu Tanihara. 2015. "In Vivo Imaging of Axonal Transport of Mitochondria in the Diseased and Aged Mammalian CNS." Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America.
- Takubo, Kaiyo, Naotaka Izumiyama-Shimomura, Naoko Honma, Motoji Sawabe, Tomio Arai, Motonobu Kato, Mitsuo Oshimura, and Ken Ichi Nakamura. 2002. "Telomere Lengths Are Characteristic in Each Human Individual." *Experimental Gerontology*.
- Tang, Huidong, Yaoming Wang, Lin Xie, Xiao Ou Mao, Seok Joon Won, Veronica Galvan, and Kunlin Jin. 2009. "Effect of Neural Precursor Proliferation Level on Neurogenesis in Rat Brain during Aging and after Focal Ischemia." *Neurobiology of Aging*.

- Tang, Yizhe, and Dongsheng Cai. 2013. "Hypothalamic Inflammation and GnRH in Aging Development." *Cell Cycle*.
- Tang, Yizhe, Sudarshana Purkayastha, and Dongsheng Cai. 2015. "Hypothalamic Microinflammation: A Common Basis of Metabolic Syndrome and Aging." *Trends in Neurosciences* 38(1):36–44.
- Tang, Yu, and Weidong Le. 2016. "Differential Roles of M1 and M2 Microglia in Neurodegenerative Diseases." *Molecular Neurobiology* 53(2):1181–94.
- Tapia-Arancibia, Lucia, Florence Rage, Laurent Givalois, and Sandor Arancibia. 2004. "Physiology of BDNF: Focus on Hypothalamic Function." *Frontiers in Neuroendocrinology*.
- Taveggia, Carla, Maria Laura Feltri, and Lawrence Wrabetz. 2010. "Signals to Promote Myelin Formation and Repair." *Nature Reviews Neurology*.
- Tay, Tuan Leng, Micaël Carrier, and Marie Ève Tremblay. 2019. "Physiology of Microglia." in Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology.
- Thaler, Joshua P., Chun Xia Yi, Ellen A. Schur, Stephan J. Guyenet, Bang H. Hwang, Marcelo O. Dietrich, Xiaolin Zhao, David A. Sarruf, Vitaly Izgur, Kenneth R. Maravilla, Hong T. Nguyen, Jonathan D. Fischer, Miles E. Matsen, Brent E. Wisse, Gregory J. Morton, Tamas L. Horvath, Denis G. Baskin, Matthias H. Tschöp, and Michael W. Schwartz. 2012. "Obesity Is Associated with Hypothalamic Injury in Rodents and Humans." *Journal of Clinical Investigation*.
- Tilstra, Jeremy S., Cheryl L. Clauson, Laura J. Niedernhofer, and Paul D. Robbins. 2011. "NF-KB in Aging and Disease." *Aging and Disease*.
- Timper, Katharina, and Jens C. Brüning. 2017. "Hypothalamic Circuits Regulating Appetite and Energy Homeostasis: Pathways to Obesity." *DMM Disease Models and Mechanisms*.
- Traiffort, Elisabeth, Abdelmoumen Kassoussi, Amina Zahaf, and Yousra Laouarem. 2020. "Astrocytes and Microglia as Major Players of Myelin Production in Normal and Pathological Conditions." *Frontiers in Cellular Neuroscience*.
- Tremblay, Marie Ève, Martha L. Zettel, James R. Ison, Paul D. Allen, and Ania K. Majewska. 2012. "Effects of Aging and Sensory Loss on Glial Cells in Mouse Visual and Auditory Cortices." *GLIA*.
- Tripathi, Richa B., Martyna Jackiewicz, Ian A. McKenzie, Eleni Kougioumtzidou, Matthew Grist, and William D. Richardson. 2017. "Remarkable Stability of Myelinating Oligodendrocytes in Mice." *Cell Reports* 21(2):316–23.
- Turner, Dennis A., and David L. Deupree. 1991. "Functional Elongation of CA1 Hippocampal Neurons with Aging in Fischer 344 Rats." *Neurobiology of Aging*.
- Uchida, Atsuko, Yoshiaki Komiya, Tomoko Tashiro, Hiroshi Yorifuji, Takeo Kishimoto, Yohichi Nabeshima, and Shin Ichi Hisanaga. 2001. "Neurofilaments of Klotho, the Mutant Mouse Prematurely Displaying Symptoms Resembling Human Aging." *Journal of Neuroscience Research*.
- Uylings, H. B. M. 1998. "Layer-Specific Dendritic Regression of Pyramidal Cells with Ageing in the Human Prefrontal Cortex." *European Journal of Neuroscience*.
- Valdearcos, Martin, John D. Douglass, Megan M. Robblee, Mauricio D. Dorfman, Daniel R. Stifler, Mariko L. Bennett, Irene Gerritse, Rachael Fasnacht, Ben A. Barres, Joshua P. Thaler, and Suneil K. Koliwad. 2017. "Microglial Inflammatory Signaling Orchestrates the Hypothalamic Immune Response to Dietary Excess and Mediates Obesity Susceptibility." *Cell Metabolism* 26(1):185-197.e3.
- Valério-Gomes, Bruna, Daniel M. Guimarães, Diego Szczupak, and Roberto Lent. 2018. "The Absolute Number of Oligodendrocytes in the Adult Mouse Brain." *Frontiers in Neuroanatomy*.
- VanGuilder, Heather D., Georgina V. Bixler, Robert M. Brucklacher, Julie A. Farley, Han Yan,

Junie P. Warrington, William E. Sonntag, and Willard M. Freeman. 2011a. "Concurrent Hippocampal Induction of MHC II Pathway Components and Glial Activation with Advanced Aging Is Not Correlated with Cognitive Impairment." *Journal of Neuroinflammation*.

- VanGuilder, Heather D., Georgina V. Bixler, Robert M. Brucklacher, Julie A. Farley, Han Yan, Junie P. Warrington, William E. Sonntag, and Willard M. Freeman. 2011b. "Concurrent Hippocampal Induction of MHC II Pathway Components and Glial Activation with Advanced Aging Is Not Correlated with Cognitive Impairment." *Journal of Neuroinflammation* 8.
- Vann, Seralynne D. 2010. "Re-Evaluating the Role of the Mammillary Bodies in Memory." *Neuropsychologia*.
- Varela, Luis, and Tamas L. Horvath. 2012. "Leptin and Insulin Pathways in POMC and AgRP Neurons That Modulate Energy Balance and Glucose Homeostasis." *EMBO Reports* 13(12):1079–86.
- Venkateshappa, C., G. Harish, Rajeswara Babu Mythri, Anita Mahadevan, M. M. Srinivas Bharath, and S. K. Shankar. 2012. "Increased Oxidative Damage and Decreased Antioxidant Function in Aging Human Substantia Nigra Compared to Striatum: Implications for Parkinson's Disease." *Neurochemical Research*.
- Vilchez, David, Isabel Saez, and Andrew Dillin. 2014. "The Role of Protein Clearance Mechanisms in Organismal Ageing and Age-Related Diseases." *Nature Communications*.
- Visvanathan, Renuka. 2015. "Anorexia of Aging." Clinics in Geriatric Medicine.
- Vrang, N., P. J. Larsen, J. T. Clausen, and P. Kristensen. 1999. "Neurochemical Characterization of Hypothalamic Cocaine- Amphetamine-Regulated Transcript Neurons." *The Journal of Neuroscience : The Official Journal of the Society for Neuroscience*.
- Vrang, N, P. J. Larsen, J. T. Clausen, and P. Kristensen. 1999. "Neurochemical Characterization of Hypothalamic Cocaine- Amphetamine-Regulated Transcript Neurons." *The Journal of Neuroscience : The Official Journal of the Society for Neuroscience* 19(10):RC5.
- Wajant, H., K. Pfizenmaier, and P. Scheurich. 2003. "Tumor Necrosis Factor Signaling." *Cell Death and Differentiation*.
- Wang, Daqing, Xiaobing He, Zhe Zhao, Qiru Feng, Rui Lin, Yue Sun, Ting Ding, Fuqiang Xu, Minmin Luo, and Cheng Zhan. 2015. "Whole-Brain Mapping of the Direct Inputs and Axonal Projections of POMC and AgRP Neurons." *Frontiers in Neuroanatomy*.
- Wang, Fei, Shu Yu Ren, Jing Fei Chen, Kun Liu, Rui Xue Li, Zhi Fang Li, Bo Hu, Jian Qin Niu, Lan Xiao, Jonah R. Chan, and Feng Mei. 2020. "Myelin Degeneration and Diminished Myelin Renewal Contribute to Age-Related Deficits in Memory." *Nature Neuroscience* 23(4):481–86.
- Wang, Xiaoli, Yun Xu, Fang Wang, Lihua Tang, Zhilong Liu, Honglian Li, and Shenghong Liu. 2006. "Aging-Related Changes of Microglia and Astrocytes in Hypothalamus after Intraperitoneal Injection of Hypertonic Saline in Rats." *Journal of Huazhong University of Science and Technology. Medical Sciences = Hua Zhong Ke Ji Da Xue Xue Bao. Yi Xue Ying De Wen Ban = Huazhong Keji Daxue Xuebao. Yixue Yingdewen Ban.*
- Waxman, Stephen G. 1977. "Conduction in Myelinated, Unmyelinated, and Demyelinated Fibers." *Archives of Neurology*.
- Wei, Qiang, David M. Krolewski, Shannon Moore, Vivek Kumar, Fei Li, Brian Martin, Raju Tomerb, Geoffrey G. Murphy, Karl Deisseroth, Stanley J. Watson, and Huda Akil. 2018.
 "Uneven Balance of Power between Hypothalamic Peptidergic Neurons in the Control of Feeding." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 115(40):E9489–98.
- West, M. J., P. D. Coleman, D. G. Flood, and J. C. Troncoso. 1994. "Differences in the Pattern

of Hippocampal Neuronal Loss in Normal Ageing and Alzheimer's Disease." The Lancet.

- West, Mark J. 1993. "New Stereological Methods for Counting Neurons." *Neurobiology of Aging*.
- Weyer, Anja, and Karl Schilling. 2003. "Developmental and Cell Type-Specific Expression of the Neuronal Marker NeuN in the Murine Cerebellum." *Journal of Neuroscience Research*.
- Williams, K. W., L. O. Margatho, C. E. Lee, M. Choi, S. Lee, M. M. Scott, C. F. Elias, and J. K. Elmquist. 2010. "Segregation of Acute Leptin and Insulin Effects in Distinct Populations of Arcuate Proopiomelanocortin Neurons." *Journal of Neuroscience*.
- Wittmann, Gábor, Erik Hrabovszky, and Ronald M. Lechan. 2013. "Distinct Glutamatergic and GABAergic Subsets of Hypothalamic Pro-Opiomelanocortin Neurons Revealed by in Situ Hybridization in Male Rats and Mice." *Journal of Comparative Neurology*.
- Wolden-Hanson, Tami, Brett T. Marck, and Alvin M. Matsumoto. 2004. "Blunted Hypothalamic Neuropeptide Gene Expression in Response to Fasting, but Preservation of Feeding Responses to AgRP in Aging Male Brown Norway Rats." *American Journal of Physiology* - *Regulatory Integrative and Comparative Physiology*.
- Wong, Wai T. 2013. "Microglial Aging in the Healthy CNS: Phenotypes, Drivers, and Rejuvenation." *Frontiers in Cellular Neuroscience*.
- Wu, Qi, Maureen P. Boyle, and Richard D. Palmiter. 2009. "Loss of GABAergic Signaling by AgRP Neurons to the Parabrachial Nucleus Leads to Starvation." *Cell*.
- Wu, Yan, Ai Qun Zhang, and David T. Yew. 2005. "Age Related Changes of Various Markers of Astrocytes in Senescence-Accelerated Mice Hippocampus." *Neurochemistry International*.
- Xiao, Shangxi, Jesse McLean, and Janice Robertson. 2006. "Neuronal Intermediate Filaments and ALS: A New Look at an Old Question." *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta - Molecular Basis of Disease.*
- Xie, Yuanyuan, and Richard I. Dorsky. 2017. "Development of the Hypothalamus: Conservation, Modification and Innovation." *Development (Cambridge)*.
- Xie, Zhong, Todd E. Morgan, Irina Rozovsky, and Caleb E. Finch. 2003. "Aging and Glial Responses to Lipopolysaccharide in Vitro: Greater Induction of IL-1 and IL-6, but Smaller Induction of Neurotoxicity." *Experimental Neurology*.
- Xing, Yazhi, Devadoss J. Samuvel, Shawn M. Stevens, Judy R. Dubno, Bradley A. Schulte, and Hainan Lang. 2012. "Age-Related Changes of Myelin Basic Protein in Mouse and Human Auditory Nerve." *PLoS ONE* 7(4).
- Xu, Yi, Nobuaki Tamamaki, Toru Noda, Kazushi Kimura, Yutaka Itokazu, Naoya Matsumoto, Mari Dezawa, and Chizuka Ide. 2005. "Neurogenesis in the Ependymal Layer of the Adult Rat 3rd Ventricle." *Experimental Neurology*.
- Yan, Jingqi, Hai Zhang, Ye Yin, Juxue Li, Yizhe Tang, Sudarshana Purkayastha, Lianxi Li, and Dongsheng Cai. 2014. "Obesity-and Aging-Induced Excess of Central Transforming Growth Factor-β 2 Potentiates Diabetic Development via an RNA Stress Response." *Nature Medicine*.
- Yang, Shi Bing, An Chi Tien, Gayatri Boddupalli, Allison W. Xu, Yuh Nung Jan, and Lily Yeh Jan. 2012. "Rapamycin Ameliorates Age-Dependent Obesity Associated with Increased MTOR Signaling in Hypothalamic POMC Neurons." *Neuron*.
- Yaswen, L., N. Diehl, M. B. Brennan, and U. Hochgeschwender. 1999. "Obesity in the Mouse Model of Pro-Opiomelanocortin Deficiency Responds to Peripheral Melanocortin." *Nature Medicine* 5(9):1066–70.
- Yates, Andrew D., Premanand Achuthan, Wasiu Akanni, James Allen, Jamie Allen, Jorge Alvarez-Jarreta, M. Ridwan Amode, Irina M. Armean, Andrey G. Azov, Ruth Bennett, Jyothish Bhai, Konstantinos Billis, Sanjay Boddu, José Carlos Marugán, Carla Cummins, Claire Davidson, Kamalkumar Dodiya, Reham Fatima, Astrid Gall, Carlos Garcia Giron,

Laurent Gil, Tiago Grego, Leanne Haggerty, Erin Haskell, Thibaut Hourlier, Osagie G. Izuogu, Sophie H. Janacek, Thomas Juettemann, Mike Kay, Ilias Lavidas, Tuan Le, Diana Lemos, Jose Gonzalez Martinez, Thomas Maurel, Mark McDowall, Aoife McMahon, Shamika Mohanan, Benjamin Moore, Michael Nuhn, Denye N. Oheh, Anne Parker, Andrew Parton, Mateus Patricio, Manoj Pandian Sakthivel, Ahamed Imran Abdul Salam, Bianca M. Schmitt, Helen Schuilenburg, Dan Sheppard, Mira Sycheva, Marek Szuba, Kieron Taylor, Anja Thormann, Glen Threadgold, Alessandro Vullo, Brandon Walts, Andrea Winterbottom, Amonida Zadissa, Marc Chakiachvili, Bethany Flint, Adam Frankish, Sarah E. Hunt, Garth Iisley, Myrto Kostadima, Nick Langridge, Jane E. Loveland, Fergal J. Martin, Joannella Morales, Jonathan M. Mudge, Matthieu Muffato, Emily Perry, Magali Ruffier, Stephen J. Trevanion, Fiona Cunningham, Kevin L. Howe, Daniel R. Zerbino, and Paul Flicek. 2020. "Ensembl 2020." *Nucleic Acids Research*.

- Yehuda, Shlomo, Sharon Rabinovitz, Ralph L. Carasso, and David I. Mostofsky. 2002. "The Role of Polyunsaturated Fatty Acids in Restoring the Aging Neuronal Membrane." *Neurobiology of Aging*.
- Yin, Weiling, and Andrea C. Gore. 2010. "The Hypothalamic Median Eminence and Its Role in Reproductive Aging." in *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*.
- Yin, Weiling, Di Wu, Megan L. Noel, and Andrea C. Gore. 2009. "Gonadotropin-Releasing Hormone Neuroterminals and Their Microenvironment in the Median Eminence: Effects of Aging and Estradiol Treatment." *Endocrinology*.
- Yin, Zhuoran, Divya D. Raj, Wandert Schaafsma, Roel A. van der Heijden, Susanne M. Kooistra, Aaffien C. Reijne, Xiaoming Zhang, Jill Moser, Nieske Brouwer, Peter Heeringa, Chun-Xia Yi, Gertjan van Dijk, Jon D. Laman, Erik W. G. M. Boddeke, and Bart J. L. Eggen. 2018. "Low-Fat Diet With Caloric Restriction Reduces White Matter Microglia Activation During Aging." Frontiers in Molecular Neuroscience.
- Young, Kaylene M., Konstantina Psachoulia, Richa B. Tripathi, Sara Jane Dunn, Lee Cossell, David Attwell, Koujiro Tohyama, and William D. Richardson. 2013. "Oligodendrocyte Dynamics in the Healthy Adult CNS: Evidence for Myelin Remodeling." *Neuron*.
- Yu, Yang, Linjing Feng, Junnan Li, Xiaoxin Lan, A. Lixiang, Xiaoyan Lv, Ming Zhang, and Li Chen. 2017. "The Alteration of Autophagy and Apoptosis in the Hippocampus of Rats with Natural Aging-Dependent Cognitive Deficits." *Behavioural Brain Research*.
- Yulyaningsih, Ernie, Ivan A. Rudenko, Martin Valdearcos, Emma Dahlén, Eirini Vagena, Alvin Chan, Arturo Alvarez-Buylla, Christian Vaisse, Suneil K. Koliwad, and Allison W. Xu. 2017.
 "Acute Lesioning and Rapid Repair of Hypothalamic Neurons Outside the Blood-Brain Barrier." *Cell Reports* 19(11):2257–71.
- Zamanian, Jennifer L., Liun Xu, Lynette C. Foo, Navid Nouri, Lu Zhou, Rona G. Giffard, and Ben A. Barres. 2012. "Genomic Analysis of Reactive Astrogliosis." *Journal of Neuroscience*.
- Zeller, N. K., T. N. Behar, M. E. Dubois-Dalcq, and R. A. Lazzarini. 1985. "The Timely Expression of Myelin Basic Protein Gene in Cultured Rat Brain Oligodendrocytes Is Independent of Continuous Neuronal Influences." *Journal of Neuroscience* 5(11):2955– 62.
- Zeng, Chenbo, Fenghui Pan, Lynne A. Jones, Miranda M. Lim, Elizabeth A. Griffin, Yvette I. Sheline, Mark A. Mintun, David M. Holtzman, and Robert H. Mach. 2010. "Evaluation of 5-Ethynyl-2'-Deoxyuridine Staining as a Sensitive and Reliable Method for Studying Cell Proliferation in the Adult Nervous System." *Brain Research*.
- Zhan, Cheng, Jingfeng Zhou, Qiru Feng, Ju en Zhang, Shuailiang Lin, Junhong Bao, Ping Wu, and Minmin Luo. 2013. "Acute and Long-Term Suppression of Feeding Behavior by POMC Neurons in the Brainstem and Hypothalamus, Respectively." *Journal of Neuroscience*.
- Zhang, Guo, Juxue Li, Sudarshana Purkayastha, Yizhe Tang, Hai Zhang, Ye Yin, Bo Li, Gang Liu, and Dongsheng Cai. 2013. "Hypothalamic Programming of Systemic Ageing

Involving IKK-β, NF-KB and GnRH." Nature 497(7448):211–16.

- Zhang, Xiaobing, and Anthony N. Van Den Pol. 2016. "Hypothalamic Arcuate Nucleus Tyrosine Hydroxylase Neurons Play Orexigenic Role in Energy Homeostasis." *Nature Neuroscience*.
- Zhang, Xiaoqing, Guo Zhang, Hai Zhang, Michael Karin, Hua Bai, and Dongsheng Cai. 2008. "Hypothalamic IKKβ/NF-KB and ER Stress Link Overnutrition to Energy Imbalance and Obesity." *Cell* 135(1):61–73.
- Zhang, Yalin, Min Soo Kim, Baosen Jia, Jingqi Yan, Juan Pablo Zuniga-Hertz, Cheng Han, and Dongsheng Cai. 2017. "Hypothalamic Stem Cells Control Ageing Speed Partly through Exosomal MiRNAs." *Nature* 548(7665):52–57.
- Zhao, Shanrong, Wai Ping Fung-Leung, Anton Bittner, Karen Ngo, and Xuejun Liu. 2014. "Comparison of RNA-Seq and Microarray in Transcriptome Profiling of Activated T Cells." *PLoS ONE*.
- Zheng, Huiyuan, Laurel M. Patterson, Curtis B. Phifer, and Hans Rudolf Berthoud. 2005. "Brain Stem Melanocortinergic Modulation of Meal Size and Identification of Hypothalamic POMC Projections." *American Journal of Physiology - Regulatory Integrative and Comparative Physiology*.
- Zheng, Huiyuan, Laurel M. Patterson, Christopher J. Rhodes, Gwendolyn W. Louis, Karolina P. Skibicka, Harvey J. Grill, Martin G. Myers, and Hans Rudolf Berthoud. 2010. "A Potential Role for Hypothalamomedullary POMC Projections in Leptin-Induced Suppression of Food Intake." American Journal of Physiology Regulatory Integrative and Comparative Physiology.
- Ziv, Yaniv, Noga Ron, Oleg Butovsky, Gennady Landa, Einav Sudai, Nadav Greenberg, Hagit Cohen, Jonathan Kipnis, and Michal Schwartz. 2006. "Immune Cells Contribute to the Maintenance of Neurogenesis and Spatial Learning Abilities in Adulthood." *Nature Neuroscience*.
- Zlokovic, Berislav V. 2008. "The Blood-Brain Barrier in Health and Chronic Neurodegenerative Disorders." *Neuron*.
- Zoli, M., F. Ferraguti, A. Frasoldati, G. Biagini, and L. F. Agnati. 1995. "Age-Related Alterations in Tanycytes of the Mediobasal Hypothalamus of the Male Rat." *Neurobiology of Aging*.
- Zuchero, J. Bradley, Meng meng Fu, Steven A. Sloan, Adiljan Ibrahim, Andrew Olson, Anita Zaremba, Jason C. Dugas, Sophia Wienbar, Andrew V. Caprariello, Christopher Kantor, Dmitri Leonoudakus, Karen Lariosa-Willingham, Golo Kronenberg, Karen Gertz, Scott H. Soderling, Robert H. Miller, and Ben A. Barres. 2015. "CNS Myelin Wrapping Is Driven by Actin Disassembly." *Developmental Cell*.

Annex



Figure S 1. Changes in mice weight with age. Graph (A) and Scatter dot plot (B) display body weight in young adult (black), middle-aged (dark grey) and old animals (light grey). Data in (A) is represented as mean \pm SEM and a minimum of 35 animals per age group were analysed. Data in (B) is represented as the median and the range of mice body weight. All significance testing was performed using one-way ANOVA followed by Tukey post-hoc test (*p<0.05, **p<0.005, *p<0.0005). g – grams.



Figure S 2. Cleaved Caspase 3 (CC3) and TUNEL assay staining in the SVZ of lateral ventricles, a neural stem cell niche of the brain known to undergo cell division and apoptosis in adult mice. (A – A") CC3 immunostaining (green) and Hoechst (blue) in the LV and surrounding parenchyma. White arrow signals a CC3+ cell and its apoptotic nucleus. (A – A") CC3 immunostaining (green) and Hoechst (Blue) in the LV surrounding parenchyma. White arrow signals a CC3+ cell and its apoptotic nucleus. (A – A") CC3 immunostaining (green) and Hoechst (Blue) in the LV surrounding parenchyma. White arrow signals a CC3+ cell and its apoptotic nucleus. (B – B") TUNEL staining (red) and Hoechst (blue) in the LV and surrounding parenchyma. TUNEL+ cells can be detected in the LV wall. (B – B") CC3 immunostaining (green), TUNEL (red) and Hoechst (blue) in the LV and surrounding parenchyma. White arrows signal TUNEL+/CC3- cells and asterisks indicate TUNEL+ cells/CC3+. Scale bar 25 μ m. LV – lateral ventricle. SVZ – subventricular zone



Figure S 3. Co-localization of the necrosis marker MLKL and the microglia marker lba1 in the corpus callosum. (A – A") MLKL immunostaining (red), lba1 and Hoechst (blue) in the Corpus callosum area. White arrows signal MLKL+/lba1+ cells. Experiments were performed in young (n = 3), middle-aged (n = 3) and old animals (n = 3). Scale bar 25 µm. CC – corpus callosum.



Figure S 4. Proliferative cells were observed in the hippocampus and corpus callosum of young, middle-aged and old animals. As a general observation, fewer BrdU+ cells were detected in the old animals. (A, B, C) v images of the from young-adult (A), middle-aged (B) and old (C) animals, a minimum of 3 animals were analysed per age group. Scale bar 50 µm. CC – Corpus callosum.



Figure S 5. BrdU+ cells do not co-localise with Npy-GFP+ cells. (A – A") Npy-GFP+ (green) and BrdU+ (blue) cells do not show co-localization in Arc-ME in bregma -1.7 mm, approximated. (B – B") High power of (A-A") confirm the lack of co-localization in the Arc nucleus. (C – C") Npy-GFP+ (green) and BrdU+ (blue) do not show co-localization in hypothalamus in bregma -1.46 mm, approximated. Dashed lines outline the borders of the 3V. The pictures shown were obtained from young animal tissue. Experiments performed in young, middle-aged and old animals with a minimum of 3 animals analysed per age group. Scale bar 50 μ m. 3V – third ventricle.



Figure S 6. BrdU+ cells do not co-localise with β Gal cells. (A – A'') β Gal (red) and BrdU+ (blue) cells do not show co-localisation in Arc in bregma -1.58 mm, approximated. (B – B''') Experiments performed in young, middle-aged and old animals with a minimum of 3 animals analysed per age group. Scale bar 50 μ m.



Figure S 7. CC1+ cells were observed in the h corpus callosum of young, middle-aged and old animals. Representative images of the from young-adult (A), middle-aged (B) and old (C) animals. CC1 immunostaining (red) and Hoechst (blue) in the Corpus callosum area. Experiments performed in young, middle-aged and old animals with a minimum of 3 animals analysed per age group. Scale bar 50 µm. CC - corpus callosum.



Figure S 8. CC1+ cells were observed in the corpus callosum of young, middle-aged and old animals. Representative images of the from young-adult (A), middle-aged (B) and old (C) animals for CC1 immunostaining (red) and Hoechst (blue) in the Corpus callosum area. Experiments performed in young, middle-aged and old animals with a minimum of 3 animals analysed per age group. Scale bar 50 µm. CC – Corpus callosum.